

# **Table of Contents**

| Introduction                         |
|--------------------------------------|
| Symbols 3                            |
| Indications for use                  |
| Training                             |
| Regulatory and compliance            |
| System requirements                  |
| Calibration and measurement accuracy |
| Getting started                      |
| Configure your working environment   |
| Configure Symmetry PACS              |
| Work with the hamburger menu 116     |
| Work with the worklist               |
| Work with the Symmetry PACS viewer   |
| Work with the patient chart          |
| Work with Mobile RAD                 |
| Perform query and retrieve           |
| Work with reports                    |
| Work with tools                      |
| Work with Patient Portal             |
| Appendix                             |
| Reference                            |

# Introduction

# Symbols

The following symbols may appear in the product documentation or on the product.

| Symbol        | Symbol Name   | Symbol Description  | Standard Number<br>and Name                  | Symbol<br>Reference<br>Number |
|---------------|---|---|--|-------------------------------|
| <b>**</b> *   | Manufacturer  | Indicates the name and address of the manufacturer  | ISO 15223-1:2021                             | 5.1.1                         |
| EC REP        | Authorized<br>Representative in<br>the European<br>Economic Area<br>(EEA) | Indicates the Authorized Representative,<br>responsible for the device in the European<br>Economic Area (EEA).    | ISO 15223-1:2021                             | 5.1.2                         |
| $\sim \sim$   | Date of<br>Manufacture  | Indicates the date when the device was manufactured.  | ISO 15223-1:2021                             | 5.1.3                         |
| $\triangle$   | Caution   | Indicates information that is important for preventing loss of data or misuse of the software.                    | ISO 15223-1:2021                             | 5.4.4                         |
| LOT           | Batch Code  | Indicates the full Software Release / Version number  | ISO 15233-1:2021                             | 5.1.5                         |
| SN            | Serial number   | Indicates the manufacturer's serial number so that a specific medical device can be identified                    | ISO 15233-1:2021                             | 5.1.7                         |
| REF           | Catalogue<br>Number   | Indicates the manufacturer's catalogue number<br>so that the device can be identified                             | ISO 15233-1:2021                             | 5.1.6                         |
| Ĩ             | Consult<br>instructions for<br>use  | Indicates the need for the user to consult the instructions for use   | ISO 15233-1:2021                             | 5.4.3                         |
| <b>R</b> Only | Prescription<br>Device  | Caution: Federal law restricts this device to sale<br>by or on the order of a licensed healthcare<br>practitioner | 21 CFR 801.109(b)(1)<br>Prescription Devices | N/A                           |

BS EN ISO 15223-1:2021 Medical devices - Symbols to be used with information to be supplied by the manufacturer - Part 1: General requirements

# Indications for use

EXA<sup>™</sup> is a software device that receives digital images and data from various sources (i.e. CT scanners, MR scanners, ultrasound systems, R/F Units, computed & direct radiographic devices, secondary capture devices, scanners, imaging gateways or other imaging sources). Images and data can be stored, communicated, processed, and displayed within the system and or across computer networks at distributed locations. Lossy compressed mammographic images are not intended for diagnostic review. Mammographic images should only be viewed with a monitor cleared by FDA for viewing mammographic images. For primary diagnosis, post process DICOM "for presentation" images must be used. Typical users of this system are trained professionals, nurses, and technicians.

# Training

Users of this software must have received adequate training on its safe and effective use before attempting to operate the product described in this Instructions for Use. Users must make sure they receive adequate training in accordance with local laws or regulations.

# **Regulatory and compliance**



Konica Minolta Healthcare Americas, Inc. 2217 U.S. Highway 70 East Garner, NC 27529 USA

Tel: 1-800-366-5343

# System requirements

The following are the system requirements for clients of Symmetry PACS based on typical usage scenarios. For the recommended requirements of your specific implementation, contact your Konica Minolta representative.



**RECOMMENDED**: To avoid loss of functionality and data during a power loss, connect an uninterruptible power supply. When running the system by the UPS alone, always save data immediately after modifying.

**REQUIRED**: Install anti-virus software on the server and each client.

#### Server

| Component      | Specification                        |  |
|----------------|--------------------------------------|--|
| Processor      | Intel® Xeon® Gold 5120 CPU @ 2.20GHz |  |
| Physical Cores | 14                                   |  |
| Memory         | 31.5 GB                              |  |
| Storage        | 1.2 TB SSD                           |  |
| NIC            | Single 1000 MB/s                     |  |

### Workstation - User

| Component | Specification            |
|-----------|--------------------------|
| CPU       | Intel® Core™ i5 or later |
| RAM       | 8 GB or more             |
| NIC       | Single 1000 MB/s         |
| Storage   | HDD, 500 GB or more      |
| OS        | Windows 10 Pro, 64-bit   |
| Monitor   | 20 inch, 1600 × 1200     |

#### Workstation - Reading Radiologist

| Component      | Specification                                  |  |
|----------------|--|--|
| CPU            | Intel Xeon® E-2176G (3.70 GHz, 12 MB) or later |  |
| Graphics Cards | 2 NVIDIA® Quadro® P1000 cards                  |  |
| RAM            | 32 GB or more                                  |  |

| NIC     | Single 1000 MB/s       |
|---------|------------------------|
| Storage | SDD, 500 GB or more    |
| OS      | Windows 10 Pro, 64-bit |
| Monitor | Diagnostic displays    |

# Calibration and measurement accuracy

Measurement accuracy partially depends on image quality, which is subject to various factors including the skill of the technologist, the precision of the modalities, and image resolution. However, clinical users of Symmetry PACS can help ensure diagnostic image quality and accurate measurements by using appropriate viewer settings (such as window/level and zoom) and by calibrating monitors (see "Calibrate monitors").

The clinical user is responsible to judge the accuracy of the measurements based on the image quality and based on the accuracy of placed measurement points. For a table of measurement accuracies, see "Measurement Accuracy Limits" in the appendix.

# Help us improve!

If you find any errors in this manual, would like us to explain something better, or would like us to cover a new topic, please let us know by visiting our online portal.

https://support.kmhapub.com/PremierCustomer/Home.aspx

Monitored: 8:00 AM-8:00 PM EST

For urgent issues, please call the Hotline.

# **Getting started**

## Configure your working environment

Before using Symmetry PACS, you must configure settings and information used in various parts of the program. This section helps with the most common areas of basic configuration. For help with other detailed settings, contact your Konica Minolta representative.

### Set up credentials, browser, and monitors

### Configure the language in Chrome

You must configure the browser language of your client computer as follows.

#### Procedure

- 1. In Chrome, select the customize <sup>1</sup> button, and then select **Settings**.
- 2. On the left pane, select Languages.
- 3. If the local language and culture does not appear in the list, select **Add languages**, and then add the language.

**Note**: The culture must be correct. For example, in Canada, ensure that English (Canada) is installed.

- 4. Select the more actions <sup>‡</sup> button for the local language, and then select the **Display Google Chrome in this language** checkbox.
- 5. Select the more actions <sup>i</sup> button again, and then select **Move to Top**.
- 6. Select Relaunch.

### Sign in to the Exa platform

You can sign in to the main application or a portal.



- 1. In Chrome, go to the URL given to you by your Konica Minolta representative.
- 2. Enter your sign-in credentials.
- 3. Select the I agree to HIPAA Privacy Notice checkbox.
- 4. Do one of the following:
  - To sign in to Symmetry PACS, select **LOGIN**.
  - To sign in to a portal, select a portal button.

### About two-factor authentication

If your facility purchased two-factor authentication (2FA), administrators can use it to increase security by requiring an additional sign-in procedure. During sign-in, Symmetry PACS sends a character string called an *authentication token* to your email address, or one is generated by a mobile app called Google Authenticator. You then enter that authentication token on the Symmetry PACS sign-in screen to finish signing in.

**Administrators**: To make two-factor authentication available for a user, you must configure the user's email address.

#### See also:

<u>Create a user</u> <u>Sign in using 2FA with email</u> <u>Sign in using 2FA with Google Authenticator</u>

### Sign in using 2FA with email

If your administrator made two-factor authentication available, you will receive an email from the server with a verification code. Using that code, follow these steps.

#### Procedure

- 1. Sign in to Symmetry PACS in the usual manner.
- 2. In the **EMAIL VERIFICATION PENDING** box, paste the verification code and select **VERIFY**.

**Result**: Symmetry PACS signs you out.

3. Sign back in to Symmetry PACS, select **REQUEST TOKEN**, type the token sent to the email address, and then select **LOGIN**.

**Note**: Every time you sign in the future, you must repeat this step, using a different token each time.

#### See also:

Sign in to the Exa platform About two-factor authentication Sign in using 2FA with Google Authenticator

### Sign in using 2FA with Google Authenticator

After you have signed in using 2FA the first time, if you prefer, you can use Google Authenticator to sign in in the future rather than an email token. To use Google Authenticator to sign in, follow these steps.

#### Procedure

- 1. Download the Google Authenticator app onto your mobile device.
- 2. In Symmetry PACS, on the burger 🔜 menu, select the blue Konica-Minolta Solution.
- 3. In the **My Profile** dialog, in the **Two Factor Authentication** box, type your sign-in password, and then select the **Enter** key.
- 4. Select **SHOW QR CODE**.
- 5. In Google Authenticator, tap **Scan a QR Code**, and then scan the QR code displayed by Symmetry PACS.
- 6. In Symmetry PACS, in the **One-Time Password** box, enter the code from your new Google Authenticator profile, and then select **VERIFY**.

#### See also:

About two-factor authentication Sign in using 2FA with email

#### Reset your password

If you forgot your password, contact your Symmetry PACS administrator for instructions on how to reset your password.

### Change your password

You can change your sign-in password.

#### Procedure

- 1. Select the burger  $\blacksquare$  button.
- 2. At the top of the burger menu, select the blue

Konica Minolta globe:



(user avatar).

- 3. In the **My Profile** dialog, select **CHANGE PASSWORD**.
- 4. Enter current and new passwords, and then select **SAVE PASSWORD**.

### Add an avatar

An avatar is an image such as a photo that represents you in various parts of the program.

**Prerequisites**: Prepare a PNG image to use as the avatar.

#### Procedure

- 1. At the top of the burger 🗐 menu, select the blue Konica Minolta Solution globe.
- 2. In the My Profile dialog, select Choose File.
- 3. Browse for and select your avatar image, and then select **Open**.
- 4. Select SAVE.

### Edit your user profile

Each user of Symmetry PACS has a profile with sign-in credentials and other information. After signing in, you can view and edit your information.

#### Procedure

- 1. Select the burger  $\blacksquare$  button.
- 2. At the top of the burger menu, select the blue Konica Minolta globe or user's avatar:



🗖 (user avatar).

**Result**: The My Profile screen appears.

| My Profile          |                     |                    |                      | ersion 1.4.32-p3-13<br>1)00817100020193 |
|---------------------|---------------------|--------------------|----------------------|---|
| User Name           | wiztek              | ).                 |                      |   |
| Name *              | Pacs                | м                  | Viztek               |   |
|                     | Suffix              |                    |                      | <u>6</u> .                              |
| Mobile Phone / Emai | Mobile Phone        | Email              |                      | N.                                      |
| Default Device *    | 🗸 🔲 Auto Ope        | n Dictation on De  | vice                 |   |
| Default Location *  | My Company 🗸 🗸      | Always Open        | Schedule Book in a N | ew Tab                                  |
| Rows to Display     | 50 v Themes d       | efault 👻 Cultura   | English-US 👻         |   |
|                     | 🗋 Pin Burger Menu 🔲 | Hide Worklist Icor | ns 🔲 Hide Order Me   | na 👘                                    |
| Bandwidth           | Select 👻            |                    |                      | 3 A                                     |
| Session Interval    | 300 min (10-600)    |                    |                      |   |
| Default Scheduling  | Radiology           |                    |                      |   |



#### 3. Enter the following settings.

| Setting                                   | Description  |
|---|--|
| User Name                                 | Type a user name for sign-in purposes.   |
| Name                                      | Type your true name.   |
| Mobile Phone/Email                        | Type your mobile phone number and/or email address. An email address is required for two-factor authentication.  |
| Default Device                            | [Unused]   |
| Auto Open Dictation on Device             | [Unused]   |
| Default Location                          | Select a facility as your default location. When you sign in, this facility appears in various parts of the program by default. You must configure the facilities that you want to make available in this dropdown list. |
| Always Open Schedule Book in<br>a New Tab | Select to cause the program to open a new browser tab for the schedule book automatically when you open it.  |
| Rows to Display                           | Select how many rows to display on the worklist.   |
| Themes                                    | Select a default theme of Bright (default) or Dark.  |

| Culture                      | Select the language/culture of the user interface.  |
|------------------------------|---|
| Pin Burger Menu              | Select to keep the burger menu open in the left pane of the screen.   |
| Hide Worklist Icons          | Hides the lower toolbar and study row buttons on the worklist. Hidden functions remain available in shortcut menus and other controls.                    |
| Hide Order Menu              | Hides the navigation menu within the Edit Study screen.   |
| Bandwidth                    | Select the expected speed of the network on which your client installation<br>runs. This helps to optimize performance in your networking<br>environment. |
| Session Interval             | Type the number of minutes to elapse before the program times out and returns to the sign-in screen.  |
| Default Scheduling/Radiology | [Unused]  |

4. Select **SAVE**.

### View version information

You can view version information about the application, host system, services, and external tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. Select the burger  $\blacksquare$  button.
- 2. At the bottom of the burger menu, select the white Konica Minolta globe.



Result: The About screen appears.

#### About

#### App/DB/Misc

Exa: 1.4.32-p3-135 Node: v16.16.0 PostgreSQL: 14,4 NGINX: 1.23.1 Redis: Not Found TxTransportation: Not Found

#### System

OS Type: Windows\_NT OS Platform: win32 OS Architecture: x64 Total System Memory: 12,00 GB

#### Services

C-Move Service: 1.4.32.50 DICOM Service: 1.4.32.50 Fax Service: 1.4.32.50 ffmpag: Not Found imageserver\_http:= 1.4.32.50 Image Service: Not Found MWL Service: 1.4.32.50 Opal Listener Service: 1.4.32.50 Opal Sender Service: 1.4.32.50 Dicom Print Service: 1.4.32.50 Storage Commitment Service: Not Found

#### Tools

Opal Tools Setup: Not Found Opal Viewer Setup: Not Found EXA Trans: Not Found EXA Doc Scan: 1.0.11.0

### Create a shortcut for Symmetry PACS

You can create a shortcut for the local Windows user to Symmetry PACS and place it on the desktop.

#### Procedure

- 1. In Chrome, go to the Symmetry PACS sign-in page.
- 2. In the address bar, drag the lock 🔎 icon onto the desktop.

The Exa Login shortcut appears.

- 3. Optional. To change the shortcut icon:
  - Right-click the shortcut and then select Properties.
  - Select Change Icon, and then browse for and select an icon.
  - Select **OK**.

### Calibrate monitors

Especially after a new installation or upgrade, you can use Symmetry PACS to calibrate your monitors to ensure accuracy of length and other measurements. If all images you work with contain pixel spacing information, you can skip this procedure.

Prerequisite: Enter Calibration Width and Calibration Height settings for your monitors.

#### Procedure

- 1. Open an image in the viewer.
- 2. Optional: For higher accuracy, on the image shortcut menu, select **View** > **Actual Image Size**.
- 3. Hover over the upper-right corner of a frame, right-click **=**, and then select **Recalibrate**.
- 4. Select two points on the image.
- 5. In the **Dialog** dialog, type the length between the points and then select **OK**.

Note: If prompted to apply calibration to the series, select OK.

#### Results

- The calipers are modified.
- Previously annotated measurements are redrawn.
- Future measurements will appear according to the new calibration values.

#### See also:

Set up connected displays

# **Configure Symmetry PACS**

This section describes core settings that you should review or configure prior to using Symmetry PACS. For other settings, see the following topics.

#### See also:

<u>Worklist settings</u> <u>User settings</u> <u>Viewer settings</u> <u>Configure the viewer</u>

### Set up the office: Companies

*Company* here means the parent hospital, clinic, or other institution where Symmetry PACS is installed. After configuring your company you can configure its child facilities (see <u>Add a facility</u>) and other locations as needed. In configuring your company you enter basic settings such as its name and address, but also —depending on product and configuration—you can customize Symmetry PACS for your company's needs by adding preset options for such things as: sex, body parts, and ethnicity; patient alerts, critical findings, cancellation reasons; MRN and accession number formatting; passwords; and billing modifiers.

### Configure your company

To add your company to Symmetry PACS:

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **COMPANY**.



#### 2. Enter the following settings.

| Setting     | Description   |  |
|-------------|---|--|
| Code        | Type your internal code for your institution.   |  |
| Name        | Type the name of your institution.  |  |
| Timezone    | Select the time zone used by your institution.  |  |
| Enable LDAP | If your institution uses an LDAP or Active Directory server, select this option to display the LDAP CONFIG sub-tab, and then see <u>Configure all LDAP settings</u> . |  |

| Setting                                  | Description  |
|--|--|
| Enable RCopia Service                    | Select to turn on the RCopia service, if available, and display the RCOPIA CONFIG sub-tab. Enter settings in the sub-tab, and then select SAVE.            |
| Enable Payment Gateway                   | Select to turn on the Payment Gateway service, if available, and display the PAYMENT GATEWAY sub-tab. Enter settings in the sub-tab, and then select SAVE. |
| Trigger Routing on Study Flag<br>Changed | Select to reprocess routing (DICOM transactions) automatically when a user changes a study flag.   |

- 3. Select SAVE.
- 4. Enter additional information as needed by following the steps in later subsections.

**Note**: When finished, select **SAVE** again at the top of the screen on the right side of the **Trigger Routing on Study Flag Changed** checkbox.

### **General settings**

Enter the main contact information for your company and other basic settings relating to scheduling, billing, documents, security, image viewing, and peer review.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the burger menu, select **SETUP**.
- 2. On the **OFFICE** menu, select **Office**.
- 3. On the **COMPANY** tab, on the **GENERAL** sub-tab, enter the following settings.

| Setting             | Description  |  |  |
|---------------------|--|--|--|
| Contact Information | Enter the company address and contact information. |  |  |
| Scheduling          | Highlight new Patient exams on<br>ScheduleBook     | Select to highlight new patient appointments on the schedule book for easier identification. |  |
|                     | Highlight Color                                    | Select the color to use to highlight new exams on the schedule book.                         |  |
|                     | Default Distance from ZIP Code                     | Select the default distance for finding facilities near patients.                            |  |
|                     | Enable schedule rule reason                        | Select to require users to select a schedule reason when creating a schedule block.          |  |
|                     | Enable reschedule reason                           | Select to prompt for a reason when rescheduling an appointment.                              |  |
|                     | Enable pause reason                                | Select to prompt for a reason when a technologist pauses an exam.                            |  |
| Billing Information | Corporate Office Type                              | Select Person for an individual practice. Otherwise, select Non-Person Entity.               |  |

| Setting           | Description               |  |
|-------------------|---------------------------|--|
|                   | NPI No.                   | Type your national provider identifier.  |
|                   | Taxonomy Code             | Type your NPI taxonomy code.   |
|                   | Tax ID                    | Type your national tax ID.   |
|                   | EDI Submitter ID          | If using an EDI service, type your submitter ID.   |
|                   | EDI Receiver ID           | If using an EDI service, type your receiver ID.  |
|                   | Modifiers in Order        | Forces the user to enter modifiers before creating an order.   |
|                   | ICD9 to ICD10             | Select to automatically convert diagnostic codes from the ICD9 to ICD10 standard.  |
|                   |                           |  |
| Documents         | File Store                | Select a file store for scanned documents at your company. This is separate from the file store used by AEs to store images. |
| Security          | Account Lockout Threshold | Set the maximum number of sign-in attempts.  |
| Viewer            | Viewer Titlebar Text      | Select to display the patient name or the accession<br>number on the title bar when opening a study in<br>the viewer.        |
| Email Information | Server Address            | Type the address of your outgoing SMTP/mail server.  |
|                   | Port                      | Type the mail server port number, provided by your ISP.  |
|                   | User Name                 | Type the account administrator user name or email address.   |
|                   | Password                  | Type the email account password.   |
|                   | Sender Address            | Type the default sender address (the administrator's email address).   |
|                   | Email Subject             | Type a default email subject to use if no subject is configured on the notification template.                                |

#### 4. Select **SAVE ALL INFO**.

### Settings

*Settings* here means presets that appear as options in other parts of the program, mostly related to people (such as staff and patients).

#### Procedure

1. Go to  $\underline{SETUP} > \underline{OFFICE} > Office > COMPANY > SETTINGS$ .

|                               | Keen        |               | Aliani = 1 | (660m2) - ( |
|-------------------------------|-------------|---------------|------------|-------------|
| Ledo - NIC                    | form        | 1.95          | Longery    | 0.0400      |
| 🗇 Trigger Doubleg (4) Study ( | FlagChunged |               | une -      |             |
| CENERAL CONTRACT              | 11015       | actui st      | iner.      | STATISTICS. |
|                               | -           |               |            |             |
| UNE DEDRIFTED IN              |             |               |            |             |
|                               |             |               | 188394     | *****       |
| Ver Tiles                     |             |               |            | 100         |
| Marijel Station               | 1.          |               | 44         |             |
| ter.                          | 10          | 8             | the .      |             |
| andy Form                     | 10          | 6             | 811        |             |
| transver it star              | 1.05        | -             | 300        |             |
| Cedenah                       |             |               |            |             |
|                               |             |               |            |             |
| Social Garage                 |             |               |            |             |
| Theopy                        | - N         |               |            |             |
| Addente                       | Onie        | at the second |            |             |
| Peirter                       |             | *1151         |            |             |
| Souther                       |             |               |            |             |
|                               |             |               |            |             |

- 2. On the left pane, select a category.
- 3. At the bottom of the screen, in the **Description** box, type a setting.

| Setting         | Description  |
|-----------------|--|
| User Titles     | User prefixes, such as Mr., Mrs., and Dr.  |
| Marital Status  | Patient marital statuses, such as Single, Married, and Divorced.   |
| Sex             | Patient sexes.   |
| Body Parts      | Patient body parts under examination.  |
| Employee Status | Statuses of employees at your institution.   |
| Credentials     | Physician credentials, such as Ph.D. and M.D.  |
| Racial Identity | Patients' self-identified races.   |
| Ethnicity       | Patients' self-identified ethnicities.   |
| Relationship    | Relationships of people to patients (including self).  |
| Priorities      | Priorities that can be assigned to studies in the worklist. These are separate from STAT levels.             |
| Sources         | Sources of patient arrivals, such as clinic referral, attorney office, hospital transfer, or emergency room. |
| Orientation     | Lateralities as they pertain to the study.   |

| Setting                   | Description  |
|---------------------------|--|
| Languages                 | Patients' preferred languages.   |
| Specialties               | Healthcare worker specialties such as oncology or sports medicine.         |
| Communication Preferences | Patients' preferred methods of communication, such as cell phone or email. |
| Administration Site       | Immunization modes.  |
| Regions                   | Geographical regions, such as for grouping markets.                        |
| Units of Measure          | Units of measure, such as for doses of medication or contrast material.    |
| Needle Gauge              | Available needle gauges.   |

4. Select **SAVE**.

# App settings

App settings here means presets that appear as options in other parts of the program.

#### **Regarding STAT levels**

Because different PACS systems use different STAT levels, you need to translate the STAT level of inbound studies to the STAT levels you configure in Symmetry PACS, and conversely, you need to translate the STAT levels of studies you send to other systems to their STAT levels. To do this, as described in the following table, select the value of the (0040,1003) Requested Procedure Priority tag to translate "from" in inbound DICOMs, and to translate "to" in outbound DICOMs.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **COMPANY** > **APP SETTINGS**.

| tale ( int )  | Mater         | 10  | Company          | Threadow | at + USEANAR |          |
|---|---------------|-----|------------------|----------|--------------|----------|
| C Rear Robinson from the  | a (THINKI     | 13  | www.             |          |              |          |
| TODATION CONTRACT   | 100           | APP | rrade.           | -        | HINGHING     | e (sente |
|   |               |     | -                |          |              |          |
| LHORDSTOP 1/25  |               |     |                  |          |              |          |
|   |               |     |                  |          |              |          |
|   |               |     |                  |          |              |          |
| Mates .   |               |     | 10000            | run.     |              |          |
| Notes<br>Scientification Types                                  | 2             | 1   | -10.017          | ruh      |              |          |
|   | 1.5           | 1   |                  | tun.     |              |          |
| 204000846/Jos   | N 10. N       | 1   | -11              | run.     |              |          |
| Sceidmaren Yors<br>Dintani                                      | 1 1 N N       |     | а<br>16          | run      |              |          |
| Scanfin aller System<br>Sortand<br>Tar<br>Passet de tables Tree | 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 |     | n<br>ei<br>Q     | ruh      |              |          |
| Scalimater York<br>Surland<br>Tay                               | 1             | 1   | n<br>n<br>D<br>n | run      |              |          |

- 2. In the list on the left side of the screen, select a setting.
- 3. For each option in the following table, enter settings.

| Setting                       | Options                | Description  |
|-------------------------------|------------------------|--|
| States                        | Description            | Type states, provinces, prefectures, or other regions used in various parts of the program.  |
| Scan Document<br>Types        | Description            | Type descriptions to assign to documents to be scanned, such as "Photo ID" or "Explanation of Benefits."   |
|                               | Requires<br>Review     | Select to require review of the document before moving to the next status in the current workflow. See <u>Require document review</u> .  |
| Stat Level                    | Description            | Type descriptions for each of the STAT levels (0–5).   |
|                               | Color                  | Click in the text box, and then use the color picker to select a background color for studies on the worklist having the STAT level.   |
|                               | Text Color             | Select a text color for studies on the worklist having the STAT level.   |
|                               | Inbound<br>DICOM       | Select the requested procedure priority of inbound studies to assign to the STAT level you are configuring.  |
|                               | Outbound<br>DICOM      | Select the requested procedure priority to assign to outbound studies that are in the STAT level you are configuring.  |
| TAT                           | Description/<br>Colors | Select the edit icon of a TAT to modify its description, text color, and background color. You can set the max TAT for a facility under Setup > [all uppercase menu] > Office > Facility.    |
| Patient Arrival Wait<br>Times | time that a pa         | ving settings to configure color-coded descriptions corresponding to lengths of atient waits upon arrival. These bands of time appear in the wait time monitor the Patient Arrival Worklist. |
|                               | Description            | Type a description for the band such as "Short Wait" or "Long Wait."   |

| Setting                    | Options       | Description   |
|----------------------------|---------------|---|
|                            | Color         | Background color for arrivals at the current wait time.                         |
|                            | Text Color    | Text color for arrivals at the current wait time.                               |
|                            | Minutes       | Type the maximum number of minutes that a patient waits to remain in the band.  |
| Access Reasons             | Reasons for a | accessing confidential patient records when using the Break the Glass function. |
|                            | Code          | Type an internal code for the reason.   |
|                            | Description   | Type a name or description of the reason such as, "Direct patient care."        |
| Ordering Facility<br>Types | Description   | Type a description such as "Assisted Living" or "Prison."                       |

4. Select SAVE.

### **Reason codes**

*Reason codes* are text strings that identify reasons for taking various actions such as cancellations, followups, and rescheduling. You can preconfigure them for use in various parts of the program.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **COMPANY** > **REASON CODES**.

| -  |                                       | NUCL INVESTIG WANTALOOG W              |
|--|---------------------------------------|--|
| cale - Lie   | Name" (do Co                          | Thiston Unitedan                       |
| C Nov temporiture                                  | tisk() system (                       | out.                                   |
| 104211   | TTREE APPRET                          | THE TROUGH HA                          |
|  |                                       |  |
| 1.84.138.01777100                                  | 1                                     |  |
|  |                                       |  |
| Carnel Bacarne                                     |                                       |  |
| Her human  |                                       | Literative state.                      |
|  | 5 6 8                                 | TabelZano                              |
| Calif. Proprint:                                   | 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 |  |
| California:  |                                       | 1:00                                   |
| Extent Testings                                    | 1000                                  | 1.000<br>(these                        |
| Sectore Tealings<br>Prilowing Scenario             | <1 B                                  |  |
| Extent Tealings<br>Frifax-Eg Somers<br>HESGamerato | / 1 B                                 | itest                                  |
| Sectore Tealings<br>Prilowing Scenario             | / 1 8<br>/ 5 8<br>/ 5 8               | itset<br>Protectionistans<br>Ang Secce |
| Extent Tealings<br>Frifax-Eg Somers<br>HESGamerato | / 1 8<br>/ 5 8<br>/ 5 8               | itteet<br>Tigital Lociature            |

- 2. On the left pane, select a category.
- 3. On the right pane at the bottom, type a reason.

4. Optional: To make the reason temporarily unavailable, select Hide Inactive.

| Setting                | Options     | Description  |  |  |  |
|------------------------|-------------|--|--|--|--|
| Cancel Reasons         | Description | Type reasons for such canceling such things as appointments or exams in progress.  |  |  |  |
| Abort Reasons          | Description | Type reasons for aborting exams in progress.   |  |  |  |
| Call Categories        | Description | Type reasons phone calls, such as to patients for scheduling.  |  |  |  |
| Critical Findings      | Description | Type critical findings you can assign to studies, such as "Acute Positive."  |  |  |  |
| Follow-Up Reasons      | Description | Type reasons to follow up on a study, such as "Benign but suspicious."   |  |  |  |
|                        | Code        | Type your internal code for the finding.   |  |  |  |
|                        | Follow Up   | Type and select the length of time until the follow-up.  |  |  |  |
| HIE Consents           | Description | Type indicators as to whether a patient has consented to release of demographics and medical data through a Health Information Exchange for treatment, payment, and health care operations purposes. |  |  |  |
| Patient Alerts         | Description | Type alerts to assign to patients, such as "Patient is claustrophobic."  |  |  |  |
| Reason for Death       | Description | Type reasons for death.  |  |  |  |
|                        | Color       | Assign unique colors to each schedule rule reason for easy identification on the schedule book.  |  |  |  |
| Transportation Reasons | Description | Type modes of transportation such as "Medical Transport" or "Personal Vehicle."  |  |  |  |

#### 5. Select **SAVE**.

### **MRN** information

*MRN information* here means your internal format for MRNs at your company. To Symmetry PACS can assign MRNs automatically according to the following settings.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **COMPANY** > **MRN INFORMATION**.

| The second se |              |                      |                                     |
|---|--------------|----------------------|-------------------------------------|
|   | MyCongerty   | Totany               | w+ URSentry                         |
| uty Fire Diverged   | - 3447       |                      | -                                   |
| 30300400  | HPF SETTIONS | 4643494100313        | WWW.INFORMATICS                     |
|   |              |                      | -                                   |
| 100   |              |                      |                                     |
|   |              |                      |                                     |
|   |              |                      |                                     |
|   |              |                      |                                     |
| Detail)   |              |                      |                                     |
|   | Carl         | ta:                  |                                     |
|   |              |                      |                                     |
|   | 1.1 110      | 4.00001.4004         |                                     |
|   |              |                      |                                     |
| O the   | d Length     |                      |                                     |
|   | 30770440     | SETTINGS OF SETTINGS | 32779488 ### 62772034 #C43694003859 |

2. Enter the following settings.

| Setting            | Description   |
|--------------------|---|
| MRN Type           | Select Default to use the default formatting included with Exa PACS/RIS, or Custom to define your own formatting. |
| Prefix             | Type a prefix to prepend to the MRN. To be able to modify the prefix, select Can Edit.                            |
| Suffix             | Type a suffix to append to the MRN.   |
| Allow Duplicates   | Select to allow duplicate MRNs.   |
| Prefix/Suffix Max. | Select Fixed Length (above), and then type or select the maximum length of the MRN prefix and suffix.             |
| Fixed Length       | Select to enter a maximum length of the MRN.  |

3. Select **SAVE**.

### Accession information

*Accession information* here means global modifications you want Symmetry PACS to make to accession numbers.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **COMPANY** > **ACCESSION INFORMATION**.

| Carls 4 144          | 810     | with the Concerns | Tine           | ines Till     | Cartery   |               | D Build (DO |
|----------------------|---------|-------------------|----------------|---------------|---|---------------|-------------|
| 🗊 Ta iki k Dayta Dar |         | Interferent       | Bigger Dealing |               | the second se | we            |             |
| ID4000               | -       | -                 | 1010-1110      | 11 904        | energies and a second   | (constant) by | ORMUNE.     |
| Activitia            | 942 - W | 10.0000           | -              | in the second | 109   | -             |             |
| Alterospiniskorradas | N.      |                   |                |               |   |               |             |
| 2452                 |         |                   |                |               |   |               |             |
| Polic                |         |                   |                |               |   |               |             |
| 3ofe .               |         |                   |                |               |   |               |             |

2. Enter the following settings.

| Setting | Description                                       |
|---------|---|
| Prefix  | Type a prefix to prepend to the accession number. |
| Suffix  | Type a suffix to append to the accession number.  |

3. Select **SAVE**.

## AE filter

This sub-tab is currently unused.

### Payment gateway

If you selected **Enable Payment Gateway** previously (see <u>Configure your company</u>):

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **COMPANY** > **PAYMENT GATEWAY**.

| ode • un:  |            | Harne * Sty |          | -         | Timezone  | -         |             |
|--|------------|-------------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-------------|
| Trable RCorra Se                                   |            |             |          | Trippet S |           |           | COLOR DE LA |
|  |            |             |          |           |           | 1.202     |             |
| Schesal  | 1erroug    | X X/F 3     | RETINGS. |           | x COC42   | lights my | CROMMINS.   |
| -  | -          |             |          |           |           |           |             |
| 1900M2911  | GATEMAT    | ACONST. CO  | APRIL 1  | 97. 3     | SASWORD A | AREA Y    | 41110-#311  |
| abevery information                                |            |             |          |           |           |           |             |
| 1. A. A. D. A. |            |             |          |           |           |           |             |
|  |            |             |          |           |           |           |             |
| Balency ?  | 1          |             |          |           |           |           |             |
|  |            |             |          |           |           |           |             |
| Mode *   |            |             | 7<br>+   |           |           |           |             |
|  |            |             |          |           |           |           |             |
| Mode 1   | (Client 10 |             |          |           |           |           |             |
| Mode 1   | Client ID  |             |          |           |           |           |             |
| Wede *<br>Chart 10 *                               | Chert ID   | et          |          |           |           |           |             |

- 2. Enter settings to make a payment gateway available, such as PayPal.
- 3. Select SAVE.

### LDAP configuration

See <u>Configure all LDAP settings</u>.

### **RCopia configuration**

If you selected **Enable RCopia Service** previously (see <u>Configure your company</u>):

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **COMPANY** > **RCOPIA CONFIG.** 

| CONSUME                 | MARKET MOLETY MO                 | ovuniv sociality lieden discuss        | SHAF INTO MALERIA VAN I TA  |
|-------------------------|----------------------------------|--|---|
| Code * 1.1."            | Name * My Company                | Tinezose * In/tastem                   | ✓ □ Enable LDAP   |
| 🛃 Enable RCogta Service | 📴 Enable Payment Gaternay 🧮 Trig | per Routing on Study Flag Changed GAVE |   |
| OCHERAL                 | ETTINO APP SETTINGS BI           | ABON CODED MEN INFORMATION             | COEBSION INFORMATION AFFILTER                                       |
| Partern   Galay         |                                  | MASSINGNO MILLING IN                   | NK ESCRIFTICIB  |
| Vendor Name *           | Vorsien Neuroe                   | RCopie Proofice Uper                   | BOople Prenties User New  |
| Vendor Pasankovi *      | Version Prenveral                | Narrie                                 |   |
| ANS URT *               | https://anxiet.drivet.com        | Portal System Name                     | Pprial System North   |
| ANS U-D *               | https://enscer@.drfrat.co.       | Trano interval                         | 5 (prend)   |
| AppMane                 | PACA                             | Notity Interval                        | i (mm)  |
| AppVenion               | 10                               | Roceria User 1D                        | 0   |
| Pinchico Namo           | Prantine Atame                   | Ruspia Ecternal User 10                | Renta Echemal Uner D  |
| Station                 | Station/                         | Veridu: Secret Key                     | Vendor Securi Kay   |
|                         | EWK                              |  | <ul> <li>Bave Request Files</li> <li>Bave Response Files</li> </ul> |

- 2. Enter RCopia service details.
- 3. Select SAVE.

### HL7

This sub-tab is currently unused.

### Password management

You can customize requirements for passwords that users create to sign in to Symmetry PACS and other related client apps.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **COMPANY** > **PASSWORD MGT**.

| CONFRONT MODELINE MODELINE  | d<br>Materia and Albert Albert Strategies and Albert Strategies |
|---|---|
| Eads * Max * Up Company Te  | rezense * US/Eastern 🗸 🗔 Seable (.DSP                           |
| Enable PCopie Service: El Enable Payment Obtoxes) El Trigger Routin<br>EERERAL ELTITINGS APP ELTITINGS HEADON OF<br>PAYSIENT ENTENNY ACOON CONTILL INC. |   |
| Parrword Requirements   | Other Settings  |
| Personal Must Belietmen II and 30 Quaranters  | 📴 User Mast Charge Password on Next Legin Is Cheshed by Oxfoat  |
| Panewoode Mart Centain Opposities Lations   | 🗍 Force Users to Reset Their Pressnand on a Set Schedule        |
| Passwords Mart Curtam Lowercase Lations   | Apply Passanord Requirements to Patient Partial                 |
| Passwoods Mari Centain Burdare  |   |
| Passwords Mast Contain Symbols or Synsed Characters   |   |

#### 2. Enter the following settings.

| Setting  | Description   |  |  |
|--|---|--|--|
| Password Must Be between…  | Type a minimum and maximum number of characters that passwords can contain. |  |  |
| Passwords Must Contain …   | Uppercase Letters   | Symmetry PACS validates passwords based on these selections. |  |
|  | Lowercase Letters   | based on these selections.                                   |  |
|  | Numbers   |  |  |
|  | Symbols or Special Characters   |  |  |
| 'User Must Change Password<br>Next Login' Is Checked by<br>Default | Select or clear to assign the default state of the setting.                 |  |  |
| Force Users to Reset Their<br>Password on a Set Schedule           | Select to require password resets of a specified interval.                  |  |  |
| Apply Password Requirements<br>to Patient Portal                   | Select to use the same password requ  | uirements for Patient Portal accounts.                       |  |

#### 3. Select **SAVE**.

### Modifiers

Modifiers are codes that provide additional detail to billing transactions.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **COMPANY** > **MODIFIERS**.

|                            | DOMINAT              | Aprilli) MULLIN  | <b>WIRE</b>     | MERIALITY HER    | Dia Steamor  |
|----------------------------|----------------------|--|-----------------|------------------|--------------|
| Code *                     | ME.                  | Rame * Ny Company  | Tipia           | anne 1 UG/East   | 4m           |
| a tre                      | Liv FC 1975 Service  | 🖬 tratis Payment Galaxy 🛔                                | 💈 Ingger Rooms  | or block flag Ch | nget Live    |
|                            | DO-DAL 0             | annua ve iamua   | KENDER COD      | MIN              | UPMATION 20  |
|                            |                      |  |                 | -                |              |
|                            | POPULTUT GA2TO       | WAY  | (%7. 1885)/N    | CHEMAN N         | ADDAREAS THE |
| Matthe                     | -                    |  |                 | -                |              |
|                            | W                    |  |                 |                  |              |
|                            |                      |  |                 |                  |              |
|                            |                      |  |                 |                  |              |
|                            | ŧπ                   | #iterT   |                 |                  |              |
| ,                          | irr                  | 860fT<br>(397  |                 |                  |              |
| 1.<br>0                    |                      |  |                 |                  |              |
| 2<br>2<br>2<br>8           | ir                   | LET.   | JLEINEL         |                  |              |
| 2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2 | ir<br>si             | 1897<br>41.619924  | (S76587)        |                  |              |
| 2<br>2<br>2<br>3<br>3<br>4 | 17<br>58<br>58       | LANT<br>RELETINGS<br>DRETINGS PRACEED                    | 1998999777<br>1 |                  |              |
| 2 X<br>2 X<br>2            | 17<br>50<br>55<br>52 | LANT<br>43.0 TERMI<br>SIGTING TRANSID<br>RESULTO STRVICT | a<br>WHINEW     |                  |              |

2. Move to the bottom of the screen, enter the following settings.

| Setting                                     | Description   |
|---|---|
| Code  | Type the CPT modifier, or other modifier code.  |
| Implicit                                    | Select to visually exclude the modifier from submitted claims.  |
| Description                                 | Type the description for the code.  |
| Fee Level                                   | Select the fee level in the dropdown list.  |
| Fee Override                                | Type the fee override code which takes precedence over any modifier created previously.   |
|   | To configure an override amount: In the first dropdown list select an operator (+ or -), in the box type an amount, and then in the last dropdown list select Value or %. |
| M1-M4                                       | Select the modifier number to which to assign the code.   |
| Display on Schedule Book and<br>Print Order | Select or clear to control visibility of modifiers.   |

3. Select **SAVE**.

# Set up the office: Other assets

### Add a facility

You must add at least one facility to your institution.

#### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **FACILITY**.
- 2. Select **ADD**, and then enter the following settings for the facility.

| Setting                 | Description   |
|-------------------------|---|
| Code                    | Type your internal code for the facility (up to eight characters).  |
| Name                    | Type the name of your facility.   |
| Market                  | Select the market that the facility serves.   |
| Contact No.             | Type the phone number of the primary contact person at the facility.  |
| Fax No.                 | Type the fax number for receiving approved reports.   |
| Send Reports to Fax No. | Select to automatically send reports to the fax number you entered previously.  |
| Email                   | Type the email address of the primary contact at the facility.  |
| Email Report Link       | Select to automatically send an email when a report is created to the email address entered earlier that contains a link to view the reports on the ReportLink service. |
| Report Password         | Type the password needed to view reports on ReportLink.   |
| Email Attachment        | Select to receive reports by attachment.  |
| Timezone                | Select the time zone used by your facility.   |
| Mammo License ID        | Type the facility's mammography license ID.   |
| Max TAT                 | Type the maximum allowed turnaround time, in minutes, before a breach of contract occurs.   |
| Enable Alt. Acc. No.    | Select to use of more than one account number for a patient.  |
| Required SSN            | Select to require a social security number to provide treatment.  |
| Require Primary Phys.   | Select to require a primary physician's information to provide treatment.   |
| PokitDok Response       | [Unused]  |
| Upload Logo             | Select Choose File, browse for and select a logo for the facility, and then select Open. Logos can be in JPEG or PNG format.  |
| Remove Logo             | To remove the current logo, select REMOVE LOGO.   |
| [Address]               | Type the address of the facility.   |

| Setting   | Description  |
|---|--|
| Modality Display Width                                      | Type the column width for each modality room, in numbers of pixels.  |
| File Store  | Select the default file store to use at the facility.  |
| Show Patient Alerts   | Select to show a patient alert window when scheduling in the schedule book.  |
| Show Recent Schedules                                       | Select to display the recent schedules dialog when: 1) scheduling a preorder; and 2) double-clicking a patient in the Patient tab of the New Appointment screen. |
|   | Days: Type the number of days in the past and future to control which exams appear in the recent schedule screen.  |
| Enable Veterinary Registration                              | Select to be able to register veterinarians as physicians.   |
| Mobile Rad Dispatching<br>Address                           | Type the address of the office that dispatches mobile radiology.   |
| Do Not Allow Overlapping<br>Procedures to Be Scheduled      | Select to prevent users from scheduling more than one procedure in the same timeslot in the schedule book.   |
| Import Documents into Study<br>as DICOMs                    | Select to automatically convert documents to DICOM images before<br>importing. If not selected, the user can select whether to convert at the<br>time of import. |
| Global Auto-Print   | Select to automatically send radiology reports to printer that is configured on the Exa server.  |
| Abbreviated Receipt   | Select to use an abbreviated formatting for payment receipts.  |
| Custom Receipt  | Select to use a custom receipt for payments, such as co-pays.  |
| Exclude from All Portals (All<br>Portals & Break the Glass) | Select to exclude studies associated with the facility from portals and the Break the Glass functions.   |
| Required Fields at Scheduling                               | Select options to require when scheduling an exam.   |
| Study Status When Patient<br>Arrives                        | Select the status to assign to the study when the patient arrives at check-<br>in.   |
| Study Status When Patient in<br>Room                        | Select the status to assign to the study when the patient arrives in the exam room.  |
| Report Delay to Patient Portal                              | Type the number of days to wait before making reports available on the patient portal.   |
| Formal Name   | Type the formal name of the facility, if different from the commonly used name.  |
| MRN Information: Inherit                                    | Select to copy the MRN from your company settings or EMR of origin.<br>Clear to define a dedicated format for the facility.                                      |
| Other MRN settings  | See <u>MRN information</u> .   |

3. Select **SAVE & CLOSE**.

### Add modalities

You must set up each modality available to your facility or institution in Symmetry PACS. In particular, you must add modalities before entering DICOM settings.

Do not add non-DICOM modalities, as this could result in problems sending studies to external PACS.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **MODALITY**.

|         | )E-      |        |          |          |                  |            | ¢       |
|---------|----------|--------|----------|----------|------------------|------------|---------|
| o       | OMPANY   | MARKET | FACILITY | MODALITY | MODALITY ROOM    | DROUP CHAT | ROOMS ) |
| Hido 15 | active : |        |          |          |                  | ADO        | RELOAD  |
| NO      | CODE     |        |          | Nob      | F                |            |         |
| dr≣ ⊚1  | 80       |        |          | Bore     | Densitometry     |            | i.      |
| £€⊙©2   | 88.:     |        |          | BRM      | odality.         |            |         |
| ⊘≣⊗⊚s   | ст       |        |          | Com      | outed Tomography |            |         |

2. Select ADD.

| Code * | 58         | D Inche                      |
|--------|------------|------------------------------|
| Name * | #RModality | 🗍 Hidden on Physician Portal |

3. Enter the following settings.

| Setting                    | Description   |
|----------------------------|---|
| Code                       | Type the standard DICOM modality code. For example, for ultrasound, type US.  |
| Name                       | Type a unique name for the modality.  |
| Hidden on Physician Portal | Select to hide the modality name on the physician portal to prevent<br>unwanted scheduling. Useful for hiding non-scheduled modalities such as<br>SR. |

- 4. Select SAVE.
- 5. In the list of modalities, select the  $\odot$   $\odot$  buttons to order the new modality.

**Note**: During modality-related tasks, Symmetry PACS matches modalities by the order in the list. Therefore, for example, you should list MG before SR.

### Add modality rooms

*Modality rooms* are named locations where modalities are used for exams, and must be configured for use in scheduling exams. Add a modality room for each modality at your facility.

#### Avoid common mistakes

- Give your modality rooms **intuitive names** that are easy to find when creating schedule templates
- Set the **From** date to a date in the past to view past scheduled appointments
- Set the **To** date to a date in the future (such as 1/1/2099) unless you plant to permanently close the room.

**Prerequisites**: <u>Add modalities</u>, <u>Add a facility</u>, and DICOM modality worklist (see <u>Configure application</u> <u>entities</u>).

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **MODALITY ROOM**.

| -OFFICE                                       |            |          |          |                |                   | 10  |
|---|------------|----------|----------|----------------|-------------------|-----|
| COMPANY                                       | MARKET     | FACILITY | MODALITY | MODALITY ROOM  | OFICIAL CHAT ROOM | >   |
| Mide Inactive                                 | cost:      |          |          | ALITY RICEM    | ADD RES           | OAD |
|   |            | 8        |          |                |                   |     |
| ♪ 目 stinka Facility 1<br>ア目 srnika Facility 1 | A01<br>A02 |          | US se    | aning<br>aning |                   |     |
| 沙豆 Angle Facility                             | ang        |          | Angir    |                |                   |     |

2. Select ADD.

### **EXG**-PLATFORM

| sta *              | AD                        | D hattie | Modulities *      |     | DAMA. |
|--------------------|---------------------------|----------|-------------------|-----|-------|
| - (13)             | with the field of 1       | (4)      | All Modalitus     |     |       |
| Note *             | OB aparing:               |          | C =0              | 1   |       |
| rom ExterTo Date * | 01/01/1658 📋 01/01/2234 🛄 |          | C) sin            |     |       |
| ater Code          | 4016473                   |          | <b>□</b> <i>□</i> | 1.1 |       |
| Hoble Order -      |                           |          | CI we             |     |       |
|                    |                           |          | □ v#              |     |       |
|                    |                           |          | 🗆 अभ्य            |     |       |

#### 3. Enter the following settings.

| Setting           | Description  |
|-------------------|--|
| Code              | Type your unique internal code or name for the modality room.  |
| Facility          | Select the facility where the modality room is located.  |
| Name              | Type a name for the modality room.   |
| From Date/To Date | Select the long-term date range in which you plan to keep using the room.  |
| Color Code        | Select in the box, and then select a color from the picker to assign to the modality room. The color appears in a bar below the name of the modality room in the schedule book.                |
| Display Order     | Type a number to determine in which column the modality room appears<br>in the schedule book. Lower numbers appear on the left side of higher<br>numbers.                                      |
| Modalities        | Select all modalities that are in use in the modality room. All appointment types with the modalities you select become available to schedule in the room (unless excluded by schedule rules). |
| DMWL              | Select the AEs in the room to which to serve the worklist. Only the selected AEs will receive orders for that room.  |

- 4. On the **MODALITYTIMES** sub-tab, select the here link, and then add a schedule template to the room.
- 5. Optional: On the **LINKED RESOURCES** sub-tab, select which treatment resource is associated with the modality room (technologist or Mobile RAD vehicle), and then type or select the name of the resource.
- 6. Select **SAVE**.

## Add a notification

You can pre-configure notifications to appear on the dashboard and/or portal sign-in pages under "Organizational News." These notifications are fixed messages, and not related to email or fax notifications.

Prerequisite: Add at least one facility.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **NOTIFICATION**.

| -    | OF                | EICE             |        |         |           |               | 1.12           |              |
|------|-------------------|------------------|--------|---------|-----------|---------------|----------------|--------------|
|      |                   | GGMEWNIT         | MAR(E) | (ADDAT) | 90004(17) | MODALITY ROOM | GIOWPOHATIOONE | NOTIFICATION |
|      | Search            |                  | 9      | ADD     |           |               |                |              |
| 1. N | lew Hir<br>Welson | e our new provid | 6(3)   |         |           |               |                |              |

2. Select ADD.

|                   | 5               |          |               |                       |                             |         | Q       |
|-------------------|-----------------|----------|---------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------|---------|---------|
| (20)              | www.            | -MOLINY  | MODAUTY       | MODALITY ROOM         | BROCK CIMT GOOMS            | NOTIFIC | NTION > |
|                   |                 |          |               |                       | SAVE                        | CELEAR  | BADK.   |
| Title 1           | New Hires       | Пинастия | 🔄 🔄 Show an P | www.eerPortali.ogin 🔲 | Show on Attorney Portal Log | 100     |         |
| Description *     | Welcome our new |          |               |                       |                             |         |         |
|                   | Al Location     | i.       |               |                       |                             |         |         |
| Office Location * | 📮 Ange Facilit  | Ŭ        |               |                       |                             |         |         |
|                   | GobReTextf      |          |               | 1                     |                             |         |         |
|                   | Meeta facili    | -        |               | 4                     |                             |         |         |

3. and then enter the following settings.

| Setting                       | Description   |
|-------------------------------|---|
| Title                         | Type a title for the notification.  |
| Show on Provider Portal Login | Select to display the notification on the sign-in page of the physician portal. |
| Show on Attorney Portal Login | Select to display the notification on the sign-in page of the attorney portal.  |

| Setting         | Description  |
|-----------------|--|
| Description     | Type the body of the notification.                               |
| Office Location | Select one or more facilities to which to send the notification. |

4. Select **SAVE**.

# Add tasks

Administrators can add tasks for marketing representatives, such as "Tell referring physician offices that we will start offering 3D mammography in January."

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **TASKS**.

| <b>(</b> # | CHINE              |       | 1   |          |           |         |             | 0      |
|------------|--------------------|-------|---|----------|-----------|---------|-------------|--------|
|            | (monetic)          | TASKS | TRAM ALITHING PATION                        | stay neo | мантическ |         | ANCRO NUTTE | PORT   |
|            |                    |       |   |          |           |         | ADD         | RELOAD |
|            | TITLE 🕈            | QES   | CRETICAL                                    |          |           | COMPLET | E DOE DATE  |        |
|            |                    |       |   |          |           | мі — У  |             |        |
| õ          | 🖞 net mys nenn ten |       | wing manunography in April<br>wintaka Jorma |          |           | ×       | 63/31/2028  |        |

2. Select ADD.

|            | OFFICE-    |              |                                     |           |               |       |
|------------|------------|--------------|-------------------------------------|-----------|---------------|-------|
|            | Commercian | TASKS        | EXAM AUTHORIZATION                  | STUDYFLAG | MONTHLY GOALS | MAGRO |
|            |            |              |                                     |           |               | SAVE  |
| Title *    |            | Ref Phys I   | Remindera 🔲 Complete                | ed        |               |       |
| Descriptio | on *       | - COL. 10.00 | i mammography in April<br>ake forma |           |               |       |
| Due Date   |            | 05/31/200    | 23 🔟                                |           |               |       |

3. Enter the following settings.

| Setting | Description                |
|---------|----------------------------|
| Title   | Type a title for the task. |
| Setting     | Description                        |
|-------------|------------------------------------|
| Description | Type a description of the task.    |
| Due Date    | Select a due date for the task.    |
| Completed   | Select when the task is completed. |

# Add authorization rules

Authorization rules prevent you from scheduling an exam on a date sooner than the amount of time required to obtain insurance authorization. Exa PACS/RIS automatically adds a warning (red star) to studies on the worklist that match the criteria in your rules (such as facility, modality, and procedure codes) that are awaiting authorization.

Prerequisite: Configure at least one procedure code and insurance provider.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **EXAM AUTHORIZATION**.

| =   | -OF | TIOE                   | -     |            |         |               |      |                 |             | 8       |
|-----|-----|------------------------|-------|------------|---------|---------------|------|-----------------|-------------|---------|
|     | ¢   | DIRIGATION TABLE       | 23.44 | AUTHORIZA  | TION    | STUDYFLAG     | С.   | ONTHLY GOALS    | MACRO NOTCH | PORT    |
|     |     |                        | -     |            |         |               |      |                 | 400         | RELOAD  |
|     |     | FACILITIES             |       | MODALITIES | DA.     | n ALLOW SCHEE | NONG | PROCEDURE CODES | NICLEGANCES | ROWDERS |
|     |     | AUL.                   |       | Al         | 4       | AL            | 14   |                 |             |         |
| ø   | \$  | Angle Facility         |       | BOCTERMO   | WRINKUT | *             |      | 3-Selected      | 3 Selected  |         |
| 4   | 8   | Airmitia Tent Facility |       | XA.        |         | ~             |      | 2 laternet      | 3 Selected  |         |
| je: | 8   | atrike Facility 1      |       | AKEUTO     | 2       |               |      | 3 Delected      | 1 Selected  |         |

2. Select ADD.



- 3. Under Facility, to make different authorization rules for different facilities, Choose facilities.
- 4. Configure the following settings.

| Setting             | Description  |
|---------------------|--|
| Facility            | Select one or more facilities in the dropdown list that will use the authorization rule.   |
| Modality            | Select one or more modalities to which the authorization rule will apply.  |
| Days                | Type the minimum number of days required for authorization (the exam cannot be scheduled during the number of days you enter).   |
| Allow Scheduling    | Select to allow users to schedule exams that are currently unauthorized, but that can be authorized in the future. Gives the user the option to schedule the exam, create a preorder instead, or cancel. |
| Procedure Codes     | Select one or more procedure codes. The authorization rule only applies to the procedures you select.  |
| Insurance Providers | Select one or more insurance providers. The authorization rule only applies to the providers you select.   |

## Create a study flag

You can create a study flag that users can apply to studies and orders on the worklist. Sorting the worklist by flags is one way for users to easily find groups of studies or orders to work on. You can also use them to trigger routing rules. When you create a study flag, you can restrict its availability by institution, facility, modality, and other parameters.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **STUDY FLAG**.

| CONSIGNATION           | TASKS   | ERAM ALITHORIZATION | STUDYFLAG | MONTHLY COALE | W | (CRO NOT)(1) | .0907   |
|------------------------|---------|---------------------|-----------|---------------|---|--------------|---------|
|                        |         |                     |           |               |   | ADD          | HEICIAD |
| DESCRIPTION :          | 9(5777) | тама                | SOUTE     | MODALITES     |   | COLOF CODE   |         |
|                        |         |                     | ALL       | (n) ≤ mit     | 4 |              |         |
| J <sup>o</sup> E Flagt |         |                     |           |               |   |              |         |
| a II risga             |         |                     |           |               |   |              |         |

2. Select ADD.

| CATHERATON TASIS             | DAM AUTHERIZATION |                                 | DATHLY GRALS                      | MAURO NETTE                                     | =091ALS |      |
|------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------------------------|---|---------|------|
| Inscitution 1 Fies1          | 🗆 hathe           | 🗋 Assisterio Portel<br>Pasities | 🗇 Ven Bruh As<br>un Scheduls Book |   | SAVE    | BACH |
| Allestation     Inierializes | +                 | D Aire                          |                                   | 0 ATTAO<br>0 0 0<br>1 97<br>0 0<br>0 40<br>0 40 |         |      |

- 3. In the **Description** box, type a name for the flag.
- 4. Enter the following settings.

| Setting                             | Description  |
|-------------------------------------|--|
| Available in Portal                 | Select to make the flag available in the physicians' portal. If selected, all other settings become unavailable. |
| View Study Flag on<br>Schedule Book | Select to show any study flags added to a study on the appointment card in the schedule book.                    |
| Color Code                          | Select a color in the picker. This color appears in the Study Flag column in the worklist.                       |
| Institutions                        | Select the institutions for which the study flag is available.   |
| Facilities                          | Select the facilities for which the study flag is available.   |
| Modalities                          | Select the modalities for which the study flag is available.   |

### Set monthly goals

You can set monthly goals for the number of studies to perform, for example.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **STUDY FLAG**.

| office         |                  |       |                    |           |          |               |              |          |           |
|----------------|------------------|-------|--------------------|-----------|----------|---------------|--------------|----------|-----------|
| <b>C</b> 11100 | 6399 <u>1</u> -0 | 0.000 | UNION AGUNER       |           |          | MONTHERGORES  |              | CONTRACT |           |
|                |                  |       |                    |           |          |               |              |          | - Introge |
|                | HOOMERY          | . (#  | ина, монеко ракочт | нг маңана | F/RORE 7 | OTHOGHAZATEPS | r Monthe III | AV NORK  |           |
|                | (AE)             |       |                    |           |          |               |              |          |           |
|                | MD               |       | ekruace 2020       | 100       |          | 21            |              |          |           |

### 2. Select ADD.

| Modality *                 | MG  | •          |
|----------------------------|-----|------------|
| Goal Period (Month/Year) * | m   | March 2023 |
| Monthly Goal *             | 108 |            |
| Working Days per Month *   | 21  |            |

3. Enter the following settings.

| Setting                   | Description  |
|---------------------------|--|
| Modality                  | Select the modality for which to set a goal.                             |
| Goal Period               | Select the month for the goal.   |
| Monthly Goal              | Type the target number of studies to perform with the selected modality. |
| Working Days per<br>Month | Type the number of days in the selected month.                           |

4. Select **SAVE**.

### Configure macro notes

*Macro notes* are pre-configured blocks of text and metadata that you can add as notes to items in various parts of the program such as studies, schedules, and claims. Configuring macro notes ahead of time saves you from having to re-enter the same notes on multiple occasions.

#### Procedure

1. Go to  $\underline{SETUP} > \underline{OFFICE} > Office > MACRO NOTES$ .

| I OFFICE :          |        |                  |          |                    |                            |            |
|---------------------|--------|------------------|----------|--------------------|----------------------------|------------|
| ¢ at the second     | 161901 | EXHLA INHOMENICH | SHOTTLAS | MONTHET NOS 3      | MACRO NOTES                | PORTALS    |
|                     |        |                  |          |                    |                            | ADD BELLAD |
| DESCRIPTION ?       |        | (178             |          | WEATER             | 00                         | SIM COM    |
| 2 II de stale retes |        | Skuly            |          | My Gampary,Nerolla | Seal Pacificarinitia Pa Ad |            |

2. Select ADD.

|               |                   |              |           | <b>UNIE</b>  | UESET BACK          |
|---------------|-------------------|--------------|-----------|--------------|---------------------|
| Docutary 3    | Six ofucty notice |              |           |              |                     |
| Малт Гурва т  | statest +         | facilities.* | SHEETED - | Modality *   | ALL SELECTED (12) - |
| Mecro Text *  |                   |              |           | Procedures   |                     |
| Teeting notes | ocenarios         |              |           | ICIT ARSONTM | IO(T PERS           |
|               |                   |              |           | Alexandrowed | Argues              |
|               |                   |              |           |              |                     |
|               |                   |              |           |              |                     |

3. Enter the following settings.

| Setting                | Description   |
|------------------------|---|
| Description            | Type a short description for the macro note to appear as the selectable option when adding notes in other parts of the program. |
| Macro Types            | Select the context in which the macro note is available.  |
| Facilities             | Select the facilities where the macro note is available.  |
| Modalities             | Select the modality with which the macro note is available.   |
| Edit Appointment Types | Select to add or remove the appointment types for which the macro note is available.  |
| Macro Text             | Type the text of the macro note.  |

4. Select **SAVE**.

# Configure portal links

You can add up to two custom links (URLs) to the patient, provider, or attorney portal. For example, you could add a link to the patient portal that sends your patients to your company's payment website.

#### Procedure

1. Go to  $\underline{SETUP} > \underline{OFFICE} > Office > PORTALS$ .

| =    | OFFICE          |                  |                |            |             |         |
|------|-----------------|------------------|----------------|------------|-------------|---------|
|      | Contribution In | aka exa          | MAUTHORIZATION | STUCY FLAG | NACRO NOTES | PORTALS |
|      | PATIENT PORTAL  | PROVIDER PO      | REAL ATTORNEY  |            |             |         |
| Lebe | Our Pasien      | (Portal          | 8              |            | GAVE        |         |
| Lek. | http://www      | v teetpportatino |                |            |             |         |

2. Select a portal sub-tab, and then enter the following settings.

| Setting | Description  |
|---------|--|
| Label   | Type the link text that appears to the user. For example, Pay Now. |
| Link    | Type the URL. For example:   |
|         | https:/www.ourcompname.com/customer_payment_site                   |

3. Select **SAVE**.

# **Configure all LDAP settings**

Symmetry PACS supports the LDAP and LDAPS (LDAP Secure) protocols.

## Synchronize AD groups

To synchronize AD groups with the LDAP server:

### Procedure

- 1. On the burger menu, select **SETUP**.
- 2. On the **OFFICE** menu, select **User Management**.
- 3. On the AD GROUPS tab, select SYNC. AD GROUPS.
- 4. In the left pane, select the groups that you want to synchronize (add to the server).
- 5. Select CREATE SELECTED GROUPS.

### Synchronize AD users

To synchronize AD users with the LDAP server:

#### Procedure

- 1. On the burger 🔲 menu, select **SETUP**.
- 2. On the **OFFICE** menu, select **User Management**.
- 3. On the AD USERS tab, select SYNC. AD USERS.
- 4. In the left pane, select the users that you want to synchronize (add to the server).
- 5. Select **CREATE SELECTED USERS**.

# **Configure providers and resources**

You can set up individual healthcare providers, their groups and facilities, and provider pay schedules.

# Add a provider organization

A provider organization is a parent entity for provider groups and locations.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Providers & Resources** > **PROVIDER ORGANIZATION**.

| 3: HU | ROVIDENS & HEEG | PRATER ORGANIZATION | INVIDEN GROLEVA OCATESE   | <br>PROVIDENTAL DEFICIAL  |
|-------|-----------------|---------------------|---------------------------|---------------------------|
|       |                 |                     |                           | Xao IIB.040               |
| 001   | DC              | 19                  | NOVIELE CREAKEZATION #    | PROVIDER GROUPS           |
|       |                 | 20                  | n-ider Organization Taint | My Provider Groupt Ageste |

2. Select **Add**, and then enter the following settings.

| Setting     | Description                                   |
|-------------|---|
| Code        | Type your internal code for the organization. |
| Description | Type a description.                           |

3. Select **SAVE & CLOSE**.

# Add a provider group

If your institution works with a provider group, add it to the system.

#### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Providers & Resources** > **PROVIDER GROUP**.
- 2. Select **Add**, and then enter the following settings.

| Setting       | Description   |
|---------------|---|
| Code          | Type your internal code for the group.                          |
| Name          | Type the name of the group.                                     |
| [Address]     | Type and select the address and country or region of the group. |
| Phone/Fax No. | Type the primary contact information for the group.             |
| Email         | Type the email address of the primary contact at the group.     |

| Setting         | Description  |
|-----------------|--|
| Report Password | Type the password that the provider group must use to view reports generated from exams that they ordered. |

- 3. Select **SAVE**.
- 4. Use the **PROVIDERS** sub-tab to view or edit the list of configured providers.
- 5. Use the **SUMMARY** tab to display a list of patients or studies associated with the current provider group.
- 6. Use the **MARKETING REP** sub-tab to add a marketing rep to the provider group.

### Add a resource

A *resource* is an attorney, nurse, provider, laboratory, radiologist, technologist, or referring provider. You can add individual resources and add them to one or more provider groups.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Providers & Resources** > **RESOURCE**.

| CHD     | CITING FACILITY  | TROVIDE | II ORGANIZATION | ( EE9)       | CELLOSON       | RYLOGATIN | n [ | FILS    | OLIRCI |       | PITOY  | ID CITI PMV | ван  | COULE    |
|---------|------------------|---------|-----------------|--------------|----------------|-----------|-----|---------|--------|-------|--------|-------------|------|----------|
|         |                  |         | SSARCHINGEP     | ROW DEF ON N | NEI I          | ADD .     | -   | uli)    | - 10   | KIPOR | ii.    | MEORT       |      | HEE      |
| cone e  | kidare           | NER     | MARKETING RS    | ADDREED      | PHONE          | e stee    | 194 | ener in | lieb   | ing.  | MARTIN |             | - 54 | ini sisi |
|         |                  |         |                 |              |                |           | Al  | -       | AL.    |       | 42     |             | ÷    |          |
| • 2°201 | Tool, Attorney   |         |                 | 2217.06 Haps | ACT.           | (333)35   | 22  |         | attor  | 199   |        |             | 3    | 5        |
| + 17800 | Alloray Octorate | er.     |                 | Autorestator | inter interest |           |     |         | anne   | -     |        |             |      | 5        |
| · Jang  | HIGH ALC:        |         |                 | 054 mest.st  |                |           |     |         | malar  | rig H |        |             |      | ×.       |

2. Select Add.

Note: The settings available differ depending on your selection in the Type dropdown list.

| Tab/Sub-tab | Setting       | Description   |
|-------------|---------------|---|
| RESOURCE    | Туре          | Select an Symmetry PACS provider type.                  |
|             | Code          | Type your internal code for the provider.               |
|             | Name          | Type the name of the provider.                          |
|             | Title         | Type the academic credentials of the provider (e.g. MD) |
|             | NPI No.       | Type the national provider identifier of the facility.  |
|             | Taxonomy Code | The Medicare/Medicaid taxonomy code (refer to CMS.gov). |

| Tab/Sub-tab | Setting               | Description  |
|-------------|-----------------------|--|
|             | Dr. Office Name       | Type the business name of the provider's office.   |
|             | SSN                   | Type the social security number of the provider.   |
|             | Federal Tax ID        | Type the federal tax ID of the provider.   |
|             | EIN No.               | Type the employer identification number of the provider.   |
|             | ETIN No.              | Type the ETIN to be able to use electronic transfers.  |
|             | Medicare UPIN         | If the provider has no NPI, type the unique physician identification number of the provider.   |
|             | Market                | Select the market that the resource serves. All facilities in the Facilities list that are associated with the selected market become selected.    |
|             | Facilities            | Select all facilities with which the provider is associated.   |
|             | Specialty             | Select the specialties of the provider.  |
|             | License No.           | Type the state medical license number of the provider.   |
|             | Medicare Provider No. | Type the Medicare provider number of the provider.   |
|             | Medicaid Provider No. | Type the Medicaid provider number of the provider.   |
|             | Prov. Agreement Code  | Type the code for the legal provider agreement code.   |
|             | POS Type              | Displayed when Referring Provider is selected as the provider type.  |
|             | Fee Schedule          | Displayed when Referring Provider is selected as the provider type.  |
|             | Max TAT               | Assign a maximum turnaround time for the provider, in minutes. Symmetry PACS divides this time into 4 segments on the TAT monitor on the worklist. |
| Locations / | Code                  | Type your internal code for the provider.  |
| Contacts    | Group                 | Select the provider group to which the provider belongs.   |
|             | Email                 | Type the email address of the provider. This is required to receive email reports, notifications, or attachments.                                  |
|             | Contact Name          | Type a contact name, such as the name of the administrative assistant of the provider.   |
|             | [Address]             | Type or select the country or region and address of the provider.  |
|             | Provider Alerts       | Type any alerts for the provider, such as "only takes referrals."  |
|             | Office Phone/Fax      | Type the contact information for the provider's office.  |
|             | Mobile/Pager No.      | Type the mobile and/or pager number of the provider.   |

| Tab/Sub-tab                             | Setting   | Description   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
|   | Phone No.   | Type the personal phone number of the provider.   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | Fax No.   | Type the personal fax number of the provider.   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | Primary Contact   | Select to send reports to the referring provider only.  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Reports to<br>Me/Contact<br>Information | Email Report Link<br>Email Attachment<br>Postal Mail<br>Fax<br>Office Fax | Select to send reports to the individual provider<br>location/contact, and select which methods to use.<br>Note: If you select Email Report Link and/or Email<br>Attachment, you must enter the recipient email address in<br>the Contact Information area. |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Reports to Group                        | Email ReportLink<br>Email Attachment<br>Postal Mail<br>Fax<br>Office Fax  | Select to send reports to all members of the provider location/contact's provider group, and select which methods to use.   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Report Password                         |   | If you selected Email Report Link previously, type the password that the provider must use to view reports generated from exams that they ordered.  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Reports to Patient<br>Portal            | Delay   | Type the number of days to wait before posting reports on the patient portal.   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Image Delivery<br>Options               | CD<br>Film<br>Paper   | Select which media to use to deliver images.  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Notification                            | Email   | Select to receive notifications by email and/or fax.  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Settings                                | Receive When Added as<br>CC Provider                                      | Select to have the provider receive notifications by email if they are added as a CC (carbon copy) provider.  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |

### 3. Select **SAVE CONTACT** and then **SAVE & CLOSE**.

#### See also:

<u>Configure a technologist</u> <u>Deliver reports</u>

### Convert or merge a system provider resource

When Symmetry PACS receives a study with providers that it does not recognize, it automatically creates a *system provider* resource and associates the study with that system provider. System providers are not available in other parts of the program, but you can convert them to a usable provider or merge them with an existing one.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Providers & Resources** > **RESOURCE**.

| CHO      | CARRO EVENILIA   | TROVID | IN GROANIZATION | C CEROVE      | KIN GROUP | LOCATIO | N   | RES     | OURC  | E     | PIRCYI | DCITITAN B | анаа  | NIE   |
|----------|------------------|--------|-----------------|---------------|-----------|---------|-----|---------|-------|-------|--------|------------|-------|-------|
|          |                  |        | SSARCH FOR PE   | ROVIDER ON W  |           | AD0     | -   | iii     | E     | NPOR  | τi.    | MPORT      |       | HELF  |
| çone e   | kadve            | NELS.  | MARKETING RG    | ADDREED       | PHONE     | file a  | PR  | ii liie | 160   | ins:  | MARGET |            | . Ait | 1 6/1 |
|          |                  |        |                 |               |           |         | Áİ. | +       | AL.   |       | A2     |            |       |       |
| • 2°201  | Tool, Attorney   |        |                 | 2217.38 Hips  | e,        | (333)32 | 12  |         |       | 199   |        |            |       |       |
| + //\$is | Atterney Gebrate |        |                 | AutoTeathcore | 10        |         |     |         | anne  | -     |        |            |       |       |
| · diango | HIQH. Alg        |        |                 | 12.729m 400   |           |         |     |         | malar | rig H |        |            | ~     |       |

2. On the SYSTEM PROVIDER column, select Yes.

|     |         | CONVERT SE    | LECTED | SEARCH FOR PROVIDER ON WEB |            |           |     |          | 6     | RELOAD  |       | EXPORT   |   |
|-----|---------|---------------|--------|----------------------------|------------|-----------|-----|----------|-------|---------|-------|----------|---|
|     | C00E#   | NAME          | NEW    | MARKETING                  | ADDRESD    | ( SPECIAL | JŦV | RESOL    | RCE   | HO3)/VE | BYSTE | MPROVIDE | R |
|     |         | no            |        |                            |            | 40        | ٣   | Бà       | ¥     | Yes 👻   | Yes   |          | ۲ |
| EI: | HCP218F | NF, KRISTY SU |        |                            | SYSTEM PRO | MDK       |     | Referrir | ig Pi | · *     | L     | +        |   |

- 1. Select a system provider in the list, and then select **CONVERT SELECTED**.
- 2. To create a new provider, select **CONVERT DIRECTLY**.
- 3. To merge with an existing provider, select **USE EXISTING**, and then select a provider in the list.



4. Select SAVE.

# Configure a technologist

Technologists have access to special features in Symmetry PACS, and therefore require a slightly more detailed configuration. For example, you can select which appointment types the technologist is allowed to perform, and assign schedule rules to the technologist, which prevents scheduling them for an appointment that they are not allowed to perform. To configure a technologist:

### Add a technologist resource

1. Follow the steps in <u>Add a resource</u> to add a resource of type **Technologist**, but do not select **SAVE & CLOSE**.

- 2. On the ALLOWED APPOINTMENTS sub-tab, select ADD.
- 3. In the **Edit Appointment Types** dialog, select the checkboxes for all appointments that the technologist is allowed to perform, and then select **SAVE**.
- 4. Optional. On the **SCHEDULE RULES** sub-tab, select an edit button to modify a schedule rule.
- 5. Select **SAVE & CLOSE**.

#### Create a technologist user role

- 1. On the burger 🔲 menu, select **Setup**.
- 2. On the **OFFICE** menu, select **User Management**.
- 3. On the **USER ROLES** tab, select **ADD**, type a name and description of the role (such as "Technologist"), and the select **SAVE**.
- 4. In the **User Role Permission** area, select the **Technologist** user right, plus any other rights you want to grant all technologists.
- 5. Select SAVE & CLOSE.

#### Create a technologist user group

- 1. On the **USER GROUPS** tab, select **ADD**.
- 2. In the **Roles** dropdown list, select **Technologist** (or the name of the technologist user role you created earlier).
- 3. Enter other settings for the group (see <u>Create a user group</u>), and then select **SAVE**.

#### Create a technologist user

Configure an individual technologist as a technologist user.

- 1. On the **USERS** tab, select **ADD**.
- 2. In the Linked Provider User Type dropdown list, select Technologist.
- 3. In the **Technologist** dropdown list, select the technologist resource you created earlier.
- 4. Enter all other settings for the user (see <u>Create a user</u>).
- 5. Select **SAVE**.

# **Configure scheduling and codes**

You can set up information related to scheduling exams, including fees, body parts, appointment types, diagnostic and procedure codes, and various kinds of templates.

# Configure a facility fee schedule

It can be useful to configure individual facility fee schedules: if your fees differ by facility; for teleradiology; of if you generate the Fees by Facility or Fees by Modality report.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Scheduling & Codes** > **FACILITY FEE SCHEDULE**.

| • | SOMEDILIDID IN       | FROLITY FTE SO-FEMALE | NON HARD | okineticio | es estation core | Maxim      | stemarno 1 |
|---|----------------------|-----------------------|----------|------------|------------------|------------|------------|
| 1 | NAME -               | Annothing the second  |          |            | startions        |            | XI HELDAO  |
| ļ | I AunitaTestFacility |                       |          |            | 12/34/1013       | 01/36/2030 |            |

2. Select ADD.

| Fee Name *  | Fit Fee DI             | 🖾 heave           |              |      |                    |                      |     |
|---|------------------------|-------------------|--------------|------|--------------------|----------------------|-----|
| Start Date Tel Date 1                               | 3322-05-00 🗵           | 2024-03-01        |              |      |                    |                      |     |
| Tuilling *  | D all factors          |                   |              |      | Ordering Pacifikia | Al Orden practices   |     |
|   | Salari heliter         | • +               |              |      |                    | <i>1</i> 2           | • + |
|   | My Deep and            | Reinford Facility | \$10) ×      |      |                    | My theories Facility |     |
| Woodites  | - Al Wood Des          |                   | todality Foo | 1002 |                    |                      |     |
|   | 0 59<br>10 59<br>10 10 | Î                 |              |      |                    |                      |     |
| Garcenery<br>BD 5161.00<br>BR 5161.00<br>GR 5161.00 |                        |                   |              |      |                    |                      |     |

3. Enter the following settings.

| Setting             | Description  |
|---------------------|--|
| Fee Name            | Type a name for the facility fee schedule.                   |
| Start Date/End Date | Select a date range during which the schedule is valid.      |
| Facilities          | Select one or more facilities to which the schedule applies. |

| Setting      | Description  |
|--------------|--|
| Modalities   | Select one or more modalities to which the fee applies.  |
| Modality Fee | Type the fee for the modality, and then select the plus to button. You can add multiple modality/fee combinations. |

### See also:

About fee schedules

# Configure body parts

You can define body parts for use in other parts of the program.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Scheduling & Codes** > **BODY PARTS**.

|     | SEMEDILING & COREE |                     |             |                 |               |            |              |
|-----|--------------------|---------------------|-------------|-----------------|---------------|------------|--------------|
|     | - solenar          | NORTH / LE SOLESSAR | DOD'T PARTS | LUNINARIO COARA | PROXEME COOKS | New CONTR. | signment ras |
|     |                    |                     |             |                 |               | 40         | o. mateku    |
|     | iavve e            |                     |             | SKT. NUME       |               |            |              |
|     |                    |                     |             |                 |               |            |              |
| 7 E | Aderey             |                     |             | Anderser        |               |            |              |
|     | Acide              |                     |             | - Arkie         |               |            |              |
| 12  |                    |                     |             | 300             |               |            |              |

- 2. Select ADD.
- 3. Type the name and alternative name for the body part, and then select **SAVE.**

### Configure diagnostic codes

You can enter SNOMED, ICD, or LOINC codes for use in other parts of the program.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Scheduling & Codes** > **DIAGNOSTIC CODES**.

|      | Trendenser | OND DVDTT SCIENCE | NUM THE ST       | ENGINEETIC CODES | HIDEFAILING CLER |        |        | alliin  |
|------|------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|--------|--------|---------|
|      |            |                   |                  |                  | ABO              | -11040 | UNPORT | 100     |
| - 10 | utes.      | DESCRIPTION       |                  |                  |                  | 1099   |        | PC01M   |
|      |            |                   |                  |                  |                  | AI.    | 18     | tes i v |
| 内目来  | 20.0       |                   | Vicio d'adman Ci |                  |                  | 10010  |        |         |
| *# a | olu t      | Chickense and     | мото-стемные о   | Love etc         |                  | 100    |        | *       |
| 14.0 | 10.0       | Orden, ang        | artist.          |                  |                  | 802360 |        |         |

2. Select ADD.

| Code *        | A00.0                      | Inactive |
|---------------|----------------------------|----------|
| Description * | Cholera due to Vibrio chol |          |
| Code Type     | 10010 ~                    |          |

3. Enter the following settings.

**Code** – Type the code to enter.

**Description** – Type the code's diagnosis description.

**Code Type** – Select the code standard to which the code belongs.

4. Select **SAVE.** 

## Import diagnostic codes

If you obtain exported diagnostic codes, such as from the CMS or AMA, you can import them.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Scheduling & Codes** > **DIAGNOSTIC CODES**.

| TT NO THAT  | SALE OVER ACHER ALE DESCRIPTION ENGINEERIC         | orti Pipernine cores | hbocoten    | somer      |
|---|--|----------------------|-------------|------------|
|   | 1.0  | A00                  | 10.040      | NOCAT 1 DL |
| 1008.4  | DESCRIPTION 2                                      |                      | 099         | ACTUM:     |
|   |  |                      | <b>#</b> F. | 9 (H. 9    |
| 1 1 ADD.  | Onderse due la Vilais d'admas CT, bioyar d'axierse |                      | 10212       | ۳.         |
| at the second | (Tremessue to Vigno (Tremer 0), ovver etc.         |                      | 100         | *          |
| / \$ 200  | Ornion, asspertion                                 |                      | 80230       | -          |

2. Select IMPORT.

- 3. Select Choose File, browse for and select the file to import, and select Open.
- 4. Optional. To replace existing facilities, select the **Update Existing** checkbox.
- 5. Select **IMPORT**.

# Configure procedure codes

A *procedure code* is an internal code that identifies a medical procedure. Additionally, procedure code entries serve as detailed sets of information about procedures that Symmetry PACS uses for billing, ordering, and other functions.

When you configure a procedure code, you can add NDCs that technologists can select when performing the exam. This makes the process of searching for and adding the appropriate contrast material and other medications more efficient and accurate.

Prerequisites: For adding NDCs to a procedure code, complete the steps in Configure NDCs.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Scheduling & Codes** > **PROCEDURE CODES**.

|    | 101100    | EDRAE RACEITVH    | E DOI KOULE 👘  | ablav milit | nii a     | Aliferricaa | noi 📑      | PRIOREDURE O | 000  | 8 10      | 2 0 0 E | ie li    | ciitai | κΞ |
|----|-----------|-------------------|----------------|-------------|-----------|-------------|------------|--------------|------|-----------|---------|----------|--------|----|
|    |           |                   |                |             |           | Abo         | aston      | MAGE         | art. | Liki      | -       | N CRIMIN |        | -6 |
| 2  | Hide much | Pow.              |                |             |           |             |            |              |      |           |         |          |        |    |
|    | 000000    | descention .      | EXAMPLE ALTING | TOLODAL T   | 0.0049780 | A PADGITY   |            | NODELITY     |      | PODILIDIO |         | 357/68.7 | CE .   | 1  |
|    |           |                   |                |             |           |             |            |              |      |           |         |          |        |    |
|    |           |                   |                |             |           | AL.         | 1          | (AL)         | ٣    | (48       | 17      | 40       | . *    |    |
| 18 | HTA .     | INTERCONT         |                | g           | 15        | al.         |            |              | ٣    | 48        | 17      | AL.      | 4      | L  |
|    | HEA.      | INTERFORMENTATION |                | e<br>F      | 15<br>16  |             | 1 Ange the | address.     | ٣    | 40        | *       | All.     | *      | L  |

2. Select ADD.

## **EXO**-PLATFORM

| Facôties *          | Al Facilities                  | Service Type *                              | Select              |
|---------------------|--------------------------------|---|---------------------|
|                     | Deleta facilities 🔹 🕂          | Ref. Code                                   | 0001A               |
|                     |                                | NDC Code                                    |                     |
|                     |                                | NDC Meesure                                 |                     |
|                     |                                | Color Code                                  |                     |
| ode *               | 9001A Directive                | SDE Study                                   | 0                   |
| hort Description *  | IMM ADMIN SARSCOV2 9           |   |                     |
|                     |                                |   |                     |
| vescription *       | INPM ADMIN SORECOV2.8          |   |                     |
| escription *        |                                | D ADMOSTIC CODES DEFAIL                     | TREFORT TEMPLATE E  |
|                     |                                | D'ADNOSTIC CODES DEFAIL                     | T REPORT TEMPLATE E |
| GENERAL             |                                | D'ADMOSTIC OCDES DEFAIL<br>Duration *       | TREPORT TEMPLATE E  |
| GENERAL             | NDC CODE EXAMPREMINISTRUCTIONS |   |                     |
| GENERAL             | NDC CODE EXAMPREP HATTRUCTIONS | Duration *                                  | 15                  |
| OEHERAL<br>ody Part | NDC CODE EXAMPREMINATINGCTIONS | Duration *<br>Default Units                 | 15                  |
| OEHERAL<br>ody Part | NDC CODE EXAMPREMINATINGCTIONS | Duration *<br>Default Units<br>RVU          | 15                  |
|                     | NDC CODE EXAMPREMINATINGCTIONS | Duration *<br>Default Units<br>RVU<br>Level | 15<br>1<br>Select ~ |

3. Enter the following settings.

| Setting           | Description  |
|-------------------|--|
| Facilities        | Select one or more facilities that perform the procedure.  |
| Code              | Type your code for the procedure.  |
| Short Description | Type a short description for the procedure.  |
| Description       | Type a full description of the procedure.  |
| Service Type      | Select the service type to which the procedure belongs.  |
| Ref. Code         | Type the reference code of the procedure. In most cases this can be the CPT or LOINC code.   |
| NDC Code          | Type the national drug code associated with the procedure, if any. For<br>a more advanced NDC function, see later steps in this topic. |
| NDC Measure       | Type the unit of measure for contrast and/or liquid medications. The value for this is usually UN.                                     |
| Color Code        | Select in the box, and then select a color in the picker to assign to the procedure.   |

| Setting   | Description  |
|-----------|--|
| SDE Study | Select the checkbox if the procedure is associated with echo ultrasound. |

- 4. Select **SAVE**.
- 5. Optional. On the **GENERAL** sub-tab, enter the settings in the following table, and then select **SAVE**.

| Setting              | Description   |
|----------------------|---|
| Body Part            | Select the body part associated with the procedure.   |
| Non-Transcribable    | Select if the procedure cannot be transcribed.  |
| Require Copay        | Select if the procedure requires a copayment.   |
| Require Physician    | Select if the procedure must be performed by a physician.   |
| Require Waiting Time | Select if the procedure requires a waiting time before beginning (such as drinking Barium some number of hours before a procedure). |
| Notes                | Type notes for the procedure as needed.   |
| Duration             | Type the expected duration of the procedure.  |
| Default Units        | Type the number of procedure units.   |
| RVU                  | Type or select the relative value units of the procedure for Medicare reimbursement.  |
| Level                | The provider level code that determines the pay rate to the radiologist.  |
| Modalities           | Select one or more modalities used in the procedure.  |

- 6. Optional. For **EXAM PREP. INSTRUCTIONS**, see Configure exam prep instructions.
- 7. Optional. To add diagnostic codes (other than standard ones already on your system), on the **DIAGNOSTIC CODES** sub-tab, select codes from the dropdown list.
- 8. Optional. To associate a diagnostic code with the procedure code, on the **DIAGNOSTIC CODES** sub-tab, select a code.
- 9. Optional. To select a report template to be used for the procedure, on the **DEFAULT REPORT TEMPLATE** sub-tab, do one of the following.
  - Under **Template** List, select an existing template.
  - Select **NEW TEMPLATE**, type a template name, create a template in the word processing area, and then select **SAVE TEMPLATE**.
- 10. Select **SAVE & CLOSE**.

## Import specimen catalogs

If you obtain specimen catalogs in CSV format, you can import them.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Scheduling & Codes** > **PROCEDURE CODES**.

|    | 101105         | IDRAE RACIUTVIN     | te doi kavale 🛛 🖓    | abov miki      | nii 🕺        | Advicence come |              | MODEDUNE CO | 1068 | HOCK            | 0006 | a i licini  | Diviz |
|----|----------------|---------------------|----------------------|----------------|--------------|----------------|--------------|-------------|------|-----------------|------|-------------|-------|
|    |                |                     |                      |                |              | 400 40         | in a         | MEDICI      | PI   | 196             |      | CETALOR     | н     |
| 12 | Heleinard      | Po#                 |                      |                |              |                |              |             |      |                 |      |             |       |
|    | 000000         | erscerena -         | EXAMPTER INSTRUC     | - month        | n ni estano  | PARENTY        |              | SIDDALITY:  | - 04 | AND DESCRIPTION |      | SERVER TYPE | 源     |
|    | and the second | descention .        | February internation | a standard and | Concerning)  | COMPANY.       |              | Supervise . | 120  | ophibus         |      | and second  |       |
|    |                |                     | Contract Stations    | 0.500010       | C LAND PTTER | a              | -41          |             | - (4 |                 | 7    |             | 4     |
|    | NULL I         | INR ADMINISTRATICON |                      | - (D           | 15           |                | 1            | at .        |      |                 |      |             |       |
| 28 |                |                     | l                    |                |              | AL.            | in .<br>gere | AL          |      |                 |      |             |       |

- 2. Select **SPECIMEN CATALOG**.
- 3. Select Choose File, browse for and select the file to import, and select Open.
- 4. Optional. To replace existing facilities, select the **Update Existing** checkbox.
- 5. Select IMPORT.

### Import procedure codes

If you obtain exported procedure (CPT) codes, such as from the AMA or third-party billing companies, you can import them.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Scheduling & Codes** > **PROCEDURE CODES**.

|    | 11110     | EDRAE RACEITVH      | TE BON KROWED - // ( | iolov mikit | ŧ i      | AD OFFICIA  | 2001     | PROBEDURE O | 0068   | Hod     | 00061             | licito | wii fi |
|----|-----------|---------------------|----------------------|-------------|----------|-------------|----------|-------------|--------|---------|-------------------|--------|--------|
| _  |           |                     |                      |             |          | Abo         | adau     | MAGET       | ant.   | 1445    | MAN CRIM          | 100    | -44    |
| 12 | Heleinard | hu#                 |                      |             |          |             |          |             |        |         |                   |        |        |
|    | 00000#    | descermon .         | EXAMPLE: NETROS      | CLODAL T    | 0.049700 | e nadelity. |          | W026LTTY    | - 28   | 0011010 | 3970              | SETUTE | 399    |
|    |           |                     |                      |             |          |             |          |             |        |         |                   |        |        |
|    |           |                     |                      |             |          | AL          | - 13     | (AL)        | a 1/4  |         | (Y) (U            |        |        |
| 12 | HTA :     | IMPLATING SAELICING |                      | a.          | 15       | annia facta |          |             | 41/4   |         | A Date            | ă      |        |
|    | HER.      | IMPLATING SAFECTIVE |                      |             | 15<br>16 |             | 1Ange Pa |             | w []/4 |         | ( <b>*</b> ] (40. | ă      |        |

2. Select IMPORT CPT.

- 3. Select Choose File, browse for and select the file to import, and select Open.
- 4. Optional. To replace existing facilities, select the **Update Existing** checkbox.
- 5. Select **IMPORT**.

## Configure study statuses

Workflows in Symmetry PACS are status-driven. To create or tailor workflows, you can create a set of study statuses, and then configure how studies move from status to status (see <u>Configure study flow</u>). To add statuses:

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Scheduling & Codes** > **STUDY STATUS** > **STUDY STATUS**.



2. In the **Facility** dropdown list, select a facility, and then select **ADD**.

| Genatul Information   |                  |                         | Tringe to Validate                   | Always show valuation willow |
|-----------------------|------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| Utetas Code *         |                  |                         | Patient Address                      | CPT CODe                     |
|                       | Add to Study Sho | tout Mena on Waitilist  | (Address, Gity State, ZiF)           | Diogneois Code               |
| status Gesenption *   |                  | Exclusive mail resisted | D Patient 20N                        | Polent Alem                  |
| Tokar Clashi          |                  | C Other Parlated        | E Falient Contact<br>Number (Home or | 🗌 Reason for Shaty           |
| dec Walt Time         | 000 0.00         |                         | Mchibe)                              | Document Review              |
|                       |                  |                         | 🔲 Referring Physician                |                              |
|                       |                  | SAME CANCE              | Primary insurance                    |                              |
| Notification Bettings |                  |                         |                                      |                              |

### 3. Enter the following settings.

| Group                    | Setting                                   | Description  |
|--------------------------|---|--|
| General<br>Information   | Status Code                               | Type your internal code for the status.  |
| Information              | Add to Study Shortcut<br>Menu on Worklist | Select to add the status to the study row shortcut menu on the worklist.   |
|                          | Status Description                        | Type the name of the status.   |
|                          | MobileRad Related                         | Select if the status is for Mobile RAD. For use with the Mobile RAD app.   |
|                          | Color Code                                | Select in the box, and then select a color from the picker to color code the status.   |
|                          | Order Related                             | Select if the status is related to orders only.  |
|                          | Max Wait Time                             | Type the number of minutes to complete check-in. If the time is exceeded, the "Exceeds maximum time limit" count at the bottom of the worklist increments. |
| Things to Validate       | Always Show Validation<br>Window          | Reserved for encounters.   |
|                          | [Other checkboxes]                        | Select the items that Symmetry PACS validates (checks for inclusion) before moving the study to the next status.   |
| Notification<br>Settings | Email Template                            | Select templates that determine whether and to whom notification is made when a study arrives at the status.   |

4. Select **SAVE.** 

# Configure study flow

Symmetry PACS provides a graphical representation of the flow of studies from status to status at each facility. You can define these flows, and also apply routing rules to control whether data can move to the next status in the flow. The easiest way to define a new flow is to copy an existing one from another facility, if available.

**Note**: You do not need to apply routing rules for manual DICOM send operations.

**CAUTION**: Changing the study flow incorrectly can "orphan" studies, leaving them unable to move to the next status in the workflow.

### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > Scheduling & Codes > STUDY STATUS > STUDY FLOW.
- 2. In the **Facility** dropdown list, select a facility.



- 3. To modify the flow:
  - Copy an existing flow to your new facility by select the source and destination facilities in the lists (see figure).
  - Drag the orange bar in a status node to another status, and drag arrows.
  - Add a routing rule between statuses by selecting the triangle on an arrow them, select a routing rule, and then select **OK**.
- 4. Select SAVE.

#### See also:

Configure study statuses

### Add a transcription template

You can add a template for use during transcription. A *transcription template* is for formatting a transcription, whereas a *report template* is for final formatting of approved reports. To create a transcription template:

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Scheduling & Codes** > **TRANSCRIPTION TEMPLATE**.

## **EXG**-PLATFORM

| - [ | CREDUCIND       | a oppet  |                |              |                        |                |       | ė          |
|-----|-----------------|----------|----------------|--------------|------------------------|----------------|-------|------------|
| -   | Che coneo       | sociacca | Streams (1010) | atusi atenta | TRANSCRIPTION TEMPLATE | herorrisers to | RUNCE | оние штк 🕽 |
|     |                 |          |                |              | 1                      | · · ·          | -480  | 101200     |
|     | TEMPLATE NAME : | 8        |                |              |                        |                |       |            |
| 2.8 | Tropinic from   |          |                |              |                        |                |       |            |
| 0.0 | Tethod          |          |                |              |                        |                |       |            |
| 1.0 | INACEAND        |          |                |              |                        |                |       |            |

### 2. Select ADD.



3. On the left pane, enter the following settings.

| Setting       | Description                   |
|---------------|-------------------------------|
| Template Name | Type a name for the template. |

| Setting           | Description  |
|-------------------|--|
| Global            | Select to make the template available to all users.  |
| Macro Keyword     | Type a macro keyword that can be voice-recognized to open a template.  |
|                   | Tip: Add a starter word in front of the keyword to make it easier to call up macros/templates.   |
|                   | Example: macro chest   |
| User              | You can restrict availability of the template by assigning users to it. Select a user in the list and then select the plus template to multiple users. |
| Appointment Types | Restricts availability of the template to studies of the selected CPT code.  |
| Require All Match | Restricts availability of the template to users and studies who match all criteria entered in these settings.  |
| Facilities        | Select one or more facilities to which to assign the template.   |
| Modality          | Restricts availability of the template for use with one or more modalities.  |
| Body Part         | Restricts availability to the template for use with one or more body parts.  |
| Study Description | Restricts availability of the template to studies with the entered study description.  |
| Institution       | Select one or more institution to which to assign the template.  |

- 4. Select SAVE.
- 5. In the template editor, type text and apply formatting for the template, and then select **SAVE**.
- 6. Optional. To paste items onto the template that you copied from outside Symmetry PACS, on the **HOME** tab, select **Paste**, and then in the button shortcut menu, select **Paste**.
- To add merge fields, select REPORTING (1) > Insert Merge Field (2), and then select a merge field (3).

| - 1  | 1000 - 556   | CONTINUE AND                           |
|--|--|--|
| The second secon   | Sour Lobes<br>Develop Perce  | Sol<br>C Dakroz - C Cene<br>Family Ree |
|  | <br>former and former |  |
|  |  |  |
| The off caller long (10),<br>yield caller long (10),<br>yield<br>yield<br>yield<br>The off caller long (10),<br>yield<br>yield<br>yield<br>the off caller<br>the o |  | 40 · · · · · · · · · ·                 |

- 8. For formatting options (4), right-click in the body of the template.
- 9. When finished with your template, select **SAVE & CLOSE**.

### Configure functional and cognitive statuses

Functional and cognitive statuses are preset descriptions of a patient's level of physical and mental functioning that can be used in other parts of the program.

### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Scheduling & Codes**.
- 2. On the **FUNCTIONAL STATUS** tab, in the **Description** box, type a functional status and then select **SAVE**.

| i s | CHED | ILING & COD     | 66                |                 |                    |      |
|-----|------|-----------------|-------------------|-----------------|--------------------|------|
| 2   | ¢ RE | TIAPPMENT THOSE | FUNCTIONAL STATUS | COONITWE STATUS | BENEDULE TEMPLATER | ) AB |
|     |      | DESCRIPTION     |                   |                 |                    |      |
| 0   | n    | Ambulatory      |                   |                 |                    |      |
| t.  | 8    | Cane/waller     |                   |                 |                    |      |



3. On the **COGNITIVE STATUS** tab, in the **Description** box, type a cognitive status and then select **SAVE.** 

| <b>#</b> ] | sci | IEDULI | NG & COD      | ES+               |                  |    |
|------------|-----|--------|---------------|-------------------|------------------|----|
|            | ٢   | REPOR  | TTEMPLATE     | FUNCTIONAL STATUS | COGNITIVE STATUS | 13 |
|            |     |        | DESCRIPTION   |                   |                  |    |
| 0          |     | D      | Mild aphasta  |                   |                  |    |
| ð          |     | 0      | Memory impair | ment              |                  |    |

| Description * |      |        |
|---------------|------|--------|
|               | SAVE | CANCEL |

# **Configure DICOM settings**

You can configure DICOM settings such as by configuring AEs, setting up file stores, and defining receiver and routing rules.

**Note**: The default AE title for Symmetry PACS is EXA\_SCP, or EXA\_MWL when acting as a worklist source. These titles are configured elsewhere in the program by a Konica Minolta installation engineer.

### Configure application entities

In Symmetry PACS, an *application entity* (AE) *title* is a named configuration for a DICOM application that includes information such as its type, host computer, and port number. You must set up AE titles for Modality Worklist, send, receive/store, print, query/retrieve, and other functions to make them available on Symmetry PACS. To configure an AE, use the following procedure.



Failure to correctly configure application entities can cause general failure of DICOM communication between Symmetry PACS and those entities.

#### Procedure

| - DICON       |               |         |             |    |               | ¢                      | ł |
|---------------|---------------|---------|-------------|----|---------------|------------------------|---|
|               |               |         | -ALTONNYS   |    | MANDONG BLES  | Walling we come a set  |   |
| Side fragese  |               |         |             |    |               | ADD BELOW              |   |
| 101.0.9       | HOOT          | 192811  | DESURPTION  | 15 | E STORE       | AETYME                 |   |
|               |               |         |             |    |               | 10                     | r |
| n prinivitari | 10.227 25.76  | 3446.05 | EN1-402-402 |    | Sever Thopes  | sektorecente.coreviset |   |
| CLD, AND THE  |               |         | OLO ARD TYL |    | NULT 01002    | /ECE//C                |   |
| PE OPALISCH   | 10.227.24 100 | 88836   | OF44_315_58 |    | Sarver Images | SEND/RECEIVE/DUERV/RET | H |

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **DICOM** > **AE TITLE**.

2. Select ADD.

### **exa**-PLATFORM

| 40 Type :                     | seno                     |                                    | AE Flag                          | Select (Y)      |
|-------------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------|
|                               | E RECENE                 | 221                                | DEPENDEN                         |                 |
|                               | CUENV/RETRIEVE           |                                    | Fix 25%*                         | Select v        |
| At Tite (Return) *            | Concertment with         | I vector                           | Pom <sup>2</sup>                 | [] Petulo 23.   |
|                               | 🗇 Igrave Scan Dasa (Send | 0                                  | Tienefet Soltar (Senti)          | Selaci V        |
| My AE TIDe                    |                          |                                    | Terrafe: Senar                   | Select •        |
| Host Maise *                  |                          |                                    | (Inconve)                        |                 |
| Description -                 |                          | Disable QC2LIVE                    | Veticle                          | Xmy mobile unit |
| Febies                        | 0                        | 🔲 Sens Single Instaltice per Study |                                  |                 |
| Max CenezitaRt                | 26                       |                                    | SDEMOOHIN                        | D               |
| Receive Facility *            | Select factory + Q       |                                    | Worde Ajground Report            |                 |
| Send Pacifices                | NO RECEIPTION +          | 0                                  | 1945-2019 <b>-5</b> -200-2018-20 |                 |
| Send Annotations as           | Selevit                  | *                                  |                                  |                 |
| Send Unique Image UD          |                          |                                    |                                  |                 |
| Finst Viewer                  |                          |                                    |                                  |                 |
| lignore inbound Stat<br>Vefue | ج 🗆                      |                                    |                                  |                 |
| DMWL Modelers 1               | C) 55                    |                                    |                                  |                 |
|                               | () en                    |                                    |                                  |                 |
|                               | D er                     | +                                  |                                  |                 |
| DMWI, Fecifiles *             | 🗋 argaunitue             |                                    |                                  |                 |
|                               | Argentisting             |                                    |                                  |                 |
|                               | C. Brroax Facility       |                                    |                                  |                 |
| Issue: Trae 1                 | S NOW O STREE            | D Dynamic                          |                                  |                 |

3. Enter the following settings, and then select **SAVE.** 

**Note**: Depending on the AE type, not all of the following settings are available.

| Setting                 | Description   |
|-------------------------|---|
| АЕ Туре                 | Select one or more transactions that Symmetry PACS makes with the AE.   |
| AE Title (Remote)       | Type a title for the AE of up to 16 characters. If an AE title is pre-<br>configured on the device hosting the AE, use the same title.  |
| Ignore Scan Docs (Send) | Select to prevent sending of scanned documents to the AE (only DICOM studies are sent).   |
| My AE Title             | Type a title of up to 16 characters to set the identity of Symmetry PACS individually for each DICOM node. In most cases, leave blank to use the default (EXA_SCP for PACS/RIS functions, and EXA_MWL for modality worklist functions). |
| Host Name               | Type the host name or IP address of the AE.   |
| Description             | Type a description for easy identification of the AE.   |

| Setting                           | Description   |
|-----------------------------------|---|
| Disable QC2LIVE                   | Select to disable the automatic transfer of studies from QC to live.  |
| Retries                           | Type the number of times the system attempts to reconnect with the AE after a communication failure.  |
| Send Single Instance per Study    | Select to send one image per study.   |
| Max Concurrent                    | Type the maximum number of concurrent threads that the system can use for the transaction.  |
| Receive Facility                  | Select a facility to receive studies sent to the AE.  |
| Send Facilities                   | If you select facilities here, only users assigned to those facilities can select them for DICOM-sending (leave blank for all facilities and users).                            |
| Ignore Inbound Stat Value         | Select to keep the Stat level of the study from Exa PACS/RIS.   |
|                                   | Clear to use the Stat level of the study as received.   |
| Send Annotations as               | Select how to process annotations for sending.  |
|                                   | Burned in: "Flattens" the image and overlay into a single image.  |
|                                   | DICOM Overlay: Converts the annotations to a DICOM overlay and sends along with the study.  |
|                                   | GSPS/PR Object: Converts the annotations to a presentation state and sends along with the study.  |
| Send Unique Image UID from Viewer | Select to generate a new UID for each image (rather than just for the series or study).   |
| DMWL Modalities                   | Select to which modalities to serve a modality worklist.  |
| DMWL Facilities                   | Select to which facility to serve a modality worklist.  |
| Issuer                            | Select the issuer of PIDs.  |
| AE Flag                           | Select one of the following services to use to send studies.<br>DICOM: C-MOVE<br>DICOM SSL: C-MOVE, secured<br>HL7: Standard HL7 protocols.<br>OPAL: The Opal Transfer service. |
| Institution                       | Type the name of the institution for easier identification.   |
| File Store                        | Select a file store for storing received data.  |
| Port                              | Type the port number through which the AE can connect to Symmetry PACS (the Symmetry PACS listening port).  |
| Require SSL                       | Select this checkbox if: 1) you selected the DICOM SSL AE flag; and 2) the port number requires an SSL certificate.   |
| Transfer Syntax (Send)            | Select the transfer syntax for sending.   |
| Transfer Syntax (Receive)         | Select the transfer syntax for storing and receiving.   |
| Vehicle                           | Select vehicles to which to assign received studies.  |

| Setting                  | Description   |
|--------------------------|---|
| SDE Modality             | Select if the AE is a dedicated echo ultrasound.    |
| Include Approved Reports | Select to include approved reports in transactions. |

#### See also:

Configure a DICOM printer

# Configure a DICOM printer

Extra Printer Options

Configure and save AE with AE type of "Print," and then perform the procedure below. For each printer you can save multiple configurations for different print media and other settings. At print time, you can select the configuration you need.

#### Procedure

- 1. Go to  $\underline{SETUP} > \underline{OFFICE} > DICOM > AE TITLE$ .
- 2. Configure a print AE, and then under **Extra Printer Options**, enter the following settings.

| ARTIM | Timeout           |                    |            |               |            | Max PDU Lengt  | •             |                |  |
|-------|-------------------|--------------------|------------|---------------|------------|----------------|---------------|----------------|--|
| Read  | Incent            |                    |            |               |            | Solder Margins | 2             |                |  |
|       | паня              |                    |            |               |            | True Size      |               |                |  |
|       |                   |                    |            |               |            |                |               |                |  |
| Print | er Config         | prations           |            |               |            |                |               | 1077050        | ADD CONTROLIATION                        |
| Print | er Config<br>Nene | purations<br>Medum | Tiles Size | Border Darußg | destrution | arberballan    | Magrification | Engity Density | Ann colariculturion<br>Manory Allacation |

| Setting        | Description   |
|----------------|---|
| ARTIM Timeout  | Type the number of minutes to wait for an acceptance or rejection response to an association request before timing out. |
| Read Timeout   | Type the number of minutes the printer waits to receive data before timing out.   |
| Write Timeout  | Type the number of minutes the printer waits to send data before timing out.  |
| Max PDU Length | Type the maximum number of bytes of a protocol data unit that the printer can receive.                                  |
| Border Margins | [Unused]  |
| True Size      | [Unused]  |

### 3. Select ADD CONFIGURATION.

| Name                   | Film Destination | MAGAZINE ¥  |
|------------------------|------------------|-------------|
|                        | Film Orientation | PORTRAIT ~  |
| Medium                 | Magnification    | REPLICATE V |
| PAPER ~                | Employ Density   | BLACK ~     |
| Film Size              |                  | 1.000000-00 |
| 6INX IGN               |                  |             |
| Border Denatty BLACK 🗢 |                  |             |
| Memory Allocation (HD) |                  |             |
| Auto Decoursechell     |                  | SAVE CANCEL |

4. Enter the following settings.

| Setting                | Description   |
|------------------------|---|
| Name                   | Type a name for the printer.  |
| Medium                 | Select the printer medium.  |
| Film Size              | Select the film size for the printer.   |
| Border Density         | Select a border density of Black or White.  |
| Memory Allocation (KB) | For most printers, accept the default of Auto. Otherwise, type the amount of memory in kilobytes to allocate for a print session. |
| Film Destination       | Select the destination for exposed film.  |
| Film Orientation       | Select the orientation of the film.   |
| Magnification          | Select a magnification factor for printing images.  |
| Empty Density          | Select the density of the image box area on the film that contains no image.  |

5. Select SAVE.

# Configure a file store

*File stores* are directories on servers that Symmetry PACS uses to store files received in a DICOM transaction, such as images from a modality.

**CAUTION**: Changing an existing file store can prevent the study from opening.

#### Procedure

1. Go to  $\underline{SETUP} > \underline{OFFICE} > DICOM > FILE STORE$ .

|     | MCM.              |  | •                      |
|-----|-------------------|--|------------------------|
|     | AUTORE FLESSING   | entresentes artempts entres alarmontes |                        |
|     | uner <del>-</del> | witten.                                | Pact Haverboy          |
| ,   | BC%,CT CTORE      | Unprocessed DrCbM studies              | FyEXMuniendwa Exceland |
| 1.4 | Realtanna inagae  | Processed D-COM studies                | # UKAAnnaper           |
| 7.8 | RemetiDes         | Bunned Desymptotic In Patient Gase     | PSB44duarred trayes    |

- 2. Select ADD.
- 3. Type the server name, root directory, and notes, and then select SAVE.

# Configure routing rules

With routing rules, you can define how certain types of data flow between Symmetry PACS and other AEs. For example, you could create a routing rule that tells Symmetry PACS to automatically send all data that it receives from ultrasound modalities to another PACS. You can also add criteria to your rule for more precise control. For example, your rule could limit sending of ultrasound data from only a specific facility.

Use the following procedure to configure a routing rule, and then apply the rule by following the steps in "Configure study flow." It is not necessary to apply routing rules for manual DICOM send operations.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **DICOM** > **ROUTING RULES**.

|     | theose .     | <br>        |               |                | ð          |
|-----|--------------|-------------|---------------|----------------|------------|
| (I) | - Real       | RAIN        | stic on suits | MATCHING PLATE |            |
|     |              |             |               |                | 400 BD.050 |
| 10  | N.E.F. HALLE | <br>er mile |               |                | UNITY .    |
|     |              |             |               | v              |            |
| e # | kjel         | XX-V12-V22  |               | 2              |            |

2. Select ADD.

| Rule Nama *           | Example |   |            | 🗆 kastine |  |
|-----------------------|---------|---|------------|-----------|--|
| Type *                | SEND    |   | Filoray *  | 1         |  |
| AE Title "            | EXAV33  | * | Attempts + | 2         |  |
| Prior Options         |         |   |            |           |  |
| Number of Priors to S | end 3 ¥ |   |            |           |  |
| 🔄 Auto Senz Photo     |         |   |            |           |  |
| E Reikvant Priors     |         |   |            |           |  |
| FT HAMMERICANA .      |         |   |            |           |  |

3. Enter the following settings. The available settings change depending on the AE type that you select in the Type dropdown list.

| Setting                   | Туре               | Description   |
|---------------------------|--------------------|---|
| Rule Name                 | All                | Type a name for the rule.   |
| Туре                      | All                | Select the transaction to perform with the AE (for example, SEND).  |
| Interface/Trigger<br>Name | HL7 Send           | Select an interface and/or trigger for HL7 send actions.  |
| AE Title                  | SEND               | Select the AE with which to perform the transaction (for example, select Remote_Hospital to send to that AE).   |
|                           | PRINT              |   |
|                           | QUERY/RETRIEVE     |   |
|                           | Send Report (Opal) |   |
|                           | LOCAL_CACHE        |   |
| Priority                  | SEND               | Type a number to indicate which rules to evaluate first. Lower numbers take higher priority. Refer to your current list of rules on the ROUTING RULES tab to determine the priority to use for the rule you are adding. |
|                           | PRINT              |   |
|                           | QUERY/RETRIEVE     |   |
|                           | Send Report (Opal) |   |
|                           | HL7 Send           |   |
|                           | LOCAL_CACHE        |   |
| Attempts                  | SEND               | Type the number of attempts the program should make to apply the rule.  |
|                           | PRINT              |   |
|                           | QUERY/RETRIEVE     |   |
|                           | Send Report (Opal) |   |
|                           | HL7 Send           |   |

| Setting                     | Туре                | Description   |  |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|---|--|
|                             | LOCAL_CACHE         |   |  |
| Priors                      | QUERY/RETRIEVE      | Type the number of priors to retrieve. Type 0 (zero) to retrieve instances for the current study only.  |  |
| Modality                    | QUERY/RETRIEVE      | Select an option to filter which priors to retrieve.  |  |
| Prior Options               |                     |   |  |
| Number of<br>Priors to Send | SEND<br>LOCAL_CACHE | Type the number of priors to send along with the study.   |  |
| Auto Send Priors            | SEND<br>LOCAL_CACHE | <ul> <li>Select to send any priors found in the system along with the current study.</li> <li>The system sends as many priors as it can find, up to the Number of Priors to Send.</li> <li>The system sends the most recent priors first.</li> </ul>  |  |
| Relevant Priors             | SEND<br>LOCAL_CACHE | <ul> <li>Select to send relevant priors when auto-sending, along with any non-relevant priors that the system found. Enter criteria to define what is relevant.</li> <li>If you do not define relevant priors (see "Define relevant priors" later in this topic), the system considers relevant priors to be studies of the same modality and/or body part.</li> <li>The system sends as many relevant priors as it can find, up to the Numbers of Priors to Send.</li> <li>If the system finds fewer relevant priors than the Number of Priors to Send, it adds non-relevant priors up to the number.</li> </ul> |  |
| Force Relevant<br>Only      | SEND<br>LOCAL_CACHE | <ul> <li>Select to send only relevant priors.</li> <li>If the system finds fewer relevant priors than the Number of Priors to Send, it does not send any additional priors.</li> </ul>  |  |
| [Define relevant<br>priors] | SEND<br>LOCAL_CACHE | Available when you select <b>Relevant Priors</b> . See "Define relevant priors" later in this topic.  |  |

- 4. Optional. Configure a criterion for the rule:
  - a. In the **Field** dropdown list, select an argument and a logical operator.

For example, Modality and Is

b. Select a matching value for the argument.

For example, in the *Modality* list, select *MG*.
| Rule Nama *            | Example |   |            | 🗆 lessing |  |
|------------------------|---------|---|------------|-----------|--|
| Type *                 | SEND    | - | Filmay *   | 4         |  |
| AE TIUN "              | EXAV33  | * | Attempts + | 2         |  |
| Prior Options          |         |   |            |           |  |
| Number of Priors to Se | and 3 v |   |            |           |  |
| 🛃 Auto Sanz Photo      |         |   |            |           |  |
| E Relevant Priors      |         |   |            |           |  |
| D Force Relevant (     |         |   |            |           |  |

#### c. Select ADD TO RULES.

**Result**: In this example, when Symmetry PACS receives an MG study, it automatically sends it to the AE named Remote\_Hospital.

- 6. Optional. Add more criteria.
- 7. Select **SAVE.**

### Auto Query/Retrieve: use study's accession number

To facilitate Auto QR of studies from external sources such as the AHS, configure a query-retrieve routing rule with a placeholder to match the study's accession number rather than the study instance UID (SUID) in Symmetry PACS. This rule only applies if the Priors count is 0. Create the routing rule as follows:

- 1. In the **TYPE** dropdown list, select **QUERY/RETRIEVE**.
- 2. In the **Priors** box, type 0 (zero).
- 3. In the Field dropdown list, select Accession #, and select the Is option.
- 4. In the criterion box, type {{accession\_no}}.
- 5. Select SAVE.

### Define relevant priors

Defining relevant priors allows you to send only priors that are relevant to the current study based on study description, modality, or body part. To write definitions for which priors are relevant you use a syntax called *relevant prior logic*:

```
STRING or (STRING | STRING | ...) { .*(STRING | STRING | ...) }
```

"A single string, or multiple strings delimited with a bar, optionally followed by ".\*" plus multiple strings delimited with a bar."

Enter your relevant prior logic in a table, such as in this example:

Prior settings on the left...

...main study settings on the right

| Prior<br>Modality | Prior Budy Port | Price Description    | Main<br>Study<br>Modelity | Main Study Body<br>Part | Main Study Description   |   |  |
|-------------------|-----------------|----------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|---|--|
| ¢1                |                 |                      | MR                        |                         |                          | 1 |  |
|                   | (KNEEPATELLS)   |                      |                           | KINDEE                  |                          | 1 |  |
|                   |                 | (HEBLICALD HEFTETIO) |                           |                         | OVERLIGALCO FOLEPTILTERO | 1 |  |

<u>Row 1</u>: Does not require relevant prior logic. When the main study is an **MR**, relevant priors are **CT**s.

Row 2: When the main study is of the knee, relevant priors are either of the knee or patella.

<u>Row 3</u>: When the main study description contains "**HEEL**" or "**CALC**" followed by "**LEFT**," or "**LT**," or "**BI**," relevant priors are those whose descriptions also contain "**HEEL**" or "**CALC**" followed by "**LEFT**," or "**LT**," or "**LT**," or "**BI**."

**Note**: You can also define relevant priors that you want to auto-open in the viewer (see <u>Configure</u> <u>modality-specific viewing options</u>).

# Configure AE scripts

You can write scripts that modify DICOM tags when carrying out a DICOM-related transaction such as sending, printing, or receiving.

# Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **DICOM** > **AE SCRIPTS**.

|      | mon  | di-         |   |   |              |            |                |        |                |         | 0 |
|------|------|-------------|---|---|--------------|------------|----------------|--------|----------------|---------|---|
|      |      |             |   | ю | omais at ans | AI SCRIPTS | . Automotion i |        | and the second | symale. |   |
|      |      |             |   |   |              |            |                |        |                | 400     |   |
|      | want | ait 55 1999 | - |   | 0577038      |            |                | SHAR   |                |         |   |
|      |      | 48          |   | ÷ | at .         |            |                |        |                |         |   |
| 0.10 | 11   | 8114D       |   |   | EN4-932 V31  |            |                | Suisis |                |         |   |

2. Select ADD.

| AE Type *         | Select 🗸 🖂 Inactive |
|-------------------|---------------------|
| AE Title *        | Select 🛩 🗆 All      |
| Script Descriptio | n                   |
|                   | Asynchronous        |
| Script *          | ?                   |
| 1                 |                     |

3. Enter the following settings.

| Setting            | Description   |  |  |  |
|--------------------|---|--|--|--|
| АЕ Туре            | Select a transaction and node. The script runs when Exa makes the |  |  |  |
| AE Title           | selected transaction with the selected node.                      |  |  |  |
| All                | Select all AEs of the selected AE Type.                           |  |  |  |
| Script Description | Type a description of the script.                                 |  |  |  |
| Asynchronous       | Select to run the script asynchronously.                          |  |  |  |

4. In the **Script** area, type the script to run when the previous conditions are true.

**Note**: For syntax, select the help ? button.

- 5. Select **COMPILE**, and correct any errors that occur.
- 6. When the script is free of errors, select **SAVE.**

# Understanding receiver rules

A *receiver rule* is a detailed set of criteria and instructions that tells Symmetry PACS where to place studies that it receives, and what status to assign them. For example, you can configure a receiver rule such that studies with unrecognized account numbers are placed on the QC tab to await reconciliation by the user before going live.

**Note**: Receiver rules also have an important role in accelerating the processing of incoming data. Symmetry PACS processes each receiver rule in order on a particular computer. Therefore, to improve speed, you can apply different rules on different computers.

To understand how receiver rules are evaluated and applied, it is helpful to imagine a 4-step process that Symmetry PACS performs for each incoming study.

- Find a receiver rule that matches the study.
- Validate the study against existing PACS studies and/or match it to existing RIS orders.

- Process the successes (studies that passed validation and/or matched orders).
- Process the failures (studies that failed validation or did not match an order).

A detailed explanation of each of these steps follows.

### Step 1 – Find a matching receiver rule

When Symmetry PACS receives a DICOM study, it evaluates the study against each receiver rule on the RECEIVER RULES tab in order of "Priority" (starting from the top) until it finds one that matches.

|   |   |   |   | PRIOR/TY :: | RULE NAME   | 2 | 101 | t | 12 | Kforwarder7   |
|---|---|---|---|-------------|-------------|---|-----|---|----|---------------|
|   | _ |   |   |             |             |   |     | + |    | Kforwarder8   |
| 2 | 1 |   | + | 1           | PMT2        | 2 | -   | + | 14 | MMD Live      |
| 2 |   | + | + | 2           | PMT         | 2 |     |   | 15 | DEFAULT BULE  |
| Ż |   | 1 | + | 3           | File import | 1 |     |   | 15 | DE WOLLEDUILE |

From top...

...to bottom

If no user-defined rule matches, Symmetry PACS uses a "default" rule that has a minimum number of criteria to ensure that all legitimate studies match at least one rule. (If a study did not match any rule, Symmetry PACS would not receive it.)

To evaluate whether a study matches a rule, Symmetry PACS compares the settings you enter under **Rule Info and Filter** (in the green box in the following figure) to the information in the study. If all relevant criteria match, the rule becomes active, and the process continues to step 2.

| Rule Name *     |        |   |  |
|-----------------|--------|---|--|
| 4E Title        | All    | ۲ |  |
| acility         | All    |   |  |
| Modality        | All 🔹  |   |  |
| restitution     |        |   |  |
| tatus           | Unread |   |  |
| nterval (Seo) = | 120    |   |  |

# Rule info and Filter

# Step 2 - Validate and match against PACS and/or RIS

A "rule" is actually not a single rule, but rather a combination of the previous "Rule Info and Filter," plus one of four possible preset "Applied Rules," such as in the following figure.



#### Figure: Applied rules in the PACS ONLY preset.

Symmetry PACS compares the items in the green boxes from the incoming study against PACS, RIS, or both, depending on the reconciliation mode (the first bullet item in the figure). The items under Patient (such as "Last name" in the figure) and Study ("Study UID") must match a patient in PACS and/or a RIS order. Symmetry PACS stores the result of the match (success or failure) in this step, and then evaluation continues to step 3 or 4.

# Step 3 – Process successes

If matching succeeded, Symmetry PACS waits the number of seconds specified in the **Interval** setting from step 1, moves the study from the QC tab to the ALL STUDIES tab (the study "goes live"), and assigns to the study the status selected in the **Status** dropdown list from step 1. At the same time, it performs the actions and applies the options in the blue box in the following figure.

### Applied Rules

- Reconciliation Mode: Pacs only site
- Emit Live Update
- Precache Study
- Precache Priors
- No. of. priors: 3
- Pick study description from DICOM
- Patient
  - Account #/Dicom Patient ID
  - Last name
  - Date of Birth
  - · Move Anyway (Even in exception)
  - · Move to live when there is no-match
- · Study
  - · Study UID
  - · Move to live when there is no-match

# Step 4 – Process failures

If matching failed, the study initially remains on the QC tab with a status of *Conflicts* to await reconciliation by the user. However, there is one more set of evaluations left to make, based on the items in the orange boxes in the following figure.

#### Applied Rules

- · Reconciliation Mode: Pacs only site
- Emit Live Update
- · Precache Study
- · Precache Priors
- · No. of, priors: 3
- · Pick study description from DICOM
- · Patient
  - Account #/Dicom Patient ID
  - Last name
  - · Date of Birth
- Move Anyway (Even in exception)
- Move to live when there is no-match
- Study
  - Study UID
  - Move to live when there is no-match

If any of these items are present, the study status is set to Completed in the QC tab. Additionally, each item results in the following.

### Move Anyway (Even in exception)

If duplicate matching demographics are found, or if at least one matching criterion fails, the study also appears on the ALL STUDIES tab with a status of "FIX\_."

# Patient: Move to live when there is no-match

The study moves to the ALL STUDIES tab even if patient demographic validation fails. Generally, this is used only when no modality worklist is available.

### Study: Move to live when there is no-match

The study moves to the ALL STUDIES tab, even if no matching order is found.

**Note**: If "Move to live when there is no-match" is present both under Patient and Study, Symmetry PACS processes the study as a success.

### See also:

Configure a receiver rule

# Configure a receiver rule

You can configure receiver rules to tell Symmetry PACS where to place studies that it receives, and what status to assign to them. For more information, see <u>Understanding receiver rules</u>.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **DICOM** > **RECEIVER RULES**.

|     | DICON        | r.                 |         |          |          |           |          |   |                     |         | c           |
|-----|--------------|--------------------|---------|----------|----------|-----------|----------|---|---------------------|---------|-------------|
|     | 5 <b>4</b> 6 |                    | INCLIDE | Equitivi | S MILLE  | ACCENTION | RCEME    | e foundation de la comparte de la co | 1 Kästeninkä kulleb | HINGHOP | aprosente 👌 |
|     |              |                    |         |          |          |           |          | _   |                     | A00     | RELEAD      |
|     | TROUT        | RILENAME           | ACTIMIE |          | EADLUTY. |           | MODAL/TV |   | Aurminion (         | CTATES. |             |
|     |              |                    | at .    |          | (MA)     | [+]       |          |   |                     | [] AH   |             |
| 2 B | 1            | INFORT             | 240.07  | ant      | 48       |           | A        |   |                     | Unnell  |             |
| 17  | 2            | PERSONAL PROPERTY. | 16 AU   |          | .45      |           | 41       |   |                     | Linnat  |             |

2. Select ADD.

### **Rule Information and Filter**

| Rale Name *                          | Rule&   | 0 1       | sactive   | Reconciliation Mode: PACS Only Site                                      |
|--------------------------------------|---------|-----------|-----------|--|
| AE THE                               | 48      |           |           | <ul> <li>Emit Live Update</li> </ul>                                     |
| Facility                             | All. *  |           |           | <ul> <li>Precache Study</li> <li>Precache Priors</li> </ul>              |
| Modality                             | 48 14   |           |           | <ul> <li>No. of Priors: 3</li> </ul>                                     |
| Institution                          |         |           |           | <ul> <li>Select Study description from DICOM</li> <li>Patient</li> </ul> |
| Stot.m                               | unread  |           |           | <ul> <li>Account No./DICOM Patient ID</li> </ul>                         |
| listerval (Saz.) =                   | 120     |           |           | <ul><li>Last Name</li><li>Date of Birth</li></ul>                        |
| Trigger Routing Rules                |         |           |           | <ul> <li>Move Anyway (Even in Exception)</li> </ul>                      |
| Isouer Of Altomato<br>Account Number |         |           |           | <ul> <li>Move to Live on No-Match</li> </ul>                             |
| Receiver Pule                        |         |           |           | <ul> <li>Study</li> <li>Study UID</li> </ul>                             |
| PADEONLY                             | INCOME: | PAGE/DMWL | MIDEATION | <ul> <li>Move to Live on No-Match</li> </ul>                             |

Applied Rules

### Example showing the PACS ONLY rules

- 3. On the RULES tab, select ADD.
- 4. Under **Rule Information and Filter**, enter the following settings as needed.

| Setting                               | Description  |
|---------------------------------------|--|
| Rule Name                             | Type a name for the rule.  |
| AE Title                              | Use these settings as filtering criteria. For example, to evaluate the rule  |
| Facility                              | only against mammography studies, on the Modality dropdown list, select MG. To evaluate the rule only if the study comes from a specific |
| Modality                              | AE, select one under AE Title.   |
| Institution                           |  |
| Status                                | Select the status to assign the study if it matches the rule.  |
| Interval                              | Select a number of seconds to wait before moving the study from the QC tab to the ALL STUDIES tab (go live).                             |
| Trigger Routing Rules                 | Select to force evaluation of matching studies against routing rules.  |
| Issuer of Alternate Account<br>Number | Select to make alternate account numbers available. See <u>Use alternate</u> <u>account numbers</u> .                                    |

5. Select one of the following preset buttons to assign a reconciliation mode and to add "applied rules" (matching criteria and actions to perform) to your receiver rule.

| Preset Button | Reconciliation Mode | Description   |
|---------------|---------------------|---|
| PACS ONLY     | PACS                | Validate patient and study items against existing PACS records. |

| Preset Button | Reconciliation Mode | Description   |
|---------------|---------------------|---|
| PACS/RIS      | PACS + RIS          | Validate patient and study items against existing PACS records and/or RIS orders. |
| PACS/DMWL     | PACS + RIS          | same  |
| MIGRATION     | PACS                | Use when migrating data from another PACS. Allows everything to be received.      |

# 6. Select SAVE.

### See also:

Understanding receiver rules

Configure matching rules

See <u>Work with Display Management</u>.

# Configure hanging protocols

See <u>Work with Display Management</u>.

# Manage jobs in the transfer and SR queues

DICOM studies that you send appear as jobs in the transfer queue. You can view and change job status and priority, cancel jobs, and requeue failed jobs.

# Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **DICOM** > **TRANSFER QUEUE** or **SR QUEUE**.

| <ul> <li>(m) 66</li> </ul> | inter i    | ida//# |        | MATCHING PROFESSION | . internet | - Horocott.   | TRN   | SFERQUEUS       | sia mentari | C Spinsor  | <b>AND PRO</b> |
|----------------------------|------------|--------|--------|---------------------|------------|---------------|-------|-----------------|-------------|------------|----------------|
|                            |            |        |        |                     |            | HEPOTRES SELE | er 60 | INTERPROCESS FO | ileu -      | -          | 40100          |
| 10.0                       | KENT MARKE | 0.0    | an own | LASTONS             | entrante.  | 57101         | TATE  | Addes           | 00456       | PACIENTSAN | NE:            |

2. Perform any of the following tasks.

# View job status

In the list of jobs, the status is listed in the CURRENT STATUS column. The available statuses are as follows.

| Queued      | Processing not yet started.                   |
|-------------|---|
| In-progress | Sending of data has started but not finished. |

| Completed | Sending of all data is finished.  |
|-----------|---|
| Canceled  | Sending of data canceled by the user. You can only cancel a job with a status of Queued.      |
| Error     | Sending was aborted due to failed association or the request was rejected by the destination. |

# View demographics

To view the demographics of a study in the transfer queue, select the expand + button.

# Change the job priority

To change the priority of a job, select the 2 edit button, select a new priority, and then select SAVE.

# View job details

To view demographics and other queue details, select the view 🛄 button.

# Cancel a job

To cancel a job, select the cancel <sup>@</sup> button.

### Requeue a job

To requeue a job means to repeat or retry sending. If the status of a job is Queued, Error, Completed,

or Cancelled, you can requeue the job by selecting the requeue button. Requeued jobs remain in the transfer queue for 15 minutes before reprocessing begins.

# Reprocess non-failed jobs

Rather than requeuing jobs one at a time, you can select multiple jobs for reprocessing, and then select REPROCESS SELECTED.

# Reprocess failed jobs

*Failed* jobs are ones with a status of "Error." You can select a range of failed jobs (such as by filtering the worklist) and reprocess them all at once.

- 1. On the transfer queue, select **REPROCESS FAILED**.
- 2. In the date boxes, enter a date range of jobs to reprocess.

**Note**: To select all dates, leave the boxes blank.

3. In the **AE Title** dropdown list, select the AE whose jobs you want to reprocess.

# 4. Select **REPROCESS**.

# **Reprint DICOM Print jobs**

- 1. On the transfer queue, find a job with type **PRINT** and status **Completed**.
- 2. Right-click the job, and select **REPRINT**.

# Cancel a DICOM Print job

- 1. On the transfer queue, find a job with type **PRINT** and status **Queued**.
- 2. Right-click the job, and select **Cancel**.

# Configure an issuer of a PID

See <u>Use alternate account numbers</u>.

# Manage users

Administrators can configure individual users, user groups, Active Directory, and assign roles (rights) to users. In Symmetry PACS, you assign user roles to user groups, and then you assign user groups to individual users.



Incorrect user configuration can lead to security risks such as leaked patient information.

# Create a user role

A *user role* is a named collection of user rights that you can assign to user groups. To create a user role, complete the following steps.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > User Management > USER ROLES.

|     | ADDE MANAGEMENTS | COPS ALTERSAS INTESTING OF ANALYSIS ALTERSAS | ن<br>< 1999 (1997 - 2004) |
|-----|------------------|--|---------------------------|
|     | RUZDANT :        | THE STREET ON                                |                           |
| 1.0 | éthig            | 878sg.                                       |                           |
| 10  | Farity Lana.     | Fasility America                             |                           |
| 10  | Front deals      | Enerateik                                    |                           |

2. Select **ADD**, type a name and description of the role, and the select **SAVE**.

For example, type BILLING, and then select **SAVE**.

3. In the **User Role Permission** area, select all of the user rights that you want to assign to the user role.

| Role Name *        | Billing                    | Inactive |                          |
|--------------------|----------------------------|----------|--------------------------|
| Role Description * | Billing                    |          |                          |
| User Role Per      |                            |          |                          |
| Billing/Setup      |                            |          | Order ICD                |
| <b>E E</b>         | Illiing Codes              |          | Order Referring Provider |
| <b>E</b>           | lilling Class              |          | Order Studies            |
| <b>1</b>           | laim Status                |          | QC Deletu                |
| <b>2</b> c         | AS Group Code              |          | OC Edil                  |
|                    | Provider ID Code Qualifier |          | QC Move to Studies       |

#### See also:

<u>Create a user group</u> <u>Create a user</u>

# Create a user group

A *user group* is a named collection of individual users to which you can assign roles and access to certain document types and areas of the program.

Prerequisite: <u>Create a user role</u>.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > User Management > USER GROUPS.

| C DEED MARACEMENT |                            |                    |            |              |                 |        |  |
|-------------------|----------------------------|--------------------|------------|--------------|-----------------|--------|--|
|                   | (men mars ) inter          | REIKLIPS ACCERNING | ABBISTOR   | MSERS UNLINE | ASMIDINI STREET |        |  |
| CELLE COLE        |                            | a.                 | 640.4 (6   | ERFORT       | ADB             | RELONA |  |
| 28 BL             | 811946                     |                    | BALLINO.   |              |                 |        |  |
| an El Prot        | Facility Adm<br>Prod-d-sil |                    | Factiny Ad |              |                 |        |  |

2. Select ADD.

| Greup Code *      | BIL       | Inostrue | All Documents               |  |  |  |
|-------------------|-----------|----------|-----------------------------|--|--|--|
| Group Name *      | BILLING   |          | Document Types * 💼 #3-David |  |  |  |
| Group Description | * BILLING |          | Card Konstants Card         |  |  |  |
|                   |           |          | 📴 Reports 🗸 🗸               |  |  |  |
| Roles             |           |          | Navigetion                  |  |  |  |
| 🖬 Billing         |           |          | Dashboard                   |  |  |  |
| E Facility Adm    | au .      |          | 🖸 Worklist:                 |  |  |  |
| Prone-desk        |           |          | Patient Arrival Workhut     |  |  |  |
| 🔲 Portal          |           |          | E Fatent                    |  |  |  |
| C RAD             |           |          | Fax Manager                 |  |  |  |
| SEF               |           |          | Schedule                    |  |  |  |
| 🗆 тесн            |           |          | E billing                   |  |  |  |
| TRANS             |           |          | E Payments                  |  |  |  |

# 3. Enter the following settings.

| Setting           | Description   |
|-------------------|---|
| Group Code        | Type your internal code for the group. For example, RAD.  |
| Group Name        | Type your internal name for the group. For example, Radiologist.                                    |
| Group Description | Type a description for the group.   |
| Document Types    | Select the document types that group members can access. For example, select All Documents.         |
| Roles             | Select all user roles that you want the group members to have.                                      |
| Navigation        | Select the areas of the program that group members can access (items available on the burger menu). |

# 4. Select **SAVE**.

# See also:

### Create a user

# Create a user

A *user* is a member of a user group for whom you can configure custom rights and limitations in addition to those defined in user roles.

#### Prerequisite: Create a user group.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > User Management > USERS.

| MARKS.        | NUSC INTERACTION AUGMOURT | AD HERE OF LINE  | ADEGNER FILKERS ASSESS |
|---------------|---------------------------|------------------|------------------------|
|               |                           | A00-             | RECOAD MODULE HEL      |
| Show Inactive |                           |                  |                        |
| unit tanual t | HAUE                      | SHOUT HAVE       | ILLER TYPE WARKET      |
|               |                           |                  | AR Y AR                |
| I adast.      | Fill-eah, Arr gio         | Front dwalk      | Others                 |
| Arenidae      | Get. Jorns                | Sectility domain | litters lasmet!        |
| - II and a    | Regin Arge                | Facility Admin   | 00era                  |

### 2. Select ADD.

|                    |                     |        | 60/6 | SAME & CLOVE            | UNLOCK ACCOU   | NA1.02 THE   | HARE       |
|--------------------|---------------------|--------|------|-------------------------|----------------|--|------------|
| Group Name *       | Salars George       |        | 1.64 | tena Espires After      |                | dan -  |            |
|                    | Title AD Groups     |        |      |                         | C One-Time Acc |  |            |
| Norse *            | Plan Reven          | - 541  |      |                         |                | inge Pakaword Nac  | TEdate     |
|                    | Land, Million e     | Batto  |      |                         |                | ninger annound a |            |
| Motrie Phena       | Multi-lo Phone      |        |      |                         | (Xe)           | an ration-op Cana  | I IS AREAN |
| €-Mail             | Emiel .             |        |      |                         | Die der ohnen  | ge accounting date   | s.         |
| User Name *        | Shire Marsa         |        |      |                         | Diagon 160     |  |            |
| Painword *         | Pannerd             |        | U:   | ñat                     | NOME SELF      | 0160 -   |            |
| Confirm Paceword * | Conforcement        |        | Fai  | dites *                 | NONESELE       | 61160 -  |            |
| Sebulos Interval   |                     |        | (H   | ked Prozeile: Liker Typ | * Solert       | •  |            |
|                    | 🗍 Allan Emergency A | CC#110 |      |                         | Hite Order Ma  | en.  |            |

3. Enter the following settings.

Not all settings may be available depending on your product and configuration.

| Setting    | Description                                      |
|------------|--|
| Group Name | Select the user group to which the user belongs. |

| Setting  | Description  |  |  |  |  |  |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Name   | Type the user's name.  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Mobile Phone/<br>E-Mail                              | Type the user's mobile phone number and/or email address. The email address must be unique, and is required for two-factor authentication.   |  |  |  |  |  |
| User Name  | Type a sign-in user name for the user.   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Login with Google                                    | When selected, the user can sign in through their Google account.  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Netcare access                                       | Select to grant permission to access Alberta Netcare (Alberta only).   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Password   | Type a sign in password for the user. This option is only available the first time you configure the user.   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Session Interval                                     | Type or select the number of minutes before the user's session times out.  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Allow Emergency Access                               | Select to assign "super user" rights to the user regardless of roles or groups.  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Linked Ordering Facility                             | This dropdown list becomes available when you select Ordering Facility in<br>the Linked Provider User Type dropdown list. Select ordering facilities to<br>appear on orders the user creates in the Ordering Facility portal.                              |  |  |  |  |  |
| Access Expires After                                 | Type and select a duration after which the user's account expires. Leave blank to keep the account open indefinitely.  |  |  |  |  |  |
| One-Time Access                                      | When selected, the user can sign in only one time.   |  |  |  |  |  |
| User Must Change Password<br>Next Login              | Select to require the user to create their own password after signing in the first time.   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Assign Claims to Follow-Up<br>Queue for Another User | Select to give the user the ability to add claims to another user's follow-up queue.   |  |  |  |  |  |
| User Can Change Accounting<br>Dates                  | When selected, the user can edit accounting dates under Billing > Payments.  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Dragon 360   | [reserved, do not select]  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Market   | Select the market that the user serves. This setting narrows search results<br>in other parts of the program. For example, when the user searches for a<br>patient chart, Symmetry PACS only returns charts of patients in the same<br>market as the user. |  |  |  |  |  |
| Facilities   | Select the facilities that the user can view and modify.   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Linked Provider User Type                            | Select the user type if linking to one. If you select Ordering Facility, the previous Linked Ordering Facility and Ordering Facility dropdown lists appear.  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Hide Order Menu                                      | Available only if no linked provider type is selected. Hides the navigation menu within the Edit Study screen.   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Ordering Facility                                    | Appears when you select Ordering Facility in the Linked Provider User Type dropdown list. Select the ordering facility into whose portal the user can sign in.   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Search Type  | (Available when Provider or Ordering Facility is selected.)  |  |  |  |  |  |

| Setting      | Description  |
|--------------|--|
|              | Select the range of patient and other data that the user may search: full patient database, or only the associated patients in the portal. |
| Scheduled By | (Available when Ordering Facility is selected.)  |
|              | Select an option to control the dates available to the user when requesting an appointment in the ordering facility portal.                |

- 4. Select SAVE.
- 5. Optional.
  - To limit what the user can view on the worklist, see <u>Configure an administered worklist filter</u>.
  - To view a user's devices, select the **ATTACHED DEVICES** sub-tab.
  - To restrict the user's access to specific ordering facilities, select the USER PERMISSIONS sub-tab.

#### See also:

### Create a user role

# Reset a user's password as an administrator

If a user forgets their password, an administrator can reset it or prompt the user to reset it the next time they log in.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > User Management > USERS.

|                  | канан |                |          |                |              |               |       |        | - 70           |
|------------------|-------|----------------|----------|----------------|--------------|---------------|-------|--------|----------------|
| MARK             | -     |                | ALCHOUME | ADJORT         | CORRESPONDED | Арасевии      | 10000 |        | 1940)<br>1940) |
|                  |       |                |          |                | ADD          | <b>RECORD</b> | M00   | n ek   | 60)            |
| Bhow happing     |       |                |          |                |              |               |       |        |                |
| 0.0179 (440-47.2 |       | naue           |          | STOOP NAME.    |              | ILLER THE     |       | uster  |                |
|                  |       |                |          |                |              | AR.           | ÷     | 3.8    | 1              |
| / 🗄 adask        |       | FE esh, Arreio |          | Front deal     |              | Others        |       |        |                |
| / 🛙 Annuller     |       | Get Joyne      |          | Sectity Action |              | Althere.      |       | lanet! |                |
| di saja          |       | Regin Arge     |          | Fecility Admin |              | Others        |       |        |                |

- 2. Double-click the user in the list and do one of the following.
  - Select **RESET PASSWORD**, and then choose a new password for the user.
  - Select the User Must Change Password Next Login checkbox.



- 3. Select SAVE.
- 4. Inform the user to sign out and then sign in again with the new password, or follow the on-screen instructions to reset their password.

# Configure an administered worklist filter

In addition to user roles, administrators can use the following steps to configure worklist filters that control which studies, patients, and other information are available to individual users and user groups. Users can configure their own worklist filters but cannot edit filters that administrators configured for them.

# Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > User Management > USERS.

| MARKS.        | HILINGUSE : | NURSED IN       | ( All GHOURS | ADJERT         | CHEEPS COLUMN | ADDGETT | unone: |        | t de la |
|---------------|-------------|-----------------|--------------|----------------|---------------|---------|--------|--------|---------|
|               |             |                 |              |                |               | RECORD. | 144000 | ir Э   | BUP     |
| Show Isoctive |             |                 |              |                |               |         |        |        |         |
| UNTERNO.      |             | nuile           |              | SPOOT NAVE.    |               | ULENTI  |        | uaker! |         |
|               |             |                 |              |                |               | AR      | ÷      | 3.8    | - 1     |
| /II adaik     |             | FiGeate, Arraio |              | Front dwalk    |               | Others  |        |        |         |
| Ø≣ Aremilier  |             | Get laws        |              | Sectity Action |               | Elmann. |        | same!  |         |
| d ll weeds    |             | Reply Arge      |              | Facility Admin |               | (Chera) |        |        |         |

2. Double-click a user row to open a user, and select the **WORKLIST FILTER** sub-tab.

| GENERN                | Show Enco          | autors Only [   | ] Disable Right-Click on W | orki 🕞 517/1 Sturker Over | ricle Curra | nt Sab-Filter |     |
|-----------------------|--------------------|-----------------|----------------------------|---------------------------|-------------|---------------|-----|
| PADENA.               | Show DIC           | ON Studies Only | Show RIS Orders Only       | 🔲 Show Assigned St        | dies Only   | 6             |     |
| - HORMADDI            | Deloted            |                 |                            | All                       | ×           |               |     |
| MITLEY<br>MITCHWARDEN | Date Operations By | 🤨 Study Date    | O Bludy Received Date      | O Exheduled Date          | Q Leo       | t call made   |     |
| <b>a</b> Hesgunce     | Proformatted       | fair inter      |                            |                           |             |               |     |
| a manavaca            | O Last             |                 |                            |                           | 22          |               | - 2 |
| PESSI                 | O Nett             | HEARS           | <u>र</u>                   | Tran                      | m           | TO .          | ħ   |

3. Perform one or more of the following procedures.

# Configure general user worklist filter settings

You can finely control the information on the worklist to which the user has access.

- 1. In the left pane, select **GENERAL**.
- 2. Enter the following settings, and then select **SAVE**.

| Setting                                     | Description  |
|---|--|
| Show Encounters Only                        | Select to show only studies involving interaction between a patient and provider.                    |
| Show DICOM Studies Only                     | Select to show only DICOM (imaging) studies.   |
| Disable Right-click on Worklist             | Select to prevent the user from opening the worklist shortcut menu.                                  |
| Show RIS Orders Only                        | Select to show only orders from RIS.   |
| STAT Studies Override Current<br>Sub-Filter | Select to always show studies with assigned STAT levels, regardless of any other filtering criteria. |
| Show Assigned Studies Only                  | Select to show only studies to which a user is assigned.   |
| Deleted                                     | Select whether to show all, only, or no (None) deleted studies.                                      |
| Configure the following setting             | s together to compose a single filtering condition.  |
| Date Operations By                          | Select a study property against which to apply criteria.   |
|   | Study Date   |
|   | Study Received Date  |
|   | Scheduled Date   |
|   | Last Call Made   |

| Setting             | Description  |
|---------------------|--|
|                     | Created Date   |
| Preformatted        | Select from a list of preformatted date ranges, rather than manually entering one by using the settings described later. |
|                     | Example:   |
|                     | Date Operations = Study Date   |
|                     | Preformatted = Last 7 Days   |
|                     | "If the study date falls within the last 7 days, display the study on the user's worklist"                               |
| Last/Next           | Select a time range for the selected property.   |
|                     | Example:   |
|                     | Date Operations = Study Received Date  |
|                     | Select Last, type 8, select Week(s)  |
|                     | "If the study was received some time during the last 8 weeks, display the study on the user's worklist."                 |
| Date From / Date To | Select and enter a date range for the selected property.   |
| From / To           | Select and enter a time range for the selected property.   |

# Limit access to patient information

You can limit the worklist to only display studies for patients who satisfy certain criteria.

- 1. In the left pane, select **PATIENT INFORMATION**.
- Under Patient Name, select a logic option, type the exact portion of the patient name that corresponds to the selected logic option, and then select the plus to add the criterion.
- 3. Under **Account No.**, perform the previous step as appropriate for the account number.
- 4. Select **SAVE**.

# Limit access to study information

You can limit the worklist to only display studies that satisfy certain criteria.

- 1. In the left pane, select **STUDY INFORMATION**.
- 2. For each criterion, select a logic option, and then type or select a value.
- 3. For example, to display only abdominal studies, under Body Part:
  - Select the **Is** option
  - In the list of body parts, select Abdomen

### 4. Select SAVE.

### Limit access to information related to specific resources

You can limit the worklist to only display studies whose resources satisfy certain criteria.

- 1. In the left pane, select **RESOURCE**.
- 2. For each criterion, select a logic option, and then type or select a value.

For example, to display only studies whose referring physician is Jane Doe, under Ref. Phys.:

- Select the **Is** option
- In the box, type JANE DOE, and then select the plus 🛨 button.
- 3. Select SAVE.

# Limit access to information from specific insurance providers

You can limit the worklist to only display studies for patients who satisfy certain criteria.

- 1. In the left pane, select **INSURANCE**.
- 2. For each criterion, select a logic option, and then type or select a value. For example, to hide studies under litigation, under **Insurance Provider Type**:
  - Select the **Is Not** option
  - In the box, select Litigation, and then select the plus 🛨 button.
- 3. Select SAVE.

#### See also:

Create a user worklist filter

# Manage who is online

Users with user management rights can view a list of users who are online, view a user's activity log, and terminate their session.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > User Management > USERS ONLINE.

|   | 1) SHERE M.A.M.A.GREIME |                         |              |              |             |            |
|---|-------------------------|-------------------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|------------|
|   | 0.666 0.000             | orme. Herifennoue, volo | NUEL AUURE   | USERS ONLINE | ARRENDETION | MHONE 3    |
|   |                         |                         |              |              |             | =HIANO     |
|   | USER NAME               | 1008409/0075            | CLIENCE      | 1.667.8729   | 1000        |            |
|   |                         | 03/12/2028 03/14/2028   |              |              |             |            |
| 5 | Victob, Poco            | 00/14/2023 7:07 4M (EDT | 10.217/0.240 | Sin eps      |             |            |
| 5 | Serves donut:           | 5974/3074831 AM461      |              | 37 m age     |             | Zeonotate  |
| 5 | Derryka, Ashtiri        | CS/14/2503 T-41 AM 00T  |              | 37 m age     |             | Deservativ |

2. Optional: To view a session log for a user, select the log  $\square$  button.

# View assigned studies and patients

You can view lists of studies and patients that are assigned to you (the current user).

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **User Management**.

| 🖬 MEERIMAN             | IGEMENT:            |                                |                |           |                    |              |
|------------------------|---------------------|--------------------------------|----------------|-----------|--------------------|--------------|
| <b>≮</b> ssonum        | ASSIGNED BUILD      | ATTIGATO PARICIPITE            | THE PARTY FROM |           | REFEGER            |              |
| 2                      |                     |                                |                |           |                    | RELOAD       |
| Listen an              | Fellenti sestolohia | ACC 44454                      |                |           |                    |              |
| LINER AND DESCRIPTION  |                     |                                |                |           |                    |              |
| 1                      | ACCESSION IN        | 4550820 2000 22                |                | SUCC. SUL | the Westerland and | ASSESSED DAT |
|                        | 1126                | SD REGISTING TO LOD OT HIS REG | PESTPOX        | Apprend   | That, Feel         | 03/03,0025   |
| 🗇 Radiologici, Richard |                     |                                | PESTPOX        |           |                    |              |

- 2. Do one or both of the following.
  - To view studies assigned to you, select the **ASSIGNED STUDIES** tab, and then select a subtab to filter by user type.
  - To view patients assigned to you, select the **ASSIGNED PATIENTS** tab.

# Create an nVoq user

See <u>Configure an nVoq user account</u>.

# Copy settings from one user to another

To create new users more quickly, you can add a user and then copy settings from an existing user.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > User Management > COPY PROFILE SETTINGS.

| <b>K</b> 10,00    | (95 (678)  | ASSIGNCE PATIENCE | EN HER PARTY AND A | COTY PROFILE BETTINGS | CHERRING MICH |
|-------------------|------------|-------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|---------------|
| unter User *      | depet Same | <br>              |                    |                       | SAME .        |
| estimation that * | Sections   |                   |                    |                       |               |

- 2. In the **Source User** dropdown list, select the user whose settings you want to copy.
- 3. In the **Destination User** dropdown list, select a user to configure with the source user's settings, and then select the plus to button.
- 4. Optional. Repeat to configure additional users with the source user settings.
- 5. Select **SAVE.**

# **Configure general settings**

You can set up study forms, custom forms, templates, and queues, and perform limited database queries.

# Create a study form

*Study forms* are interactive electronic forms that people inside and outside your organization can use to gather or provide needed information quickly—and often automatically. Examples include consent forms for HIPPA or treatments, screening forms, pain sheets, affidavits, customer payment plans, and procedure checklists. For information on how to use forms that you create, see Add a custom form to a patient record and Add a study form to a patient record.

# Set up a study form

Use the following procedure to initially set up the form, and then see other topics to add and edit form contents.

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **General** > **FORM BUILDER**.

| FORMULLOCK                               | олетонитение | PETRIALS | INVERTING AND | NO TREATION T |         | 00/01/01/11/1 | ی<br>(میں ا |
|--|--------------|----------|---------------|---------------|---------|---------------|-------------|
| -  |              |          |               | A00.          | RELOND. | - DVPORT -    | INFORT      |
| DOCIMENT NAME                            |              |          |               |               |         | MATHETE       |             |
|  |              |          |               |               |         | Al            |             |
| It contrast contrast for technical       | Dy.a         |          |               |               |         |               | 1           |
| E OT Spreeding Farm                      |              |          |               |               |         |               |             |
| e <sup>p</sup> 🗟 Kelscardogran Wolksheel |              |          |               |               |         |               |             |

- 2. Select ADD.
- 3. Type a **Form Name**, and then select the the **ASSIGN** sub-tab.

| 1019/02  | RTIES    | AŞSIGN     | MERGE FIELOS |     |
|--|----------|------------|--------------|-----|
| Document Type                                    | 54       | ect        |              | -   |
| Unwable on P                                     | stient P | ortal      |              |     |
| Auto Assign to                                   | Study    |            |              |     |
| nautance   | F        |            |              |     |
| rovider *  |          |            |              | . 1 |
|  | 344      | rch Carren |              |     |
|  |          |            |              |     |
| Allow All with [                                 | 5npty -  |            |              |     |
| Allow All with I                                 |          |            |              |     |
| Allow All with 0<br>Allow All witho<br>Physician |          |            |              |     |

4. Enter the following settings to define the scope of the form and filter its availability.

| Setting                    | Description   |
|----------------------------|---|
| Document Type              | Select a type in order to group forms and make them easier to find.   |
| Viewable on Patient Portal | Select to make the form available from the patient portal and in Patient Kiosk.   |
| Auto Assign to Study       | Select and then enter criteria for studies to which to automatically assign<br>the form. Assigned forms appear in the Study Forms tab of the Edit Study<br>screen, making them available to users without performing dedicated<br>searches. |
| Insurance Provider         | Select to restrict availability to the form to specific insurance providers.  |
| Allow All with Empty       | Select to make all providers available if none are specified.   |
| Allow All without Empty    | Select to make the setting required.  |
| Physician                  | Select to restrict availability to the form to specific physicians.   |
| Allow All with Empty       | Select to make all physicians available if none are specified.  |

| Allow All without Empty | Select to make the setting required.   |
|-------------------------|--|
| CPT Codes               | Select to restrict the form to studies with specific CPT codes.  |
| Allow All with Empty    | Select to make available for all CPT codes if none are specified.  |
| Allow All without Empty | Select to make the setting required.   |
| ICD Codes               | Select to restrict the form to studies with specific ICD codes.  |
| Allow All with Empty    | Select to make available for all ICD codes if none are specified.  |
| Allow All without Empty | Select to make the setting required.   |
| Markets                 | The form is available to patients in, or having exams scheduled in the markets you select. All facilities in the selected markets become selected in the Facilities dropdown list. |
| Facilities              | The form is available to patients in, or having exams scheduled in the facilities you select.  |
| Modalities              | Select to restrict availability to the form to studies from specific modalities.   |
| Male Patient Only       | Select to restrict availability to the form for male patients only, such as for prostate exams.  |
| Female Patient Only     | Select to restrict availability to the form for female patients only, such as for HSG exams.   |
| Mammo Patient Only      | Select to restrict availability to the form for mammography patients only.   |

# 5. Select **SAVE**.

# Add a header to a study form

- 1. At the top of the **FORM BUILDER** tab, select the **Header** checkbox.
- 2. In the form area, select the word "Header."
- 3. In the left pane, on the **PROPERTIES** tab, select **CHANGE LOGO**.
- 4. Browse for and select a logo, and then select **Open**.
- 5. In your form header, select the word "Header" and then replace it by typing a new field name. For example, type Study Date:

|  | Study Date | Header" with new header t<br>"\$\$\$tudyDate\$\$ Patient: | ext, for example:<br>SSLastnameSS, SSFIrstNameSS |
|--|------------|---|--|
| PROPERTIES                                   | ASSIGN     | MERGE FIELDS  | Eirag  |
| iame   |            | 9   |  |
|  |            | -   |  |
| - Tr   | /          |   |  |
| rge Fields<br>atlent<br>mt <mark>Name</mark> | /          |   |  |
| atient                                       | /          |   |  |

6. In the left pane, on the **MERGE FIELDS** tab, in the search box, type search term to look for a relevant merge field.

For example, type study.

7. In the list of results, double-click a merge field to add it to the form header.

For example, double-click **StudyDate**.

8. To the right of the \$\$StudyDate\$\$ merge field, type a new field name.

For example, type Patient Name:

9. Repeat earlier steps to find and add a merge field for the patient name.

Hint: Search for "name" rather than "patient."

- 10. In the left pane, on the **PROPERTIES** tab, use the **Spacing** and **Style** controls to modify the layout.
- 11. Select Save.

Your header could look something like the following.



### Add text controls to a study form

Use controls to **gather information from** or **provide information to** the person filling out the form. To add a control, drag its button into the body of the form. To configure the control, select it and enter options in the left pane.

| Sin Image 🔄 Cherckbox | Redio Button 4 Text Area 4 Free Text ⊞ Drouge  | 2     |
|-----------------------|--|-------|
| MERCE FIELDS          | Overwrite "Header" with new header text, for example:<br>Study Date: SSStudyDateSS Patient: SSLastnameSS, SSFIre | stNor |
|                       | This is a Text Box   |       |
| • All                 | These are Checkboxes   |       |
| •                     | This is a Text Area<br>The user can enter text here.   | ]     |
|                       | These are Radio Buttons<br>Option 1<br>Option 2  |       |
| *                     | This is a Free Text box<br>Enter some static text  |       |
| italic 🔲 Underline    |  |       |

# Text boxes

**Text Boxes** to gather one-line user input **Text Areas** to provide boilerplates **Free Text boxes** to gather or provide information longer than one line. The following compares the properties of text controls.

|           | Text<br>Formatting | Variable<br>Height | Scrollable | Minimum<br>Height | Printer<br>Friendly | Inline<br>Controls |
|-----------|--------------------|--------------------|------------|-------------------|---------------------|--------------------|
| Text Box  | No                 | Yes1               | No         | 1 line            | Yes                 | Yes                |
| Text Area | No                 | No                 | Yes        | 1 line            | No                  | No                 |
| Free Text | Yes2               | No                 | Yes        | 5 lines           | Yes                 | No                 |

1. With Dynamic Input selected.

2. Font family, size, emphasis, and alignment.

### To add a text control:

- 1. Drag the Text Box, Text Area, or Free Text button onto the form.
- 2. Select the word "Untitled," and then in the left pane, in the **Question** box, type text to introduce or label the text input box. For example:

For an information gathering box, type Please list all allergies. For an information providing box, type Liability waiver.

3. If the text control is for providing information, enter the information in the box.

### Adjust vertical spacing:

- To adjust the space between the question and the box, use the **Line Height** slider.
- To adjust the space before and after the text control, use the **Padding** slider.
- To apply adjustments to all fields on the form at once, select **Apply Spacing to All** checkbox, and then use the sliders.
- If using a Text Box, select the following options for **Inline Controls**.

| Setting                  | Description   |
|--------------------------|---|
| Fit on One Line          | Select to place the label one the same line as, and to the right of, the text input box.  |
| Inline Multiple Controls | Select this option for two adjacent text boxes to place both on the same line.  |
| Question First           | Select to move the label to the left of the text input box.   |
| Append Text Input        | Select to add a new input box between the label and the original input box.<br>This new input box is only available to the person filling out the form. |
| Dynamic Input            | Select to fit the height and width of the text box to the text it contains.   |

- If using Free Text to provide information, apply formatting to your text as needed by using the Style controls.
- To adjust the width of the text control, select an option in the **Size** dropdown list.

### 4. Select SAVE.

### Add an image to a study form

- 1. To add an image, drag the Image button to the form.
- 2. To give the image a title, select **Untitled**, and then type a title.
- 3. Double-click the box below the title, and then browse for and select an image file.
- 4. On the left pane, use the controls to modify the alignment and size.

**Note**: If you select a size of Original, the image expands to fit the width of the page.

# Add checkboxes to a study form

- 1. To add a group of checkboxes, drag the **Checkbox** button onto the form.
- 2. Select the word "Untitled," and then in the left pane, in the **Question** box, type text to label the checkbox group.

For example, type: Allergies.

- 3. Adjust the vertical **Spacing**, **Inline Controls**, and checkbox label **Style** (see "Add text controls to your form" earlier in this topic).
- 4. To add a new checkbox to the group, select **ADD ANSWER**.
- 5. To label individual checkboxes, type labels in the boxes under **Answers**.

For example, type <code>Peanuts</code> for the first checkbox, and <code>Mold</code> for the second.

- 6. To arrange the checkboxes in columns, select a number in the **No. of columns for Answers** dropdown list.
- 7. To add an "Other" checkbox with accompanying text input box, select the **Add Other** checkbox.
- 8. Select **SAVE**.

# Add options to a study form

While checkboxes make the person filling out the form able to select more than one option, options provide an "either/or" setting. You add an option group to your form by using the same procedure as for checkbox groups, except that you drag the **Radio Button** button onto the form instead of the **Checkbox** button.

# Add a group box to a study form

A *group box* is a named group that can contain one or more checkbox groups and/or one or more option groups. To add a group box:

- 1. Drag the **Group** button onto the form.
- 2. Select the word "Group Title," and then in the left pane, in the **Question** box, type text to label the group.
- 3. To add a background image to the group, in the left pane, select **CHANGE IMAGE**, browse for and select an image, and then select **Open**.
- 4. To divide the group into columns, in the **Grid Columns** dropdown list, select a number of columns.
- To add a checkbox group or radio button group into a particular column, in the New Control Placement list, select the number of the column, and then drag the Checkbox or Radio Button button onto the group.
- 6. Configure the checkboxes and/or radio buttons as described in "Add checkboxes to your form."
- 7. Select **SAVE**.

# Add a footer to a study form

You can add and modify footers in the same way as headers. However, we often recommend using the footer for a signature line with a signature merge field. After the person electronically signs the form, their signature appears in the location of the merge field. To create a signature line in the footer:

- 1. At the top of the **FORM BUILDER** tab, select the **Footer** checkbox.
- 2. In the form area, select the word "Footer," and replace it by typing Signature.
- 3. In the left pane, on the **MERGE FIELDS** tab, search for "signature" and then double-click **SudyFormSignature** in the list of results.
- 4. Select **SAVE**.

### See also:

Add a study form to a patient record Add a custom form to a patient record

# Export and import a study form

To save time creating a form for "Facility A," it may be helpful to import an existing form from "Facility B" and then modify it.

# Export an existing study form

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **General** > **FORM BUILDER** > **EXPORT**.

|                              | Garon rooms | INTERNAL | EWAR TEMPLATE | 1. METTERS |      | ures covi |      | ₀<br>> |
|------------------------------|-------------|----------|---------------|------------|------|-----------|------|--------|
| -                            |             |          |               | ARR        | REAM | EXPANSI   | MPDR | 81     |
| DODUMENT NAME                |             |          |               |            |      | NATHETS   |      |        |
|                              |             |          |               |            |      | (CAR )    | 19   |        |
| at E Contrast Concert for lo | dinoted Dyn |          |               |            |      |           |      | î.     |

**Result**: The form appears in the Windows Downloads folder as a JSON file.

2. Copy the JSON file to the computer at Facility A.

#### Import a study form

- 1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > General > FORM BUILDER > IMPORT.
- 2. In the **Import Study Forms** dialog, select **CHOOSE FILE**, browse for and select the copied JSON file, and then select **Open**.
- 3. On the FORM BUILDER tab, find the new form and edit it for use at Facility A.

# Create a custom form

*Custom forms* are non-interactive electronic forms intended for delivering information. For interactive electronic forms that can both deliver and gather information, see .

### Set up a custom form

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > General > CUSTOM FORMS > ADD.

| = GENER         | RAL -       |              |          |                                     |      |
|-----------------|-------------|--------------|----------|-------------------------------------|------|
| FO              | RM BUILDER  | CUSTOM FORMS | OBTOTALS | EMAIL TEMPLATE                      | N    |
| Jocument Name * | Custom Form | Test         | Labels   |                                     |      |
|                 | Inactive    |              |          |                                     |      |
| Sescription     | An example  | 1            |          | Patient Review     Patient Mammo Fo | erm. |
|                 |             |              |          | Education Material                  |      |

### 2. Enter the following settings.

| Setting            | Description   |
|--------------------|---|
| Document Name      | Type a name for the form.   |
| Description        | Type a general description.   |
| Labels             | [Unused]  |
| Patient Review     | [Unused]  |
| Patient Mammo Form |   |
| Education Material | Select to make the form available in the EDUCATIONAL MATERIAL area of the patient chart.        |
| Reference Document | Select to make the form available in the DOCUMENTS and CUSTOM FORMS areas of the patient chart. |

### 3. Move down the page to Assign Document.

# Modalities Select modality ŝ, MR × Facility My Company ICD Codes \* XT A00.9, Cholera, una Allow All with Empty Allow All without Empty Medication \* Mediostion + Allow All with Empty 🛃 Ibuprofen Allow All without Empty

# 4. Enter the following settings.

| Setting    | Description   |
|------------|---|
| Modalities | Select modalities to which to assign the custom form. |

# Assign Document

| Setting                           | Description   |
|-----------------------------------|---|
| Facility                          | Select a facility to which to assign the custom form, and then select the add + button.   |
| ICD Codes                         | Select to restrict availability for specific ICD codes.                                   |
| Allow All with Empty              | Select to make available for all ICD codes if none are specified.                         |
| Allow All without Empty           | Select to make the setting required.  |
| Medication                        | Select to restrict availability for specific medications.                                 |
| Allow All with Empty              | Select to be available for all medications if none are specified.                         |
| Allow All without Empty           | Select to make the setting required.  |
| Lab Codes                         | Select to restrict availability for specific lab codes.                                   |
| Allow All with Empty              | Select to make available for all lab codes if none are specified.                         |
| Allow All without Empty           | Select to make the setting required.  |
| Male/Female/Mammo Patient<br>Only | Select to restrict availability of the form to male, female, and/or mammography patients. |

# 5. Select SAVE.

# About adding contents to a custom form

The custom form word processing area provides commonly recognizable tools to type, align, and apply formatting to text, and insert images and merge fields. You can copy and paste contents by using the **Ctrl+C** and **Ctrl+V** keyboard shortcuts. To change font sizes, select text that you want to resize, and then select a size in the **Font Size** dropdown list.



# Add merge fields to a custom form

In this example we show you how to add a signature merge field to a custom form. You must add a signature merge field to be able to electronically sign the form.

1. In the right pane, in the **Merge Fields** area, in the search box, type search term to look for a relevant merge field.

For example, type sign.

2. In the list of results, double-click a merge field to add it to the form.

For example, double-click **CustomFormSign**.

3. To the left of the \$\$CustomFormSignature\$\$ merge field, type a new field name.

For example, type Signature:

4. Select **SAVE**.

# Editing a custom form

**Note**: If you edit an existing form, your changes will *not* appear on forms that are already attached to a patient chart. To edit a form:

- 1. On the burger 🔲 menu, select **SETUP**.
- 2. On the **OFFICE** menu, select **General**.
- 3. On the **CUSTOM FORMS** tab, select the form button of the custom form that you want to edit.
- 4. Edit the form as needed, and then select **SAVE**.

# Perform a quick query of database totals

As an alternative to reports, you can quickly search the PACS and RIS databases with customizable queries. A "DB total" search tells you how many patients, studies, and images in your databases match the search criteria.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **General** > **DB TOTALS**.

| CENERJ            |               | nton romin   | DE TOTALS     | TWW TOPHAR    |
|-------------------|---------------|--------------|---------------|---------------|
| Cata Ranga        | 02/14/2029    | 115          | 08/14/2028    | 121           |
|                   | Study Date    | Q Study      | Received Date | Approved Date |
| Pacility          | 48            |              | 8             |               |
| Nodaltine         | - and a state |              | and the l     |               |
| Glady Description |               | 10 N         | 4             |               |
| int Outside       |               |              |               |               |
|                   |               |              | N             |               |
|                   | LEGATETUKA    | ы <u>сси</u> | SECTION 1     |               |

2. Enter the following search criteria.

**Note**: If you performed a search previously during the current session, refresh your browser before entering new criteria.

| Setting             | Description   |
|---------------------|---|
| Date Range          | Select a date range within which to search.   |
| Study Date          | Select a category for the date range:   |
| Study Received Date | Search all studies with a study date within the date range.   |
|                     | Search studies whose DICOM receive date is within the date range.   |
| Approved Date       | Search studies that were approved during the date range.  |
| Facility            | Filter the search by facility.  |
| Modalities          | Filter the search by modality.  |
| Study Description   | Filter the search by study description.   |
| Institutions        | Filter the search by institution.   |
| ADD                 | To add a new institution to the list, clear the All checkbox, type the name of the institution in the box, and then select ADD. |

- 3. To run the search, select **UPDATE TOTALS**.
- 4. The search results appear below the button under **DB Details**.
- 5. Optional. To export a more detailed report of your search and results, select **CSV REPORTS**.
# About email templates and notification templates

*Email templates* and *notification templates* contain pre-formatted text that you can have Symmetry PACS automatically send through and along with various media. Note that the original term *email template* now also applies to non-email media such as faxes. Commonly, you use **email templates** to auto-send reports to providers and patients, and **notification templates** to auto-send study status changes to referring providers. The following table summarizes the differences in auto-sending media based on the type of template.

To create templates, see <u>Configure an email template</u> and <u>Configure a notification template</u>. To configure auto-sending of media using the templates, see <u>Set up emailing of exam results</u> and <u>Set up sending of notifications</u>.

| Feature                           | Auto-Sending of Media Based On:   |   |
|-----------------------------------|---|---|
|                                   | Email Templates   | Notification Templates  |
| Where to<br>configure<br>template | Setup > [all caps button menu] > General ><br>Email Template  | Setup > [all caps button menu] > General ><br>Notification Templates          |
| Who can receive<br>media          | Referring provider locations/contacts,<br>referring provider group, referring provider's<br>patient (in Patient Portal) | Referring provider locations/contacts   |
| What media are<br>sent            | In addition to text defined in the template:  | Email or fax of status changes, including text defined in the template.       |
|                                   | Reports   |   |
|                                   | PDF attached to email   |   |
|                                   | Link attached to email  |   |
|                                   | Print and mail  |   |
|                                   | Print on selected printers  |   |
|                                   | Fax to referring providers  |   |
|                                   | Fax to referring provider's office  |   |
|                                   |   |   |
|                                   | Images  |   |
|                                   | CD, Film, Paper   |   |
| How to turn<br>ON/OFF auto-       | Select checkboxes in "Reports to Me"  | <ul> <li>Select checkboxes is "Notification Settings," and</li> </ul>         |
| sending                           |   | • Select notification template in each status at which you want to auto-send. |

## Configure an email template

Follow the steps in this topic to configure an email template. To use the template to auto-send emails and other media, see <u>Set up emailing of exam results</u>.

## Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **General** > **EMAIL TEMPLATE**.

| -    |                          |                       |                     |   |                |              |        |
|------|--------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------|---|----------------|--------------|--------|
|      | 10004-000-008            | CUSTONA HOHMAN        | astanas 🔛           | NE TEMPLOTE                               | int 60         | (CHIHE) III- | 1810   |
|      |                          |                       |                     |   |                | A00          | 95.040 |
|      | TEMPLATE WANK.           | REPORT TYPE .         | RRACT               | 642107P                                   |                | TARKET       |        |
|      |                          | A) -                  |                     |   | 10             | e.           | 12     |
| 28   | Notification Phy         | Study Careabation     | Test                | Angle Sticking/Ay Company/H               | rmilla Test Pa |              |        |
| 17.8 | cafaot confination score | e continuation Screen | Defect appointments | of charter scheme wy contraction that the | officiente     |              |        |

#### 2. Select ADD.

| Template Name * | Default Confirmation Scre         |   | Inective |
|-----------------|-----------------------------------|---|----------|
| Category        | Confirmation Screen               | * |          |
| Subject *       | Appointment<br>Confirmation Email | 1 |          |

3. Enter the following settings.

| Setting       | Description   |
|---------------|---|
| Template Name | Type a name for the template.   |
| Category      | Select the type or purpose of the template.   |
| Subject       | Type text to appear on the Subject line.  |
| Markets       | Select the market for which the template is available. All facilities associated with the select market become selected in the Facilities list. |
| Facilities    | Select the facilities to whose studies the template applies.  |

4. Use the word processing tools to compose the body of the email.



- 5. To automatically insert exam details into the email:
  - a. In the right pane, in the **Search here** box, type a category of information (e.g. Patient).

Note: Category searches are case-sensitive.

- b. In the resultant Merge Fields list, select a merge field group (e.g. Patient).
- c. Double-click a merge field to add it (e.g. FirstName).
- 6. Select **SAVE**.

#### See also:

About email templates and notification templates

## Set up emailing of exam results

By completing the following tasks, Symmetry PACS automatically sends exam results and reports to the referring provider locations/contacts you modify.

#### Prerequisite:

Administrators must configure the company's email server (see General settings).

#### Tasks:

- <u>Configure an email template</u>.
- Add a facility, and configure all email- and fax-related settings.
- If you want to email a provider group or location, Add a provider group or location.
- Configure a referring provider location/contact, including the **email address**, **fax numbers**, and options under **Reports to Me** (see <u>Add a resource</u>).

## See also:

About email templates and notification templates

## Configure a notification template

Follow the steps in this topic to configure a notification template. To use the template to auto-send status change emails or faxes, see <u>Set up sending of notifications</u>.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **General** > **NOTIFICATION TEMPLATES**.

| =  | GENERIAL-          |               |             |             | -                                     | 23       | 20     |
|----|--------------------|---------------|-------------|-------------|---------------------------------------|----------|--------|
|    | rene turb?         | CUCITIN FORME | DESCRIPTION | DWATERATE   | NOTIFICATION TOMPLATES                | COVERSEE | нстоп  |
|    |                    |               |             |             |                                       | (ADD)    | RELOAD |
|    | TEMPLATENANC :     | OUBJECT.      |             | TADUTY      |                                       | NATHET   |        |
|    |                    |               |             | 84          |                                       | 20       | 20     |
| 12 | a detrophysication | Teol          |             | Knge Fødity | Wy Company, Normille Test Pacifitzati | £        |        |

2. Select ADD.

| BENERAL -                              |                         |                 |             |                                      |         |         |
|--|-------------------------|-----------------|-------------|--------------------------------------|---------|---------|
| PORG multiples                         | CONTRACTOR FOR AND      | OR FOR ALL      | HALL HARDAN | NOTIFICATION TEMPLAT                 | es icos | ER WALT |
| Template Name *<br>RetPhyliotification |                         | Subject<br>Tost |             | Market<br>Noneselectre<br>Pacifice * |         | алси    |
| SEFUINAMESS SSACO                      | / E ≌ ∃<br>cssicnNo\$\$ | ■ (E + 15 ·     | 3302        | Full                                 | ude     | Î       |
|  |                         |                 |             |                                      |         |         |

## 3. Enter the following settings.

| Setting       | Description   |
|---------------|---|
| Template Name | Type a name for the template.   |
| Subject       | Type text to appear on the email's Subject line.  |
| Market        | Select the market for which the template is available. All facilities associated with the select market become selected in the Facilities list. |
| Facilities    | Select the facilities to whose studies the template applies.  |

- 4. Use the word processing tools to compose the template.
- 5. To automatically insert exam details into the notification:
  - a. In the right pane, in the **Search here** box, type a category of information (e.g. Patient).

Note: Category searches are case-sensitive.

- b. In the resultant Merge Fields list, select a merge field group (e.g. Patient).
- c. Double-click a merge field to add it (e.g. Fullname).
- 6. Select SAVE.

## See also:

About email templates and notification templates

## Set up sending of notifications

By completing the following tasks, Symmetry PACS automatically sends status change email notifications to the referring provider locations/contacts you modify.

## Prerequisite:

Administrators must configure the company's email server (see General settings).

#### Tasks:

- <u>Configure a notification template</u>.
- For each status of which you want to auto-send notification, select the notification template under "Notification Settings" (see ).
- Configure a referring provider location/contact, and select the location/contact's **Email/Fax** and/or **Receive When Added as a CC Provider** checkboxes (see <u>Add a resource</u>).

#### See also:

About email templates and notification templates

## Create fax cover sheets

You can create a cover sheet to automatically attach to faxes. You can create one cover sheet for each facility. To create a cover sheet:

## Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **General** > **COVER SHEETS** tab, select **ADD**.
- 2. Type a name for your cover sheet, select the facility where the cover sheet will be available, and then select **SAVE**.
- 3. Use the word processing tools create your cover sheet, and then select **SAVE**.
- 4. Select **SAVE & CLOSE**.

## Work with the report queue

You can open a report queue that shows reports that you previously generated or that are currently in process. You can resend (reprocess) individual reports, or reprocess them in batches.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **General** > **REPORT QUEUE**.

| COENERAL-                 |                       |                         |                                 |                 | -                |
|---------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------|------------------|
| C SEEDIN FORMS            | OBTOTALS              | EMAIL TIMEL KIT         | HOLDIGATION TEMPLATES           | COVER SHEETS    | REPORT QUEUE     |
|                           |                       |                         | REPROCESS SELECTED              | REPROCESS FA    | LED RELOAD       |
| OPENING ATS \$ LAST UPON  | THE STUDY BOTE        | DCORT HELEVER TYP DOCD  | NAME PROFESSION AND A PATIENT   | DELOGE DELIVERY | ICDRE D.RRMITS I |
|                           |                       | All • All               | water and the second second     | - EA            | 41 ···           |
| 03/03/2923 1 HC           | 05/05/2023 1.40       | Tito Refere             | p Test Facue                    | 7.8 (740454-    | 5454 Quelet      |
| 505/03/2025 1.4505/06/202 | 5 10 4 05/05/2023 199 | C1504 (1023) 200        | g Test Fame                     | enal abailtans  | y@kontsisten     |
| 503,00120081105           | 00/00/2003 12:0       | 1165 Beforing Provident | wes Refest Hetering Test, Freis | Fac (705)054-8  | SISE DORDE       |

- 2. To resend a report, right-click it in the list and then select Resend.
- 3. To resend a batch of reports, at the top of the list, select **REPROCESS SELECTED** or **REPROCESS FAILED**.
- 4. To resend a report automatically at a later time, right-click it in the list and then select **Requeue**.

## View logs

To view the various logs that are available in Symmetry PACS, do the following.

#### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Log**.
- 2. Select tabs (AUDIT LOG, USER LOG, etc.) to view different logs.

| MUNT LOC           | VMUILEC | ATTEC DEPENDENT    | DICOM TEARINE 140 | MARKING LOC  | 1 MADE HERE MADE DO                  | HUPEDE           |
|--------------------|---------|--------------------|-------------------|--------------|--------------------------------------|------------------|
| 1042/2020 1260 004 | 10 G W  | Ta 06/14/2023 18.2 | A DA PHA ED       |              | Participation -                      | en ensuel        |
| LOYALES LINES .    | acien . | - CLEF             | PANE NT           | Construction | a                                    |                  |
|                    | 01      | Springer (Film)    |                   | Day (ingelie | ninelest twenty (10) na              | esueniiw(s), sud |
|                    | é1      | darbert (EAA)      |                   | D secondar   | statel                               |                  |
| 9                  | or      | Counter (Div)      |                   | D'ar putadas | normalized. In manifest (1995), must | incentra (V. and |

3. Double-click entries to view details.

# Work with the hamburger menu

The hamburger (burger) menu is the main menu of the program. To open it, select the burger menu button circled in red in the following figure. Some of the options in the figure may not be available depending on your product and configuration.



WORKLIST 盲 PATIENT ANNVAL WURKLIST ۲ PATHENT DISPATCHING DAUHUGARD Q QUERT/RETRIEVE BICHEDULE 目 **HILLING** PATHAINTE > Ö REFORTS 4 > TOILE 11 DICTUP INTERACE Bright

...and menu (your options may vary)

The burger menu button...

# Work with the worklist

The worklist is the starting point for most operations in Symmetry PACS. The worklist is a searchable and highly customizable list of patients, studies, and series, providing full access to demographics and images.

## Procedure

1. Go to <u>burger menu</u>  $\blacksquare$  > <u>WORKLIST</u>.

|   |     | Work  | dist<br>e oso | ties | 5 | jè. | t |    | ALL  | 5740 | 45 |          | STAT 1                 |             |       |               |
|---|-----|-------|---------------|------|---|-----|---|----|------|------|----|----------|------------------------|-------------|-------|---------------|
| ŝ | 1   |       |               |      |   |     |   |    |      |      |    | status   | STUDY DATE 2           | PWDENT      | MODAL | ITY STUDY DES |
|   |     | _     |               |      |   |     |   |    |      |      |    |          |                        |             | All   |               |
| • | 21  | ] 0 4 | 23            | 8    | = | 3   |   | :1 | - 34 | 0    | 13 | Administ | 01/18/2023 8:30 PM PST | Teot, Holan | XA.   | ANGRPH #      |
| • | 21  |       | 00            | ā    | = | ð   | ħ | ž  |      | (i)  | \$ | Approval | 01/16/2023 7:15 PM PS7 | Test, Torre | 17    | CHULANS       |
| + | 0.1 | 5)    | 00            | 1    | = | э   |   | :1 | . :* |      | E: | Auronet  | 01/18/2023 7:00 PM PST | Test, Tom   | OR.)  | BRONCHO       |

## See also:

Worklist settings Use the worklist User settings Viewer settings PACS Actions menu Worklist shortcut menus

# **Worklist settings**

## About toolbars and elements in the worklist

The worklist provides the following toolbars and other items. Notice that there is a settings menu with the upper and lower toolbar, but they open different menus.

## Upper toolbar

| TASKS 9 0 | STAT 0 | 0 0 0 0 0 | 0 TAT | 0 0 34 ③ ① |
|-----------|--------|-----------|-------|------------|
| 1         | 2      |           | 3     | 4 5        |

The upper toolbar contains the following elements, from left to right.

| 1 | Tasks      | Shows the number of tasks by urgency. Select to jump to the Tasks list. |
|---|------------|---|
| 2 | STAT meter | Shows the number of studies at each STAT (urgency) level.               |
| 3 | TAT meter  | Shows the number of studies at each TAT (turnaround time).              |
| 4 | Settings   | Opens the settings menu.  |
| 5 | Log off    | Logs off the current user.  |

## Lower toolbar

| $\langle \rangle$ | $\sim$ | ð | ø | • | Y | Q |   |
|-------------------|--------|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| 1                 | 2      | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 |

The lower toolbar contains the following elements.

| 1 | Move tabs left/right | Left/right justifies the worklist filter tabs.  |
|---|----------------------|---|
| 2 | Filter menu          | Select from any available filter tab.   |
| 3 | Refresh              | Updates the worklist, but keeps manually entered filters.                             |
| 4 | Refresh all          | Updates the worklist, clearing all filters.   |
| 5 | PACS Actions         | Opens the PACS Actions menu.  |
| 6 | Filters              | Opens the Study Filters dialog.   |
| 7 | Search tools         | Shows/hides the search bar.   |
| 8 | Disagreements        | Opens the disagreements queue (requires a separate license for Advanced Peer Review). |

## Filters



Filter tabs (figure above) appear on the left side of the worklist by their labels. The Exceeds Maximum Time Limit filter (figure below) appears at the bottom of the worklist.



The following table describes the four types of filter tab (filters) that are available in the worklist.

| Туре                        | Name                          | Description   |  |
|-----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|--|
| Optional                    | PRE ORDERS                    | Lists unscheduled orders. Pre orders often have no  |  |
| (Can be hidden)             |                               | referring physician, and come from the patient portal (such as exams requested by the patient).   |  |
|                             | QC                            | Lists studies needing reconciliation.   |  |
| Permanent                   | ALL STUDIES                   | Lists all DICOM studies and scheduled RIS orders that are   |  |
| (Cannot be hidden)          |                               | not currently on the QC tab.  |  |
| User Filters [user defined] |                               | Provide a highly customized view of the worklist.   |  |
| (Can be hidden)             |                               |   |  |
| Temporary                   | Exceeds Maximum<br>Time Limit | When you select the Exceeds Maximum Time Limit link at<br>the bottom of the worklist, this tab opens and lists relevant<br>studies. Select the pushpin button on the tab to display a<br>dialog with options, including "Remove." |  |

## Display a filter of the worklist

You can display optional filters (such as PRE ORDERS or QC) in the following two ways. To display user filters, you can use these steps if the filter was configured to appear as a tab or in the tabs list.

## Procedure

1. On the worklist, in the filter bar, select a tab to display the filter.



2. In the lower toolbar, select the **Show all Tabs by list** button, and then select a filter.



## Create a user worklist filter

Symmetry PACS comes with the PRE ORDERS, QC, and other filters, but you can also create your own filters to customize the worklist at a high level of precision.

## Procedure

- 1. On the worklist lower toolbar, select the filter  $\boxed{}$  button.
- 2. In the **Study Filter** dialog, select **ADD**.
- 3. Enter the following criteria. See an **example** below the table.

| Setting                      | Description  |
|------------------------------|--|
| Filter Name                  | Type a name for the filter   |
| Show Encounters Only         | Shows only studies for outpatient encounters.  |
| Joined Filters               | Selects another filter to combine with the current filter. Studies must meet the criteria in both filters to appear in the worklist. |
| Filter Order                 | Determines the order in which filters appear as tabs or list items, from low to high.  |
| Is Private                   | Restricts availability of the filter to the user who created it.   |
| Display as a Tab             | Shows the tab for the filter on the worklist.  |
| Display in Dropdown          | Shows the filter in the Show Tabs by List list on the worklist.  |
| Show Only Exceeding Max Time | Shows only studies that are exceeding their max time as specified in "Configure study statuses."                                     |
| Show DICOM Studies Only      | Shows only DICOM studies (studies containing images).  |
| Show RIS Orders Only         | Shows only RIS orders.   |
| Show Assigned Studies Only   | Shows only studies that were assigned to the current user.   |
| Show Pre-Orders Only         | Shows only preorders.  |
| Deleted                      | Shows all (deleted and non-deleted) studies, no deleted studies, or only deleted studies.  |
| Assign                       | Available when you select Is Private. Administrators can use these settings to assign the filter to specific users or user groups.   |
| Default Column/Sort By       | Sorts the worklist by the column and order that you select.  |
| DATE/TIME                    | Filters studies by a range of dates and times.   |
| PATIENT INFORMATION          | Filters studies by patient or account number.  |

| Setting           | Description  |
|-------------------|--|
| STUDY INFORMATION | Filters studies by institution, facility, modality, body part, and other categories. |
| RESOURCE          | Filters studies by physician or attorney.  |
| INSURANCE         | Filters studies by insurance provider.   |

**Note**: When available, you can use the **Is** operator and **Blank** criteria to search for studies that are missing information. For example, in the **INSURANCE** category, under **Insurance Provider**, select **Is**, and then select **Blank** to search for studies with no insurance.

## Example

The settings in the figure below define a filter with the following properties:

- Appears as the **first** available user filter
- Is **Private** (only available to the user who created it)
- Appears as a **tab** on the worklist
- Appears as a **menu** option in the list of filters
- Shows only **DICOM studies**
- Is only available to users of type Radiologist
- Only displays studies in **Unread** status.

| Sector 7     |                   |            |   | SAVE | CLENT. | HAL |
|--------------|-------------------|------------|---|------|--------|-----|
| Pilter Name  | * Test            |            | Stew Denasters Cety                           | 5657 | 0.000  |     |
| Joined Fille |                   | NESELECTED | -   |      |        |     |
| Filter Order | • 1               |            | 🖾 ta Finale                                   |      |        |     |
| Cisplay      | as a Tal:         | 🖬 Oiule    | r in Droodown 🛛 Shan Drily Exceeding Max Time | 8    |        |     |
|              | 1009 Studies Only | 🛄 Blaze i  | 10.0-item Only 📋 Ohow Passignest Quality Only |      |        |     |
| Defected     | A1                |            | ♥ Di Sinne Phat Oydana Oxiy                   |      |        |     |
| Assign       | Select Univ       | e +        | Radiologist •                                 |      |        |     |
|              |                   |            | Refolget                                      |      |        |     |
|              |                   |            |   |      |        |     |
|              |                   |            |   |      |        |     |

| E GATI/IWA               | Institution                   |   |    | Feelby            |  |
|--------------------------|-------------------------------|---|----|-------------------|--|
| PATION<br>INFORMATION    | Q Is<br>Q IsNot<br>O Containe |   |    | O in<br>O ta Nat  | Angle Facility<br>GobilaTentPacility<br>Merre Facility<br>My Company |
| ETUDY                    |                               |   | +  | Ordering Faci     | Bη   |
| T INFORMATION            | Medality                      |   |    |                   | Orbit arderes fasiliées 🕴 🛨  |
| 0 (550.005<br>0 (550.005 | 0 Ia<br>0 Ia Nor              | BD<br>BR<br>DR<br>CT                        |    | Q is<br>Q taltiot |  |
|                          | Medažty Reo                   | 20  |    |                   |  |
|                          | O Is<br>O IsNot               | Angle<br>Computer Terrs)<br>DR<br>LT        |    | Statue            | Less Charged By Me   |
|                          | Last cell nategory            |   |    | (B) (a)           | Tach Pause   |
|                          | O Is<br>O is Not              | Following<br>Dina<br>Roschodute<br>Schedule | į. | O talini          | Tach Start<br>Transcribed<br>Mitriceal                               |

4. Select SAVE.

## Edit or delete a worklist filter

You can edit or delete a filter that you created.

## Procedure

1. On the worklist lower toolbar, select the filter  $\boxed{}$  button.

|               |           |             |   |            |   | AUD       | RELOAL |
|---------------|-----------|-------------|---|------------|---|-----------|--------|
| Default       | Tub:      | All Studies | v |            |   |           |        |
| HUGH          | AME       |             |   | PATER TYPE |   | FILTER DR | DEF 🕈  |
|               |           |             |   | All        | ~ |           |        |
| All Stud      | es        |             |   | Global     |   | 8         |        |
| 2 IE Delete o | e Editi N | 6           |   | Private    |   | 2         |        |
| R Test        |           |             |   | Private    |   |           |        |

2. Select the edit  $\checkmark$  or delete  $\square$  button of the filter to delete.

## Show or hide a worklist filter

You can show filters as tabs on the worklist, as items in the filter menu, as both, or as neither (you can hide them for later use without deleting them).

## Procedure

- 1. On the worklist, on the lower toolbar, select the filter  $\boxed{1}$  button.
- 2. In the **Study Filter** dialog, double-click the filter to show or hide.
- 3. In the second **Study Filter** dialog, select or clear the **Display as a Tab** checkbox and the **Display in Dropdown** checkbox.

## **User settings**

User settings (from the worklist) control how the worklist appears and functions when the user who configured them signs in. User settings override global settings, except for security settings.

## Configure worklist columns

You can show, hide, and order columns in the worklist.

## Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > **Settings** > <u>User Settings</u>.

| Column Order      |          |
|-------------------|----------|
| 🖬 Status          | Show 1   |
| Study Date        | Show 1   |
| E Facility        | Show I   |
| Patient           | She      |
| 🔄 Modality        | Show I   |
| Study Description | 🖬 Auto-0 |
| Account No.       |          |
|                   |          |

- 2. Do one or more of the following.
  - To show or hide a column, select or clear its checkbox.
  - To reorder a column, drag the column to a new position in the list.

Note: You can also drag columns directly on the worklist.

3. Select SAVE.

# Configure other user settings

You can configure a variety of behaviors and settings for worklist tabs, columns and rows, and other user settings.

## Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > **Settings** > <u>User Settings</u>.

|                                    |                              | SAN               | Æ. |
|------------------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------|----|
| User Settings                      |                              |                   |    |
| D Show Row Number                  | Double Click Behavior        | Web Viev          | ٠  |
| Show Pridra                        | Double-Click (Scheduled)     | Edit Orda         | *  |
| Show QC                            | Default Yab                  | All Studie        | •  |
| Show Completed in Pending Uit.     | Default Filter (Local Oscha) |                   | *  |
| Show Recent Studies                | Default Column               | Study Da          | æ  |
| Auto-Open New Order                | SortBy                       | Desc              | *  |
| Auto-Open Appointment Confirmation | Audio Player Lag Time        | 4 000             |    |
|                                    | Auto Open Priers             | Qn                |    |
|                                    | Open Prior Reports           | On                | *  |
|                                    | Voice recognition            | <b>D</b> -cratico | ¥  |
|                                    | Delay Load of Exa Trans      | att               | •  |
|                                    | Exo Trans Font               | 1                 | *  |

2. Enter the following settings.

| Setting             | Description   |  |
|---------------------|---|--|
| Show Row Number     | Select to display the row number column in the worklist. The column is labeled as "#" or "No."  |  |
| Show Priors         | Select to show prior studies on the worklist, or clear to show series and images instead. Whether you choose to show priors or series, you can view them by selecting the expand + or collapse - button in a study row. |  |
| Show QC             | Select to show the QC tab, and select the Show Completed in Pending<br>List checkbox to show include completed orders in the QC tab.  |  |
| Show Orders Tab     | Select to show the PRE ORDERS tab in the worklist.  |  |
| Show Recent Studies | Select to show the RECENT STUDIES tab in the worklist. This filter contains the 25 most recent studies that were opened in the viewer.  |  |

| Setting                               | Description   |
|---------------------------------------|---|
| Auto-Open New Order                   | Select to automatically open the Edit Study screen after selecting the CREATE ORDER button (Symmetry PACS only).  |
| Auto-Open Appointment<br>Confirmation | Select to automatically open the appointment confirmation screen after selecting the CREATE ORDER button (Symmetry PACS only). This screen provides a convenient summary to read to the patient on the phone, or to send as an email. |
| Double-Click Behavior                 | The view or app in which a study appears when double-clicking a row, unless the study is scheduled.   |
| Double-Click (Scheduled)              | The view in which a scheduled study appears when you double-click it.   |
| Default Tab                           | The default tab for the worklist.   |
| Default Filter (Local Cache)          | The default filter for the worklist.  |
| Default Column                        | The default column for the worklist that determines the sort.   |
| Sort By                               | Whether the list is sorted in ascending or descending order.  |
| Audio Player Lag Time                 | The amount of delay before starting audio playback.   |
| Auto Open Priors                      | Turns automatic opening of priors in the viewer on and off.   |
| Open Prior Reports                    | Automatically opens prior reports when opening a study.   |
| Voice recognition                     | When opening a DICOM study in the Symmetry PACS viewer:   |
|                                       | <b>Dragon</b> (Exa Trans): Opens Dragon Naturally Speaking for radiologist transcriptions rather than Exa Dictation. You must install Exa Trans on the local workstation to use this option.  |
|                                       | Dictation (Web Trans): Opens Exa Dictation.   |
|                                       | Off (None): Does not open a voice recognition tool.   |
|                                       | <b>nVoq</b> (Exa Trans): Opens Exa Trans with nVoq voice recognition.   |
| Delay Load of Exa Trans               | Delays loading of the Exa Trans transcription screen, to focus attention<br>on images before the transcription.   |
| Exa Trans Font                        | Sets the font used by Exa Trans.  |
| Exa Trans Font Size                   | Sets the font size used by Exa Trans.   |
| Default Time Increment                | Sets the default time increment for time blocks in the schedule book.   |

3. Select **SAVE.** 

# **Viewer settings**

See Configure the viewer.

# Local service settings

See <u>Install local cache</u> in the appendix.

## Use the worklist

## Find preorders and studies

You can find a study and open it to view or edit details.

#### Procedure

1. On the <u>Worklist</u>, select **PRE ORDERS** or **ALL STUDIES**.



- 2. In the search bar, do one or both of the following:
  - In a column header (such as **FACILITY**), type or select one or more criteria and press **Enter**.
  - Select a column header to sort the list.

| = w  | orklist<br>.ne ordere | ce i  | ALL STUDIE |                          | .STA)             |
|------|-----------------------|-------|------------|--------------------------|-------------------|
| • 0  |                       |       |            | FACILITY<br>MY COMPANY = | STATUS STUDY      |
| + 90 | 2*                    | 6.0   | *©         | My Company               | Schedulas 03/17/2 |
| + 40 | 0 *                   | 4.11  |            | 1 My Company             | Scheduled 03/17/5 |
| 0    | 2*                    | .9.01 | <b>*</b> 0 | My Compeny               | Scheduled 03/17/5 |

3. Double-click a study in the list to open it for viewing or editing.

#### See also:

<u>Search syntax</u> <u>View approved reports</u>

## View series and images

You can view series and images of any study in the worklist that includes them.

#### Procedure

1. In <u>User Settings</u>, clear the **Show Priors** checkbox and select **SAVE**.

# User Settings Bhow Row Number Show Priors Show QC Completed in Depring List

2. In the worklist, find a study containing images and select its expand + button.

| 100   |          |                  |                                       |             |
|-------|----------|------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------|
| - म   | 68       | 表/:              | 31/01/1900 1                          | TES MA 005  |
| -     | 1        |                  |                                       |             |
| - a : | 2 dR 7   | 1.1.302.200636.9 | 107 500 205 12 22001010 12 20 45 1012 | CRIma go Sh |
| _     | W/ // 1- |                  |                                       |             |
| •30   |          | <b>3</b> .)      | 01/01/1900 1                          | 200 AM EE1  |
| •     |          | +                | 01/05/1300 1                          | 2:00 AM 687 |
|       | 1        | 4                | 01/01/1900.1                          | 103 MA 00.5 |

- 3. Expand series rows by selecting the + button.
- 4. To view a thumbnail of an image, select the 🔤 button.

Note: To view an image thumbnail, the status must be Incomplete or Unread.

5. To open series and images in the viewer, double-click the main study.

## View priors

You can view the prior studies of any study in the worklist that includes them.

## Procedure

1. In <u>User Settings</u>, select the **Show Priors** checkbox and select **SAVE**.

| Us | er Settings                       |
|----|-----------------------------------|
|    | Show Row Number                   |
| C: | Show Priors                       |
| R  | Show QC                           |
|    | 🗾 Chour Completed in Bandian List |

2. In the worklist, find a study and select its expand + button.

| 1.1. 外に非常認             | The second secon | W NEW MARKAGE AND AND A STORE AND A                      |                 |
|------------------------|--|--|-----------------|
| 0 248=3                | (2 🔹 🚯 🚺 Nicealla Test Facili  | ty ALCOURT-1-201/02/2004 7:10 PM PS1                     | Entitef Endel & |
| Nimella Test Facility  | = 100451 01/02/2024 T 15 PM PST  | Ender, Ender   | 64              |
| Noralta Teu Pacility   | 1740-0 0017/2823120 PM PDT   | Test, Valerie  | sr              |
| NITIVE THE BICKLY      | 5,2004010 02/06/2023 12:00 4M/P87  | Test, valerie  | 63              |
| Nimita nut eacity      | STANDAR 02/01/2023 TOD PM PST  | <ul> <li>Priors</li> <li>Double-click to open</li> </ul> | 68              |
| terral a two macing    | 01131/2023 4:15 PM PST   | Test, Yabre  |                 |
| termitic rest exciting | markin mistigers age por PST   | Two, value   | 17              |
| Romitie Teel Backby    | 12 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10  | Test, Values   | OI.             |

Result: The priors appear in rows below the study row.

#### See also:

#### View approved reports

## View recent studies

You can view a worklist filter tab containing the 25 studies that were most recently opened in the viewer. This makes it easy to find studies you viewed recently and want to reopen. Most standard worklist functions are available to you on the Recent Studies tab, but see "Details" below for exceptions.

#### Procedure

1. In <u>User Settings</u>, select the **Show Recent Studies** checkbox and select **SAVE**.



2. In the worklist, select the **RECENT STUDIES** worklist filter.



#### Details

The Recent Studies tab works like the All Studies tab except:

- You can't sort it (it's automatically sorted in first-in-first-out (FIFO) order by date/time of viewing).
- Priors opened during a viewer session do not appear on this tab, but priors originally opened from the worklist do.
- Stat level has no effect on the sorting of the list.
- The program creates a unique recent studies tab for each user.
- If you open a study from the worklist more than once, only one entry appears on the recent studies tab.

## Open a pop-up window for physicians and ordering facilities

From the worklist, you can open a pop-up window to display the contact information of a study's physician or ordering facility.

#### Procedure

1. On the <u>Worklist</u>, in the **REFERRING PHYSICIAN** or **ORDERING FACILITY** column, select the doctor a symbol.

| + #O  | 10.0  | 1.00 (7) 1 | 0 1     | wyCompany     | Infortion?  | 00/01/29/574575    | र सेत                                   | 10.54             |
|-------|-------|------------|---------|---------------|-------------|--------------------|---|-------------------|
|       | 10.00 | Sec. 6     | 0.1     | NyCompany     | Different   | 00,7372925 9 28 93 | (D) Emilet Drivet &                     | 10.54             |
| • = 0 | 27.91 | Gent :     | • • • • | StyCennaw     | Generality  |                    | s Strift Second Landson (1              | North Carlos Koot |
|       | 2.4   | 36.01      | 0 1     | NyCampany     | Schenzier   | 00/17/29/29/546    | Fefering Praviders List                 |                   |
| 6.80  | 2.4   | (6)0) 9    | • C   I | (ily Curigany | fallences.  | 00/17/0822 5-65 *  | andert andret<br>2217 US Highwe 73 East | -                 |
| • =0  | 2.90  | 5.0.0      | Q 1     | WyGorgaw      | 6el eccaned | 03/17/2020 5:25 #  | Fax Ny.                                 | \$ter             |
| +.=c  | 10.6  | 0.01       | 0 1     | Ny Cargan     | Interine)   | 03/17/2005 4.22 75 | stn1                                    | *C.335.1+         |

## Use the study toolbar buttons

Each study on the ALL STUDIES tab or corresponding user filters of the worklist has its own toolbar on the left side of the study row. Depending on the properties of the study, one or more of the following tools are available.

# • 8 🗖 🗣 🖉 🛪 🗐 🗰 🔁 🗗 🐂 🖈 🛈 🗦

| Tool | Name               | Description   |
|------|--------------------|---|
| +/-  | Expand/Collapse    | Expands or collapses the study row to show or hide series or priors.  |
|      | Prior              | Select to display a list of prior studies in a custom filter.   |
|      | Checkbox           | Select to select the study for further processing by commands in the PACS Actions menu.   |
| Ð    | DICOM Viewer       | Open the study in the Exa PACS viewer. This button is only available for studies that contain images.   |
| ۲    | Opal Viewer        | Open the study in the Opal viewer (see <u>Install Opal Viewer</u> ). This button is only available for studies that contain images.   |
| 1    | Edit               | Opens the study for editing.  |
| m    | View Transcription | Opens the dictation and transcription editor. See "Dictation and transcription."  |
| =    | Multipanel         | Opens the study in the multipanel, an operating panel for working with dictation, transcription, documents, notes, and other information.   |
| ۵    | Approved Report    | Opens approved reports of the study.  |
| ď    | External app.      | Opens the current study in an external application if configured.   |
| Д.   | Unread DICOMs      | Select to view unread images. In the Unread DICOMs dialog, select MARK AS READ, or OPEN IN VIEWER to read the images in the Symmetry PACS viewer.   |
| 0    | Notes              | Opens a screen for entering and viewing notes related to patient, study, schedule, and reason for study, and for updating the call log. The button turns blue if study notes are available. |
| :    | Study menu         | Displays the study shortcut menu (you can also Right-click anywhere on the study row to display the shortcut menu).   |

#### See also:

Work with the Symmetry PACS viewer <u>Edit study screen</u> <u>Worklist shortcut menus</u> <u>Configure opening of a third-party program</u>

## About Linked Reporting

With *Linked Reporting*, radiologists can save time by dictating multiple related studies into a single report. When the report is approved, all of the linked studies move to the Approved status automatically. When you open an approved report from any of the linked studies (studies 1, 2, or 3 in the figure below), you see the same combined report so that all information is available to you regardless of the study or report you open.

Linking reports also links the studies containing those reports, so that all studies follow the main study in terms of STAT levels, study statuses, and report approval statuses. For example, if the main report moves to the Dictated status, so do its linked reports. If you later decide to unlink a report, those statuses revert to their previous states (with exceptions, see <u>Details on Linked Reporting</u>).



Once linked, Reports 1, 2, and 3 become one combined report

#### Note

- You can link reports any time before approval.
- You can unlink reports at any time.
- You cannot link a report that is already approved.
- If an addendum is added to a linked report, it applies to all linked studies, and is available for viewing from any linked study.

## What do linked reports look like?

Based on the merge fields you include in your report templates, Exa PACS/RIS automatically fills the **header** with information about the main report and its linked reports. (Due to space constraints, some fields only display information from the main report, such as the referring physician.)

The **body** of the report contains the radiologist's findings for the main study and all linked studies.

**Approved reports** always appear based on the transcription template of the main study, even if the linked studies originally used different transcription templates.

An example of a linked report:

Study descriptions of

linked studies



Indications: Left rib pain radiating to mid and lower back. No known trauma-

Comparisons: None mailable at time of report.

Technique: Two-view radiographs of the left ribs, thoracic spine and lumbar spine obtained in the AP and lateral position

#### Findings

Left ribs: Multiple radiographic waves of the ribs fail to reveal evidence for displaced fracture, dislocation or focal soft tissue pathology. Images are less than ideal and if there is further concern a bone scan might be considered.

Thoracic spine: No evidence for acute fracture, dislocation or local soft tissue abnormality. There is diffuse thoracic disc degeneration and spondylosis.

Lumbar spine: There is diffuse degenerative disc disease without evidence for fracture or dislocation. There is lumbar scollesis.

#### Impressions:

- 1. Diffuse thoracic disc degeneration and spondylosis.
- 2. Diffuse degenerative disc disease with levoscollosis in the lumbar spine.
- 3. No evidence of a displaced fracture in the left ribs. Recommend a bone scan for follow up.
- 4. No acute fracture in the lumbar or thoracic spine.

## Link reports

#### To link reports:

**Prerequisite**: Obtain the Link Report user right from your administrator.

#### Procedure

1. On the worklist, find a study that is available for linking, and select the gray link  $\infty$  button.



2. In the Link Studies dialog, select the studies whose reports you want to link to the main report.

| 30     | RNDR I&R  | CT MRI     | JS/OTH X REQ POSTPCX                            |                      |               |   | Restor-           | LANG           |
|--------|---|------------|---|----------------------|---------------|---|-------------------|----------------|
|        | Staty Date: 343   | 2/23/95    |   | simila Test facility |               |   | -                 |                |
|        | Habity US   |            | Aufertung Physicare Test, Bedering              |                      |               |   |                   |                |
| Sel    | ct studies to   | link of un | ink for Reporting:                              |                      |               |   |                   |                |
|        | diat All  |            |   |                      |               |   |                   |                |
|        | where we are a set of the set of | SIDDLUTY   | STLEN DEALERPTICS                               | STREY DATE           | andunca       | No. WYORKERMONA                                       | AMPRITY           |                |
|        | -224ebabel  | LR.        | the structure and the most case and             | petra lóg ván        | 140           | Test Asterney & Conting                               | itevatori Leri 3. | and the second |
| ч.     |   |            | DOP EDIDATE RESE SPECTRAL DISPLAY REPORT        | a lectrone           | Con           | me Powers Gif   |                   | 1              |
| 6      | ≥1H1H   | 148        | TOP EDED-IL/PER APALITAL DOPLAR HIPPINTS        | 10000000000          | A DECK        |   |                   |                |
| 0      | 200000  | in.        | TO REAL AND | 2622/08/07           | Text          | Referring   |                   | ŝ.             |
| 0<br>a |   |            |   |                      | Test,<br>2217 | Rearing<br>US Highwe' 70 Each<br>M NY Drovid High Day |                   | ŝ              |

- 3. Optional: Click the physician a symbol to display details, and click the physician's name in the pop-up window to edit properties.
- 4. Select **SAVE**.

Result: The reports and studies are now linked.

#### See also:

About Linked Reporting Unlink a report View approved reports Details on Linked Reporting

## Unlink a report

To unlink a report:

Prerequisite: Obtain the Unlink Report user right from your administrator.

## Procedure

1. In the worklist, find a main or linked study (studies with the blue **Linked Studies** button), and select the button.

**Result**: Whether you chose a main or linked study, the **Link Studies** dialog opens with the main study shown at the top with its linked studies listed below it.

- 2. In the **Link Studies** dialog, clear the checkboxes of the studies whose reports you want to unlink from the main report.
- 3. Select **SAVE**.

#### See also:

About Linked Reporting Link reports Details on Linked Reporting

## View authorization history

You can view a list of all authorization changes made to an exam.

- 1. In the worklist, select the authorization star (such as the green star  $\star$ ) of a study.
- 2. In the Manual Authorization dialog, select the **HISTORICAL AUTHORIZATION** tab.

| ASTORICAL AUTHORI | ZÁTION  | CORBENT AUTHOR    | CATION      |                    |        |        |
|-------------------|---------|-------------------|-------------|--------------------|--------|--------|
| BITATUS           | - autra | ORIZATION NO ODDE | DEDCHIFTIDH | BIDLEAN CE FROMDES | 112/22 | WEITER |

3. Optional: To view details of an authorization change in the list, select its edit 🖋 button.

#### See also:

Authorize an exam Unauthorize an exam

## Work with Ultra Acquire

If your facility uses Ultra Acquire, you can access its functionality from the worklist. Three buttons are available as described below.



## **Open Ultra Acquire**

To simply open Ultra Acquire, select LAUNCH ACQUIRE.

## Add images by using Ultra Acquire

You can add images to a study on the worklist by using Ultra Acquire.

- 1. On the worklist, select one incomplete study (a study in status: Scheduled, Confirmed, Arrived, Checked In, Tech Start, Tech End, Incomplete, or Unread).
- 2. Select **ADD IMAGE**.

**Result**: Ultra Acquire opens in Acquire mode.

3. In **Ultra Acquire**, acquire the images you want to add.

## Create a new study by using Ultra Acquire

You can create a new study by using Ultra Acquire as follows.

- 1. On the worklist, select **NEW STUDY**.
- 2. In the **Select facility** dialog, select your facility and select **SUBMIT**.

**Result**: The New Appointment screen appears.

| ¢ | New Appoints<br>Tom Tes<br>BEARCH |                    |            |             |                 |       |   |
|---|-----------------------------------|--------------------|------------|-------------|-----------------|-------|---|
|   | Patient Searc                     |                    | - 🖬 Sh     | ow Inactive | Brook the Glace |       |   |
|   | Loot Name                         | First Manie        | ] M        | 2N          | licen.          | Phone | D |
|   | PATIENT SEAR                      | CREATE & SCHEDIR E | CLEAR SEAR | сн          |                 |       |   |

- 3. In the **Starts With** dropdown list, select a search mode in the dropdown list (Starts With, Ends With, or Contains).
- 4. Type all or part of a patient demographic in one or more of the boxes.

Optional: If the **Break the Glass** checkbox appears, you can select it to search for confidential patient records.

5. In the list of search results, double-click the patient for whom you want to schedule an exam.



- 6. If the Recent Schedule dialog appears, select NEW SCHEDULE.
- 7. In the **APPT. INFO.** tab:
  - a. Select a modality and appointment type.

## Appointment Information

| Location *          | Nirmille Test Facility *         | Reading Physician | Bearch Read, Physician 💌 |
|---------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------|--------------------------|
| Modality *          | v 10                             | Body Part         | Select V                 |
| Appointment Type *  | Select Appointment Type +        | Orientation       | Select V                 |
| Available Date      | 05/06/2022 7.05 AM POT •         | Accession No.     |                          |
| Resource            |                                  | Study Notes       | Select Macro Note 💌      |
| Referring Physician | No Beterring Physician Sele. + Q |                   |                          |
| Stat Level          | Stat Off 💗                       | 62                |                          |
| Department          |                                  | Reason            |                          |
| lestitution         |                                  |                   |                          |
| Institution         |                                  |                   |                          |

- b. Enter any other information as needed.
- c. Select ADD STUDY.



- 8. Repeat to add more appointments as needed.
- 9. Select CREATE ORDER.

Result: The following dialog appears.



- 10. Optional: Select **Close** to save the order and return to the worklist.
- 11. Select Yes to open Ultra Acquire in Acquire mode.
- 12. Acquire images for the new study.

**Result**: Your new study appears on the worklist.

## Update the worklist or viewer

After performing tasks that modify studies it may be necessary to update the worklist or viewer to show changes.

• To update the worklist or viewer, select **F5**.

# About color highlighting on the worklist

When the globe <sup>(IIII</sup>) button for studies on the worklist is highlighted, this indicates the caching status as follows.



Caching completed



Caching in progress



Some images could not be cached

## About drawing attention to orders and studies

There are several methods to draw attention to orders and studies that are of special consideration. You can use different individual or combined methods to best meet your needs. The following gives a general description of the available options.

| STAT level        | The medical urgency. Setting a STAT level places the study at the top of the worklist.<br>You can edit STAT levels and descriptions, and add new ones. STAT levels drive<br>workflows.     |
|-------------------|--|
| ТАТ               | The turnaround time. Studies that are near or beyond the TAT are flagged in red and appear at the top of a radiologist's unread studies worklist.  |
| Priority          | By default you can set the priority to High, Medium, and Low, but you can edit these<br>and add more options. Priority is primarily used to sort the worklist (on the Priority<br>column). |
| Critical findings | Medical findings that you can customize. In Exa Trans, you can select critical findings in a list to send notification to the referring physician.   |
| Flag              | With flags you can mark a study with a customized description that can serve as a filter. You can only assign one flag per study.  |

#### See also:

Assign critical findings to an order or study

## Use local caching

## Prerequisite: Install local cache.

## Perform a server prefetch

You can manually initiate a server prefetch from the worklist, whereby the server decompresses a study and copies it to a "local" cache on the server. If large studies will be opened in the near future, you can perform a server prefetch of those studies for faster loading.

1. On a worklist study shortcut menu, select **Images** > **Server Prefetch**.

| • = 🖬 = • = = |                    | E My Campany                   |
|---------------|--------------------|--------------------------------|
| • QEP # 27    | Dik fitely         | <ol> <li>My Company</li> </ol> |
|               | Petent information | I Namilia Test Facility        |
|               | Change Stirtue     |                                |
| • SE= * 01    | E 2000             | Namilie Test Facility          |
| . 0.00 - 21   | + Actiona +        | 1 Manufia Test Rectifie        |
|               | 🗶 teope            | I de ver Prefet di             |
|               | 4 DOOV SHE         | G Reset Stack                  |

## Prefetch studies to your local cache

You can manually prefetch studies "on demand."

1. On a worklist study shortcut menu, select **Images** > **Add to My Local Cache**.

Result: The server queues the images for sending.

## Prefetch studies to other local caches

- 1. On the worklist, select the **ALL STUDIES** tab.
- 2. On a worklist study shortcut menu, select **Images** > **Send to Local Cache**.
- 3. In the **Local Cache** screen, in the list of available caches, select to the left of one or more destination caches.
- 4. Do one of the following.
  - To send to the selected caches, select LOCAL CACHE SELECTED.
  - To send to all caches, select LOCAL CACHE ALL.

## Auto-route studies to local cache

You can create a routing rule to send studies that satisfy criteria to your local cache. Complete the following procedures:

- <u>Configure an application entity</u> for your local cache.
- <u>Configure a routing rule</u> for type **LOCAL\_CACHE**, and select the AE title you created.

#### Use an on call worklist filter to locally cache studies

You can configure a worklist filter that sends matching studies to local cache.

- 1. <u>Create a user worklist filter</u>.
- 2. In <u>User Settings</u>, in the **Default Filter (Local Cache)** dropdown list, select the worklist filter.
- 3. Select **SAVE**.
- 4. On your computer, in a text editor, open the **localCache.cfg** file, located at the following path by default:

C:\Viztek\exa\cfg\localCache.cfg

5. Find the line for "oncall\_enabled" and set it as follows:

"oncall\_enabled": "true",

6. Save and close the file.

## PACS Actions menu

The PACS Actions menu on the worklist provides top-level access to common functions.

## Burn studies, series, or images to a CD or hard drive

You can burn studies to a CD or hard drive for sharing with other facilities, physicians, or patients. To burn images and series, see later in this topic.

Prerequisite: Install Opal tools and Install Exa Client Viewer.

## **Burn studies**

- 1. Place a CD in the drive.
- 2. In the worklist, select studies whose combined size does not exceed the capacity of the disc.
- 3. On the <u>PACS Actions</u> menu, select **CD Burn**.

| PID   | NAME              |       |                      |      |
|---|-------------------|-------|----------------------|------|
| AXIA-2263081  | Maynard-Malinda-P |       | 2023-4pr-27 15:38:33 |      |
| ¢   |                   | _     |                      | ,    |
| Pitons  Include Viewer Cache Images Anonymice DICOMS Fix Split BTO Create Annotations Remove Annotations Force SOP Class 1D F |                   | Path: | hir Fribec           | -+ ] |
|   | ep Progress: 0%   |       | Total Progress: 0%   |      |

4. In the **Exa Burner** dialog, enter the following settings as needed.

| Setting                          | Description   |  |
|----------------------------------|---|--|
| Include Viewer                   | Select to burn a viewer program onto the disc along with the items.<br>Required for viewing off site. |  |
| Cache Images                     | Select to keep items in the Viewer cache folder (and not remove them after burning).                  |  |
| Anonymize DICOMs                 | Select to remove identifying patient demographics.  |  |
| Fix Split BTO                    | Select to combine multi-frame mammograms into a single DICOM file.                                    |  |
| Create Annotations Overlay       | Select to convert annotations to an overlay and include them with the images.                         |  |
| Remove Annotations               | Select to omit annotations from the burned items.   |  |
| Force SOP Class ID for All Files | Select to set the Modality tag (0008, 0060) to the value in the DICOM file's SOP Class ID.            |  |
| Compression                      | Select a compression algorithm.   |  |
| Report                           | Select a report storing method.   |  |
| Write to Hard Drive              | Select whether to write to the hard disc or removable disc.   |  |
| Burn to Disc                     |   |  |
| Path                             | Select the ellipsis button and then browse for and select a destination drive and/or path.            |  |
| Eject When Finished              | Select to eject the disc after burning.   |  |
| Close Media                      | Select to finalize the media after burning so that it is no longer available for writing.             |  |

- 5. Select START.
- 6. Optional. After burning, test the results by opening an image from the CD using the included viewer.

## Burn images and series

Use this procedure to burn individual images and/or series.

1. In <u>User Settings</u>, clear the **Show Priors** checkbox.

| User Settings                    |  |
|----------------------------------|--|
| Show Row Number                  |  |
| Show Priora                      |  |
| Show QC                          |  |
| Design Construction Designed Tax |  |

2. On the worklist, find images or series to burn by expanding the study row nodes and image preview buttons.
| -   | C8      | ¥.,               | 84/01/1                              | 1200 AM 651     |
|-----|---------|-------------------|--------------------------------------|-----------------|
|     | 12 CR 7 | 1 3 302 300034 97 | 187 560 305 12 3208101 8 123945 F012 | CRimageS        |
| •   |         | a.)               | p1/01/1                              | 900 12:00 AM EB |
| •   |         | +                 | 01/05/1                              | 900 12:00 AM EB |
| • = | 1 - A   | 4                 | 01/01/1                              | 900 12:00 AM CO |

- 3. Select the checkboxes of the images and series.
- 4. On the <u>PACS Actions</u> menu, select **CD Burn**.

## **Compare studies**

You can open two studies of the same patient in separate viewer screens for purposes of comparison.

Prerequisite: Configure two or more monitors (see <u>Set up connected displays</u>).

### Procedure

1. In <u>Viewer Settings</u>, clear the **Single Instance Mode** checkbox.

| Viewer Settings |   |  |  |  |  |  |
|-----------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| OCHERAL.        | Other Toolbar                                 |  |  |  |  |  |
|                 | Ask on Close                                  |  |  |  |  |  |
| INTERFACE       | 🔲 Single Instanco Mode                        |  |  |  |  |  |
| MODALITY        | Sup Framee in Gine to Meintain Playbook Speed |  |  |  |  |  |

2. In the worklist, select two DICOM studies of the same patient to compare.

| + 9 U 9        | * C * 3 H C *               | □ <b>*</b> ♥ 1  | Nimilia Test Facility  |
|----------------|-----------------------------|-----------------|------------------------|
| • 5 <b>5</b> 5 | * 2 4 H H B S               | 11 <b>*</b> 0 1 | Namilia Test Facility  |
| • a 🖸 e        | • # * 12 H B <b>\$</b>      | n • 0 1         | Normalia Test Pacility |
| + 0 0 7        | <ul> <li>ジャヨ 単の。</li> </ul> | ≓ •0 i          | Nimila Test Fasilty    |
|                | * 2** X III - %             | e +0 !          | Namilia Test Facility  |

3. On the PACS Actions menu, select Compare Study.

**Result**: The two studies open in the Exa PACS/RIS viewer.

## Merge or split studies

In Symmetry PACS, *merge* and *split* refer to a category of operations in which you move series and images from one study to another. Additionally, *split* refers to moving images from a study with an incorrect accession number to the correct order. There are many ways to perform merge/split operations, but the following procedures are useful examples. Moving all series and images out of a study deletes the study. As an alternative to merging studies, see <u>Use alternate account numbers</u>.

### Move or copy a series from one study to another study

1. In the worklist, select two different studies that contain series.



- 2. On the PACS Actions menu, select Merge/Split.
- 3. Select the button to choose Move Selected or Copy Selected mode.



- 4. in the **Merge/Split From** column, select the plus sign of the *first* study (the one on top) to reveal its series.
- 5. Drag the series onto the *second* study (the one on the lower-right) in the **Merge/Split To** column.



**Note**: As you drag over the second study, it turns green to indicate when you can release the mouse button.

#### 6. Select **SAVE CHANGES**.

Move or copy all images in one series to a series in another study

- 1. In the Merge/Split To column, select the plus sign of a study to reveal its series.
- 2. Drag a series in the left column onto a series in the right column.
- 3. Select **SAVE CHANGES**.

#### Other moves or copies

In the same manner, you can expand nodes and move or copy any study, series, or image to another study or series.

#### Split images into their correct order

1. In the Merge/Split Study screen, select SELECT ORDER.

| Merge/Split Study                                |                               |
|--|-------------------------------|
| Move Selected                                    | SELECT ORDER                  |
| Merge/Split From                                 | Merge/Split To                |
| Name: Test. Tom(Acc#: TesT102 Accession No., 117 | Name Test, Tom(Accit: TesT102 |

2. Find the correct RIS order, and then select its **SELECT** button.

| Merge | Merge/Split Study   |                  |            |   |           |  |  |
|-------|---------------------|------------------|------------|---|-----------|--|--|
| RIS O | rders<br>Study date | PATIENT NAME     | DOB        | STUDY DESCRIPT: ADDESSION NO                | ACCOUNT N |  |  |
|       |                     |                  | 111111     |   |           |  |  |
| SELEC | 03/17/2023 4:0      |                  | 01/01/2000 | CT ABD & PELVIS V1371                       | TeeV1001  |  |  |
| SELEC | 2103/17/2023 5:1    | C P Test, Andrew | 01/01/2000 | DOF VELOCIMETH 1370<br>BONE AGE STUDIE 1369 | Tes A83   |  |  |

3. Drag the images to the correct order, and then select SAVE CHANGES.

### Add a new series to a study

1. In the **Merge/Split To** column, select the new series 🗁 button.

**Note**: The new series is added to the bottom of the list.

- 2. On the new series row, select the edit  $\square$  button.
- In the Edit Study Info. dialog, type a description and then select the EDIT button.
   Note: You can move series or images into the new series.
- 4. Select **SAVE CHANGES**.

#### Clone a study

1. In the **Merge/Split From** column, select the Clone Study 🗖 button.

Note: You can move series or images into or out of the new study.

2. Select SAVE CHANGES.

#### See also:

Add studies to the merge queue About the PID, MRN, and account numbers

## Import DICOM images

You can import DICOM images to a study.

Prerequisite: Install Opal tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. In the worklist, select a study into which to import images.
- 2. On the <u>PACS Actions</u> menu, select **Import Images**.
- 3. In the pop-up window, select **Open Opal Import**.
- 4. In **OpalImport**, select **Select Files/Folder or DICOMDIR to Import**.

| Talifament  |  | a Otes                                  |                    |
|---|--|---|--------------------|
| 2.4.5.128 8.671.3   | A 1 2011 19 2019   | Livels /7 📃 Billiophi                   | <u>∃</u> ♦ 🖻 🗗 🖬 🖞 |
| EductPiles/Polder or 00004000, to Import  | Inter  | Dad acres                               |                    |
| Do hat, Campana, @ Oversen te     Gool DB Driv     Sone Serie e Structe     Jaciese Pale     Man Fale     Man Fale     Sone Pale     Sone | Enable Data Edit Scray                                   | Dicements<br>Blown<br>The PE<br>Werwark |                    |
| Ticl Synapor Pleas<br>I Ties Faillers 3   | Open Tile List    Sera file List  <br>Rected für Sistorn | ten nanc.                               | - Select           |

- 5. In the **Open** dialog, browse for and select files to import, and then select **Open**.
- 6. In **OpalImport**, configure the settings in the following table.

**Note**: This is a partial list. Other settings are self-explanatory or generally unused.

| Setting   | Description   |
|---|---|
| Do Not Compress                                     | Select to store in DICOM Little Endian format.<br>Clear to compress in DICOM JPEG200 Lossless format.               |
| Overwrite   | Select to replace any existing instances of the studies.  |
| Opal DB Only  | Select to import DICOM data only (no images).   |
| Save before Encode                                  | For troubleshooting purposes: Select to place the images in a folder<br>on the server, and not update the database. |
| Isolate Fails                                       | Select to place files that could not be imported into a separate folder.  |
| Modify Demographics                                 | Select to reconcile demographics before import.   |
| Max Files Type a maximum number of files to import. |   |
| Max Size  | Type a maximum data size to import.   |

- 7. Select Import.
- 8. Optional. If you selected the Modify Demographics checkbox, the Modify/Confirm Demographics dialog appears. Do one of the following.
  - Under **New Info**, edit the demographics and then select **MODIFY**.
  - Under New Info, confirm that the demographics are correct, and then select USE CURRENT.
- 9. Select Exit.

# Purge all deleted

See <u>Undelete or purge a deleted study</u>.

# Export the worklist

You can export the worklist to a CSV file.

#### Procedure

1. On the PACS Actions menu, select Export Worklist.



- 2. In the **Export Worklist** dialog:
  - Optional: In the **Filename** box, edit the default file name.
  - Modify the name of the exported file by selecting or clearing the **Include Timestamp** and **Include Filter Name** checkboxes.

## Worklist shortcut menus

Symmetry PACS and Symmetry PACS have a study shortcut menu (for studies in the Unread and later statuses). Additionally, Symmetry PACS has an order shortcut menu (for PRE ORDERS and studies in the Ordered status). The tasks you can perform by using each shortcut menu are described in the topics in this section. Note that the commands available on the shortcut menus vary depending on the order or study status and other factors.



Any errors in patient and study information resulting from incorrectly performing the procedures in this section can result in problems with data integrity. Take care to ensure that entered and imported data is correct.

# Open a shortcut menu

You can open a worklist shortcut menu by right-clicking a study or order row. The shortcut menu's options differ depending on the status of the study or order.

## View or attach documents to an order or study

You can view attached documents, or scan documents to an order or study.

#### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click an order or study > **Attach Files**.



2. In the **Patient Document** dialog:

| Test, Grad (Acce)                            | TeeB1112)                               | 01/01/2000 M                   | 237            |                |                |   |
|--|---|--------------------------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|---|
| annen an | 100000000000000000000000000000000000000 | Documents<br>(Ins 41 (Instants |                |                |                | or in the last participant.                   |
|  |   | ECONARD FYIN                   | 110-100 \$1.00 | -1963, \$11497 | CHARACTER 1    | anaron mesta der                              |
| And      | 1.1                                     | Etter .                        |                | 1000,700       | #0160801134### | 41<br>104 - 104 - 104 - 105 - 106 - 107 - 108 |
| Thissurger                                   |   |                                |                |                |                |   |

- To view a document, double-click it in the list.
- To attach a document, follow the steps in the following topics.

#### See also:

Scan to a patient Scan to an order or study Require document review

# Require document review

When creating a scan document (or "document") type, you can require that users review the document before moving forward in the study workflow. For example, you can require technologists to review physician orders prior to performing an exam to ensure order accuracy.

### Procedure

- 1. In , add a Scan Document Type and select the Requires Review checkbox.
- 2. Add a study status, select the **Document Review** checkbox, and then select the document types to review.

## Modify or reset the order authorization days

This command lets you quickly change the number of days specified in the authorization rule associated with an exam. You can reset the days to the number of days set in the rule, or modify the days to an arbitrary number.

#### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click an order > Actions > Reset Authorization Days, or Modify Authorization Days.



2. In the **Days Count** dropdown list, select a new number of days.

| ation |   |
|-------|---|
| •     | 4 |
| 0     |   |
|       | 6 |

3. Select **SAVE**.

### See also:

Add authorization rules

## Assign a study to users

You can assign one study to one or more users (such as a radiologist). When the user signs in, they can create a filter of the worklist that displays all studies assigned to them. This feature also works in conjunction with the "Show assigned studies only" option under Setup > User Management > [user profile] > WORKLIST FILTER.

### Procedure

- 1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click an approved study > Exam > Assign Study.
- 2. In the **Study Assignment** dialog, in the **Assign to User** dropdown list, select a user from the list and then select the add + button.

Note: You can repeat this step to assign additional users.

- 3. Optional. In the **Assign to Radiologist** dropdown list, select a radiologist as the referring provider.
- 4. Select **SAVE.**

## Add studies to the merge queue

You can add studies to a merge queue from the worklist, and then merge or split them by following the procedures in <u>Merge or split studies</u>.

#### Procedure

- 1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click a study > Exam.
- 2. Optional. To start merging or splitting with one study at a time, on a study shortcut menu, select **Merge/Split.**

| Change Status  |      | Approved 03/21/20  | 23 9 00 AM PDT                         |
|----------------|------|--|--|
| 🛤 Exam         |      | 🛃 Assign Study   | 2 AM PDT                               |
| 9 Actiona      | 1    | Lock Study   | 2 PM PDT                               |
| Siat           | - 51 | 🛱 Merge/Split  |  |
| Priority       |      | 😑 Merge Quece  | <ul> <li>Add to Merge Queue</li> </ul> |
|                | -    | C Reset Study  | K View Merge Queue                     |
| 🕹 Atlach Files |      | Delete Study   | Clear Merge Queue                      |
| DICOM Upload   | 1.00 | and the second s |  |

- 3. On the Merge Queue sub-menu, select Add to Merge Queue.
- 4. Repeat the previous step for all studies that you want to work with.
- 5. Right-click one of the studies that you added to the merge queue, hover over **Exam**, hover over **Merge Queue**, and then select **View Merge Queue**.
- 6. <u>Merge or split studies</u>.

## Create a teaching study

You can create a teaching study based on an existing DICOM study. The teaching study is anonymized.

#### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click a DICOM study > Images > Create Teaching Study.



2. In the **Teaching Study** dialog, in the **AE Title** dropdown list, select an **AE title**.

| Elitela                     |                         |                          |        |
|-----------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|--------|
| EXA, VS2 V32 ( 10.227.26.76 | 12234.)                 |                          |        |
|                             |                         | OREATE YEACHING STUDY    | DANGEL |
| Fidd                        | Current Value           | New Volue                |        |
| Areassion No.               | 105                     | r0v8MvcH5hQxd100         |        |
| Palient ©                   |                         | 84aZK1DatibJTKTpic       |        |
| Palient Name                | Test. Busin             | Teaching_XA_105          |        |
| Study Description           | ANORPH BRACH RTROR R581 | ANGEP H BRACH REDGR RESI |        |
| Patient Genetic             | *                       | Other.                   |        |
| Referring Phys. Name        |                         | (No Voltar)              |        |
| Institution Name            |                         | [No station]             |        |

- 3. In the **New Value** column, type or select anonymous values for the new study.
- 4. Select **CREATE TEACHING STUDY**.

## Reset a study

If the status of a study is beyond "Scheduled" in the study flow, you can reset the status to "Scheduled"

#### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click a study > Reset Study.



2. In the confirmation dialog, select **YES**.

# Delete a study

When you delete a study it remains on the worklist but Symmetry PACS applies strikethrough text formatting to it and disables access. You can undelete or purge a deleted study.

### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click a study > Exam > Delete Study.



2. In the confirmation dialog, select YES.

| Delete Reason          |         |   |
|------------------------|---------|---|
| Gancel/Delete Reason * | Illness | ¥ |
|                        | SAVE    |   |

- 3. In the Delete Reason dialog, select a reason
- 4. Select SAVE.

# Download approved reports

If an approved report is attached to a study, you can download the approved reports directly from the worklist.

#### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click an approved study > Send Report > Download.

| Edit Study           |      | Approved                      | 01/19/2023                | 1015 AM PST    | Test, Referring & |
|----------------------|------|-------------------------------|---------------------------|----------------|-------------------|
| A Patient informatio | n)   | Dictated                      | 01/19/2023                | 8:30 AM PST    |                   |
| 💼 Change Status      |      | Check-In                      | 01/19/2023                | 8:15 AM PST    |                   |
| 🏷 Exam               | - 8  | Scheduled                     | 01/19/2023                | 8.00 AM PST    |                   |
| + Actions            |      | and the second second         |                           | 8:30 PM PST    | Test, Referring d |
| 🖼 Images             | - ik | Scheduled                     | 01/18/2023                | 8.30 PM PS1    | rest, werening (  |
| d DICOM Send         |      | praft - Add                   | e <mark>01/18/2023</mark> | 4:30 PM PST    |                   |
| Bend Report          |      | Fax: Test                     | Referring                 | 16 PM PST      |                   |
| O Stat               | 1    | <ul> <li>Fax/Email</li> </ul> | 1 C                       | 00 PM PST      |                   |
| Priority             |      | O Send Rep                    | ort via Opal              | and the test   |                   |
|                      |      | & Download                    | 11 A C 11                 | POF            |                   |
| 🚣 Attach Files       |      | Unroug                        | 01/18/2023                | 2 <b>1</b> TXT |                   |
| DICOM Upload         | ж.   | Approved                      | 01/16/2023                | 7. 🕑 ZIP       |                   |

2. Select the format of the report.

**Result**: Symmetry PACS downloads the report to your Windows Downloads folder.

# Undelete or purge a deleted study

*Undeleting* a study removes the strikethrough text formatting and restores availability. *Purging* a study permanently removes it from the worklist and the database.

### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click a **deleted** study.

|        | #   |     | 1 | Minilla Tent Suites |                                  |
|--------|-----|-----|---|---------------------|----------------------------------|
|        | it. | • 0 | 1 | 0ob&aTest           | store Study<br>rgs (Pesmanently) |
| $\sim$ | 8   | * 0 | 1 | Gobina Tool, army   |                                  |

- To undelete, select **Restore Study**.
- To purge a deleted study, on the study shortcut menu, select **Purge (Permanently)**, and then select **OK**.
- 2. To purge all deleted studies at once, on the <u>PACS Actions</u> menu, select **Purge All Deleted**.

# Copy the API URL

If you need the API URL, you can copy it from the worklist.

#### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click a study > **Actions** > **Copy API URL**.



Result: A pop-up window appears with the API URL.

2. Press Ctrl + C to copy, and then select OK.

## Reset a stack

To *reset* a stack means to restore its images to their last-saved ordering. It can also be helpful to reset the stack if any problems occur when displaying it in the viewer.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the worklist, select the **ALL STUDIES** tab.
- 2. On the shortcut menu of a study that contains images, hover over **Images** and then select **Reset Stack**.



3. In the confirmation dialog, select **YES**.

# Lock and unlock a study

You can lock a study to warn other users attempting to open it, and to prevent other users from using transcription. You can unlock a study that someone previously locked.

#### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click a study > Exam > Lock Study.



2. To unlock a locked study, on the study shortcut menu, hover over **Exam** > **Unlock Study**.

## Edit or view a patient, study, or order

To edit a patient, study, or order you can access the Edit Study screen from the worklist by selecting the Edit Study, Edit Order, or Patient Information commands on the shortcut menu.



#### See also:

Edit study screen

# Change the study status

You can assign or change the status (such as Approved or Transcribed) of a study in the worklist.

#### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click a study > Change Status, and then select a status.



# DICOM-send studies, series, or images

You can DICOM-send studies, series, or images to PACS or another destination. You can include any approved reports in the study, but note that the report status (such as Approved or Transcribed) is not sent. To send an approved report with its status, send as XML via Opal.

**Prerequisite**: Configure send destinations (see <u>Configure application entities</u>).

### Send studies

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click a **DICOM** study > **DICOM Send**.



2. In the **Send Study** dialog, to filter the list of available AEs, type at least one character in the filter box and then select **Enter**.

| Send Stud     | ly                  |                   |           |         |                      |            | 0                       |
|---------------|---------------------|-------------------|-----------|---------|----------------------|------------|-------------------------|
| ACCESSION NO. | ETVO VOUTE          | MODALE BRUDY BEDE | RIPTION   | ADDODUN | THO, FATIENT         | DOD        | REFERENCE PHYSICIAN     |
| 02XH108ZAK05  | 01/06/3025 708      |                   | THÈH WICT |         | BI knJ               | 03/03/2020 | Bassell, benns Raedolph |
| Darbear       | ptian Q             | Priority          | u         | 2       | 🗌 Facilizatio Approx | and Report | BEND TO SECECTED        |
| V EXAM        | 32 VOI (EXA V32 V   | 12)               |           |         |                      |            |                         |
|               | 32.33 (OPAL 32.3    | 30                |           |         |                      |            |                         |
| OPALS         | State (Colling Card | -,                |           |         |                      |            |                         |

- 3. In the **Priority** dropdown list, select a priority.
- 4. Do one of the following.
  - Select destinations in the list, and then select SEND TO SELECTED.
     Optional: To send any attached approved reports, select the Include Approved Report checkbox.
- 5. Optional. To manage in-process send jobs, see Manage jobs in the transfer and SR queues.

### Send series or images

- 1. In **User Settings**, clear the **Show Priors** checkbox.
- 2. On the worklist, find images or series to send by expanding the study row nodes and image preview buttons.

| 1   |         |                   |   |                  |
|-----|---------|-------------------|---|------------------|
| - 4 | CR      | ₹/,               |   | 100 1200 AM 887  |
| -   | a ce n  | 1.3.312.300036.91 | 107 500 205 12 2208 101 8 12 3945 7 012 | CR image St      |
| •*0 | W // -  | 3)                | p1/01/7                                 | 900 12:00 AM EE  |
| •   |         | +                 | 01/05/1                                 | 900 12:00 AM EBT |
| • 4 | 194 a A | 4                 |   | 900 12:00 AM COT |

- 3. Select the checkboxes of the images or series to send.
- 4. Right-click and select **DICOM Send**.
- 5. In the **Send Study** dialog, in the **Priority** dropdown list, select a priority.
- 6. Select the send destinations in the list, and then select **SEND TO SELECTED**.
- 7. Optional: To send any attached approved reports, select the **Include Approved Report** checkbox.
- 8. Optional. To manage in-process send jobs, see <u>Manage jobs in the transfer and SR queues</u>.

## Send an approved report via Opal

You can send approved reports of DICOM studies to another Opal/Exa system.

#### Prerequisites:

- Configure the referring physician on the sending server (your Symmetry PACS server) and receiving server. You may need to contact the receiving facility to confirm.
- Install OPAL tools.

#### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click an **approved** study > **Send Report** > **Send Report via Opal**.



3. In the **Send Report via Opal** dialog, to filter the list of available AEs, type at least one character in the filter box and then select **Enter**.

| CCESSION NO.  | WILLEY DATE      | MOONLS      | STRUCK DESIGN PTI | 0N     | ACCOUNTING | PAT ENT   | 000        | REFERENCE PRYSICIAN |
|---------------|------------------|-------------|-------------------|--------|------------|-----------|------------|---------------------|
| 20            | 61 (1 %/2023 3 Å | o Fus       | DOP ECHO FTL SP   | ECTRAL | (TeaT1004  | Text Text | 01/01/2008 | Test Pelering       |
|               |                  |             |                   |        |            |           |            |                     |
| Filter Dynamy | ption G          | Pho         | ety.              | 0      | w.         |           |            | SENO TO SELECTED    |
|               | nture C          | COLUMN TO A | rity.             | ¢      | *          |           |            | SEND TO SELECTED    |
| V EXAVS       | NUMBER OF STREET | 432)        | τη.               | ¢      | *          |           |            | SEND TO SELECTED    |

- 4. In the **Priority** dropdown list, select a priority.
- 5. Select send destinations in the list.
- 6. Select **SEND TO SELECTED**, or **SEND TO ALL**.

# Send an approved report via fax or email

You can send approved reports of DICOM studies via fax or email.

#### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click an approved study > Send Report.



To fax to the default recipient (1), select it.

**Result**: The report is sent to the fax queue.

- 2. To send to selected recipients (2), select Fax/Email.
- 3. In the **Send Report** dialog, select recipients and then select the **SEND FAX** and/or **SEND EMAIL** button.

| Send Fax   |                      |                    | Report Queue                                 |
|------------|----------------------|--------------------|--|
| Send To =  | Gidering Physician 💌 | Ordering Physician | Test, Referring ((745)454-5454)              |
| Send Email |                      |                    |  |
| Sand To 1  | Ordering Physician 😽 | Ordering Physician | Test, Referring (nemilia regilikonicamendita |

4. Optional. Repeat the previous step to send to additional recipients.

# View and export audit log entries

You can view audit log entries, and export them to an XLS file.

### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click an order or study > **Log**.



2. In the **Activity Log** screen, select a date range for the log entries to view, and then select **RELOAD**.

| THE WALLER PARTY   |                            |                    | State of                          | CALIFORNIA CONTRACTOR - TRUCK                  |
|--|----------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------------------|--|
|  | here: BURLOOD TRACAL AND   | 4 (11)             | THE REPORTED AND INVESTIGATION OF |  |
|  | 1000000004                 | 1999               |                                   |  |
|  | () 🛢 al-Arasis Iradity 127 | State States       | and the                           | land man, in the large "Drug annuald           |
| er th  | 0 E 100000 10100 107       | Patrice Marin      | Service-                          |  |
| nete come provincian   | a Stougenament             |                    | ROOM ROOM                         | taatte athetant                                |
| A PROPERTY OF  | 0. B (1/4/201115/4910)     | (01111-044)        | emitti (                          | investments into                               |
| A DESCRIPTION OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER OF THE OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER O | D B REALED INSIDAUT        | Name of Street and | emilei i                          | wig ten fallering fromis flast fallering which |
|  |                            |                    |                                   |  |

- 3. If any entries match the date range, they appear in the list.
- 4. Optional. To export an entry from the list, select it and then select **EXPORT TO EXCEL**.
- 5. To view information in a log, double-click the log entry in the list.

#### See also:

View activity logs

# About linking patients

Two ways to handle duplicate patient records are linking and merging.

*Linking patients* means to merge patients to the master patient record by using alternate account numbers. You can link patients from the worklist "on the fly" by following the procedure in <u>Link patients</u>, or from the patient chart by following the procedures in <u>Use alternate account numbers</u>.

<u>Merging patient charts</u> is generally used to move studies, series, and images between patients.

**Note:** Linking patients is different from <u>Linked Reporting</u>.

#### See also:

<u>Use alternate account numbers</u> <u>Merge or split studies</u>

# Link patients

If a patient has multiple records, each with different account numbers (or MRNs or PIDs), you can link them from the worklist.



Linking an external patient record to an internal one results in deleting the external record.

Prerequisite: Configure alternate account number functionality.

#### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click an order or study > **Link Patient**.



2. In the **Alt Account No** search box, enter the exact account number to link to the current account number, and then select **Enter**.

| Main Account No | Tex51034 |                |        |              |
|-----------------|----------|----------------|--------|--------------|
| Alt Account No  | 753      | 9              |        |              |
| lequer          | Salact 🛩 |                |        |              |
|                 | ADO      |                |        |              |
| Main Account N  | No       | Alt Account No | besuer | Merge Status |

3. In the **Issuer** dropdown list, select the issuer of the PID, and then select **ADD**.

**Note**: If the account number was found (it already exists in Symmetry PACS), a message appears. Type a different number or select a different issuer.

4. Select **SAVE**.

#### See also:

About linking patients

### About attaching documents to patients, orders, and studies

The following is a list of topics in this manual that describe how to attach information to patients, orders, and studies.

- **<u>Upload a DICOM file to a study</u>** Attach existing DICOM files to a study.
- Scan to a patient Scan paper or forms to a DICOM file and attach to the Documents section of the patient chart.
- <u>Scan to an order or study</u> Scan paper or forms to a DICOM file and attach to all studies in an order or a selected study.

## Upload a DICOM file to a study

You can upload DICOM-compatible files and add them to a study.

#### Procedure

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click a DICOM study > **DICOM Upload** > **Upload File**.



2. In the **DICOM Upload** dialog, do the following.

|                                    |                                      |          |   |     | 20 |
|------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|----------|---|-----|----|
| Series Description                 | Gore                                 |          |   | ×   |    |
| #EN                                | e                                    | ÷ 8.     | 2. bediege  |     |    |
| Marman Server 204/0<br>CODOC + CON | Ogenis + Nextoke                     | Dictory. |   | 0.0 |    |
|                                    | E felors<br>Stars<br>Guida<br>Magana | - 4      | the second se |     |    |

- a. Select a series description.
- b. Select **SELECT FILES**, browse for and select a file to upload, and then select **Open**.
- c. Select **UPLOAD**.

# Open the call log

You can use the call log to save a record of communication to and from a patient regarding an appointment or order.

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click a study or order > Call Log.



2. The Notes tab of the patient chart opens. See Update the patient call log.

## Scan to an order or study

You can scan an image to a DICOM file and attach the file to one or all studies in an order.

1. <u>Worklist</u> > right-click a study or order.



- 2. Do one of the following:
  - To scan to the study, select **Scan to Study**.
  - To scan to all studies in the order, select **Scan to Order**.

## Edit Study screen

In the Edit Study screen you can view and edit most information about an order or study.

## Open the Edit Study screen

To open the Edit Study screen, follow the procedure below.



**Caution:** When working in the Edit Study screen, ensure that you enter all information correctly and with correct spelling. Incorrect information can result in failure to find patient records in future operations.

#### Procedure

• On the Worklist ALL STUDIES tab, double-click study row or select Edit Study 2.

| + = _ | 0 | * 🗉 | <b>III</b> 🗇 | ъ | 17 | ★ ④ | : | Approved | 03/01/2023 2:45 PM PST |
|-------|---|-----|--------------|---|----|-----|---|----------|------------------------|
|       |   |     |              |   |    |     |   |          |                        |

...OR

On the Worklist PRE ORDERS tab, double-click an order row or select Edit Order



**Result:** The Edit Study screen opens to the EXAM INFORMATION screen, with the most recent study sub-tab selected.

| REVALUT  | i i             |  |                           | 676071                   |
|--|-----------------|--|---------------------------|--------------------------|
| EXAMPLE PROFESSION   | Critten         | TTS CTA  |                           |                          |
| MINIST BE DINATED  | 1.00000         |  |                           |                          |
| SHARES WARDING   |                 |  |                           |                          |
| MODEL MANAGERY AND TANK  | Dider Ho        | WE TREETER   | Repetitiv                 |                          |
| HOULAND CONDILL  | Assessments.    | 774  |                           |                          |
| and a work of the second s   | 11.000          |  |                           |                          |
| APPROVED REFERENCE   | Teachy U-D      | COULER AND A DESCRIPTION OF THE PARTY OF THE | Olasiy Netro              | Column Harts             |
| P BLORDER PTION  | Data            | 32/38/2023 545/94/2017 ·   |                           |                          |
| a sangé kananan  | Multy Status    | Dis Approval   |                           |                          |
| dirit i  | they out the    | (response)   |                           |                          |
| ADDRESS AND ADDRESS ADDRESS  | Body Pw1        | Selmi +  | Disgenis Codes            | Soluti Hog/exte (Ad      |
| ANTIGER AN ADDITION  | Disrusion       | delett w   |                           |                          |
|  |                 |  |                           |                          |
| PERSONAL PROPERTY AND INCOME.  | Reportment Type | Johnsteit Nicklahl Holds   | 1                         |                          |
| RUNE 1   | Date            | 91377  | <b>Fefering Physician</b> | Harfedoren Trenter       |
| Children I Garanti   |                 |  | Sulping Physican          | Holidebarrowe            |
| and the second | 9.000           |  |                           | COLUMN TO A DAY OF STATE |
| naure ar   | AUC Abde        |  | Periodina Physician       | Solid Weld, Physicsen    |
| errentits.   | Mainley Drive   | 14142  | Adartey                   | Solari Manage 4          |

#### See also:

Screens in the Edit Study screen

## View patient alerts

You can quickly check whether the patient of a study has any alerts that might affect billing, scheduling, exam preparation, or other factors.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u>, and then select the alert  $\square$  button.



**Result**: The Patient Alerts dialog box appears.

| Contraction in the                |
|-----------------------------------|
| <ul> <li>9.4/2006 1218</li> </ul> |
| +OT Contract Advisor              |
| • Fall Alatt                      |
| otee                              |

2. Optional: Enter notes and click SAVE.

## View a summary of an order

You can view a summary of an order and its studies.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u>, and then click **SUMMARY**.

| SWEAR   | 1.<br>17                     |  |                             | 10.10 |
|---|------------------------------|--|-----------------------------|-------|
| COM REDIMINTOIN   | Order Information            |  |                             |       |
| NUT ON THE CREATE ON<br>LINE OF CREATE ON THE CREATE OF CREATE ON THE CREATE OF | Expected Animal 03/4<br>Time | 01/3333 1:49 PK PST                      | Order Status:<br>IED Goder: | Check |
| PORTALI PROVID  |                              | 06/2323 1:35 AM PST                      | insures Perfis              |       |
|   | Stoffex - Vala Saar (        | hap tornation                            |                             |       |
| 4.713   | L.<br>Assessment No.         | 760                                      | BPT Codes                   | 76    |
| NOTIONAL PROPERTIES.  | Stady Dewrystan              | 30 RVER 168 CT MRIVANOTHINDO<br>HOSTIPOX | Body Part:                  |       |

**Result**: The order summary appears in the right pane.

# Edit order information

An order defines information for one or more studies. You can edit properties of an order.

#### Procedure

 Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > **EXAM INFORMATION**, and then select the **ORDER** subtab.

| NAMES -              | 1                 |   | BELIOVECT       | ANGOULDING PERMIT WOONT                  |
|----------------------|-------------------|---|-----------------|--|
| AM INFORMATION       | CODED             | 1718  |                 |  |
| TICHT HATCOMMENNE    |                   | 1 (100)   |                 |  |
| ABORNEARNERITE.      |                   |   |                 |  |
| NUMBER OF STREET     | Fatfity           | Pephatolae -  | Schellus Notes  | Dalact Maxee Nets                        |
| INVICTORIE           | Minishiy          | 0.00  |                 | Tree Bilingule Notes Notes               |
| LINENTE -            |                   | L1 er   |                 |  |
| noyca nervinte       |                   | <b>a</b> et   |                 |  |
| NECESTICS            | 12000004-200      | Cher .  | anticooni       |  |
| ET IN A STOLE        | Rogsporing Date   | AAAA 2000 D. THE  | Moltile Sprece  |  |
|                      | Execute-          | Angelorpetulle  |                 |  |
| ETHONAL PERSONNATION | Ordering Facility | Attin Ordering Facility (Anthumder  | Tavinnologezt   | Second according 18                      |
| HHITALERTS           | 1. S. C. Stranger | (Q)   | Diochiertze     | C. C |
| eau.                 | Patent Location   | Salor -   | Instructions    |  |
| 0.011                | 1990/1992/10/17   | A CONTRACT OF A | 1 10 IE III I   |  |
| 10.0                 | Passet Avent No.  |   | Physician Order | Selice +                                 |
| TEH FORMS            | Paters Cuellion   | Select 👻  | Status          | 1191112-1911-19                          |
| TT + CHALL           | Doaroe            | field y   |                 | 15                                       |
| LOW LE               | 100000            |   |                 |  |
| TWAN:                | Place of Service  | Select 🛥  |                 |  |
| STREE MALTERIAL      | topeneous         | Intert Departure Clystene 9   |                 |  |
| ITTOE                | Physician         |   |                 |  |

**Result**: The Edit Order screen appears.

2. Near the top of the screen, select the **ORDER** sub-tab and make changes to the following settings.

| Setting           | Description  |
|-------------------|--|
| Facility          | The facilities performing the studies (to change, reschedule).   |
| Modality          | The modalities used for the studies (to change, reschedule).   |
| Resource          | The resources used for the studies (to change, reschedule).  |
| Ordering Facility | Available with Mobile RAD only. Select the ordering facility or location of the studies. If the patient resides at the ordering facility location, select Set as Home Address. |
| Patient Location  | Select the current location of the patient.  |
| Patient Room No.  | Type the room number of the patient location.  |
| Patient Condition | Select a patient condition to consider for studies (such as "wheelchair").   |
| Source            | Select the source of the patient (such as referral or previous medical facility).  |
| Place of Service  | Select the place of service for billing purposes (Box24B).   |

| Setting                               | Description   |
|---------------------------------------|---|
| Supervising Physician                 | Select the supervising physician (Medicare requires a supervising physician to be present in the department or location during the exam). |
| Functional Status                     | Select the patient's functional status.   |
| Cognitive Status                      | Select the patient's cognitive status.  |
| Transition of Care in                 | [Unused]  |
| Patient Visit No.                     | The enterprise-specific serial number for the study.  |
| SDE Study                             | Select the checkbox if the order contains an echo ultrasound-related study.   |
| Schedule Notes                        | Type or select schedule notes (such as messages from the front desk).   |
| Justification of Mobile Service       | Type the justification of mobile service for reference by the physician.  |
| Technologist                          | Select the technologist performing the studies.   |
| Discharge Instructions                | Type any discharge instructions.  |
| Physician Order Status                | Status from the Referring Provider portal.  |
| PRINT ORDER                           | To print a summary of the order information, select one or more of the following options, and then select PRINT ORDER.                    |
| Include Disclaimer/ Signature<br>Area | Includes a pre-configured disclaimer on the printed order to be signed by the patient.  |
| Include Notes                         | Includes schedule and study notes on the printed order.   |
| Include Barcode Page                  | Prints a barcode on the order.  |

- 3. If DICOM settings are not available to edit, at the bottom of the screen, select **DICOM STUDY**, and then make changes to DICOM settings as needed.
- 4. To edit or add CPT codes, at the bottom of the screen, select the edit 🖉 or add 🛨 button, enter changes, and then select **SAVE.**
- 5. Select SAVE.

# Edit study information

You can edit properties of an ordered study, including DICOM settings and CPT codes.

### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > **EXAM INFORMATION**, and then select a study sub-tab.
- 2. Make changes to the following settings.

| Setting   | Description  |
|-----------|--|
| Order No. | The order number to which the study belongs (to change, reschedule). |

| Setting             | Description  |
|---------------------|--|
| Accession No.       | The accession number of the study (users with rights can edit here).                                     |
| Study UID           | The study UID as determined by the selected appointment type.  |
| Date                | The date of the study (to change, reschedule).   |
| Study Status        | The current status of the study in the Symmetry PACS study flow.   |
| Body Part           | Select the relevant body part for the study (for example, hand).   |
| Orientation         | Select which side of the body (for example, right).  |
| Appointment Type    | Select the study's appointment type (the type of exam for scheduling purposes).                          |
| Code                | The internal procedure code of the study (associated with the appointment type).                         |
| Modality Room       | The modality room where the study is performed (to change, reschedule).                                  |
| Reason              | Type the patient-specific reason for performing the study.   |
| Study Notes         | Type or select study notes (such as basic study history or notes from technologist to radiologist).      |
| Diagnosis Codes     | Select diagnosis (e.g. ICD10) codes for the study.   |
| Referring Physician | Select the physician who referred the patient for the study.   |
| Ordering Physician  | Select the physician who ordered the study.  |
|                     | If left blank, Symmetry PACS automatically enters the referring physician.                               |
| Reading Physician   | Select the radiologist or other physician who will read the study.                                       |
| Attorney            | Select the attorney for the patient. This attorney is given access to the study through Attorney Portal. |
| Department          | Type the department of the facility performing the study.  |
| Institution         | Type the institution of the facility performing the study.   |
| Station             | Type an identifier for the station of the location performing the study.                                 |

- 3. If DICOM settings are not available to edit, at the bottom of the screen, select **DICOM STUDY**, and then make changes to DICOM settings as needed.
- 4. To edit or add CPT codes, at the bottom of the screen, select the edit 🖉 or add 🛨 button, enter changes, and then select **SAVE.**
- 5. Select **SAVE.**

# Edit basic patient demographics

The Edit Study screen gives you convenient access to some patient demographics in the patient chart.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > **PATIENT INFORMATION**.

| ALTER AND ALTER A   | Petient Inform    | unition seed  | NETWORK ALCON | if Solin Los   | 305       | rquir | artievia<br>artievia         |             |
|---|-------------------|---|---------------|----------------|-----------|-------|------------------------------|-------------|
| COMPANY CONTRACTOR  | Nuise<br>Pailos:1 | 10000   | nichten v     |                |           |       | Licente Novitate<br>Dis Felo |             |
| APPARTS NOTIN   | SIGOV(Passed)     |   |               |                |           |       | Dirp. Datus                  | 5444        |
|   | Assout No. (1), T | Peningo<br>Manager  | 0             |                |           |       | Svyksarflane<br>Ses Ankon    |             |
| NAME OF A DESCRIPTION   | Pate 1            | Tan.  | M Rolla       | *              |           |       | 05/966/27                    |             |
| Witness Automations   | Alma              | 11000   | [10           | Nation         | 1         |       | Turn Fax                     |             |
|   | 008.1             | 01.00Vistt  | - ET          | đơn Y          | м         | 32    |                              | a to income |
| In the second   | Marts/Block       | Select  | -             | 14-97. (7:14)  |           |       | Mater                        | C Freeze    |
| and the second se | Studieg Exter     | Telet.  | ~ Q.          | Weight (file ) |           |       | -silie                       |             |
| 110×10901   | Facal/Etrin       | <ul> <li>Enantian<br/>Informe Alast<br/>Hattee</li> </ul> |               | Period Tag     | Select    |       |                              |             |
| COTOTION OF   |                   | The second  |               | 10000          | - servery | -27   |                              |             |

2. Make changes, and then select **SAVE**.

### See also:

Create and modify a patient chart

## Add or edit a patient's portal account

You can edit a patient's portal credentials and other account information.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > <u>PATIENT INFORMATION</u> > **PORTAL ACCOUNT**.

| Patient Account                | Representat      | ive Account + E |
|--------------------------------|------------------|-----------------|
| Ram                            | Select 1         | +);             |
| trui                           | FilorMaine       |                 |
| booster brait                  | List There       |                 |
| CHINGS IN THE REAL PROPERTY OF | Enal             |                 |
| _                              | Secondary Colori |                 |
|                                | Facationitie     | Belen .         |

### Create a patient account

1. In the **Create Portal Account** dialog, under **Patient Account**, type the patient's email address, and then click **CREATE**.

**Result**: A email is sent to the patient to verify and finalize their patient portal account.

2. Click **SAVE**.

### Create a representative account

• Under **Representative Account**, fill in the options and click the save 🗳 button.

**Result**: A email is sent to the representative to verify and finalize their patient portal account.

#### Assign a representative account

If you created more than one representative, you can select which one to assign to the current patient.

Under Representative Account, select the account in the dropdown list and then click the save
 button.

#### Edit a representative account

- 1. Under **Representative Account**, select the account in the dropdown list.
- 2. Change information as needed, and then click the plus + button.

### Reset passwords

After an account is verified, you can reset the password.

- 1. Under Patient Account or Representative Account, click RESET PASSWORD.
- 2. Type a new password, and click the corresponding Save button.

#### See also:

Generate a patient check-in code

### View or add patient documents

You can view all documents attached to a patient record and their metadata, and add new documents.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > **DOCUMENTS**.

| sublet"                               | 1       |                   |               |               | 1.00                                    | ton i se enteninen di anal Cerata |
|---------------------------------------|---------|-------------------|---------------|---------------|---|-----------------------------------|
| TALL PROPERTY.                        | Patient | Documents         |               |               |   | PERMIT                            |
| Personal and Second actions (         |         | Insi 41 limanerte |               |               |   |                                   |
| Contract of the local division of the |         |                   |               |               |   |                                   |
| STORY MANAGEMENT                      |         | RECEIPTING TYPE   | memory added. | 1163,3038     | CHICKNESS                               | mentioneners/a ter                |
| HERALAN TERLA                         |         |                   |               |               |   |                                   |
| DOCUMENTS:                            | 1.11    | 1704              |               | bid all Prove | 000000000000000000000000000000000000000 | ett committee i lakaettin Sar     |

- 2. To view a document in the list, double-click it.
- 3. To add a document by scanning, place the document in the scanner, and do one of the following.
  - To scan one page without scanning options, select **QUICK SCAN**.
  - To scan with scanning options, select the **QUICK SCAN** arrow button, and in the shortcut menu, select a scan type.
- 4. To upload the document to RIS, select **UPLOAD**. To add document to the patient chart, select the arrow button for and select **Patient Document**.

|                   |                       | - | STUDY : 30 RINGIN MAR CT MIRLUS | OTH NEQ POSTPCX | + STUDIES : S | ELEUT - |
|-------------------|-----------------------|---|---------------------------------|-----------------|---------------|---------|
| Patient Docume    | ents                  |   |                                 |                 | SAVE          | BACK    |
| Dopument Type *   | Other                 |   | SCRATCH 1x1                     | 0.65 HB         | REMOVE        |         |
| Constraint Type   | Other .               | • |                                 |                 |               |         |
| Croated Date/Time | e.                    |   |                                 |                 |               |         |
|                   | 03/14/2023            | 回 |                                 |                 |               |         |
|                   | T2:28 PM LD D         |   |                                 |                 |               |         |
| Tequested By      | Select 🛩              |   |                                 |                 |               |         |
| Notes             | Gample                |   |                                 |                 |               |         |
|                   | Maximum file size: 20 |   |                                 |                 |               |         |
|                   | SELECTION             |   |                                 |                 |               |         |
| E Reviewed        |                       |   |                                 |                 |               |         |

- Enter metadata for the document.
- Select **SELECT FILES**, browse for and select a file, and then select **Open**.
- 5. Select SAVE.

# View approved reports

#### Procedure

 Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > **APPROVED REPORTS** to open a window and display the report.

**Result**: If an approved report is available, it opens (may take time).

| Test, Bred (Acc4:T   | es81113 | 1-01/01/2000 , M, 23Y                             |  |  |  |
|--|---------|---|--|--|--|
|  |         | Transference                                      | <b>N</b> ( <b>9</b>  | (105) + 33                                   | 0  |
|  |         |   | KONK   |  |  |
| sociality  |         | 54/17/02  | The Party of the P | out the open                                 |  |
| Internet Alecens   |         | Patiani Kovesi<br>Retering Physicalia<br>Processe | Test Mult<br>SCHMOR (SK CT NAL   | Patient El<br>Date of Birth<br>Date of Birth | Tasárttí s<br>im Jan 2000<br>IXVIII VIXXI 2 ké PSV |
|  |         | Reconnects Number:                                | LEVONURED PERIPER.<br>799  | Diady KD core                                | 1813 April 200 Color                               |
| NUTLING DECEMBER   |         | Exami RADIOGI                                     | RAPH OF THE _ HAN  | D  |  |
| MARKA ADME   |         | Testrique PA.                                     | oblique and lateral views  | ofde tantarea                                | strated.   |
| ter all feet   |         | Clinical Data: Pr                                 | ain.   |  |  |
| magi   |         | 500000000   |  |  |  |
| FROM DIRE  |         | Prior Diudiea                                     |  |  |  |
| a faar toos  |         | Findings: There                                   | is registral accessents  | Scatereci moderale                           | dependative changes with                           |
| And and a second s |         | pint spece namou                                  | eing actarools and aparts  | ng axeent. Carly se                          | to ve changes PIP and DIP                          |

# Open the transcription screen

Use this procedure to open the transcription multipanel from the Edit Study screen.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > **TRANSCRIPTION** to open a window and display the transcription editor within the multipanel.
| C Test, Leura (Ass#:Test   | C An-decto fore                    | Test, Loura (MRN Test.4:<br>Accession No: 167, Modality: CT Study Date<br>Study Decoription: 30 RNDR ISR CT MRI U |
|--|------------------------------------|---|
| CAMPACTURE DE CAMPACTURE   |                                    | 1400 ED00 00 10 10 H 200 00 10 H 200 00 10 H 200 00 10 H 200 00 H    |
| Person mensions  | 🖬 Trensmiph                        | osedtor #   |
| Distant  | TALL PARTY AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS | the same second and the same state  |
| Partitiet Introduct Institute T  | a second second second             | +   |
| Survey retrict   |                                    | Par Appoint   |
| TRANSFERRE   |                                    | Agener  |
| and the second s |                                    |   |
| TRAMEROPHICS   |                                    | Annue & Nerr  |
| STREET-WORKS, BALL   |                                    | HONGER PRIMOL THEM MADE (2004) H  |
| -  | E 1                                | Weitert.  |
| SCHOOLS INTERACTION  | Datum Name Text of                 | Count   |
| C TANK AND AN AN A STATE OF A STA | a Siderenge Pertoinin              | Date or their   |
|  | Pincadati (2004)                   | R MAR 17 MARTER W FREI MAN W Soldy  |
| a. (1993)  | 316030.001                         |   |
| A REAL PROPERTY OF A REAL PROPER | Free BADIOGRAPHIC                  | inere - receive   |
| STORE .  | Esam: RADIOGRAPH OF                | THE THE   |

#### See also:

Dictation and transcription with WebTrans Dictation and transcription with Exa Trans and Dragon Dictation and transcription with Exa Trans and nVoq

## Manage other physicians

You can add or delete other physicians (ones other than the primary, referring, or reading physicians) who are associated with the current study.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > **OTHER PHYSICIANS**.

| 7 Techniq | attants<br>Established blat | 9098256<br>530,000-005 | to de trainin |
|-----------|-----------------------------|------------------------|---------------|
|           | met of Highway 19 List      |                        |               |
|           |                             |                        |               |
|           |                             |                        |               |
|           |                             |                        |               |
|           |                             |                        |               |

- 2. Optional. To add a physician, in the **Select Other Physician** dropdown list, select a physician.
- 3. Optional. To remove a physician, select the trash  $\blacksquare$  button.

# Enter notes and reasons for study

You can enter patient notes, study notes, schedule notes, and reasons for the patient's studies. Generally, you can use: *patient notes* for patient specific information; *study notes* for basic study history or notes from technologist to radiologist; *schedule notes* for messages from the front desk; and *reason notes* for more specific study history.



Notes are permanent, and may be visible to the patient.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > **NOTES**.

| A Test, Laura (Acce:)  | osL43), 01/07/2000 , F, 2 | 27                          |                                    |
|--|---------------------------|-----------------------------|------------------------------------|
| CLARK RECORDER OF  |                           |                             | ATTICK - TO SHOE LED TT MINE MYTER |
|  | OT ODV NOTES              | NATION HOTES SCHEDULE HOTES | CALLEES CALLES                     |
| PATER CONTRACTOR   |                           | SATE THE S                  | anariantia                         |
| entering<br>Affrector schools<br>Subsconting<br>States Subsconting | 🕈 uzak has                | sanordazi muti kakant       | A HE TOR CHILDRY WINH              |
| ANTES  |                           |                             |                                    |

- 2. Select the PATIENT NOTES, STUDY NOTES, or SCHEDULE NOTES sub-tab.
- 3. Select ADD, type notes, and then select SAVE.

|           | STUDY NOTES | PATIENT NOTES      | SCHEDULE NOTES    | REASON FOR STUDY | CALLEOG |
|-----------|-------------|--------------------|-------------------|------------------|---------|
| User      |             | Vizwk; Pace        |                   |                  |         |
| Date/Time |             | 00/16/2020 8-44 AM | A ED/C            |                  |         |
| Notes *   |             | Patient requested  | a second opinion. |                  |         |
|           |             |                    |                   |                  |         |
|           |             |                    |                   |                  |         |

4. Select the **REASON FOR STUDY** tab.

|            | STUDY NOTES | PATIENT NOTES     | SCHEDULE NOTES         | REASON FOR STUDY | CALLLOG |
|------------|-------------|-------------------|------------------------|------------------|---------|
| Reason far | Study       | Patient complaine | ed of chronic headache | 3.               | -       |
|            |             |                   |                        |                  |         |

5. Type reasons in the box, and then select **SAVE.** 

## Update the patient call log

You can use the call log to save a record of communication to and from a patient regarding an appointment or order. The worklist has columns for displaying the following information that you enter in the call log: last call made, last call category, and last call notes. To update the call log:

Prerequisite: Add call categories (see <u>App settings</u>).

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > **NOTES**.

| annan an ann an an an an an an an an an  | o.           |                             | ATTICK TO SHALL LD ITT MALLAYS |
|--|--------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------------|
| AUGUST SECONDARY   | GT UDV NOTES | NUMERIA HOLES SCHEDULE HOLE | T REASON FOR STUDY CALL LO     |
| ALLAN VALVALVE AND THE CONTRACT OF THE CONTRACT. |              | particula.                  | anarama<br>a                   |
| anners<br>Inners store<br>Generation<br>Sentember  | di uzak has  | NATION AND THE REAL POINT   | A SHE THE THREADY STOOL        |

2. On the CALL LOG sub-tab, select ADD.

| STUDY NOTES     | PATIENT NOTES         | SCHEDILE NOTES | REASON FOR STUDY | CALL LOG |
|-----------------|-----------------------|----------------|------------------|----------|
| User            | Villet, Pars          |                |                  |          |
| Date/Timo       | 03/18/2020 8:46 AV8 8 | ρπ.            |                  |          |
| Call Category * | Schedule 👻            |                |                  |          |
| Call note *     | Don't schedule on W   | edneodoya.     |                  |          |
|                 |                       |                |                  |          |

- 3. In the **Call Category** dropdown list, select a call category.
- 4. In the **Call Note** box, type notes, and then select **SAVE**.

## Enter employment and transfer-related information

You can enter various information on whether the illness or injury was employment-related, the dates of illness, work absence, and hospitalization. You can also enter information related to the source of a transferred patient.

## Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > **ADDITIONAL INFORMATION**.

| C Test, Linux (Acco      | and the second of | States and a second              |                             |                           |
|--------------------------|-------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------|
| - Participant            | 10                |                                  | CTURY : DO DO               | FIRE STARFORMULACE POCKED |
| Low-science -            |                   | Balancia Condition in Delated to |                             | Course                    |
| Render-Arcownee          |                   | C Septement C to                 | Annual II the mean          | No. of Concession, Name   |
| Dimensioning             | distribut 735,000 | (interior)                       |                             | faivro/)6,ettor           |
| The non-constant instant | PROTECTION COMMON |                                  |                             | From Tarrier              |
| SHIRWEITS PLI            |                   | Bate of House Grand, Fejury/Da-  | didard, w Perspectry (1987) |                           |
| 200.mil/15               | 6.894             | MM195-591                        |                             |                           |
| APPORT DOLLARS           | Chief Date .      | HW0000111                        |                             |                           |
| TAMEN OF THE OWNER       | 1023435532711     |                                  | 2012/01/01/01/01            |                           |
| anning the statement     |                   | Bates Patent Unable in Novil of  |                             |                           |
| Agents                   | free la           | 982-39-44 II 108-222             | *** [ <u>180]</u>           |                           |
| PERMIT PERMIT            |                   | States Retent Hospitalised Kola  |                             |                           |
| Annual Autoria           | frees to          | HWIOTT E WEIL                    | ** E                        |                           |
| and division in          | Comunity Massa    |                                  |                             |                           |
|                          | 1.0-31-8500       |                                  |                             |                           |
| 31000                    |                   |                                  |                             |                           |
| DATHER DOC               |                   |                                  |                             |                           |
| and i have               |                   | Concellate                       |                             |                           |
| NAME OF                  | Cogni Put.        | Repairted                        |                             |                           |
| INTER C                  | Chier Jattarian   |                                  |                             |                           |

2. Enter the information as needed and then select **SAVE.** 

# Assign or remove patient alerts



You can assign or remove alerts for a patient.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > **PATIENT ALERTS**.

| NAMES OF CONTRACT  | -                                |
|--|----------------------------------|
| CICLE PROFEMILIER  | 2                                |
| PATIENT ROCKMENTON   | E datase Date                    |
| CHARGED THE WEIGHT B   | CT Cardinat (Bargy               |
| PATIENT INTERNY RECORD   | D fallAlet                       |
| MINIMUM STRATEGY   | I NR Contrast Allergy            |
| ODDARDITE  | Name Alert                       |
| APPROVED REPORTS   | D Petert Clawrophote             |
| TRANSCRIPTION  | D Patienthas pasenakar           |
| or the second second   | Patient Is constalling           |
| NUCLIS<br>ANTICICUL RECEIVANCE   | Patient reads physical amintance |
| INTERT ALERTS  | tfactors /Terls                  |
| ALLER DE   | Mater                            |

- 2. Select or clear the checkboxes corresponding to the alerts that you want to assign or remove.
- 3. Optional. To create a new alert, type it in the **Custom Alerts** box and then select the plus toutton.
- 4. Select SAVE.

# View activity logs

You can view a log of program activity and export the log to Excel.

## Procedure

1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > <u>Edit Study screen</u> > **ACTIVITY LOG**.

| - LITTLE LINK THE   |  |                | ALCOLUMN 1              | CALLER AND DESCRIPTION OF A |
|---|--|----------------|-------------------------|--|
|   | here all the second second   |                | THE REPORTED AND MADE 1 |  |
| unioners.   | (Anternational Contemportation of the International Contemportational | 1000           | -                       |  |
|   | () 🛢 menyinan keninya tari   |                | and the                 | land story in the story "Thing strategia   |
| and a   |  | Taker Here     | Partie -                | 1000000 patient aller.   |
| with some personants  | a Stingeringer   | Autors Lives   | COLUMN.                 | NATE clientant   |
|   | 0. B (LACED 11.1) (#10)  | (01111048)     | emiler (                | (investments) into   |
| A DOWNER OF THE OWNER OF THE OWNE | D B MARCED INSIAND   | mining horses. | embel i                 | why non-latencep member (and delating output)  |
| 97999<br>1879-1879<br>1979-1979   |  |                |                         |  |
| **************************************  |  |                |                         |  |
|   |  |                |                         |  |

- 2. Change the range of dates to filter the activity that you want to view.
- 3. To view details of an entry, double-click the entry.
- 4. Optional. To export the longs, select **EXPORT TO EXCEL**.

# Exam screen for technologists

Users signing in with a technologist user account see a technologist-specific version of the Edit Study screen that helps them work more efficiently. To open the screen, select the edit button in a worklist study row.

| CensusI4, Cen    | susf4 - 01/01/1999 - CenC103 |   |
|------------------|------------------------------|---|
| 1255             |                              | TRUCTURE ( TRUCTURE ) ( TRUCTURE )                                  |
| Appointment Type | OF DOPEDHOND PLOT OPPORT     |   |
| Sorly Part       | Select M                     |   |
| Orientetion      | Select w                     |   |
|                  |                              | falsef Mary Merry (1  |
| Scheduled Date   | OMON/DEED EAD PARTIES?       |   |
| Diawton          | 12 / 12 minutes              | Made Marine - The Alder Addition - Parket Marine - These in the day |
|                  |                              |   |

Exam screen for technologists: top left (left) and top right (right)

See also:

Use the exam screen for technologists

# Use the exam screen for technologists

To use the exam screen for technologists (the *Technologist screen*):

Prerequisites: Configure a technologist.

#### Procedure

- 1. Sign in to Symmetry PACS as a technologist or a user linked to a technologist.
- 2. Select the edit dutton in a worklist study row.

**Result**: The Technologist screen opens.

- 3. Near the upper-left part of the screen, select a study tab (an accession number).
- 4. Proceed with technologist workflow, using the settings and tools described in the following table.

| Setting          | Description  |
|------------------|--|
| Ф.               | View patient alerts.   |
| Appointment Type | If the original appointment type was incorrect or otherwise changed<br>after scheduling, you can select a new one. |

| Setting                                     | Description   |
|---|---|
|   | Note: It may be necessary to authorize all or parts of any new appointment type you select.   |
| [Other settings]                            | Select as needed.   |
| TECH START/END                              | Select upon starting and ending the exam. Exam duration statistics are recorded based on the times these buttons are selected, and are used in reporting.       |
| TECH PAUSE                                  | Select when an exam is interrupted, such as by a difficult patient.   |
| UNREAD                                      | Select to reset the study's status to Unread.   |
| Notes (Study, Schedule, Patient,<br>Reason) | Select a category of note, and then type notes. If macro notes were configured (see <u>Configure macro notes</u> ), you can select them from the dropdown list. |
| ABORT                                       | Select to abort the exam, such as in an emergency.  |

## 5. Select **SAVE**.

6. Optional. In the lower-right part of the screen, select one or more of the following.

| Setting     | Description   |
|-------------|---|
| Documents   | Select to view or add documents to the study or order.  |
|             | See Scan to a patient.  |
| Studies     | Select to view a list of prior studies for the current study. Opens the STUDIES tab of the Edit Study screen. |
| Study Forms | Select to add, edit, or delete study forms from the study.  |
|             | Opens the STUDY FORMS tab of the Edit Study screen.   |
| Add Charges | Add new charges to an exam (see ).  |

7. Select **SAVE**.

## Dictation and transcription with Exa Trans and nVoq

With Exa Trans, you can dictate and transcribe simultaneously with nVoq voice recognition. One advantage of nVoq is that it is a "zero footprint" solution for higher performance. Alternatively, you can dictate findings in Exa Dictation and transcribe them manually. If your implementation of Symmetry PACS offers nVoq, the Dragon feature is not available.

## Turn on Exa Trans and nVoq

You must turn on Exa Trans and nVoq before using them.

#### Prerequisites:

- nVoq is only available if a user account was created for you when Exa PACS/RIS was installed.
- <u>Install Exa Trans</u>. Refer to Confluence articles to install and update the latest version supported by the version of the Exa platform on which it is installed.

#### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>Worklist</u> > **Settings** > <u>User Settings</u>.
- 2. On the right side, under Voice recognition, select nVoq (Exa Trans).



- 3. Select SAVE.
- 4. Sign out of Symmetry PACS, and then sign in again.

## Configure substitutions

You can add substitutions (voice macros) to nVoq.

Prerequisite: Turn on Exa Trans and nVoq.

### Procedure

- 1. In the worklist, find an unread study and select its transcription 🔳 button.
- 2. In **Exa Trans**, on the **nVoq Options** tab, select **Substitutions**.

| 🕈 failen.  |           |               |        |               |               |               |
|------------|-----------|---------------|--------|---------------|---------------|---------------|
| Tensoption | Documents | Plur Pieporta | Montor | w/log Optione | $\rightarrow$ | Substitutions |

3. Optional. To view previously saved substitutions, select Substitution List.

4. In the **New Substitution** dialog, enter the following settings.



| Case Case   |   |  |
|-------------|---|--|
| Setting     | Description   |  |
| Level       | Select Account to make the substitution available only to you. Select Organization to make the substitution available to all. |  |
| Spoken      | Type the voice macro command (the word or phrase spoken to activate the substitution).  |  |
| Description | Type a description of the substitution.   |  |
| Written     | Type the text that nVoq substitutes (inserts) when the voice macro command is spoken.   |  |

5. Select **Save**.

## Configure vocabulary

You can add words and phrases to nVoq's vocabulary so that it can recognize proper names of people, places, product names, and uncommon words.

Prerequisite: Turn on Exa Trans and nVoq.

### Procedure

- 1. In the worklist, find an unread study and select its transcription 🔳 button.
- 2. In **Exa Trans**, on the **nVoq Options** tab, select **Vocabulary**.

| 🛉 failes.     |           |               |        |              |            |
|---------------|-----------|---------------|--------|--------------|------------|
| Transcription | Documents | Ptor Tisporta | Muster | w/oc/Optione | Vocabulary |

- 3. In the **Vocabulary** screen, select one of the following:
  - Account The current vocabulary is available only to the current user.
  - **Organization** The current vocabulary is available to all users in the facility.

| 1                | Type file world or phrase pilo wont Vog te display |
|------------------|--|
| inter<br>Section |  |
| -                | Prominication                                      |

- 4. In the **Written** box, type a word or phrase.
- 5. Optional: In the **Sounds Like** box, type pronunciation.

**Note**: Usually leave this blank. Try adding pronunciation if nVoq frequently fails to recognize the word or phrase.

6. Select Save.

## Dictate and transcribe a study

With the integrated nVoq application, you can use Exa Trans to dictate and transcribe findings simultaneously. If you pause dictation, during the next 30 seconds you can use voice commands or resume dictation without losing the connection to nVoq. After the 30 seconds, dictation "stops," and the connection closes. To dictate multiple studies at once, see <u>About Linked Reporting</u>.

Prerequisite: <u>Turn on Exa Trans and nVoq</u>.

### Procedure

- 1. In the worklist, find an unread study and select its transcription 🔳 button.
- 2. In the **Exa Trans** window, in the **Templates** dropdown list, select a template.
  - You can "call in" (open) a template with a macro keyword if it appears in the template list.
  - Select **All** to show all templates, or clear to show only templates applicable to the current study.

| ranscription | Documents Prior Reports Monitor N/og Optices                                   |   |  |  |  |
|--------------|--|---|--|--|--|
| Templates    | WM - CT general 🔻 🗹 All Flag   | 9 |  |  |  |
| [liomai]     | Select<br>Basic Macro<br>L-spine   |   |  |  |  |
|              | macro category 2<br>macro comparison<br>macro dexa                             |   |  |  |  |
|              | Macro female pelvis ultrasound<br>Macro General Template<br>Macro MRI CERVICAL |   |  |  |  |
|              | MG 2D<br>Reno - MR Ankle   |   |  |  |  |

3. Press the button on the microphone, and then begin dictating. Press the button again to pause/stop.

**Note**: You can also select the dictation button in the bottom-right corner of the screen to start recording, and b to pause.

- 4. Optional. To view the hypothesis during dictation, select the **Show Hypothesis** link.
- 5. Select Save.

### See also:

<u>Configure substitutions</u> <u>Configure vocabulary</u> <u>Use voice commands</u> <u>Customize Exa Trans for nVoq</u>

## Use voice commands

When using nVoq in Exa Trans, in addition to substitutions, you can use the voice commands described in the following table.

| Command                      | Description  |
|------------------------------|--|
| [voice macro keyword]        | Runs the pre-configured voice macro to open a transcription template.  |
| Select [word or phrase]      | Selects words and phrases.<br>Example: Say, "Select cardiac arrest" to select the word "cardiac" followed<br>by the word "arrest." |
| Select [word] through [word] | Selects a range of words   |

| Command            | Description  |
|--------------------|--|
|                    | Example: Say, "Select food through department" to select the phrase "food and beverage department."                                      |
| Next variable      | Selects the next set of brackets within the report and their contents.   |
| Next field         |  |
| Previous variable  | Selects the previous set of brackets within the report and their contents.   |
| Previous field     |  |
| Next line          | Adds a line after the current line   |
| New line           |  |
| Letter             | Capitalizes the current letter   |
| Capital            |  |
| Caps               | Capitalizes the first letter of the current word   |
| Caps on            | Turns capitalization off the first letter of all words ON and OFF  |
| Caps off           |  |
| All caps           | Capitalizes all letters in the current word  |
| All caps on        | Turns capitalization of all letters of all words ON and OFF  |
| All caps off       |  |
| Lowercase          | Sets the first dictated word in lowercase  |
| Overwrite          |  |
| Numeral one period | Creates a numbered list and capitalizes the first letter of each list item   |
| One period         |  |
| Number next        | Creates a numbered list, capitalizes the first letter of each list item, and adds a new line before each item                            |
| Next number        | a new line before each item  |
| Letter next        | Creates a lettered list, capitalizes the first letter of each list item, and adds a new line before each list item.                      |
| Next letter        | new line before each list item.  |
| Scratch that       | If text is currently selected, deletes the selection. If text is not currently   |
| Delete that        | selected, deletes the previously transcribed phrase. Repeat the command to delete the 10 most recently entered instances of stable text. |
| Undo               | Undoes the 10 most recent user actions, including dictation of text or use of other voice commands (same as the Windows Undo command).   |
| Punctuation        |  |
| Period             |  |
| Comma              | ,  |
| Colon              |  |

| Command              | Description |
|----------------------|-------------|
| Semicolon            | ;           |
| Hyphen               | -           |
| Dash                 |             |
| Minus sign           |             |
| Question mark        | ?           |
| Exclamation mark     | !           |
| Exclamation point    |             |
| Open paren           | (           |
| Open parenthesis     |             |
| Close paren          | )           |
| Close parenthesis    |             |
| Open brace           | {           |
| Open curly brace     |             |
| Close brace          | }           |
| Close curly brace    |             |
| Open bracket         | ]           |
| Open square bracket  |             |
| Close bracket        | ]           |
| Close square bracket |             |
| Less than sign       | <           |
| Open angle bracket   |             |
| Greater than sign    | >           |
| Close angle bracket  |             |
| Hash sign            | #           |
| Number sign          |             |
| Pound sign           |             |
| At sign              | @           |
| Asterisk             | *           |
| Asterisk sign        |             |
| Ampersand            | &           |
| And sign             |             |

| Command             | Description |
|---------------------|-------------|
| Tilde sign          | ~           |
| Forward slash       | /           |
| Slash               |             |
| Back slash          | ١           |
| Double slash        | //          |
| Quote               | "           |
| Open quote          |             |
| Open double quote   |             |
| Start quote         |             |
| Unquote             | "           |
| Close quote         |             |
| Close double quote  |             |
| End quote           |             |
| Open single quote   | "           |
| Close single quote  | 3           |
| Apostrophe          | 1           |
| Apostrophe S        | 's          |
| Percent sign        | %           |
| Ellipsis            |             |
| Dollar sign         | \$          |
| Equal sign          | =           |
| Plus sign           | +           |
| Multiplication sign | *           |
| Division sign       | ÷           |
| Plus or minus sign  | ±           |
| Underscore sign     | _           |
| Vertical bar        |             |
| One quarter sign    | 1/4         |
| One half sign       | 1/2         |

| Command  | Description               |
|--|---------------------------|
| Three quarters sign                                | 3⁄4                       |
| Dates and Times                                    |                           |
| March seventeen two thousand twenty-three          | March 17, 2023            |
| March seventeen twenty twenty-<br>three            |                           |
| Three seventeen twenty twenty-<br>three            | 3/17/2023                 |
| Three slash seventeen slash<br>twenty twenty-three |                           |
| Three dash seventeen dash<br>twenty twenty-three   | 3-17-2023                 |
| Two p m  | 2 p.m.                    |
| Two thirty a m                                     | 2:30 a.m.                 |
| Between two p m and five p m                       | Between 2 p.m. and 5 p.m. |
| Zero eight hundred hours                           | 0800 hours                |
| Oh eight hundred hours                             |                           |
| Zero zero twenty two hours                         | 0022 hours                |
| Zero zero two two hours                            |                           |
| Numbers, dollars, and cents                        |                           |
| One hundred  | 100                       |
| one hundred twenty                                 | 120                       |
| Three hundred fifty two                            | 352                       |
| Point five   | 0.5                       |
| Zero point five                                    |                           |
| Seventy five dollars and fifty cents               | \$75.50                   |
| Roman fifteen                                      | XV                        |
| (1-19 available only)                              |                           |

## See also:

Add a transcription template

# Edit and approve transcriptions

You can edit and approve saved transcriptions.

**Note:** If approving a main study, any activity related to TAT recording affects any of its linked studies (see <u>About Linked Reporting</u>).

## Prerequisite: Turn on Exa Trans and nVoq.

### Procedure

- 1. In the worklist, select the transcription 🔳 button of a dictated study.
- 2. In the editing screen, review the transcription, make any needed changes, and then select **Save**.
- 3. Select e-Sign & Approve, or Approve and Next.

## Add a dictation or transcription addendum

After approval, transcriptions cannot be edited. However, physicians and transcriptionists can add addendums in order to correct mistakes or insert new information.

### Prerequisite: <u>Turn on Exa Trans and nVoq</u>.

#### Procedure

- 1. In the worklist, select the transcription 🔳 button of an approved study.
- 2. To add a *dictation* addendum, repeat the steps in <u>Dictate and transcribe a study</u>.

Symmetry PACS reverts the status of the dictation from Approved to Dictated.

- 3. To add a *transcription* addendum, select Add Addendum.
- 4. Type new text, and then select **Addendum Save**.
- 5. Select Addendum Submit for Review.

Symmetry PACS reverts the status of the dictation from Approved to Transcribed.

## Customize Exa Trans for nVoq

- 1. In a text editor, open ..Exa/trans/bin/KMHA.exaTrans.WinApp.exe.Config.
- 2. Edit the following lines in the file per customer preferences.

| Setting                           | Line  | Value  |
|-----------------------------------|---|--|
| Microphone<br>record<br>button    | <add <br="" key="HoldRecord">value="0" /&gt;</add>            | 0 = Set to toggle on/off. (default)<br>1 = Set as a Hold to Record/Deadman switch  |
| Show/hide<br>hypothesis<br>text   | <add<br>key="ViewHypothesisText"<br/>value="1" /&gt;</add<br> | 0 = Hide<br>1 = Show   |
| Pin<br>hypothesis<br>text         | <add <br="" key="PinHypothesisText">value="1" /&gt;</add>     | 0 = Unpin (text moves with the cursor)<br>1 = Pin (pins text to the left side of the Exa<br>Trans window)                |
| Mic button<br>triggers<br>Approve | <add <br="" key="ApproveOnMic">value="Off" /&gt;</add>        | Off = Mic buttons do not trigger Approve and<br>Approve & Next<br>On = Mic buttons trigger Approve and Approve &<br>Next |

# **Dictation and transcription with WebTrans**

You can dictate findings in Exa Dictation and transcribe them in Web Trans. Web Trans features a multipanel interface with advanced functionality.

## See also:

Dictation and transcription with Exa Trans and Dragon Dictation and transcription with Exa Trans and nVoq

## Turn on Exa Dictation and WebTrans

Depending on your installation configuration, you must turn on Exa Dictation and Web Trans before using them by following these steps:

## Prerequisite: Install Exa Dictation.

### Procedure

- 1. On the worklist, select the settings button, and then in the button shortcut menu, select **User Settings**.
- 2. On the right side of the screen, under **Voice recognition**, select **Dictation**.
- 3. Select SAVE.

## Dictate a study

The Web Trans transcription editor does not currently support dictation, but radiologists can use the following procedure to record dictation without simultaneous transcription (while Dragon is OFF). This feature uses a dictation toolbar with record, rewind, play/pause/stop, fast forward, and upload buttons.

### Procedure

- 1. In the worklist, double-click an unread study to open it in the viewer.
- 2. Select a template from the dropdown list, or use a voice macro to open it.
- On the dictation toolbar, select the record button, and then dictate your findings.
   Note: If needed, you can select pause during dictation.
- 4. When finished, select the stop button.
- 5. To review your dictation, rewind the recording and then select the play button.

**Note**: You can record over parts of your dictation that you want to change.

6. When you are satisfied with the results, select the upload in button to add your dictation to the study.

Note: Skip this step if you selected Auto Upload Dictation on Close.

### See also:

Add a transcription template Configure autosave options

## Open and organize WebTrans

The WebTrans window contains dedicated panels for managing transcription, notes, documents, and prior reports.

Prerequisite: Turn on Exa Dictation and WebTrans.

#### Procedure

- 1. In the worklist, find an unread study and select its multipanel transcription 🖽 button.
- 2. In the WebTrans multipanel, on the toolbar, select one or more of the following buttons:



- 1 Open or close all panels
- 2 Open or close the **Notes** panel
- **3** Open or close the **Documents** panel
- 4 Open or close the **Prior Reports** panel
- 3. Drag panels within the WebTrans screen to reposition them.

## Edit and approve transcriptions in WebTrans

The WebTrans transcription editor does not currently support dictation playback, but you can edit and approve submitted transcriptions.

**Note:** If approving a main study, any activity related to TAT recording affects any of its linked studies (see <u>About Linked Reporting</u>).

Prerequisite: Turn on Exa Dictation and WebTrans.

### Procedure

1. On the worklist, in the relevant study row, select the multipanel 📰 button.

- 2. In the **Transcription editor** panel, review the transcription, make any needed changes, and then select **Save**.
- 3. Select Approve or Approve & Next.
- 4. In the **Providers** dialog, select the approving provider and select **Approve**.

## Enter notes in WebTrans

You can add study notes and reasons for study in the Notes panel of WebTrans.

### Procedure

- 1. On the worklist, in the relevant study row, select the multipanel 🛄 button.
- 2. In the multipanel, open the **Notes** panel.
- 3. In the Notes panel, select the STUDY NOTES or REASON FOR STUDY tab.
- 4. If entering a study note, select a study date.
- 5. Type notes in the space provided, and then select **SAVE**.

## Manage documents in WebTrans

You can view all documents attached to a study in the Documents panel of WebTrans. The Documents panel displays up to two documents at once, and you can select which documents to display.

### Procedure

- 1. On the worklist, in the relevant study row, select the multipanel 🛄 button.
- 2. In the **Documents** panel, select the document buttons to show or hide currently open documents in viewing frames.



The buttons labels indicate the document selected for viewing, the default document type set by the user in the panel, or the last-viewed document types

3. If more than two documents are available, you can open a new one by dragging a document metadata block from the top of the panel into a document viewing frame.

|  | <u> </u>                              | Documents                             |                                    |
|--|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Show All Documenta                     | SET AS DEFAULT                        |                                       | 30                                 |
| nsurance Card D<br>11/21/2021          | Order/Prescription (<br>11/01/2021    | Order/Prescription I1/01/2021         | Order/Prescription<br>11/01/2021   |
| Order/Prescription C-1<br>1/01/2021    | Order/Reportention                    | Ceder/Rentoriation                    | Order/Pres option<br>11/03/2001    |
| 0ther C<br>11/21/2021                  | Drag docum<br>onto buttor             |                                       | Patien Forma<br>12/10/2021         |
| Patient Forms                          | 03/31/2021                            | 03/31/2021                            | 07/20/2021                         |
| Patient Portal Ipload 🗌<br>III/18/2021 | Patient Portal Upload (<br>08/18/2021 | Patient Portal Upload  <br>08/18/2021 | Patient Portal Uplea<br>01/21/2021 |
| Prior Report                           | Tech Worksheet (<br>07/23/2021        | Unknown<br>10/11/2021                 |                                    |
|  | MENT TO PREVIEW                       | DROP DOCUMENT TO PREVI                |                                    |

## Manage prior reports in WebTrans

You can view, download, and print prior reports from the Prior reports panel of WebTrans.

## Procedure

- 1. On the worklist, in the relevant study row, select the multipanel  $\blacksquare$  button.
- 2. In the **Prior reports** panel, in the left pane, select the block of metadata corresponding to the report that you want to view.
- 3. To download or print the report, in the right pane, hover over the report, and then select the download or print button in the toolbar that appears.

## **Dictation and transcription with Exa Trans and Dragon**

With Exa Trans, you can dictate and transcribe simultaneously with Dragon voice recognition. Alternatively, you can dictate findings in Exa Dictation and transcribe them manually. If your implementation of Symmetry PACS offers Dragon, the nVoq feature is not available. To use the features of the Exa Panel for transcription related tasks, see <u>Dictation and transcription with WebTrans</u>.

## Turn on Exa Trans and Dragon

You must turn on Exa Trans before using it by performing the steps that follow. You turn on Exa Trans indirectly by turning on the Dragon speech-to-text option in the user settings.

Prerequisite: Install Exa Trans.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the worklist, select the settings button, and then in the button shortcut menu, select **User Settings**.
- 2. On the right side, under Voice recognition, select Dragon.
- 3. Select SAVE.

## Dictate and transcribe a study

With the integrated Dragon speech-to-text application, you can use Exa Trans to dictate and transcribe findings simultaneously.

### Prerequisite: Turn on Exa Trans and Dragon.

#### Procedure

- 1. In the worklist, find an unread study and select its transcription 🔳 button.
- 2. In the Exa Trans window, in the Templates dropdown list, select a template.
- 3. Optional. To use a voice command, with the **Templates** dropdown list open, say, "Macro [*template name*].
- 4. Place the cursor where you want to add text.
- On the Dragon toolbar, select the record button, and then begin dictating.
   Select stop when finished.
- 6. Select Save.

# Edit and approve transcriptions

You can edit and approve saved transcriptions. If approving a main study, any activity related to TAT recording affects any of its linked studies (see <u>About Linked Reporting</u>).

Prerequisite: <u>Turn on Exa Trans and Dragon</u>.

### Procedure

- 1. In the worklist, select the transcription 🔳 button of a dictated study.
- 2. In the editing screen, review the transcription, make any needed changes, and then select **Save**.
- 3. Select e-Sign & Approve, or Approve and Next.

## Add a dictation or transcription addendum

After approval, transcriptions cannot be edited. However, physicians and transcriptionists can add addendums in order to correct mistakes or insert new information.

### Prerequisite: Turn on Exa Trans and Dragon.

#### Procedure

- 1. In the worklist, select the transcription 🔳 button of an approved study.
- 2. To add a *dictation* addendum, repeat the steps in "Dictate a study."

Symmetry PACS reverts the status of the dictation from Approved to Dictated.

- 3. To add a *transcription* addendum, select Add Addendum.
- 4. Type new text, and then select **Addendum Save**.
- 5. If not using Dragon, select **Addendum Submit for Review**.

Symmetry PACS reverts the status of the dictation from Approved to Transcribed.

## About using Exa Trans and WebTrans

Exa Trans and WebTrans (with the multipanel) are designed to work in sync. Exact behavior depends on various user rights, actions, and settings, as in the following examples.

| Action/Condition          | Effect   |
|---------------------------|--|
| Close Exa Trans           | Also closes WebTrans   |
| WebTrans rights assigned  | WebTrans available   |
| Exa Trans rights assigned | Exa Trans available only if the Dragon user setting is also turned ON. |

| Action/Condition   | Effect  |
|--|---|
| Auto-Open Orders + "Documents"<br>selected   | If an order auto-opens, the Documents screen auto-opens.  |
| Auto Open Orders enabled AND<br>Viewer Settings > General > Display<br>Settings > Monitor 1 = Documents  | Documents auto-open in the Documents screen of the multipanel in Monitor 1.                                       |
| Auto Open Orders disabled AND<br>Viewer Settings > General > Display<br>Settings > Monitor 1 = Documents | Documents do not auto-open, but if manually opened, they open in the multipanel in monitor 1.                     |
| Exa Trans and WebTrans enabled within Auto Open Orders   | Exa Trans and WebTrans both open when an order auto-opens.  |
| within Auto Open Orders  | You can configure which monitor they open in in the Display Settings, or leave blank to open in the main monitor. |
| Exa Trans set to auto-open AND<br>WebTrans not enabled in Auto Open<br>Orders                            | Only Exa Trans opens when a study opens (but you can still manually open WebTrans).                               |
| Set Exa Trans or WebTrans to open on a specified monitor   | Manually opening Exa Trans or WebTrans opens it in the specified monitor.   |
| WebTrans set to auto open in Auto<br>Open Orders, but not Exa Trans                                      | WebTrans auto opens when the viewer is opened, in the specified monitor, if so configured.                        |
| User selects the Exa Trans or<br>WebTrans button on the worklist   | Exa Trans or WebTrans opens on the same monitor as the worklist.  |
| Exa Trans  | Study is approved, viewer closes, Exa Trans minimized.  |
| Esign & Approve  |   |
| Exa Trans  | Study is approved, viewer and Exa Trans open with next available study.   |
| Approve & Next   |   |
| Exa Trans  | Study status changes to Not Approved, viewer closes, and Exa Trans minimizes.                                     |
| Not Approve  | mmmizes.  |
| Exa Trans  | Study stays in Unread status, viewer and Exa Trans open with the next   |
| Skip   | available study   |
| Exa Trans  | Study status changes to Draft, viewer and Exa Trans remain open with  |
| Save   | current study   |
| Exa Trans  | Study status changes to Pre-Approved, viewer closes, and Exa Trans  |
| Pre Approve  | minimizes   |
| Exa Trans and WebTrans   | Exa Trans closes, WebTrans minimizes or closes  |
| Esign & Approve  |   |
| Exa Trans and WebTrans   | Study status changes to Approve, viewer, Exa Trans, and WebTrans open   |
| Approve & Next   | with the next available study   |

| Action/Condition       | Effect   |
|------------------------|--|
| Exa Trans and WebTrans | Study status changes to Not Approved, viewer, Exa Trans, and WebTrans minimize or close. |
| Not Approve            | minimize or close.   |
| Exa Trans and WebTrans | Study status remains Unread, the viewer, Exa Trans, and WebTrans open the                |
| Skip                   | next available patient or study.   |
| Exa Trans and WebTrans | Viewer, Exa Trans, and WebTrans remain open. If the user closes the viewer,              |
| Save                   | Exa Trans and WebTrans also close.   |
| Exa Trans and WebTrans | Study status changes to Pre-Approved, viewer and WebTrans close.                         |
| Pre Approve            |  |

## QC operations

All DICOM studies from other AEs initially appear on the QC tab, and are automatically evaluated for conflicts with PACS studies, RIS orders, and other data based on user-defined receiver rules. The topics in this section describe how to resolve conflicts.

## See also:

Understanding receiver rules

# Prepare the QC tab

When received studies fail to match studies in the database, they appear on the QC tab of the worklist. To find conflicts needing reconciliation more easily, you can sort studies in the QC tab of the worklist by their QC status.

## Procedure

- 1. On the worklist, select **Settings** > **User Settings**.
- 2. Under User Settings, select **Show QC**.
- 3. To show exams in *Completed* status, select **Show Completed in Pending List**.

To show exams in *Conflict* status only, clear the checkbox.

- 4. Select **SAVE**.
- 5. On the worklist, select the **QC** tab.
- 6. On the search bar, click inside the **STATUS** box.
- 7. Select a status (such as "Conflicts") and select **APPLY FILTER**.

### See also:

Reconcile conflicts by matching to a RIS order Reconcile conflicts by manually editing demographics Reconcile conflicts by creating an order Move QC studies to the All Studies tab

## Reconcile conflicts by matching to a RIS order

When received studies fail to match studies in the database, they appear on the QC tab of the worklist. To reconcile conflicts, start by trying to match the conflicting study to a RIS order.

## Prerequisite: Prepare the QC tab.

### Procedure

1. On the worklist QC tab, find a study whose status is Conflicts, and select the "reconciliation dot."



2. In the **Reconcile** dialog, under **Suggestions**, if an order in the list matches the **Current Study**, select its **SELECT** button, and then select **OK**. If no suggestion matches, skip to the next step.

**Result**: The conflict is reconciled.

3. Under **RIS Orders**, search for more potential matches by typing criteria in the search boxes. If a match is found, select its **SELECT** button and continue as above.

Hint: Find patients in your EHR or other sources for possible matches.

### See also:

Reconcile conflicts by manually editing demographics Reconcile conflicts by creating an order Move QC studies to the All Studies tab

# Reconcile conflicts by manually editing demographics

When received studies fail to match studies in the database, they appear on the QC tab of the worklist. If the conflict reason on screen is **Multiple matches/Account# conflicts for patients**, you can edit the demographics of the conflicting study to match a patient in the Exa PACS/RIS database, or vice versa (edit a patient in the database to match the conflicting study).

## Prerequisite: <u>Prepare the QC tab</u>.

### Procedure

1. On the worklist QC tab, find a study whose status is Conflicts, and select the "reconciliation dot."



- 2. In **Chrome**, open another instance of Exa PACS/RIS, and on the burger menu, select **PATIENT**.
- 3. Search for a patient chart that is likely to be the match for the conflicting study.

Hint: Find patients in your EHR or other sources for possible matches.

| Starts W     | ith 🛩 All   | • 🗆          | Show inactive 🔲 Brea | k the Glass |         |     |
|--------------|---|--------------|----------------------|-------------|---------|-----|
| Last Nam     | rist/   | Name         | 123456               | BBN         | Phone   | pa. |
| 0            | A GREATE NEW  | SCAN LICENSE | CLEAR SEARCH         | IMPORT PA   | TIENT 2 |     |
|              | T BEARCH RESULTS<br>t*breast - FIX_123455, 1:<br>01/01/1900 | 23455        |                      |             |         |     |
| DOB:<br>Brow | t*breast - FIX_123456, 1                                    | 10000        |                      |             |         |     |

In the example, the MRN matches multiple studies -- select the correct one

- 4. Open the likely matching chart, edit demographics as necessary, and then select SAVE.
- 5. Confirm that the study no longer has a status of Conflicts.

#### See also:

Reconcile conflicts by matching to a RIS order Reconcile conflicts by creating an order

## Move QC studies to the All Studies tab

## Reconcile conflicts by creating an order

When received studies fail to match studies in the database, they appear on the QC tab of the worklist. If you cannot find a RIS order that matches or should match a conflicting study, you can reconcile by creating a new order that matches.

### Prerequisite: Prepare the QC tab.

### Procedure

1. On the worklist **QC** tab, find a study whose status is **Conflicts**.

Record demographics you need to create an order (patient demographics, MRN, study information, etc.).

- 2. Create an order for the conflicting study by following the steps in A typical scheduling workflow.
- 3. On the **QC** tab, in the conflicting study's shortcut menu, select **Reconciliation**.
- 4. In the **Reconciliation** dialog, under **RIS Orders**, find the order you just created and select its **SELECT** button.
- 5. Confirm that the study no longer has a status of Conflicts.

#### See also:

Reconcile conflicts by matching to a RIS order Reconcile conflicts by manually editing demographics Move QC studies to the All Studies tab

## Move QC studies to the All Studies tab

You can move a study in the QC tab to the All Studies tab without reconciling.

### Prerequisite: Prepare the QC tab.

#### Procedure

- 1. In the worklist, select the **QC** tab, and then find a study that you want to move.
- 2. In the study's shortcut menu, select **Move to All Studies**.

#### See also:

Reconcile conflicts by matching to a RIS order Reconcile conflicts by manually editing demographics Reconcile conflicts by creating an order

# Work with the Symmetry PACS viewer

# Standard viewing tasks

## Open a study in a viewer

In this manual, *viewer* refers to the Symmetry PACS viewer unless otherwise specified. To open a study, on a worklist study row, do one of the following:

• Select the 🥌 button to open the Symmetry PACS viewer.



- Select the 📟 button to open the Opal viewer.
- Configure Symmetry PACS to open studies in the viewer when you double-click them. Follow the steps in "Miscellaneous user settings" to configure the double-click behavior setting.



**CAUTION**: Check for the presence of the lossless indicator in the lower-left corner of the image frame before proceeding with a diagnosis. If you adjust the image, wait until the lossless indicator turns green before diagnosis.



The red lossless indicator means the image has not yet fully loaded.

## View priors and prior reports

From the Exa PACS/RIS viewer, you can open priors from a list, open then from the prior bar, and open prior reports.

## Open a prior from a list

1. On the viewer toolbar, select the **Show Prior List I** button to open the list.

Other Patient Exams

|   |    |     |  | Prior Patient Exams |                     |          |
|---|----|-----|--|---------------------|---------------------|----------|
| 0 | R  | M   | Description                            | Referring           | Exam Date           | Status   |
|   | R  | U5  | DOP VELOCIMETRY FTLUMBILICALART        | Test, Reterring     | 01/19/2023 11:15 AM | Approved |
|   | R* | 115 | DOP ECHO FTL SPECTRAL DISPLAY<br>COMPL | Test Reterring      | 01/19/2823 11:00 AM | Approved |

If an **R** appears in the R column, the prior includes a report. If the priors are linked:

- **R'** The report is the main report.
- **R\*** The report is a linked report (linked to the main report).
- 2. In the list, double-click a prior to open it in the viewer.

## View priors with the Prior bar

If priors are included in a study that you open, you can view them by using the Prior bar. To show the Prior bar in the viewer, configure the **Use Modified Toolbar** setting (see <u>Configure other interface</u> <u>settings</u>).



The Prior bar contains the current and prior studies on the top row, and their image thumbnails on the bottom row (see figure). The study boxes show the age of the study, and depending on configuration, let you do one or more of the following:

- Hover over a study to display its details.
- Select a study to open the thumbnail bar.
- Double-click a thumbnail to open its image or series (for example, the right box in the top row of the figure).
- If a report is included, select its symbol to view.

## Open a prior report

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the Prior Reports 🚺 button.
- 2. In the **Approved Reports** screen, on the left pane, select a prior report.

**Result**: The report appears in the right pane (may take time to load).

**Note**: If reports are linked, the link symbol appears (in the red circle in the figure).



# About viewing CAD findings

The Exa PACS/RIS viewer automatically displays image markers contained in SR data from supported manufacturers such as iCAD, DiA, Hologic (Malc findings, see below), and CureMetrix (such as the CureMetrix mammography calcification and density markings). To control which markings to display, select options in the SR CAD list (see Configure mammography).

Exa PACS/RIS uses tracking IDs in the SR data to ensure that when you click a 2D/synthesized image annotation it jumps correctly to the corresponding 3D/BTO image. Additionally:

- If the BTO series is not already open, it opens next to the 2D/synthesized view in a 1 x 2 layout. You can go back to the original layout by selecting the backslash key (if the DM was not interrupted).
- When 3D CAD SR markings are present and you hover over a CAD SR marking on the synthesized or 2D view, the color changes to the hover color configured in viewer interface settings.

## Hologic Malc findings

Hologic ImageChecker CAD has a finding type called a Malc, which is a combination of one mammography breast density and one calcification cluster. When Malc findings are present in a CAD SR, the Exa PACS/RIS viewer displays them as a "compass" shape. The center point marking of the compass is determined by the center point of the child breast density. The total count of Malc findings appears in the top overlay next to the count for densities and calcifications.





The Malc "compass" marking and count

## See also:

Configure annotation colors View studies with CAD findings

# View studies with CAD findings

The Exa PACS/RIS Viewer supports 2D CAD findings for mammography and 3D tomographic series. Findings are displayed as overlays. To view CAD findings:

Prerequisites: Configure mammography (especially SR CAD options).

## Procedure

1. <u>Open a study</u> containing CAD findings in the Exa PACS/RIS viewer.

**Result**: The CAD button becomes available.

2. Select the CAD and button, and then select findings to show.

### Example: Calcification Clusters(3) > Show

3. Optional: Select a finding to select a value for the 2D or synthesized view.

**Result**: The screen changes to a  $1 \times 2$  temporary view with the 2D image in one cell and the BTO series moved to the slice with the finding in the other. For example, if you select the RCC finding, the BTO series opens at the RCC slice.

## CAD-related keyboard shortcuts

To easily move through series that include 3D CAD findings, you can use keyboard shortcuts (see <u>Assign toolbar keyboard shortcuts</u>). For example, you can use a keyboard shortcut to jump to the next finding in a BTO study, or turn Malc markings on and off.

### See also:

### About viewing CAD findings

# View priors with the Prior bar

If priors are included in a study that you open, you can view them by using the Prior bar. To show the Prior bar in the viewer, configure the **Use Modified Toolbar** setting (see <u>Configure other interface</u> <u>settings</u>).



The Prior bar contains the current and prior studies on the top row, and their image thumbnails on the bottom row (see figure). The study boxes show the age of the study, and depending on configuration, let you do one or more of the following:

- Hover over a study to display its details.
- Select a study to open the thumbnail bar.
- Double-click a thumbnail to open its image or series (for example, the right box in the top row of the figure).
- If a report is included, select its symbol to view.

## Send an image from the viewer

You can send the current image in the viewer to an application entity. If the image includes annotations, those annotations are included with the image according to the method you specify in the **Send Annotations as** setting (see <u>Configure application entities</u>).

### Procedure

- Optional: To send an annotated image back to its original AE, select Viewer Settings > General
   > Auto Send Annotated Images on Close.
- 2. <u>Open a study in a viewer</u>.
- 3. Optional: Add annotations.

Note: ROI annotations are automatically sent as weighted.

4. Right-click the image and select Send Image/Annotation.



5. In the **Send Study** dialog, in the bottom pane, select one or more AEs.

| CODESION NO. | STUDY DATE         | MODALE BRUDY | DESCRIPTION      | ADDOUNT | THO. FATIENT   | DOB         | REFERRING PHYCICIAN      |
|--------------|--------------------|--------------|------------------|---------|----------------|-------------|--------------------------|
| izxeleszakós | 02./08/3023 T 00 A | CT PLSKA     | 1. ТО ТНІ́Н W/CT | £2589   | SUknJ          | 08/08/1998  | Basselli, bennis Raedolp |
|              |                    |              |                  |         |                |             |                          |
| 10ar bear    | ptian Q            | Priority     | ŭ                | 6       | 🗋 Felizis Appr | unel Report | SENIO TO SELECTED        |

6. Select SEND TO SELECTED or SEND TO ALL.

### See also:

DICOM-send studies, series, or images

## **DICOM-print a study**

You can print the currently viewed image to a preconfigured DICOM printer. The current image prints, including any displayed annotations and overlays. See also <u>Print images to a standard printer</u>.

Note: You cannot print multiframe MR/CT or MG tomography images, or US echocardio series.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu.

## Procedure

1. <u>Open a study</u> in the Symmetry PACS viewer, right-click any image, and then select **DICOM Print**.


2. In the **DICOM Print** dialog, in the **Printer** dropdown list, select a printer.

3. Enter the following remaining settings.

| Setting                  | Description   |  |
|--------------------------|---|--|
| Layout                   | Select Selected Series (see below) and then adjust the frame layout.  |  |
| Annotations              | Select to include annotations, or clear to exclude.   |  |
| W/L (Default)            | Select to print the image with its original window/level settings. Clear to select the current window/level setting.              |  |
| Overlay Text             | Select to include the DICOM overlay (as per-image detail), or clear to exclude.   |  |
| Selected Image           | Select to print the selected image, selected series, current page of images,  |  |
| Selected Series          | key images, or all images.  |  |
| Current Page             |   |  |
| Key Images               |   |  |
| All Images               |   |  |
| Print Selected Page Only |   |  |
| Prev / Next              | Select to move through pages of the print preview.  |  |
| Printer                  | Select a printer (selected earlier in this procedure).  |  |
| Configuration            | Select a printer configuration for the target print medium. To add or edit configurations, see <u>Configure a DICOM printer</u> . |  |

4. Select **DICOM Print**.

## Delete images and series

You can delete images and series from unapproved studies. When you delete a series, only images in the current stack and cell are deleted (even if a series is split across multiple cells). You cannot delete MPR-generated images.

#### Prerequisites:

- Obtain the **Study Delete** right from your administrator.
- Add the Delete Series and/or Delete Images commands to the shortcut menu (see "<u>Add or</u> remove tools from the image shortcut menu").

#### Procedure

1. In the Exa PACS/RIS viewer, right-click an image or series.



2. In the shortcut menu, select **Delete Image** or **Delete Series**.

### Configure the viewer

In the Viewer Settings dialog, you can configure a wide variety of viewer options including display, interface, modality, toolbars, and shortcut menus. For details on operations in the Viewer Settings dialog, see other topics in this section. There are two ways to open the Viewer Settings dialog.

• In the Symmetry PACS viewer, in the upper toolbar, select the setting 🔯 button.



• In the worklist, on the upper toolbar, select the settings in button, and then in the button shortcut menu, select **Viewer Settings**.

## Set up connected displays

Configure all connected monitors that you intend to use with Symmetry PACS. These settings act as default behavior for what study items open in which monitor. If DMs conflict with the settings you enter here, the DM takes precedence.

Prerequisite: Add the Chrome extension.

#### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>GENERAL</u>.
- 2. Under **Display Settings**, in the **Monitors on System** box, select the update  $\bigcirc$  button to update the monitor count (or enter manually), and then select the identify O button.

| Monitors on Syst | en      | 1     |                | C ©    |      |                           |                            |
|------------------|---------|-------|----------------|--------|------|---------------------------|----------------------------|
| Monitor          | Current | Prior | Full<br>Screen | Orders | Туре | Calibration<br>Width (mm) | Calibration<br>Height (mm) |
|                  | 0       | 0     |                |        |      | <u> </u>                  | -                          |

3. In the table of monitors, enter the settings in the following table.

**Note**: At any time you can select the update  $\bigcirc$  button to preview your changes.

| Setting | Description   |
|---------|---|
| Monitor | Select to make monitors available for image viewing. To display orders and studies on the monitor, clear this option. |

| Setting               | Description  |
|-----------------------|--|
| Current               | Select to make monitors available to display current studies.  |
| Prior                 | Select to make monitors available to display prior studies, if available.  |
| Full Screen           | Select to default to full screen view.   |
| Orders                | Select a screen of the program to open in the corresponding monitor when<br>manually opening that section with a viewer tool, or when configured to<br>open automatically. |
|                       | <b>Documents</b> : Opens the document list in the corresponding monitor when you select the button in the viewer, or when Auto Open Documents is enabled.                  |
|                       | Notes: Opens the Notes screen in the corresponding monitor.  |
|                       | <b>Transcription</b> : Opens the Transcription screen (Exa Trans, Web Trans, or other) in the corresponding monitor.   |
|                       | <b>Other</b> : Select other screens in the list. To make options available, select them in the Auto Open Orders list (see <u>Configure other interface settings</u> ).     |
| Туре                  | The color or grayscale display type.   |
| Calibration Width/mm  | Type a manual calibration width (appears on horizontal calipers)   |
| Calibration Height/mm | Type a manual calibration height (appears on vertical calipers)  |

## Configure autosave options

You can configure how the viewer performs automatic saving and other functions.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>GENERAL</u>.



2. Under Autosave Options, enter the settings in the following table.

| Setting                             | Description  |
|-------------------------------------|--|
| Autosave Image Properties on Close  | Automatically saves image properties such as the W/L when<br>the image is closed. Saved properties are restored the next<br>time the image is opened.                        |
| Autosave Image Annotations on Close | Automatically saves image annotations when the image is closed. Saved annotations are restored the next time the image is opened.  |
| Auto Mark Read Study on Close       | Automatically marks the study as "Read" when the study is closed. If Exa Dictation is in use and the workflow includes dictation and transcription, this option is disabled. |
| Auto Upload Dictation on Close      | Automatically uploads recorded dictations to add to the study when the study is closed.  |
| Autosave Viewer Settings on Close   | Automatically saves any changed viewer settings such as toolbar configuration when closing the viewer.   |
| Auto Open Next Study                | When the current study is closed, automatically opens the next study in the worklist that is not partially deleted.  |
| Auto Send Annotated Images on Close | Automatically sends images if they include annotations when<br>the current study is closed.  |

### 3. Select **SAVE.**

## Configure the toolbar

You can configure the appearance and other properties of the viewer toolbar. To configure specific toolbar buttons, see <u>Add or remove toolbar tools</u>.

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>INTERFACE</u>.
- 2. Under **Toolbar**, enter settings described in the table below.

| Toolbar                          |                |
|----------------------------------|----------------|
| Toolbar Button Scale             |                |
| Thumbhail Bar Scale              |                |
| Magnifying Glass Size            | 200 Ps. Factor |
| W/L Acceleration                 |                |
| Span Sensitivity<br>Auto DBt Low | High           |
| Thumbnail Column/Rows            | -              |
| Thembnail Bar Orientation        | Loft v         |
| Hoader Mecu                      | Top 🗸          |
| DM Toolbar                       | Top 👻          |

**Note**: You may need to update the viewer for changes to take effect.

| Setting               | Description  |
|-----------------------|--|
| Toolbar Button Scale  | Adjusts the size of toolbar buttons as a percentage of the screen resolution.  |
| Thumbnail Bar Scale   | Adjusts the size of the thumbnail bar.   |
| Magnifying Glass Size | Adjusts the size of the area affected by the magnifying glass, and the pixel magnification factor (the single digit in the text box).  |
| W/L Acceleration      | Sets the rate or sensitivity of W/L adjustments. Typical range is 100–600.   |
| Span Sensitivity      | <ul> <li>Sets the rate or sensitivity of span adjustments.</li> <li>Auto - Adjusts the speed automatically based on the number of images in the series.</li> <li>Dflt - The default sensitivity after upgrading to version 1.4.32_P1. This is the same sensitivity as the "0/Auto" sensitivity used in version 1.4.29.</li> <li>Low/High - Spans slowly or quickly.</li> </ul> |

| Setting                   | Description  |  |
|---------------------------|--|--|
|                           | <b>Span as Scroll</b> - Spans in correlation with the scroll bar. For example, if the series has 400 images, you can drag from the middle to the bottom of the frame on image 1 to span from 1 to 200.   |  |
| Thumbnail Column/Rows     | Sets the number of columns and rows for the thumbnail bar.   |  |
| Thumbnail Bar Orientation | Sets the position and resultant orientation of the thumbnail bar. If you select Mirror, the thumbnail bar in the left monitor appears on the left side of the screen, and the thumbnail bar in the right monitor appears on the right side of the screen (available when the modified toolbar is not available). |  |
| Header Menu               | Sets the position of the toolbar and other header items.   |  |
| DM Toolbar                | Sets the position of the DM toolbar.   |  |

#### See also:

Configure other interface settings

## **Configure calipers**

You can configure the number and placement of calipers.

#### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>INTERFACE</u>.
- 2. Under **Caliper Position**, select checkboxes for each caliper that you want to display, and then select **SAVE**.



### Configure other interface settings

You can configure miscellaneous viewer toolbar and other settings.

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>INTERFACE</u>.
- 2. Under **Other Toolbar**, enter the settings in table below.

### **exo**-PLATFORM

Hide Partiel Clase Batton

| Other Toolbar                              |                                    | 🗇 Hole All Venter Cayout Charge Button |
|--|------------------------------------|--|
| Ast on Dose                                | Auto Open Ordera                   | D Show Label In DM Previou             |
| EN STATE AND                               | 🗇 Arti-trbes                       | 🗇 Shee Widde Silos Thumbrid            |
| 🗋 Segle Insiane Mole                       | 🗖 Additional Information           |  |
| C Sto Fanes in Cee to Mantan Highard Speed | 🗋 Allergian                        | 🗋 Losbie Cardis Viewer                 |
| D Show Outlines for First: Last Images     | Approved Registry                  | 🗆 DeableQuestig 🔺 🕶                    |
| 🗇 Öper Keylmagen an Dingle langen          | Auto Show Priere Bar               | 🖾 Stretch Reor Bar                     |
| 💭 Use Madified Tooline                     | 🖬 Focus in an Zoom Point           | T Show Prior trees.                    |
| 🗇 Galger Zoom                              | 2 Fill Empty DM Calls              | 🗋 Azta Ogen 177A7                      |
| 🖾 AsterHay Ona Energy                      | High-Quality Interpolation         | 🗔 Spin W.A. Region                     |
| Auto Play Cine Wats Time (me) 100          | Enable RBE/VER Swap                | 🗋 - Color Oviy an Last Monitor         |
| 🗇 Delavit France Rote for MP4 🛛 15         | Enable Developer Mode              | ClearSide Window/Level for US          |
| 🔲 Batadi Cutino Theirese 🛛 I               | Show Galibrated Ultrassound Region | D Show Span OverNy                     |
| Тор  | middle                             | bottom                                 |

Тор...

...middle...

| Setting   | Description   |
|---|---|
| Ask on Close                                      | Prompts you to specify which items to save before closing the viewer, related to the <u>Autosave</u> options.   |
| Single Instance Mode                              | Limits the viewer to one display frame per browser.   |
| Skip Frames in Cine to Maintain Playback<br>Speed | Skips large images in a cine loop so that the cine plays a fixed speed. Helpful with slower computers or video cards.   |
| Show Cutlines for First/Last Images               | Shows any available cutlines only on the first and last images of a series.   |
| Open Key Images as Single Images                  | Displays any available key images separately in the thumbnail<br>area. When cleared, shows all series images in the key image<br>thumbnail area.  |
| Use Modified Toolbar                              | Temporarily hides the thumbnail bar, and adds a Prior bar at<br>the top of the screen that displays patient priors in order.<br>You can hover over a prior to display series/image<br>thumbnails, and select the thumbnails to open the images.<br>Works in conjunction with the Auto Show Priors Bar option. |
| Caliper Zoom                                      | If selected, you can drag the calipers to zoom the current image.   |
| Auto-Play Cine Loops                              | Automatically plays cine loops when opened.   |
| Auto Play Cine Wait Time (ms)                     | Sets a pause time before auto-playing cine loops.   |
| Default Frame Rate for MP4                        | Sets a default frame rate for MP4 files.  |
| Default Cutline Thickness                         | Sets a default thickness for cutlines.  |
| Auto Open Orders                                  | Selects the options that appear in the Orders dropdown list<br>in Viewer Settings > General > Display Settings.   |

| Setting                               | Description  |
|---------------------------------------|--|
| Auto Show Priors Bar                  | Shows all prior studies in a separate bar at the top of the viewer.  |
| Focus-In on Zoom Point                | When selected, the user can drag on an image to zoom in and out at the initial pointer position.   |
| Fill Empty DM Cells                   | Fills undefined DM frames with the next available images in the current study.   |
| High-Quality Interpolation            | Select to use high-quality image interpolation. Frequently<br>used to enhance X-ray quality. You can use this option to<br>remove unwanted "gridlines" if switching between earlier<br>and high-resolution monitors. |
| Enable RGB/YBR Swap                   | Makes the color settings supported by the user video settings<br>available. Corrects Red/Blue color reversal errors in venous<br>US and other color-based modalities.  |
| Enable Developer Mode                 | Shows development mode logs, and displays a vertical green<br>line in the right side of each frame when the server performs<br>a prefetch.   |
| Show Calibrated Ultrasound Region     | Server side setting.   |
| Hide Partial Close Button             | Hides the partial close button, an "X" that appears next to the logoff button. Partial closing closes the study, but leaves the viewer open for faster loading of future studies.                                    |
| Hide All Monitor Layout Change Button | Hides the toolbar's monitor layout change button that appears when two or more monitors are made available.  |
| Show Label in DM Preview              | Shows the previews of hanging protocols in the DM bar.   |
| Show Middle Slice Thumbnail           | Shows only the thumbnail of the middle slice in a series on the thumbnail list.  |
| Enable Cardio Viewer                  | [Unused]   |
| Disable Queuing                       | Forces synchronous communication; client message and<br>server response occur one at a time. CAUTION: We do not<br>recommend changing this setting. Consult with your Konica-<br>Minolta representative.             |
| Stretch Prior Bar                     | Extends the prior bar across multiple monitors. If the prior bar exceeds the total available screen width, a scroll bar appears.   |
| Show Prior Index                      | Displays the Prior index number in the thumbnail and Prior bars.   |
| Auto open STAT                        | When you open a study in the Symmetry PACS viewer, this option automatically opens any STAT images, if included.   |
| Split W/L Region                      | [Unused]   |
| Color Only as Last Monitor            | Chooses the color monitor as the last monitor on which to display images.  |

| Setting                         | Description  |
|---------------------------------|--|
| Client-Side Window/Level for US | Processes the Window/Level for ultrasounds on the client side. May reduce lag by bypassing the server. |
| Show Span Overlay               | Shows a span sensitivity adjustment slider on images.  |

#### See also:

Configure the toolbar

## Configure annotation tool functionality

You can configure annotation tool functionality.

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>INTERFACE</u>.
- 2. Under **Annotation**, enter the settings in the table below.



| Setting               | Description   |
|-----------------------|---|
| Show Annotation       | Shows annotations by default. The user can still hide them manually in the viewer.  |
| One-Click Annotations | Changes from the selected annotation tool to the default<br>cursor after each use. If cleared, the user can reuse the tool<br>repeatedly without re-selecting the tool. |

| Setting                           | Description  |
|-----------------------------------|--|
| Show One-Click Annotations Button | Shows a button in the viewer toolbar for turning one-click annotation on and off.  |
| Annotation Edit Mode              | Selects the Edit command in the image shortcut menu by default, to move, resize, or delete annotations.  |
| Use Dot Cursor                    | Changes the standard arrow pointer to a dot pointer.   |
| Edit Annotations after Creating   | Causes the viewer to enter Edit mode after initial placement of an annotation.   |
| Allow Drag Create                 | Creates annotations by dragging instead of selecting.  |
| Confirm Annotation Delete         | Prompts the user for confirmation when deleting annotations.   |
| Persistent Annotation Tool        | Makes a selected annotation tool available until the user<br>selects a different tool. If cleared, the pointer changes to the<br>default operation after using the tool. |
| Show Measurements In              | Sets the units for any length measurements taken.  |

## Configure annotation colors

You can configure the color of annotations to indicate whether they are selected, in edit mode, or applied.

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>INTERFACE</u>.
- 2. Under **Colors**, to add an annotation color, select inside a color or grayscale box and then use the color picker to select a color.

| Colors           |                 |
|------------------|-----------------|
|                  | Color Orayscale |
| Anno Color 1     | #FFFF00         |
|                  | #FFFFFF         |
| Anno Color 2     | 100EF00         |
|                  | #FFFFFF         |
| Anno Color 3     | HINDE           |
|                  | #FFFFFF         |
| Anno Color 4     | 1870.097        |
|                  | #FFFFFF         |
| Anno Color 5     | #FFFFFF         |
|                  | AFFFFFF         |
| Anno Color Edit  | and the second  |
|                  | AFFFFF          |
| Anno Color Hover | MANGER T        |
|                  | WEFFFOR         |

**Anno Color 1–5**: Annotations appear in these colors by default.

Anno Color Edit: Annotations change to this color when you edit them.

Anno Color Hover: Annotations change to this color when you hover over them.

3. Select SAVE.

### Configure annotation size and scaling

You can configure the pixel or font size of annotations, and scale annotation points.

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>INTERFACE</u>.
- 2. Under **Miscellaneous**, enter the settings in the table below.

| Miscellaneou                                 | IS |   |   |
|--|----|---|---|
| Scale in Pixel Size                          |    |   |   |
| Scale Annotation<br>Font By                  | 2  |   | ] |
| Scale Annotation<br>Point By                 |    |   |   |
| Invert SR Reports                            |    |   |   |
| De <mark>fault SR Report</mark><br>Font Size |    | ۲ |   |

| Setting                     | Description  |  |
|-----------------------------|--|--|
| Scale in Pixel Size         | Determines the annotation font size by the pixel size.   |  |
| Scale Annotation Font By    | Sets the font size for annotations.  |  |
|                             | Scale Pixel Size <b>ON</b> : Default is approximately 10   |  |
|                             | Scale Pixel Size <b>OFF</b> : Default is approximately 1 to 1.5  |  |
| Scale Annotation Point By   | Sets the size of annotation handles (from 0.1 to 5).   |  |
| Invert SR Reports           | If an SR appears within a cell, displays it in reverse video (such as white text on black background). |  |
| Default SR Report Font Size | Sets the default font size for text in SR reports that appear within a cell.                           |  |

# Configure recording

You can configure audio recording options for Exa Dictation.

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>INTERFACE</u>.
- 2. Under **Record Control**, enter the settings in the table below.

| Recording Control             |         |
|-------------------------------|---------|
| Hold for Record               |         |
| Beep on Record (heard on reco | erding) |
| Blink on Record Pause         |         |
| Monkey Chatter on Rewind      |         |
| FFWD/RWD Factor (200-500)     |         |
| Lag (0-5000)                  |         |

| Setting                   | Description  |
|---------------------------|--|
| Hold for Record           | Requires you to hold down the button for the duration of recording.                                  |
| Beep on Record            | Beeps when recording starts. The beep may be audible on resultant recordings.                        |
| Blink on Record Pause     | Causes the microphone light to blink when recording is paused.                                       |
| Monkey Chatter on Rewind  | Plays "monkey chatter" sound when rewinding.   |
| FFWD/RWD Factor (200-500) | Changes the rate of fast forward and rewind, in milliseconds.  |
| Lag (0-5000)              | Delays the response after selecting play or record by the specified amount of time, in milliseconds. |

## Show or hide tool buttons

You can hide certain tool buttons.

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>INTERFACE</u>.
- 2. Under **Tool Buttons**, select the checkboxes of the items that you want to hide.

| Tool Buttons       |  |
|--------------------|--|
| Hide Document      |  |
| Hide Notes         |  |
| Hide Print         |  |
| Hide Reports       |  |
| Hide Transcription |  |

## Configure modality-specific viewing options

You can configure how studies appear in the viewer for all modalities, or for each specific modality.

### Procedure

| TTINGS           |      |                  |                |               | LANC          |
|------------------|------|------------------|----------------|---------------|---------------|
| UENERAL          | 4    | Layout           |                | Mouse Butte   | 000           |
|                  | 90   | Cajoat           |                | ALCOUT DUTA   | 199 M.C.      |
| ITTEFACE         | DB   | Screen Layour    | 111.00         | Eph           | Note 🐱        |
|                  | 57   | 110/11/08/2011   |                | Start         |               |
| A CONTLUCK       | MG   | Serve Leycut     | (*)            | 1151          | Signa 👻       |
| a development of | MR   |                  |                | Middle        | None Y        |
|                  | MM   | Compressio       | n              |               |               |
| AMMOSRAPHT       | 81   |                  |                | Loft+Right    | Note 😁        |
| 1.5              | 15   | Norel Diagressio |                |               |               |
| IVERLAVO         | (DR  |                  |                |               |               |
|                  | 100  | Descenter        |                |               |               |
|                  | DOK  | Presets          |                |               |               |
| all local        | FT   |                  |                | Window Witten | Window Center |
|                  | 11   |                  | Key Decomption | WIRDOW MITTH  | Window Center |
| OCTERNAL         | 80   | 0                | *              |               |               |
| TOOLS            | XX   |                  |                |               |               |
|                  | 13P  |                  |                |               |               |
|                  | το   | 0.1              |                |               |               |
|                  | - 46 | Options          |                |               |               |
|                  | 58   |                  |                |               |               |

1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > **MODALITY**.

- 2. In the list of modalities, select a modality to configure.
- 3. Enter the settings in the following table.

| Section       | Setting                      | Description   |
|---------------|------------------------------|---|
| Layout        | Screen Layout                | Changes the number and layout of series frames.   |
|               | Series Layout                | Changes the number and layout of image frames within series frames.   |
| Mouse Buttons | Left/Right/Middle/Left+Right | Assigns functions to mouse buttons. This is frequently used by CAD users to assign functions to extra mouse buttons.  |
| Compression   | ·                            | Sets the image quality, which inversely affects viewer performance.   |
| Presets       | Кеу                          | Assigns shortcut keys to W/L presets.   |
|               | Description                  | Type a name for the W/L preset.   |
|               | Window Width                 | Sets the window width of the W/L preset.  |
|               | Window Center                | Sets the window center of the W/L preset.   |
|               | Set                          | Select when finished entering Preset settings.  |
| Options       | Auto Linking                 | Automatically numerically links the current<br>series projection (Sagittal, Coronal, and Axial)<br>with all other like series projections in that<br>study. |
|               | Assume Color Study           | Forces studies of the selected modality to<br>appear in the default color monitor set in the<br>display settings regardless of color.                       |
|               | Assure All Viewed            | Displays a check mark in thumbnails of images<br>that were opened, and warns the user when<br>closing before all images are opened.                         |
|               | Auto CLAHE                   | Automatically applies CLAHE, enhancing image contrast.  |
|               | Auto Hang DM                 | Enables the use of DMs. Makes the first instance<br>on the DM preview available to hang on the<br>viewer.   |
|               | Auto DM Wrap                 | Enables moving from the final step of a DM directly to the first step, and back again.  |
|               | Auto Hang Priors             | Automatically loads the first prior when the viewer opens. Works in conjunction with Auto Open Priors.  |
|               | Auto Replace Priors          | Automatically replaces prior images in the current layout.  |
|               | Auto-Invert SC Images        | Inverts white and black of scanned documents such as prior reports. Reduces eye fatigue.  |
|               | Auto Next Series             | When moving beyond the last image of the current series, automatically opens the next series.   |

| Section | Setting                                   | Description   |
|---------|---|---|
|         | Auto Next Series Cine                     | Automatically starts cine play of the next series when the user opens it.   |
|         | Auto Next Series Wrap                     | Automatically opens the first series after viewing the last image of the last series in a study.  |
|         | Auto Next Study                           | Automatically opens the next study in the worklist after closing the current study.   |
|         | Auto Swap Red/Blue                        | Inverts colors that may not be displayed from<br>the modality properly (such as with non-DICOM<br>ultrasounds).   |
|         | Auto Show DICOM Overlays                  | Automatically displays DICOM overlays, if present.  |
|         | Auto Show SR Overlays                     | Automatically displays SR overlays, if present.   |
|         | Auto Show Cutlines                        | Automatically displays cutlines, if present. Note,<br>this setting also applies to synthesized<br>mammogram views, in which the cutlines<br>indicate the position of the currently viewed<br>image on the corresponding BTO view. |
|         | Auto Show Cine                            | Shows the media control bar when a series is opened.  |
|         | Auto Show W/L Bar                         | Shows the window/level bar when the viewer opens.   |
|         | Detect Pixel Padding                      | Turns detection of pixel padding ON/OFF.  |
|         | DM Allow Missing Cell                     | Shows a blank cell in the DM if the assigned image is not available.  |
|         | DM Save W/L                               | Saves the window/level with the DM.   |
|         | Save Study DM on Close                    | Creates a new DM for each study when it<br>closed, or when the next study auto-opens. The<br>DM is named with the accession number, and<br>contains the last displayed stack and monitor<br>position.                             |
|         | Show PDF in Last Stack                    | Moves PDF files to the last place in the stack: in<br>the viewer, they are loaded last, if an empty cell<br>is available.   |
|         | Instance Window/Level                     | Select to show each image with its own W/L  |
|         |   | Clear to show each image with the W/L of the first instance.  |
|         | Do Not Skip Images                        | Prevents moving forward if subsequent images are not yet loaded.  |
|         | Ignore Frame of Reference within<br>Study | Disables referencing of the study's DICOM frame<br>of reference UID when performing linking and<br>cutline functionality.   |

| Section | Setting                           | Description  |
|---------|-----------------------------------|--|
|         | Ignore LUT                        | If LUT values are corrupted, Symmetry PACS ignores the LUT values, and attempts to render the best image possible.             |
|         | Ignore Presentation LUT           | Same as Ignore LUT, but select for certain vendors that use a "Presentation LUT."  |
|         | Keep Rotate                       | Applies the current rotation to all images in the series.  |
|         | Keep W/L                          | Applies the current W/L to all images in the series.   |
|         | Keep Zoom                         | Applies the current zoom level to all images in the series.  |
|         | Extend Image Display (if Stretch) | When Stretch Across Monitors is selected,<br>extends a single image across multiple<br>monitors.                               |
|         | Pixel Padding as Background       | Interpolates missing pixel data to fill in "dead" spots in an image.   |
|         |                                   | <b>Note</b> : When using this feature, reading physicians should be aware that some pixels may be synthesized.                 |
|         | Pre-generate Bitmaps              | Pre-generates bitmaps automatically if imported into PACS.   |
|         | Reset W/L for Individual Images   | Select to use the original W/L of each individual image.   |
|         |                                   | Clear to use the first W/L sent by the modality for all images.  |
|         |                                   | Frequently used to optimize MRI images.  |
|         | Select Last Contrast Entry        | When DICOM tags include multiple W/L values, uses the last values for all images in the series. Clear to use the first values. |
|         | Show 3D Spine Labels              | Shows the 3D spine label tool on the toolbar.  |
|         | Show 'Bone Enhance' on Toolbar    | Shows the Bone Enhance (sharp mask) tool on the toolbar.   |
|         | Show DM Toolbar                   | Shows/hides the DM toolbar on initial load.  |
|         | Show Spine Labels                 | Shows the spine labels tool on the toolbar.  |
|         | Sort Thumbnails by Date/Time      | Sorts thumbnails by date/time of acquisition.  |
|         | Stop Thumbnail from Updating      | Prevents W/L changes to the current image from affecting its thumbnail.  |
|         | Stretch Across Monitors           | Turns on extending of images across all active monitors.   |

| Section            | Setting                      | Description  |
|--------------------|------------------------------|--|
|                    | Cine Direction               | Sets the cine playback to forward or backward.   |
|                    | Default FPS                  | Causes cine play to occur at the default frames per second, depending on modality.                             |
|                    | Enable 4DM                   | Opens the 4DM viewer for post-processing.<br>(Requires configuration to integrate with the<br>4DM viewer.)     |
|                    | Disable CINE Scrolling       | Disables cine play of series.  |
|                    | Active Frame Based Cineplay  | Playing a cine loop on one series automatically plays all linked series.                                       |
|                    | Disable Caliper on Cine      | Hides calipers during cine playback.   |
| Auto-Split Rules   | Always                       | Splits series into individual images.  |
|                    | Differing Echo Time          | Splits series by echo time.  |
|                    | Differing Series Number      | Splits series by series number.  |
|                    | Differing Series Time        | Splits series by series time.  |
|                    | Differing Acquisition Number | Splits by acquisition number to create stacks for separate acquisitions/scans.                                 |
|                    | Differing Diffusion Value    | Splits images within similar series UID by b-<br>value (0018,9087 MR Diffusion Value) into<br>separate series. |
|                    | Differing Trigger Time       | Splits by trigger time (0018,1060).  |
|                    | Isolate MPEG                 | Splits MPEG images or videos.  |
|                    | Isolate Multiframe           | Splits cine loops into multiple images.  |
| Auto Bone Enhance  |                              | Highlights the bone portions of images by the percentage you type.   |
| Auto WL Type       |                              | Selects which W/L to use (such as when values are not available from the modality).                            |
|                    |                              | <b>Normal</b> : Use the W/L tags from the modality, if available.  |
|                    |                              | <b>Raw Img</b> : Ignore W/L tags and allow the viewer to auto-contrast the image.                              |
|                    |                              | Full: Allows full range of W/L by bit depth:   |
|                    |                              | 8 bit = 256, 10 bit = 1024, 12 bit = 4096  |
| Auto Reorder Image | S                            | Automatically changes the order of images in a series to the selected order.                                   |
|                    |                              | <b>Image Number</b> : Displays images by DICOM instance number, lowest to highest.                             |
|                    |                              |  |

| Section       | Setting                           | Description  |
|---------------|-----------------------------------|--|
|               |                                   | <b>Image Number Reverse</b> : Displays images by DICOM instance number, highest to lowest.   |
|               |                                   | <b>Slice Location</b> : Displays images by DICOM slice location, lowest to highest.  |
|               |                                   | <b>Slice Location Reverse</b> : Displays images by DICOM slice location, highest to lowest.  |
|               |                                   | <b>Image Time</b> : Displays images by DICOM acquisition time, lowest to highest.  |
| Prior Options | Auto Open Prior                   | Automatically opens prior studies.   |
|               | Relevant Priors                   | When automatically opening priors, also opens<br>relevant priors from other modalities. See<br>"Define relevant priors" later in this topic. |
|               | Auto Open Prior Count             | When automatically opening priors, opens the selected number of studies.   |
|               | Force Relevant Only               | Opens only the defined relevant priors (see<br>"Define relevant priors" later in this topic).  |
|               | Prioritize Current Modality First | When opening relevant priors, display same-<br>modality priors first.  |

5. Optional. If you selected Relevant Priors, see the next section, "Advanced options for displaying relevant priors."

### Define relevant priors

Defining relevant priors allows you to auto-open only priors that are relevant to the current study based on study description, modality, or body part. To write definitions for which priors are relevant you use a syntax called *relevant prior logic*:

STRING or (STRING|STRING|...){.\*(STRING|STRING|...)}

"A single string, or multiple strings delimited with a bar, optionally followed by ".\*" plus multiple strings delimited with a bar."

### Example 1

When the main study description contains "CHEST" or "THORAX," the relevant priors to auto-open are CT studies whose descriptions also contain "CHEST" or "THORAX."

| Auto De  | en Pilor Goun |             | Prore<br>Drily             | te Relevant 🔲 Prioritize Cut<br>Fuet | mant Modality |
|----------|---------------|-------------|----------------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------|
|          |               |             |                            |                                      |               |
| Modality | Bally Part    | Description | Main<br>Study<br>Body Part | Main Study Description               |               |

Prior settings on the left...

...main study settings on the right

### Example 2

- When the main study description contains "CLAVICLE," SCAPULA," or "SHOULDER" followed by "LEFT," "LT," or "BI," the relevant priors to auto-open are those whose descriptions also match those criteria.
- The same is true for the **RIGHT** shoulder.
- Priors of the same **modality** as the main study are opened first.

| Re Alto Do | a Open Prise<br>Jovant Prices<br>en Prise Court |   | C Ford<br>Only             | e Felerant    | 🗧 Prinsitiae Current Mo<br>Fest | daliy |   |
|------------|---|---|----------------------------|---------------|---------------------------------|-------|---|
|            |   |   |                            |               |                                 |       | _ |
| sautality  | Body Part                                       | Descrigition  | Main<br>Baudy<br>Budy Part | Main Study De | ecription                       |       |   |
| skotalny   | flody Part                                      | Description<br>(DEAVOLEDGAPILLA SERVEDER)*<br>(LEFTERN) | Baudy                      |               | eription<br>APLEA(SHOLLDER))*   | ×     |   |

Note: You can also define relevant priors to auto-send (see Configure routing rules).

## Configure overlays

You can configure the appearance and contents of overlays.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > **OVERLAYS**.

| SETTINGS          |                 |  |      |                    |                        |            |
|-------------------|-----------------|--|------|--------------------|------------------------|------------|
|                   |                 |  |      |                    |                        | SAVE       |
| WENERAL           | Poin Farady     | Artal w Size   | 10 ¥ |                    |                        |            |
| INTERFACE         | Modelite        | AL V   |      |                    |                        |            |
| MODALITY          | Left Overi      | ay   |      | Right Överl        | ay                     |            |
| MANINGGRAPHN      | neld            |  |      | ried               |                        |            |
| OVERLAYS          | Profix          | Mask   | 400  | Partic             | Made                   | 1.400      |
| WACHENIA          | imes institutes | n(ooce, ocec)  |      | $	imes$ image_inst | tancelincles           |            |
| 7008.8            | imes institutes | a_addr(0000,0001)  |      | × StudyID_d        | iaon_stedy_ici(0020.00 | 10         |
|                   | × m.dkor        | _patien_1d(0000,0020)  |      | × Sparing s        | pacing.hetween_slices  | 0018.00880 |
| EXTERNAL<br>TOOLD | × Name,p        | nient_nome(0010,0010)  |      | imes AN, arrow     | sion_no(0008,0050)     |            |
|                   | × DCB_birt      | h_date(0010,0030)  |      | × Rip,Rip,a        | ngle(0018,1314)        |            |
|                   | × sex.put       | wsl_sec(0010.0040)   |      | × Loc_slice,       | lacation(09/23,1041)   |            |
|                   | × III shade     | - de la consta d |      | X The skee         | deletere mata da Sm.   |            |

2. Enter the settings in the following table.

| Section           | Setting     | Description   |
|-------------------|-------------|---|
|                   | Font Family | Select the font used for overlays.  |
|                   | Size        | Select the font size used for overlays.   |
|                   | Modality    | Select to which modality the overlay settings apply. You can enter modality-specific settings or select all modalities.       |
| Left/Right        | Field       | Click inside the box and then:  |
| Overlay           |             | Select a property from the list, or   |
|                   |             | • Type a DICOM tag (e.g. 0020,0010)   |
|                   | Prefix      | If you typed a DICOM tag in the Field box, type a tag prefix. You can use an intuitive prefix such as Series #, DOB, or Time. |
|                   | Mask        | Optional. Type attributes that describe mask operations for a multi-<br>frame image (see the DICOM standard).                 |
| Bottom<br>Overlay | FOV/MAG/W/L | Displays the field of view, magnification, and W/L for each series in the bottom corner.                                      |

#### 3. Select ADD

**Result**: The tag appears at the bottom of the list.

- 4. Optional. Drag the tag to a new position in the list.
- 5. Select **SAVE**.

## Add or remove toolbar tools

You can add or remove tools from various viewer toolbars in the program, and customize your choices by modality.

Note: Not all toolbar tools can be removed.

#### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>TOOLS</u>.
- 2. Under **Toolbar**, select the modality whose toolbar you want to customize.



**IMPORTANT**: The Toolbar **All** setting only defines the default tool settings. If any modalityspecific tools were configured, they override the default. Therefore we recommend configuring each modality you plan to use (such as "CT" in the figure above).

3. In the list, select one of the following toolbars to customize.

**MAIN** – The toolbar at the top of the viewer.

**TOP/BOTTOM/LEFT** – The toolbar accessible by pointing to the top, bottom, or left edge of an image.

- 4. Under **Tools**, select or clear the checkboxes of the tools that you want to add or remove.
- 5. Select **SAVE.**

#### See also:

Viewer toolbar tools

## Add or remove tools from the image shortcut menu

You can add or remove tools from the shortcut menu that appears when you right-click an image, and customize your choices by modality.

#### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>TOOLS</u>.
- 2. Under **Toolbar**, select the modality whose shortcut menu you want to customize.

| Toolbar          | Tool | 8                  |
|------------------|------|--------------------|
| ct 🔹             |      | Toola              |
| >>MAIN           |      | 3D Angle           |
| >>TOP            |      | 3D Measure         |
|                  |      | 3D Point           |
| >>BOTTOM         |      | 30 R01             |
| >>LEFT           |      | 3D Rey             |
| >>CONTEXTMENU    |      | 3D Carsor          |
| >>KYBD SHORTCUTS |      | Angular Rotation   |
|                  |      | Artisci Imana Size |

- 3. In the list, select **CONTEXT MENU**.
- 4. Under **Tools**, select or clear the checkboxes for tools that you want to add or remove.
- 5. Select **SAVE.**

### Assign toolbar keyboard shortcuts

You can assign keyboard shortcuts ("hot keys") to tools, and customize shortcuts by modality.

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>TOOLS</u>.
- 2. Under **Toolbar**, select the modality for which you want to assign shortcuts.

|                         | -   |    |                     |
|-------------------------|-----|----|---------------------|
| ল                       | -   | _  | Tools               |
| 30UAM                   | -11 |    | 10 Angle            |
| 920084)<br>             |     | D. | 20 Measure          |
| 3370#                   |     |    | 30 Paint            |
| 2000TTOM                |     |    | 10-1601             |
| SPIER                   |     | D  | 10 Ray              |
| >>CONTEXTMENO           |     |    | 10:0,710            |
| PARYED SHOWTCUTS        |     |    | Inighter Polation   |
| >> ERA TRIAND SHORTCUTS |     |    | Actual unege Biza   |
|                         |     |    | Deale Teaching Budy |
|                         |     | -  | keleteka a          |

- 3. In the list, select **KEYBOARD SHORTCUTS**.
- 4. Under **Tools**, select the checkboxes of the tools to which you want to assign shortcuts.
- 5. In the **Shortcut** box, type the keyboard shortcut. The shortcut can be one of the following, either by itself or preceded by the **Ctrl** key:
  - Alphanumeric character (A–Z, a–z, 0–9)
  - Arrow key (**Up**, **Down**, **Left**, or **Right**)
  - Basic math operator (+, -, \*, /)
- 6. Select **SAVE.**

### Configure opening of a third-party program

You can configure Symmetry PACS to open third-party programs such as Ikonopedia, PowerScribe 360, and MModal.

Prerequisites: Install Exa Launch, Add a trusted IP or URL.

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>GENERAL</u>.
- 2. Under **Display Settings**, in the table of monitors, on the row corresponding to the monitor on which to open the third-party application, select the row's **DISPLAY** checkbox.

| Monitar  | Current | Prior | Full<br>Screen | Orders | Туре | Calibration<br>Width (mm) | Colibration<br>Height (mm) |
|----------|---------|-------|----------------|--------|------|---------------------------|----------------------------|
| DISPLAY1 | 0       | 0     |                | P\$360 | *    | (                         |                            |

- 3. In the row's **Orders** dropdown list, select the application (such as PS360 or MModal).
- 4. In the left pane, select **INTERFACE**.
- 5. Under **Other Toolbar**, in the **Auto Open Orders** group, select the application (such as **PS360** or **MModal**).

| C 1 reactapaidia    | 14 |
|---------------------|----|
| Probleme            |    |
| 2 P\$360            |    |
| Referrals           |    |
| Referring Providere |    |

- 6. In the left pane, select **TOOLS**.
- 7. Under **Toolbar**, select **MAIN**, and then in the right pane, select the **External Tools** checkbox.

| Toolbar  | Dot             |
|----------|-----------------|
| ст 👻     | Edit Annotation |
| 20 MAIN  | flipse          |
| >>TOP    | External Toole  |
| **BOTTOM | FH Messure      |

8. In the left pane, select **EXTERNAL TOOLS**.

| Description *   |   |  | perivad   |
|-----------------|---|--|---|
| ligumenta       | 3                                       |  |   |
| er er er raking |   |  |   |
| nitial Director |   |  |   |
|                 |   |  |   |
| leyboard Sho    |   |  |   |
| 🔲 Toolbar B     | utton                                   |  |   |
| Do not Be       | ise-64 encode URE                       | inguments  |   |
|                 | ty ID for subdirector                   | y  |   |
| ADO             | 7                                       |  |   |
|                 | Toolbar B     Do not Be     Use facilit | Toolbar Button Do not Base 64 encode URL Uso facility ID for subdirector ADD | Toolbar Button Do not Base 64 encode URL arguments Uso facility ID for subdirectory |

9. Enter the settings in the following table, and then select **ADD**.

| Setting           | Description  |
|-------------------|--|
| Title             | Type a title for the program.  |
| Description       | Type a description of the program.   |
| Command           | Type the command to run when you select the toolbar button (such as the path to the executable, or a URL). |
| Arguments         | Type arguments to pass to the command at runtime.  |
|                   | Symmetry PACS supports the following arguments:  |
|                   | {{account_no}} (patient ID)  |
|                   | {{id}} (study ID)<br>{{accession_no}}<br>{{facility_id}}   |
|                   | {{username}}   |
|                   | {{user_id}}  |
|                   | {{patientName}}<br>{{patientDOB}}<br>{{patientSex}}<br>{{studyDescription}}                                |
|                   | {{series_uid}}   |
|                   | {{image_uid}}  |
| Initial Directory | Type the path to the root folder.  |

| Setting                                   | Description   |
|---|---|
| Keyboard Shortcut                         | Optional: Type a keyboard key sequence to use as a shortcut for opening the program.  |
| Toolbar Button                            | Optional: Select to add a dedicated button for the application on the viewer toolbar. |
| Do not Base-64<br>Encode URL<br>Arguments |   |
| Use Facility ID for<br>Subdirectory       | Do no select (reserved for PenRad).   |

## Configure opening of Visage RIS

You can configure Symmetry PACS to integrate with Visage RIS.

Prerequisite: Install Exa Launch and Install Exa Tool.

### Enable integration with Visage RIS

- 1. Go to <u>Viewer Settings</u> > <u>INTERFACE</u>.
- 2. In the Auto Open Orders list, select Visage RIS.

| Studies       | 34 |
|---------------|----|
| Summary       |    |
| Transcription |    |
| Visage RIS    |    |
| Vital Signs   |    |

### Select a monitor

- 1. In the left pane, select **GENERAL**.
- 2. Under **Display Settings**, on the **Orders** list of the monitor to use, select **Visage RIS**.

| GENERAL    | Display Set  | tings   |       |   |                      |      |
|------------|--|---------|-------|---|----------------------|------|
| NTERFACE   | Monitars on Syst   | en      | Ť     | ć®  |                      |      |
| TODALITY   | Monitor  | Current | Prior | Full Screen   | Orders               | Туре |
| AMMOGRAPHY | DISPLAY1   | 0       | 0     |   | ExaTrane2 M 👻        |      |
| VERLAYS    | Autosave Options   |         |       | Foliow Ups<br>Renopedia<br>Inmunitations<br>Insurance Profile<br>Lab Orders<br>MModel<br>Modeol History |                      |      |
| COLS       | Autoeave Image Properties on Close     Autoeave Image Annotations on Close |         |       |   | Medications<br>PS360 |      |
| CTERNAL    | Auto Mark Read Study on Close  |         |       | Patient Alerta<br>Patient to fo   |                      |      |
| TOOLS      | Auto Uplaed Dictation on Close   |         |       | Penilad<br>Prescriptions<br>Price Studies<br>Problems<br>Roterrals<br>Roterrals                         |                      |      |
|            | Autosave Viewer Settings on Close  |         |       |   |                      |      |
|            | Auto Open Next Study   |         |       |   |                      |      |
|            | Auto Send Annotated Images on Close  |         |       | Visage RIS  |                      |      |

## Create a profile for Visage $\ensuremath{\mathsf{RIS}}$

1. In the left pane, select **EXTERNAL TOOLS**.

| Viewer Settings |                   |  |
|-----------------|-------------------|--|
| GENERAL         | Title *           | Visage   |
| INTERFACE       | Description *     | Visage R/S   |
|                 | Command           | exat.//launch/q=   |
| MODALITY        | Argumenta         | accession_no=((accession_nc))# <mark>cont_vit_syste</mark> |
| маммобнарну     | Initial Directory |  |
|                 | Keyboard Shortcut |  |
| OVERLAYS        |                   | 📴 Toolbor Button   |
| TOOLS           |                   | Do not Base-64 encode URL argaments                        |
| EXTERNAL        |                   | Use facility ID for subdirectory                           |
| TOOLS           |                   |  |

2. Enter the following settings, and then select **ADD**.

| Setting                                   | Description  |
|---|--|
| Title                                     | Any, such as "Visage"                                    |
| Description                               | Any, such as "Visage RIS"                                |
| Command                                   | exal://launch/q=   |
| Arguments                                 | accession_no={{accession_no}}&cmd=visageris              |
|   |  |
| Initial Directory                         | [Leave blank]  |
| Keyboard Shortcut                         | Optional: Type a keyboard shortcut.                      |
| Toolbar Button                            | Select (adds a Visage RIS button to the viewer toolbar). |
| Do Not Base-64<br>Encode URL<br>Arguments |  |
| Use Facility ID for<br>Subdirectory       | [Leave cleared]  |

3. Select **SAVE**.

## Lines, curves, shapes, and text

You can draw linear shapes and add text to images.

### Draw lines and shapes

You can draw rectangles and ellipses on images.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

1. On the viewer toolbar, select one of the following tools.

П

 $^{\circ}$ 

2

- Rectangle
- Ellipse
- Straight line
- Arrow
- 2. Drag on the image to create the shape.

#### Optional:

- To move a shape, drag any part of its outline.
- To resize a shape, drag any of its handles.

## Draw freehand lines

You can draw freehand lines on images.

#### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the pencil  $\blacksquare$  tool.
- 2. Drag on the image to draw a freehand line.
- 3. Optional. You can drag any points along the line to modify it.

### Draw a curved shape

You can draw curved shapes on images.

### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the curve *c* tool.
- 2. Click the image at least three times to specify a start point, a vertex, and a second vertex.
- 3. Double-click to close the shape.

## Add text

You can add a text annotation to an image.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the text  ${f T}$  tool.
- 2. In the box, type text and then select **Enter**.

**Note**: There is no character limit, but carriage returns are not supported, and long text may extend beyond the visible image boundary.

### Markers

You can add markers to images, such as for left and right.

# Add a dot

You can add a dot marker to an image.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the dot  $\square$  tool.
- 2. Click the image to place the dot.

## Add a vertical or horizontal line

You can add a vertical or horizontal line to an image.

#### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the vertical **III** or horizontal **III** line tool.
- 2. To add the line, click the image.
- 3. Drag the line to position it.

**Note**: To reveal the endpoints, you can drag a vertical line up or down, or a horizontal line left or right.

### Add a left or right marker

You can add a left or right marker to an image.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the left 🔘 or right 💿 marker tool.
- 2. To add the marker, click the image.
- 3. Drag the marker to reposition it.

### Measurements

You can take various linear and angular measurements of images. Completed measurements remain as annotations. To adjust measurements easily, we recommend turning on Edit mode before taking measurements (see <u>Edit annotations</u>).

### Measure an angle

You can measure an angle on an image.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the angle stool.
- 2. Click the image three times to place a vertex and two endpoints.
- 3. Move the pointer to position the angle measurement, and then select to finish.

## Measure a Cobb angle

You can measure a Cobb angle on an image.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the Cobb angle 🜌 tool.
- 2. Drag on the image to place the first angle line.
- 3. Drag again to place the second line.
- 4. Move the pointer to position the angle measurement, and then select to finish the angle.

### Measure an HO angle

You can measure an HO angle on an image. An HO angle measures the degrees of the angle drawn relative to true vertical and horizontal.

### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the HO angle  $\mathbb{M}$  tool.
- 2. Click the image to place a starting point.
- 3. Click to place the end point.

### Measure a radial angle or length

You can measure a radial angle or length on an image.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the radial angle 🖬 or radial length 🛅 tool.
- 2. Click the image to place the axes.
- 3. Drag the axes or their endpoints to take measurements.

### Measure an elliptical or freehand ROI

You can measure properties of an ROI by drawing an ellipse or a freehand shape. The viewer displays the ROI's length (mm), area (mm<sup>2</sup>), and the minimum, maximum, mean, and standard deviation in Hounsfield units.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the ROI 🔤 or free ROI 🔤 tool.
- 2. Drag on the image to place the ellipse or the freehand shape.
- 3. Drag the outline or handles of the shape to adjust the ROI.

### Measure a length

You can measure a length (mm) on an image.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the measure  $\blacksquare$  tool.
- 2. Drag on the image to place the measurement line.
- 3. Drag the outline or endpoints of the line to adjust the measurement.

### Measure and compare two lengths

You can measure the lengths (mm) from two starting points to an endpoint for comparison.
#### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the M compare 🛄 tool.
- 2. Click the image three times to place a starting point, endpoint, and second starting point.
- 3. Drag any of the three points to adjust the measurement.

### Take a freehand measurement

A freehand measurement is similar to freehand ROI, but it measures different values: angle; radius (mm); area (mm<sup>2</sup>); and length (circumference in mm).

Prerequisite: Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the image shortcut menu, select **Annotations** > **Measures** > **FH Measure**.
- 2. Click the image three times to place a vertex and two endpoints.
- 3. Move the pointer to position the circle measurements, and then click to finish.

### Find a center point

You can find the center between two reference points.

**Prerequisite**: <u>Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu</u>.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the image shortcut menu, select **Annotations** > **Measures** > **Center Point**.
- Click the image twice to place the first and second reference points.
  Note: The center point is indicated by an x.
- 3. Drag either of the reference points to adjust the measurement.

### Draw a circle and measure its radius

You can draw a circle and measure its radius (mm).

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

1. On the viewer toolbar, select the circle 🔘 tool.

- 2. Click the image twice to place two loci.
- 3. Move the pointer to adjust the circle, and then click to add a third locus.
- 4. Drag any locus to resize or reposition the circle.

# Spine labels

You can add preset labels for spinal vertebrae and discs to MR images. Labels are grouped by region (cervical, thoracic, lumbar, and sacral), plus another group for all discs. Basic labels do not include height and width measurements, whereas non-basic labels do. 3D labels appear in all frames and planes, whereas non-3D labels appear only in the individual frames to which you add them.

### Add basic spine labels

You can add basic spine labels to vertebra in ascending or descending order.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the basic spine label  $\square$  tool.
- In the button shortcut menu, select a region and starting vertebra.
  Note: Choose "Up" to apply labels in ascending order, or "Down" for descending.
- 3. Click the first vertebra to add the first label, and then click the second vertebra, and so on.

## Add basic 3D spine labels

You can add basic 3D spine labels to vertebrae in ascending or descending order.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the quick 3D spine label  $\mathbb{Z}$  tool.
- 2. In the button shortcut menu, select a region and starting vertebra.

Note: Choose "Up" to add labels in ascending order, or "Down" for descending.

3. Click the first vertebra to add the first label, and then click on the second vertebra, and so on.

### Add 3D spine labels

You can add 3D spine labels in ascending or descending order.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the 3D spine label shortcut  $\blacksquare$  tool.
- 2. In the button shortcut menu, select a region and starting vertebra.

Note: Choose "Up" to add labels in ascending order, or "Down" for descending.

- 3. Click a vertebra twice to place a starting point and endpoint.
- 4. Repeat the previous step to label additional vertebrae.

### Use a spine label shortcut

You can use a spine label shortcut to quickly start labeling from a common starting vertebra.

### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the spine label shortcut Z, 3D spine label shortcut , or 3D quick spine label shortcut tool.
- 2. In the button shortcut menu, click a starting vertebra.
- 3. Add labels.

# 3D

3D labels appear in the image where you add them, and the same slice in other series.

# Use the 3D cursor

When you place the 3D cursor on one series, the cursor also appears in the corresponding location in any cell of the same study that is open in the viewer.

### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

### Procedure

- 1. Open two or more series of the same study (for example, an axial, sagittal, and coronal view).
- 2. On the viewer toolbar, select the 3D cursor 🔯 tool.
- 3. Hover over an image in one cell.
- 4. The cursor appears in the same location in the other cells.

# Add a 3D point

You can mark a 3D point on an image. The point you place in the current image appears in the corresponding position in all frames and planes.

**Prerequisite**: <u>Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu</u>.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the image shortcut menu, select **Annotations** > **3D Point**.
- 2. Click the image to place the point.

# Add a 3D ray

You can mark a 3D ray on an image. The vertex you place in one frame extends as a ray through the stack and is visible in other planes.

**Prerequisite**: <u>Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu</u>.

- 1. On the image shortcut menu, select **Annotations** > **3D Ray**.
- 2. Click the image to place the vertex of the ray.

# Add a 3D ROI

You can mark a circular ROI in one image, and the program adds the ROI to the same image in other series in the viewer. The viewer displays the ROI's length (circumference in mm), area (mm<sup>2</sup>), and the maximum, minimum, mean, and standard deviation in Hounsfield units.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the image shortcut menu, select **Annotations** > **3D ROI**.
- 2. Click the image twice to place the center point and a tangent point.

### Add a 3D length measurement

You can take a linear measurement (mm) in one image, and the program adds the measurement to the same image in other series in the viewer.

**Prerequisite**: <u>Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu</u>.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the image shortcut menu, select **Annotations** > **3D Measure**.
- 2. Click the image twice to place the first and second endpoints of the measurement line.

### Add a 3D angle measurement

You can take a 3D angle measurement in one image, and the program adds the measurement to the same image in other series in the viewer.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu.

- 1. On the image shortcut menu, select **Annotations** > **3D Angle**.
- 2. Click the image three times to place the vertex and the first and second endpoints of the angle.

# Shutters

You can add rectangular, elliptical, or freehand shutters.

# Add a rectangular or elliptical shutter

You can add a rectangular or elliptical shutter to "crop" unwanted areas of an image.

**Prerequisite**: <u>Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu</u>.

### Procedure

- 1. On the image shortcut menu, select **Annotations** > **Shutters** > **Shutter Box** or **Shutter Ellipse**.
- 2. Click the image twice to place a starting point and endpoint for the shutter.

### Add a freehand shutter

You can add a freehand-drawn shutter to "crop" unwanted areas of an image.

**Prerequisite**: <u>Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu</u>.

- 1. On the image shortcut menu, select **Annotations** > **Shutters** > **Freehand Shutter**.
- 2. Drag on the image to draw the shutter.

# Other annotation tasks

### Add an AR annotation

You can plot points to represent angular rotation.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the AR 🏧 tool.
- 2. Click the image six times to place guide points.

### **Edit annotations**

After you finish an annotation, it is fixed in place to prevent accidental alteration. To move, edit, or delete an annotation, either select the tool that created it, or select the edit  $\mathbf{M}$  tool to enter Edit mode. You can select the edit tool again to exit Edit mode.

### Saving and deleting annotations

You can save or delete annotations as follows.

#### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

- To save the current annotations, on the toolbar, select the save annotations 🔤 button.
- To delete all annotations, on the toolbar, select the delete all annotations 🔤 button.
- To delete all annotations for the current series, on the image shortcut menu, select **Delete Series** Anno.
- To delete all annotations for the current study, on the image shortcut menu, select **Delete Study Anno**.

### Annotate series

You can add the same annotation in the same location to all images in a series. This feature is not available with 3D annotations. Any subsequent edits you make to annotations only apply to the image you edit, not the entire series.

Prerequisite: Add the Annotate Series button to the Exa PACS/RIS viewer toolbar.

- 1. In the Exa PACS/RIS viewer, open a series.
- 2. On the toolbar, select the **Annotate Series** <sup>ASS</sup> tool.

- 3. Select another annotation tool (for example, the Ellipse tool).
- 4. Add the annotation to the current image (for example, draw an ellipse).

**Result**: The annotation (such as an ellipse) appears on all images in the series.

# Annotate tagged images

To annotate all images in a series, see <u>Annotate series</u>. If you want to annotate multiple—but not all images in a series, use the procedure below to *tag* (select) them and then annotate only the tagged images. Any subsequent edits you make to annotations added in this way only apply to the image you edit, not the entire series. This feature is not available with 3D annotations.

Prerequisite: Add the Tag Images and Annotate Tagged Images tools to the viewer toolbar.

- 1. Open series or multiple images in the Exa PACS/RIS viewer.
- 2. On the viewer toolbar, select the **Tag Images III** tool.
- 3. Click on an image to tag it.

**Result**: The image is tagged for annotation.



- 4. Repeat for all images you want to annotate.
- 5. On the toolbar, select the **Annotate Tagged Images** <sup>AII</sup> tool.
- 6. Select another annotation tool (for example, the Ellipse tool).
- 7. Add the annotation to one of the tagged images (for example, draw an ellipse).

**Result**: The annotation (such as an ellipse) appears on all tagged images, and the images are no longer tagged.

## Reset an image in the viewer

When making non-permanent modifications to images in the viewer (zoom, rotation, Window/Level etc.), you can reset the image to its original state.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

• On the viewer toolbar, select the reset viewer G button.

# Change elements in the viewer Show or hide overlays

You can turn overlays on or off. Note, PR (GSPS) DICOM objects from Intelerad are supported as overlays.

### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

 On the viewer toolbar, select the Overlays or Toggle DICOM Overlay button to turn overlays on or off.



#### See also:

Configure overlays

### Show or hide annotations

You can turn annotations on or off. Note that

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

• On the viewer toolbar, select the toggle annotations button to turn annotations on or off.



### Show series and stacks

If the viewer is showing only a single frame of a series or stack, you can change it to display all series and stacks.

#### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

● On the viewer toolbar, select the reset series and stacks Select the reset series and stacks a button.

### Show or hide cutlines

Cutlines show the intersection between two open series. The cutlines update dynamically as the user moves through a series. A dashed cutline indicates where the first image starts and the last image ends. A solid cutline indicates the intersection of the currently displayed locations in the series. If a series includes intersecting images, you can show or hide cutlines.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

• On the viewer toolbar, select the cutlines 🖻 button.

## Split series by slab thickness

You can use slab tools to split series by image thickness.

#### Procedure

- 1. In the upper-right corner of a frame, right-click the menu icon  $\blacksquare$ .
- 2. In the shortcut menu, select **Slab Tools**, and then select a slab thickness.

| ^                       | Show Annotations |     |
|-------------------------|------------------|-----|
|                         |                  |     |
| Half Images (10.0 mm)   | Stab Tuolo       | 7   |
| Third images (15.0 mm)  | Recalibrate      |     |
| Fourth images (20.0 mm) | Series Layout    | i.) |
| Fifth images (25.0 mm)  | Reonter          |     |
| Manual Value (5.0 mm)   | Close Sories     |     |
|                         | Revolead Insue   |     |

### Recalibrate the scale

You can manually recalibrate the scale measurement, which is shown on the caliper of the current series.

#### Procedure

- 1. In the upper-right corner of a frame, right-click the menu icon  $\blacksquare$ .
- 2. In the shortcut menu, select **Recalibrate**.



3. In the dialog, type a new value (mm) for the scale, and then select **OK**.

# Change the series layout

You can change the number of series panels displayed in the viewer.

#### Procedure

- 1. In the upper-right corner of a frame, right-click the menu icon  $\blacksquare$ .
- 2. In the shortcut menu, select **Series Layout**, and then select a layout.



### Reorder a series

You can change the order of images in a series.

#### Procedure

- 1. In the upper-right corner of a frame, right-click the menu icon  $\blacksquare$ .
- 2. In the shortcut menu, select **Reorder**, and then select one of the following options.



**Image Number** – Arranges the images by number in ascending order.

**Image Number Inverse** – Arranges the images by number in descending order.

**Slice Location** – Arranges the images by relative location (in mm) in the plane in ascending order.

**Slice Location Inverse** – Arranges the images by relative location in the plane in descending order.

**Image Time** – Arranges the images by the time they were taken.

# Change the appearance of images

### How the viewer chooses the initial window/level

There are many sources of window/level settings. When the viewer displays an image, it chooses the window/level settings from the first available of the following sources, in order.

- Last display state, if "Auto saved image properties on close" is turned on
- LUT (from prefetch), unless "Ignore LUT" or "Ignore Presentation LUT" is turned on
- DICOM tags the window center and window width tags
- VOI LUT DICOM tags value of interest LUT tags
- Manual W/L settings, if adjusted by the user

### Turn on auto window/level

The viewer can automatically adjust the window/level so that images are, to the extent possible, neither too dim nor too bright.

### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

• On the viewer toolbar, select the auto window/level 🔳 button.

### Adjust the window/level

You can manually adjust the window/level.

#### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

- On the viewer toolbar, select the window/level 🔯 button.
- Drag horizontally over the image to adjust the window.
- Drag vertically over the image to adjust the level.

### Apply a window/level preset

You can apply a window/level preset to the current study.

**Prerequisite**: <u>Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu</u>.

• On the image shortcut menu, select **Presets**, and then select a preset.

# Apply CLAHE enhancement

You can apply CLAHE to enhance local contrast.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

• On the viewer toolbar, select the CLAHE 🛄 button to turn CLAHE on or off.

### Apply bone enhancement

You can use different levels of bone enhancement to optimize the contrast between bone and other tissues. You can also apply color inversion to further highlight fractures and other features of bone.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the bone enhance  $\blacksquare$  button.
- 2. In the button shortcut menu, select a percentage.

### Invert colors

You can invert black and white values to make certain images easier to read.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

• On the viewer toolbar, select the invert colors 🔟 button.

# Add color to images

You can add color to images.

#### Procedure

1. Right-click the overlay in the lower-right of the image, and then in the shortcut menu, select **Palettes**.

| 16 1 |                                       |
|------|---------------------------------------|
| Hone |                                       |
|      | Enter W/L                             |
|      | Premots                               |
|      | W/L List<br>Palettes                  |
|      | Use Sigmoid                           |
|      | Entor Zoom                            |
|      | Show W/L Bar 23 X 60 COm              |
|      | IG: 1.55(1.00)<br>WIL- 400.00 / 40.00 |

2. Select a color in a palette.

# Apply sigmoid processing

You can apply sigmoid processing to enhance low-contrast images.

• Right-click the overlay in the lower-right of the image, and then in the shortcut menu, select **Sigmoid**.

# Reset and Reset study object

You can access the Reset and Reset study object commands in the image shortcut menu. *Reset* undoes all unsaved changes (such as W/L and annotations) made to the current series. *Reset study object* updates the viewer after new images are added to a study that is currently open.

# Add to new UNQ study

A *UNQ* (unique) study is a teaching study. When you select this command in the image shortcut menu, a button appears on the toolbar to open the teaching study screen. See, "Create a teaching study."

# Scaling images

### Zoom images

You can zoom in on (enlarge) or out of (reduce) images for optimum viewing. There are several ways to zoom:

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

- On the viewer toolbar, select the zoom 🖸 tool and then drag on the image.
- Select the zoom tool in the image shortcut menu: **Tools** > **Zoom**.
- Drag the pointer across a caliper (if Caliper Zoom is selected, see <u>Configure other interface settings</u>).
- Right-click the lower-right overlay, select Enter Zoom, and then type a value from .05 to 7.5.
- "Quad zoom": Use the left or right angle bracket keys (< >).

### Display one to one

If you zoomed an image you can restore it to its original DICOM size. This is essentially "life size."

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

• On the viewer toolbar, select the one to one  ${\scriptstyle \blacksquare 1}$  button.

### Display images in their actual size

You can display images in their original size.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

• On the viewer toolbar, select the actual image size 🛄 button.

### Fit images to window

You can automatically zoom an image so that its longest dimension fits in the visible frame.

### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

• On the viewer toolbar, select the fit to window 👪 button.

### Use the magnifying glass

You can use the magnifying glass tool to zoom an area of the current image.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

• On the viewer toolbar, select the magnifying glass tool, and then select and hold over the area to magnify.



# Linking images

When two series are open side-by-side in the viewer, *linking* them causes moving through images in a second series when you move through images in the first series.

# Auto link images

*Auto linking* means that linking turns on automatically when two or more series of the same plane (such as axial) are open. With auto-linking, the system uses the image numbers to automatically match up the frames in each series so that the frame in the second series is as near in stack order to the image in the first series as possible.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

### Manually link images

*Manual linking* means that you turn linking on and off manually when two or more series are open. This is frequently used to move through a recent image and a corresponding prior, side-by-side.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

• To manually link images, on the viewer toolbar, select the manual link 🔤 button.

**Note**: For mammogram images, you can only link LCC and RCC with each other; similarly you can only link LMLO and RMLO with each other.

### Use the context tool

You can automatically jump to an image in a linked series that most closely matches the angle (X, Y, and Z position) of the image in the current series.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

On the viewer toolbar, select the context tool It.

# **Reset linked series**

You can reset (undo) image linking by selecting the reset linked series  $\square$  button. This may take time depending on the size of the series.

# Moving and jumping to images

### Pan images

You can pan an image to view any portions that extend beyond the visible frame.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the pan 🖤 tool.
- 2. Drag the image in any direction.

### Move or span through images

You can move or span through images in a series. *Spanning* means to move rapidly with minimal hand or wheel motion.

To adjust the span sensitivity, see Configure the toolbar.

- To move: Hover over the image and rotate the mouse wheel.
- To span: On the image shortcut menu, select **Tools** > **Span Images**, and then drag on the image.

### Flip or rotate images

You can flip images 180 degrees, or rotate them 90 degrees.

**Prerequisite**: <u>Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu</u>.

From the image shortcut menu:

- Select Transformation > Flip Horizontal or Flip Vertical.
- Select Transformation > Rotate Right or Rotate Left.

### Play cine loops

When viewing a series, you can play cine loops and shuttle between frames.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the cine  $\textcircled{\basel{eq:1}{1}}$  button.
- 2. Cine play starts, and the media control bar appears.



3. Use the media control bar to pause, move to the first or last frame, and move to the previous or next frame.

# Specify key images

You can specify key images in a series that you can jump to at any time. You can add key images thumbnails on reports.

**Prerequisite**: <u>Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu</u>.

#### Procedure

- 1. Display the image that you want to be a key image.
- 2. On the image shortcut menu, select Set Key Image.

## Jump to a key image

If you specified a key image in the current series, you can jump to it (display it in a frame in the viewer).

#### Prerequisite: <u>Specify key images</u>.

#### Procedure

1. At the top of the thumbnail pane on the left side, select **Keyimage**.



The thumbnail pane shows thumbnails of your key images.

2. Double-click a key image thumbnail.

### Open a series image in a 1×1 frame

If a series is open in a layout other than  $1 \times 1$ , double-click any image to open it in a  $1 \times 1$  layout.

# Jump to a BTO image by SR finding

To quickly open a BTO image that has a specific SR finding:

#### Procedure

- 1. Open the tomosynthesis series that contains the image.
- 2. On the 2D or synthesized view, select the SR finding of interest.

**Result**: The corresponding slice opens. Note the following:

- The slice that opens is of the same view type (e.g. select a finding on an RCC to open a BTO RCC slice).
- If the BTO series is not displayed within the current layout, the series opens next to the 2D or synthesized view in a 1x2 layout. To restore the original layout, select the backslash ( \ ) key.

# Triangulate images

You can move to images and points in multiple series at the same time.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, open two or more series.
- 2. Select the Triangulation 🔼 button, and then do one or both of the following.
  - Double-click a series to open the corresponding slice in the other series.
  - Move the pointer in one series to move the pointer to the corresponding position in the other series.

## Use MPR tools

Multiplanar reformation (MPR) creates images in orthogonal planes (axial, coronal, sagittal or MIP) relative to a base image. The MPR tool is hidden until you open a series.

# Perform simple MPR

You can perform simple MPR to generate a single alternate planar view from the base view.

### Prerequisites:

- If performing MPR on a fusion study, wait until both series are fully pre-fetched.
- Add the relevant toolbar tools.

### Procedure

- 1. Open a series, and then double-click an image to view it full screen.
- 2. Select the arrow on the right side of the MPR Merror button.



- 3. In the button shortcut menu, select a plane.
- 4. The viewer performs MPR and displays the new plane.

# Perform standard MPR

You can perform standard MPR to generate three additional planar views of the base image.

### Prerequisites:

- If performing MPR on a fusion study, wait until both series are fully pre-fetched.
- Add the relevant toolbar tools.
- Open a series, and then select the MPR MER button.

**Note**: The plane of the base image determines the default MPR plane.

# Handle MPR images

You can handle MPR images in the following ways by using controls in the base image.

- To move through MPR images, drag the blue region bars. You can also drag the endpoints to adjust the viewing angle.
- To move both region bars at the same time, on the toolbar, select the context tool 陆, and then drag on the base image.
- To change the slice thickness, double-click the thickness value, and then type a new value (or drag the thickness value).
- To change the slab width, select Region, double-click the slab width value, and then enter a new value (or drag the slab width value).
- To display an MPR image full screen with a large thumbnail of the base image, double-click an MPR image.

# Save an MPR series

After you perform MPR, you can save the resultant images and series for later viewing.

### Procedure

- 1. <u>Perform simple MPR</u> or <u>Perform standard MPR</u>.
- 2. Right-click a generated cell, point to **Save MPR**, and then select **Instance** or **Series**.



3. In the **Create MPR Series/Instance** dialog, type a description, and then click **save**.



**Result**: A thumbnail for the saved instance or series appears on the thumbnail bar.

### Work with Display Management

With the viewer's display management functions you can create and manage highly customized "DMs." The term DM refers to *display management* in general, or to an implementation of a hanging protocol. By using DMs you can precisely customize how images "hang" in the viewer.

# Configure viewer settings for DMs

Before working with DMs, configure the settings described in the following sections in this manual.

#### Set up connected displays

Next, configure viewer settings as follows.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the worklist, select settings , select **Viewer Settings**, and then in the **Viewer Settings** dialog, on the left pane, select **MODALITY**.
- 2. In the list of modalities, select a modality that you work with (such as CT or MG).
- 3. To turn on DMs, in the settings area under **Options**, select the following checkboxes.
  - Auto Hang DM
  - DM Allow Missing Cell
  - Auto Hang Priors
- 4. To view priors, under **Prior Options**, configure the following.
  - a. Select the Auto Open Prior checkbox.
  - b. In the **Auto Open Prior Count** dropdown list, select the maximum number of priors to open at once.
- 5. Select SAVE.
- 6. Repeat for each modality that you work with.

### Show the DM toolbar

The DM toolbar gives you quick access to DM related functions. You can manually display the DM toolbar in the viewer, or configure the viewer to display the DM toolbar automatically for selected modalities.

- Manually: In the viewer, select the display manager button, and then in the button shortcut menu, select Show DM Toolbar.
- Automatically: On the viewer toolbar, select the settings 2 button. Select MODALITY, select modalities, select the Show DM Toolbar checkbox, and then select SAVE.

See also:

### Use the DM toolbar

### Display images with a DM

You can select from a list of previously configured DMs to hang the current study. If you show the DM toolbar in the viewer, you can select a DM on the toolbar. If you did not show the DM toolbar:

#### Procedure

- 1. Open a study in the viewer.
- 2. On the toolbar, select the DM 🔤 button.
- 3. On the button shortcut menu, select one of the DMs in the list.

Note: DMs are listed between the first item in the menu, "None," and "DM Manager."

- 4. Optional. You can change the view as follows.
  - Rotate the wheel to page through any additional images in the study that the DM can hang.
  - Drag a thumbnail onto a cell to display it there.
  - Use the left or right bracket keys ( [ or ] ) to move to the next or previous DM step.

### Use the DM toolbar

As in the following figure, the toolbar contains tools on the left, and DMs (RCC 3D and RCC/LCC Tomo) on the right side of the tools. Use the toolbar as follows.



- Save: Saves a new DM based on the current layout.
- Save Study: Saves the current configuration for the current study only.

• Update: Overwrites the current DM with properties taken from currently displayed images.

**CAUTION**: Selecting this button deletes all settings of the current DM.

- Manage: Opens the DM manager.
- Reset: Select to apply any newly created or edited DMs.
- Refresh: You can also *refresh* DMs to update the list of applicable DMs.
- [DM]: Select any DM on the DM toolbar to apply it in the viewer.

### Find and open a DM for editing

If you have a large number of DMs you can find a specific one, and then open it for editing.

#### Procedure

1. On the viewer toolbar, select the display manager 📟 button.

- 2. In the button shortcut menu, select **DM Manager**.
- In the DM Manager dialog, enter one or more of the following search criteria.
  User Groups Select the group to which the DM user belongs.
  Users Select the DM user.
  Filters Select whether the DM is private (user-specific) or public.
  Modality Select the modality associated with the DM.
  Name Type all or part of the name of the DM.
  Select SEARCH.
  - **Result**: DMs matching your search criteria appear in the list at the bottom of the dialog.

Ð

寉

141

5. To open the DM for editing, double-click it, or select its edit 🖉 button.

### Edit, delete, duplicate, or copy a DM

Each DM has four buttons on the right side of the list:

These buttons do the following.

Edit – Opens the DM for editing (for configuration, see Add a DM).

**Delete** – Deletes the DM from the list.

**Duplicate** – Duplicates the DM and prompts you to name the duplicate.

**Copy** – Sends a copy of the DM to a user group or user.

### Export and import DMs

You can export DMs for use in other Konica Minolta systems.

#### Procedure

1. Find and select one or more DMs to export.

#### 2. Select **EXPORT SELECTED** or **EXPORT ALL**.

The DMs are added to a single JSON file and downloaded to your computer.

3. Copy the file to the destination system, display the **DM Manager** dialog, select **IMPORT**, and then open the exported JSON file.

# Add a DM

To add a DM:

#### Procedure

- 1. On the viewer toolbar, select the display manager 📟 button.
- 2. In the button shortcut menu, select DM Manager.
- 3. In the DM Manager dialog, select ADD NEW DM.
- 4. In the second **DM Manager** dialog, enter the following settings.

Name – Type a name for the DM.

**Inactive** – Select to disable the DM until ready for use.

Private – Select to make the DM available only to you.

**Modalities** – Select one or more modalities to which the DM applies.

**Body Part** – Prevents all but the selected body part to display.

To display any body part, leave blank.

Page Count – The number of monitors that the DM uses to display images.

- 5. Under **Preview**, in the upper-left corner of the frame, select **1**\***1** and select a cell layout for the study-level series/images within the monitor.
- Optional. Select 1\*1 in of the cells, and select a series layout for the series-level images within a cell.
- 7. Optional. To allow missing cells, in the upper-right corner of a page or cell, select the checkbox (see <u>About missing cells</u>).



Figure. In this example, 3 pages (monitors) are configured, with 1, 2, and 4 cells added to each page, respectively. On the second page, Allow Missing Cells is selected at the page level, which means that either the left, right, or both cells can be blank. On the third page, the study will hang if images for the lower-right cell are missing, but not if they are missing in any other cells. The upper left cell is selected for adding a matching rule group and/or matching rule. Because the validation percentage is not yet 100%, matching rules must be added.

- 8. Note the validation percentage, and then select SAVE.
- 9. If the validation percentage was not 100%, you must add a matching rule that yields 100%. Continue to "Add a matching rule group."

# About the order of DMs in the DM manager

When you open a study in the viewer, Symmetry PACS finds all DMs that match the study, and then hangs the study using the one that was highest in the list in the DM manager. It also makes all matching DMs available to you in the DM toolbar and in the DM button shortcut menu. You can change the default order of DMs in the DM manager by dragging them in the list.

# About missing cells

By default, DM pages and cells do not allow *missing cells*. This means that if no image exists in the study that can hang in one of the cells on a page, no images hang at all on the page. For example, if you configured a DM to display a current image in the left cell and a prior in the right cell, but no prior is found, then the current image does not hang.

Sometimes it is preferable to allow missing cells. For example, if you configured your DM to display up to three priors, but only two priors are found, you still want to display the current image and the two priors.

# Add a matching rule group

You can group matching rules and apply AND/OR logic to them. If set to AND, all rules in the group must be true to hang images, and if set to OR, at least one rule must be true. Adding a matching rule group is optional, but we recommend doing so for most applications.

### Procedure

- 1. In the DM Manager, in the list of DMs, double-click to open the DM to which you want to add a matching rule group.
- 2. Under **Preview**, select a cell.
- 3. At the bottom of the window, on the MATCHING RULES tab, select ADD GROUP.

The new group initially appears as a row of buttons under the ADD GROUP button.



The matching rule group is the row of buttons on the bottom. No rules have been added to the group.

- 4. Add one or more rules to the group.
- 5. In the list on the right side of the dialog, select a relationship of AND or OR.

### 6. At the top of the dialog, select **SAVE.**

#### See also:

Add a general matching rule to a DM Add a prior matching rule to a DM

# Add a general matching rule to a DM

When you add a DM, the modality, body part, and allow missing cell settings you enter *roughly* determine which images hang where in the DM. You can also *finely* determine this by using general matching rules.

General matching rules consist of an argument, logical operator, and matching value. For example:

Study Date (arg.) is Less/Equal (operator) to 01/02/2003 (matching value).

#### Procedure

- 1. Open the DM to which you want to add matching rules.
- 2. Under **Preview**, select the cell to which to apply the rule.
- 3. At the bottom of the window, on the MATCHING RULES tab, select ADD GENERAL RULE.

**Note**: If you created a group and you want the rule to be included in the group, select the button that is inside the group.

4. In the **Matching Tag** dialog, enter the following settings.

**DICOM Tag/Field** – Select a tag to use as the argument.

**Operator** – Select an operator.

Matching Value – Type a matching value, and then select the plus sign.

- 5. Modify the rule until the validation percentage is 100%, or add another rule.
- 6. Select SAVE.
- 7. In DM Manager, select SAVE.

### Add a prior matching rule to a DM

To hang priors, add a prior matching rule to the destination DM cell.

- 1. Open the DM to which you want to add prior rules.
- 2. Under **Preview**, select a cell.
- 3. At the bottom of the window, on the MATCHING RULES tab, select ADD PRIOR RULE.

**Note**: If you created a group and you want the rule to be applied to the group, select the button that is inside the group.

4. In the **Prior Rule** dialog, select the index of the prior that you want to hang in the cell.

**Note**: Selecting ANY allows you to move through all available priors when viewing a single DM.

- 5. Select **SAVE**.
- 6. In **DM Manager**, select **SAVE**.

### About the DM validation percentage

The DM validation percentage helps you by indicating, roughly, the percentage of cells in a DM you are configuring that would not display any images under the current settings. To achieve 100 percent, apply a valid condition or rule to each cell in the DM. If the percentage is not 100, Symmetry PACS prevents you from using the DM at all. You can view the percentage by opening a DM for editing; the percentage appears on the right side of the Preview area title.

### Use the Display Management tab

To automatically apply additional processing to all images that hang in a DM, you can use the Display Management tab in the DM manager.

- 1. In **DM Manager**, open a DM, and then select a cell.
  - Setting Description Auto-Orient [Unused] Select a degree of clockwise rotation. Rotation Mirror Select to switch the left and right breast view. View Select a zoom type. Invert Select one or more processing functions to apply. Sigmoid Linear CLAHE Fusion CAD Exempts the current cell from the Stack by View and Prior option. Current MG Only
- 2. On the **DISPLAY MANAGEMENT** tab, enter the following settings.

| Setting      | Description  |
|--------------|--|
| CAD          | Select to display CAD values according to the SR CAD settings when the user reaches this step of the hanging protocol. |
| LUT          | Select an LUT to apply.  |
| Bone Enhance | Select a percentage of bone enhancement.   |
| Window/Level | Select Default or Custom. If Custom, type the values to apply.   |
| Reprocess    | Select to generate an additional view from the base view.  |

3. Select **UPDATE**, and then **SAVE**.

# Create a DM from an existing layout

To create a DM more quickly, you can arrange a layout in the viewer, and then save it as a DM.

The rules that are created with this method include as many parameters from the source studies as possible, and may be overly restrictive for general use, or apply unexpected image processing. Therefore to ensure proper hanging and rendering, review the resultant rules in both the MATCHING RULES and DISPLAY MANAGEMENT tabs and modify if necessary.

#### Procedure

- 1. Open a study in the viewer and configure the display to your liking.
- 2. On the toolbar, select the **DM** button, and then in the button shortcut menu, select **DM Save**.
- 3. In the **DM Information** dialog, type a name for the DM and select or clear the **Private** checkbox.
- 4. Select SAVE.

### Example DM with a general matching rule

In this example we add a DM for viewing chest X-rays with an AP view on the left and a lateral view on the right. Continuing after step 3 of "DM examples:"

### Add the DM

- 1. In Name box, type CHEST TEST.
- 2. the **Modality** list, select **CR**, and then select **DX**.
- 3. In the **Page Count** box, type or select **1**.
- 4. Under **Preview**, on the page header, select **1**\***1** and select a 1 x 2 cell layout.

### Add a rule group and general rules for the left cell

- 1. Select the left cell, and on the MATCHING RULES tab, select ADD GROUP.
- 2. In the new group, select **ADD GENERAL RULE**.
- 3. In the **Matching Tag** dialog:
  - In the **DICOM Field/Tag** list, select **Modality**.
  - In the **Operator** list, select **Equal**.
  - In the Matching Value box, type CR, select the plus (+) button, and then select SAVE.

**Note**: In practice you may also want to add the DX modality.

- 4. Following the previous step, add another general rule:
  - **DICOM Field/Tag** = SeriesDescription
  - **Operator** = Contains
  - Matching Value = ap
- 5. On the right side of the matching rule group, in the list, select **AND**.

This means that the image must satisfy both rules to hang in the cell.

#### Add general rules for the right cell

- 1. Select the right cell, and select **ADD GENERAL RULE**.
- 2. In the Matching Tag dialog, add the following rule:
  - **DICOM Field/Tag** = SeriesDescription
  - **Operator** = Contains
  - Matching Value = lat
- 3. Next to **Preview**, confirm that the validation percentage is 100%.
- 4. Select **SAVE**, and then close the DM manager.
- 5. Select **F5** to update the viewer with your new DM.

### Add a DM group

To keep different sets of hanging protocols for different appointment types and studies, you can combine DMs into groups.

#### Procedure

1. On the burger 🔲 menu, select **SETUP**.

- 2. On the **OFFICE** menu, select **DICOM**.
- 3. On the **HANGING PROTOCOLS** tab, under **DM Group**, select the plus **t** button.
- 4. In the **DM Group** dialog, on the left, type descriptive information for your DM group.
- 5. Under **Associate group to study by**, do one of the following:
  - Select **APPOINTMENT TYPE**, select one or more appointment types in the list, and then select **SAVE**.
  - Select STUDY DESCRIPTION. In the Study Description box, type a description, and then select the plus to button.
- 6. Click **SAVE**.

### Share DMs with a DM group

To add (share) DMs with a DM group:

### Procedure

- 1. On the burger 🔜 menu, select **SETUP**.
- 2. On the **OFFICE** menu, select **DICOM**.
- 3. On the **HANGING PROTOCOLS** tab, find a DM to add to a group.
- 4. On the right, select the share  $\checkmark$  button.
- 5. In the **Share** dialog, select the group with which to share the DM, and then select **SHARE**.

### Share DM groups with users

By default, DM groups that you create are only available to you. To share a DM groups with other users or user groups:

- 1. On the burger 🔲 menu, select **SETUP**.
- 2. On the **OFFICE** menu, select **DICOM**.
- 3. On the **HANGING PROTOCOLS** tab, under **DM Group**, select a DM group to share.
- 4. On the right, select the edit  $\checkmark$  button.
- 5. In the Edit DM Group dialog, select SHARE.
- 6. In the **Copy** dialog, select users or groups with which to share the DM group, and then select **COPY**.

# About DM groups and private DMs

When a DM is created by a member of a DM group, the following apply.

| Availability | Instance            | Users                                      | Access     |
|--------------|---------------------|--|------------|
| Private**    | Original            | Creator                                    | Read/Write |
|              |                     | All Others                                 | None       |
|              | Сору                | Shared with users                          | Read/Write |
|              |                     | Shared with user groups                    | Read-Only  |
|              | Copy of shared copy | Shared with users or user groups           | Read/Write |
| Non-Private  | Original            | Creator                                    | Read/Write |
|              |                     | Group members                              | Read-Only  |
|              | Сору                | Shared with user group or DM group members | Read-Only  |

\**Read* here means view, use to hang studies, or copy to other users.

\*\*Imported DMs are automatically marked as Private for the importing user.

## Build a mammography DM

The following is an example of how to build a DM that displays priors on top and current images (RCC, LCC, RMLO, LMLO) on the bottom. This DM shows all main views and specialty views such as spot and cleavage, synthesized views, and implant displaced views.

- 1. In the viewer, on the toolbar, select the **DM** button, and then in the button shortcut menu, select **DM Manager**.
- 2. Select ADD New DM.
- 3. Type a name for the DM, and then enter required settings.

OPTIONAL: In the Body Part list, select Breast.

| DM Manager    |          |                      |    |
|---------------|----------|----------------------|----|
| HP Propertie  | s        |                      | SA |
| Name *        | MG TEST  | 🗋 Inactive 🗋 Private |    |
| HP Identifier | Modality |                      |    |
| Modalities *  | Mid -    |                      |    |
| Body Part *   | Great .  |                      |    |
- 0% Page Count 2 Preview Allow missing cells 1+1 2\*2 Select to always show the cell even il citana do nat match 111 243 0 D 121 103
- 4. In the **Page Count** box, type the number of **monitors**.

- 5. Select the layout numbers (such as **2\*2** or **1\*1**), and then select the number of cells.
- 6. Select the **Allow missing cells** check box for each page and/or cell that you want to always display, even if empty.
- 7. Select a cell, and then on the MATCHING RULES tab, select ADD GROUP.
- 8. In the list, select **OR**, and then select **ADD MAMMO RULE**.

| MATCHING RULES      |         | LAY MANAGEMENT   |                       |                   |
|---------------------|---------|------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|
| ADD GROU            | •       | ADD GENERAL RULE | ADD MAMMO RUI         | LE ADD PRIOR RULE |
| NDD GROUP ADD GENER | AL RULE | ADD MAMMO RULE   | ADD PRIOR RULE DELETE | OR .              |

- "**OR**" means "this rule, OR any subsequent rules." We build mammography DMs in a group to have the system look for multiple views, which allows us to use one DM for multiple scenarios.
- **Groups** allow you to have the system look for multiple views, and use one DM for multiple scenarios.
- 9. For the top left cell, add the following rule criteria.

| Erda *            | O Let              | -    |
|-------------------|--------------------|------|
|                   | S Regnt            | - 1  |
|                   | 01                 |      |
| trajus =          | OC Family          |      |
|                   | DONT CARE 👻        |      |
| Processing Type * | O unprocessio      |      |
|                   | C fonosyntess      |      |
|                   | C Synthesized view |      |
|                   | S Processed        |      |
|                   | 01                 | - 18 |
| In age Index      | 300.00             |      |

This means, "Right side, CC Family (All views), any specialty view except ID (Implant displacement), and processed."

10. Select **SAVE.** 

**Result:** Rules matching your criteria appear in the list.

- 11. Within your group, select ADD MAMMO RULE and add the following additional rules.
  - Right, CC Family, Don't Care, Synthesized
  - Right, CC Family, ID, Processed
  - Right, CC Family, ID, Synthesized
- 12. From outside the group, select **ADD PRIOR RULE** for this cell.

|                                 | ADD GROUP                  | ADD GENERAL MALE  | ADD MAMNO RULE | ADDTIRE | AN UNIT |
|---------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------|----------------|---------|---------|
| DO GROUP AND GRAVENEL MILLS AND | MAMMAN THE & ALCO PROCE IN | ALK DELETE ODDLAF |                | 0E      | - 14    |

**Note**: The button outside the group applies the rule to the entire group.

13. For Study Index, select one of the following options.

- **Any**: Display all allowable MG priors (the allowed number depends on Auto Open settings for the MG modality).
- 1: Show the first prior
- 2: Show the second prior
- 14. In the **Display Management** tab, customize the way the image displays with the following options.

Auto orient, rotate, Mirror flip (for Radiologists who view Left on Left, Right on Right), Zoom, Invert, Sigmoid, Linear, Clahe, Fusion, LUT, Bone Enhance, Window/Level, Reprocess.

- 15. Repeat steps above to configure each cell of your DM.
- 16. Select **SAVE** at the top.

### See also:

Add a mammo matching rule to a DM <u>Add a prior matching rule to a DM</u> Add a mammo rule for breast implant displacement <u>Add a DM group</u> <u>Mammography views</u>

## Example DM for ultrasound

In this example we add a DM that hangs a 3 x 2 series layout (3 rows, 2 columns) of only ultrasound images. Continuing after step 3 of "DM examples:"

### Add the DM

- 1. In Name box, type US TEST.
- 2. the **Modality** list, select **US**.
- 3. In the **Page Count** box, type or select **1**.
- 4. Under **Preview**, select the 1\*1 cell (not the page header), and select a 3 x 2 series layout.

### Add a general rule for all images

- 1. Select inside the page's 1\*1 cell to highlight everything around the 3 x 2 series-level cells.
- 2. Add the following general rule.
  - **DICOM Field/Tag** = Modality
  - Operator = Equal
  - Matching Value = US
- 3. Confirm that the validation percentage is 100%, and then save the DM.

# Gather information from images View pixel values in Hounsfield units

You can view the value of a selected pixel in Hounsfield units.

#### Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

• On the viewer toolbar, select the Hounsfield units He tool, and then select and hold the mouse button on the pixel of interest.



# **Display DICOM values**

You can display the DICOM tag values associated with the current image by doing one of the following.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

- On the viewer toolbar, select the DICOM values 🔳 button.
- On an image shortcut menu, select View > DICOM Values.

| DICOM Values                     |      |    |    |                                     |
|----------------------------------|------|----|----|-------------------------------------|
|                                  |      | 12 |    |                                     |
| T_0008_0000_GenericGroupLength   | UL   | 1  | 4  | <del>44</del> 3                     |
| T_0008_0005_SpecificCharacterSet | CS   | 1  | 10 | ISO_IR 100                          |
| T_0008_0008_tmageType            | CS   | 3  | 22 | ORIGINAL PRIMARY AXIAL              |
| T_0008_0012_InstanceCreationDate | DA   | 1  | 8  | 20230302                            |
| T_0008_0013_InstanceCreationTime | TM   | 1  | 6  | 081901                              |
| T_0008_0016_SOPCIessUID          | UI   | 1  | 25 | 1.2.840 10008.5.1.4 1.1.2           |
| T_0008_0018_SOPInstanceUID       | UT . | 1. | 36 | 1.3.6.1.4.1.11157.2023.3.8.0.4.32.6 |
| T 0008 0020 StudyDate            | DA.  | 1  | 8  | peracenc                            |

# Export DICOM values

When you view DICOM values in the viewer you can export them to a CSV. This CSV file can **only** be displayed correctly in **Notepad**, **Notepad++**, or **Wordpad**.

**Prerequisite**: <u>Add the relevant tools to the image shortcut menu</u>.

#### Procedure

- 1. On an image shortcut menu, select **View** > **DICOM Values**.
- 2. In the title bar of the screen that appears, select the download  $\mathbb{E}$  button.

Result: The file is downloaded to your Windows Downloads folder.

## Print images to a standard printer

You can print the current image, series, or study to a TWAIN (non-DICOM) printer. It is a convenient, less-expensive alternative to DICOM printing, but is not suitable for diagnostic purposes. See also <u>DICOM-print a study</u>.

Prerequisite: Add the relevant toolbar tools.

#### Procedure

1. On the viewer toolbar, select the print 🕒 button.



2. In the **Print Image** dialog, enter the following settings.

Layout – Select the number and arrangement of frames per page.

Page Size – Select the paper size and print orientation.

**Compress Large Images** – Select to compress large images (for lower quality but faster printing).

**Selected Image** – Select to print the current image.

Selected Series – Select to print all images in the current series.

Current Page – Select to print the current image in all displayed frames.

**Key Images** – Select to print key images from the current series.

All Images – Select to print all images in the current study.

3. Select Print.

4. In the Windows print dialog, configure options and select **Print**.

# Open a third-party application or function

If you configured a third-party application or function, you can open it from the toolbar.

• On the viewer toolbar, select the external tool button corresponding to the item to open.

## **Download images**

You can download images and series from studies to your desktop in various formats.

- To download the selected image as a PNG (regardless of the current series layout), on the image shortcut menu, select **Download Image**.
- To download each image in the current series as a separate file, on the image shortcut menu, select **Download Series**, and then select the file format.

# About viewing CAD findings

The Symmetry PACS viewer automatically displays image markers contained in SR data from supported manufacturers such as iCAD, DiA, and CureMetrix (such as the CureMetrix mammography calcification and density markings). To control which markings to display, select options in the SR CAD list.

Symmetry PACS uses tracking IDs in the SR data to ensure that when you click a 2D/synthesized image annotation it jumps correctly to the corresponding 3D/BTO image. Additionally:

- If the BTO series is not already open, it opens next to the 2D/synthesized view in a 1 x 2 layout. You can go back to the original layout by selecting the backslash key (if the DM was not interrupted).
- When 3D CAD SR markings are present and you hover over a CAD SR marking on the synthesized or 2D view, the color changes to the hover color configured in viewer interface settings.

#### See also:

<u>Configure annotation colors</u> <u>View tomographic studies with CAD findings</u>

# Work with the patient chart

Symmetry PACS gives you full viewing access to patient demographics, and lets you add, edit, and import a patient chart (or an electronic medical record or EMR). The Edit Study screen contains much of the same information as the patient chart.

# Find and open a patient chart

### Find a patient chart by entering search criteria

You can find an existing patient chart by searching on various patient demographics.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>PATIENT</u> > **SEARCH**.

**Note**: If the tab bar is hidden, select the arrow 🙆 next to Patient to display it.

2. In the Starts With dropdown list, select a target for your search criteria.

This target applies to all boxes in the search bar.

- 3. In the All dropdown list, type or select a search filter (these are typically facilities).
- 4. In the search bar, in one or more of the boxes, type one or more characters.

| ٤         | SEARCH PARENTIN   | νεαιαγγήση πητιβάτου | AUNTO CONTRACTO | HIN OR  | mAHIE CHIQUIAN | 21      |
|-----------|---|----------------------|-----------------|---------|----------------|---------|
| Starts We | h v /=  | r 🖾 Show Harthe      | Break the Glass |         |                |         |
| tont.     | First Name  | MEN                  | 35H             | 1 Phone | 0.00           | 10      |
| 如柳门       |   |                      |                 |         |                |         |
| Q.        | L CREATENEW S   | CAN LICENSE CLEAR SE | ARCH IMPORT PAT | IENT 7  |                |         |
| Test      | TREARCH RESULTS<br>Ex - tesE1145<br>(9/09/1999, 1090)765 4321, (1 | 1231455-7990         |                 | ē.      | HC .           | NE 8473 |
|           | es 1, address 2<br>NECTADY, NY 12345                              |                      |                 |         |                |         |

5. Double-click a patient row, such as **Test, Table** in the figure above.

**Result**: The patient chart opens to the Patient Information tab.

| ■ Patient <mark>@</mark><br>Test, Table | DOB:0       | 9/09/2000 MRI    | V: tes | 11144       |      |            |              |
|---|-------------|------------------|--------|-------------|------|------------|--------------|
| K 100                                   | RCH PADE    | INT INFORMATION  | RM     | IENT GUARA  | 1000 | WIENT ALER | G NEURANDE   |
| Patient Inform                          | ation       | PORTAL ACCOUNT   |        | SCAN LICE   | NSE  | INQUIRY    | CHECKIN CODE |
| Marioot                                 | NONE 5      | ELECTED +        |        |             |      |            |              |
| Facilities *                            | MY CO       | MPANY            |        |             |      |            |              |
| DICOM Patient ID                        | (           |                  |        |             |      |            |              |
| Account No./Alt *                       | test7144    | Ø                |        |             |      |            |              |
|   | MANAGEA     | LTERNATE ACCOUNT | NUM /  | IDENTIFIERS | 2    |            |              |
| Name *                                  | table       | MB               |        |             | test |            |              |
|   | Surfac 🔺    |                  |        |             |      |            |              |
| Altas                                   | First Nade? | LONCIN           | imië : |             |      |            |              |
| DOB *                                   | 09/09/2000  |                  |        | Sex "       |      | м          | ¥            |
| Mantal Statue                           | Select      |                  | ~      | Height (fv  | in)  |            |              |
| Smoking Status                          | Selem       |                  | (i)    | Weight (lb  | 1    |            |              |

- 6. To view more fields, click [more].
- 7. To view more pages, next to the **Patient** page title, select **(20)**, and then select a tab (such as PATIENT GUARANTOR, or INSURANCE PROFILES)

#### See also:

<u>Create a patient chart</u> <u>Find a patient chart by scanning a driver's license</u> <u>Edit basic patient information</u> <u>Edit other patient information</u>

## Find a patient chart by scanning a driver's license

You can find an existing patient chart by scanning a driver's license.

#### Procedure

### 1. Go to <u>PATIENT</u> > **SEARCH**.

**Note**: If the tab bar is hidden, select the arrow onext to Patient to display it.

### 2. Select **SCAN LICENSE**.



3. Use your barcode reader to scan the driver's license.

The results appear in the **PATIENT SEARCH RESULTS** list.

# Access confidential patient records (break the glass)

In emergencies you can use the Break the Glass function to open patient records that are usually off limits. All Break the Glass operations are added to the audit trail report. Users of type Associated Patients Only can also "break the glass" from the New Appointment screen. To "break the glass" on the physician's portal, or in the patient chart search screen:

### On Physician Portal

Prerequisite: Configure access reasons (see <u>App settings</u>).

- 1. On the My Exams worklist, select the Break the Glass checkbox.
- 2. In the **Break the Glass Warning** dialog, use the search tools to find a patient, and then doubleclick the patient record.
- 3. In the second **Break the Glass Warning** dialog, in the **Access Reason** list, select a justification for accessing the confidential record.
- 4. In the **Verify Your Credential** boxes, type your portal sign-in credentials, and then select **ACCEPT**.

Result: Studies for the selected patient appear in the My Exams screen.

### On the Patient screen

1. Go to <u>PATIENT</u> > **SEARCH**, and select the **Break the Glass** checkbox.

| <        | SEARCH   | PREEKI IN-ORMATION |                   |                 |   |
|----------|----------|--------------------|-------------------|-----------------|---|
| Starta V | With 🕶 🗛 |                    | Show Inactive 📴 E | Break the Glass |   |
| Loui Nor | Der      | First Marse        | MEN               | 55N             | ٦ |

2. Find a patient chart in the usual manner.

# Create and modify a patient chart

### Create a patient chart

You can import a patient chart, or create one by following the steps below.

### Procedure

1. Go to <u>PATIENT</u> > **SEARCH** > **CREATE NEW**.

**Note**: If the tab bar is hidden, select the arrow one next to Patient to display it.

| ٢.       | SEARCH     | PADENT INFORMATION |                         | indiana Autop  |       |
|----------|------------|--------------------|-------------------------|----------------|-------|
| Starta W | /ith 👻 Ali |                    | Bhow Inactive 🙎 Break t | he Glass       |       |
| Sel Ner  | ÷          | First Norm         | MON                     | 83N            | Phone |
| an.      |            | 215                |                         |                |       |
| Q        | 1 CREATE   | NEW SCAN LICENSE   | CLEAR SEARCH            | IMPORT PATIENT | 1 2   |

- 2. Enter information in the **PATIENT INFORMATION** tab as described <u>Edit basic patient</u> <u>information</u>.
- 3. Select **CREATE PATIENT**.
- 4. Enter information in other tabs by referring to Edit other patient information.

### Import a patient chart

You can import a patient record (.CSV) into Symmetry PACS. If the patient already exists in Symmetry PACS, you can update the existing record with the imported information, or create a new record.

**Note**: To view which options must be present for the update to be successful, select the help ? button on the right side of the PATIENT IMPORT button.

#### Procedure

1. Go to <u>PATIENT</u> > **SEARCH** > **IMPORT PATIENT**.

**Note**: If the tab bar is hidden, select the arrow 🙆 next to Patient to display it.

| <        | SEARCH     | HADEN POCKMADON  |                         |                |       |
|----------|------------|------------------|-------------------------|----------------|-------|
| Starts V | Vith 👻 All | 2                | 🖬 Show Inactive 📑 Break | the Olasa      |       |
| Last Nor | ite .      | First Manue      | MON                     | SSN P          | tions |
| 210      |            |                  |                         |                | -     |
| 10       | A DEEATE   | NEW SCAN LICENSE | OLEAR SEARCH            | IMPORT PATIENT | 2     |

2. In the **Import Patient** dialog, select **Choose File**, and then browse for and select the file containing the patient record.

| Import Patient            | Si Optri   |   |                    | ×  |
|---------------------------|--|---|--------------------|----|
| import Patient 🦢          | ← - + + □ + 16PC +   | Босильні — Ф  | P. Sendi Dalaments |    |
| Charles File No de cloves | Organiza * New folder  |   |                    | D  |
| CANCEL                    | <ul> <li>This PC</li> &lt;</ul> | <ul> <li>Hams</li> <li>Dactors Office Terr<br/>Developer</li> <li>Dyseete reports</li> <li>Fas</li> <li>Fasis</li> <li>Fasis<!--</td--><td>K()e++</td><td></td></li></ul> | K()e++             |    |
|                           | Filegare   | -   | Alfies("/          |    |
|                           |  |   | gan Cincel         | I, |

- 3. Optional. To update an existing patient record, select the **Update Existing** checkbox.
- 4. Select **IMPORT**.

# Edit basic patient information

You can edit or add new information to a patient chart. You can access the same settings from an order tab in the Edit Study screen.

### Procedure

- 1. Go to  $\underline{PATIENT} > SEARCH$ .
- 2. Find and open a patient chart (see Find a patient chart by entering search criteria).
- 3. On the **PATIENT INFORMATION** tab, type or select information for the following options.

| Setting              | Description   |
|----------------------|---|
| Market               | Select the markets that serve the patient.  |
| Facilities           | Select facilities that serve the patient.   |
| DICOM Patient ID     | Type the PID or patient MRN.  |
| Account No./Alt.     | Type the patient's account or alternate account number. See <u>About the PID, MRN</u> , and account numbers   |
| Name                 | Type the patient's first, and last name.  |
|                      | Optional: Type the middle name, middle initials, and/or suffix.   |
| ★ / ★                | Grey = Non-VIP. Click to change to Yellow (VIP).  |
| Alias                | Type first and last aliases.  |
| DOB                  | Select the patient's date of birth.   |
| Marital Status       | Select the patient's marital status.  |
| Smoking Status       | Select the patient's smoking status.  |
| Racial/Ethnic        | Checkboxes: Select all that apply.  |
|                      | Dropdown list: Select the Hispanic or Latino ethnicity or non-ethnicity.  |
| Physician            | Select the patient's primary physician.   |
| Ordering Facility    | Available when using Mobile RAD. Select the ordering facility location or contact that serves the patient.  |
| Sex                  | Select the sex of the patient.  |
| Height/Weight        | Type the patient's height and weight.   |
| Patient Flag         | Select a patient flag.  |
| Language             | Select the patient's preferred language.  |
| HIE Consent          | Select whether the patient has consented to release of demographics and medical data through a Health Information Exchange for treatment, payment, and health care operations purposes. |
| Select [more] next   | to words Patient Information to view the following settings   |
| License No./Province | Type the patient's driver's license number, and select the issuing state.   |
| Exp. Date            | Select the expiration date of the driver's license.   |
| Emp. Status          | Select the patient's employment status.   |
| Employer Name        | Type the name of the patient's employer.  |
| Emp. Address         | Type the street address of the patient's employer.  |
| City/Province/Postal | Type or select the city, state or province, and ZIP or postal code of the patient's employer.   |

| Setting             | Description  |
|---------------------|--|
| Phone/Fax           | Type the phone and/or fax number of the patient's employer.  |
| Reason for Death    | If the patient is deceased, select the checkbox and then select the reason for death in the dropdown list.   |
| Notes               | Type any notes you wish to include in the chart.   |
| Users Assigned      | Dynamically search for and select a user to assign to the patient, and then click the add the button. Optional: Repeat to assign more users.           |
| Home Address        | Enter the patient's primary contact information.<br>SMS / Email Consent: Select whether the patient consents to be contacted by SMS text and/or email. |
| Contact Information | Enter the patient's secondary contact information.   |

4. Select SAVE.

### See also:

Edit other patient information Create a patient chart

### Edit other patient information

In addition to basic patient information, you can enter a wide range of other patient-related information in the patient chart. Most of this information is mirrored in the Edit Study screen, giving you access to it through multiple workflows. To enter or edit this other information from a patient chart:

#### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>PATIENT</u> > **SEARCH**.
- 2. Find and open a patient chart (see Find a patient chart by entering search criteria).

**Note**: If the tab bar is hidden, select the arrow **o** next to Patient to display it.

3. Select a tab in the following table, and then enter settings.

Refer to the descriptions and topics shown for details.

| Patient Chart Tab  | Торіс  |
|--------------------|--|
| PATIENT GUARANTOR  | Assign a guarantor for a patient                                       |
| PATIENT ALERTS     | Assign or remove patient alerts  |
| INSURANCE PROFILES |  |
| STUDIES            | Manage studies in the patient chart                                    |
| ORDERS             | Double-click an order in the list to open it in the Edit Study screen. |

| Patient Chart Tab | Торіс                                   |
|-------------------|---|
| STUDY FORMS       | Add a study form to a patient record    |
| DOCUMENTS         | View or add patient documents           |
| PAYMENT HISTORY   | View payment history and print receipts |
| ACTIVITY LOG      | View activity logs                      |
| NOTES             | Enter notes and reasons for study       |
|                   | Open the call log                       |

#### See also:

Edit basic patient information Create a patient chart Find a patient chart by entering search criteria

# About the PID, MRN, and account numbers

The patient ID (PID) is usually the same as the MRN or account number. When they differ, it often is because the PID comes from DICOM sources and the account number comes from RIS sources. This can happen when an incoming DICOM study with an existing PID conflicts with a receiver rule, and Exa RIS compensates by creating a unique account number. Also, staff often enter account numbers manually when creating preorders for new patients, because no PID would exist yet.

### Alternate account numbers

Patients receive a different MRN, PID, or account number when they undergo exams at different facilities. When Symmetry PACS receives such external studies, you can merge them into the master patient record by linking the external MRNs, PIDs, or account numbers as *alternate account numbers* of the Symmetry PACS account number. The benefits of this are:

- The viewer opens images from all records at once
- Any subsequently incoming studies having one of the account numbers are automatically linked to the other account numbers
- Helps prevent duplicate patient records
- Reduces the need to merge patient records

#### See also:

<u>Configure alternate account number functionality</u> <u>Use alternate account numbers</u>

# Configure alternate account number functionality

To be able to use alternate account numbers, perform the following procedures.

### Configure an issuer of a PID

The *issuer of a PID* is an alias for the facility that issued the incoming PID (or MRN, or account number). You must configure an issuer of a PID in advance for each facility whose PIDs you want to use as alternate account numbers.

Some issuers require a standardized formatting for account numbers. You can prevent users from entering invalid account numbers by typing a regular expression against which the account number must match. Symmetry PACS will validate all future account number entries against your regular expression.

#### 1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **DICOM** > **ISSUERS**.

| -   | DICOL           |  |                   |             |              |                     |              |          | 0 |
|-----|-----------------|--|-------------------|-------------|--------------|---------------------|--------------|----------|---|
|     | Country         | REAL PROPERTY AND A DESCRIPTION OF THE P | AN REAL PROPERTY. | Handida and | unoeuu.      | museraan            | SECTION OF A | ISSUE OF |   |
|     |                 |  |                   |             |              |                     |              | PELDAD   |   |
|     | rust            |  |                   |             | 1990         |                     |              |          |   |
|     | 4               |  |                   |             | AL           |                     |              |          | + |
| 1.5 | Registrator Nav | her .  |                   |             | beglenistion | lardar              |              |          |   |
| 10  | Hapitutor Nor   | tergaeert gustarj  |                   |             | tegeneere    | lintergelwrigantii( |              |          |   |
| 11  | ULIPHW          |  |                   |             | ALC: 19-10   |                     |              |          |   |

2. On the > ISSUERS select ADD.

| Name *  |   | 🔲 Inaótive  |
|---------|---|---|
| Туре    | * |   |
| Pattern |   | Add a regular expression to enable pattern matching |

- 3. Type a **Name** for the issuing entity, and select a **Type**.
- 4. Optional. In the **Pattern** box, type a regular expression. Exa PACS/RIS will prevent users from adding PID/account numbers that fail to match the expression.

```
For example, if you type the pattern: AB?
```

PIDs and account numbers must start with **AB** and be followed by **one character**, such as **AB1**, **ABC**, and **ABz**.

5. Select SAVE.

### Configure an AE for use with alternate account numbers

For each application entity that receives studies whose MRNs, PIDs, or account numbers you want to use as alternate account numbers:

- 1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **DICOM** > **AE TITLE.**
- 2. Double-click an AE in the list to open it.

|                | TEL TREATORS | TOUTING BALLS | ACRESS      | TECOVITIEN | MATCHING FM, ES | INVIANG (TEOLOGO |
|----------------|--------------|---------------|-------------|------------|-----------------|------------------|
| Hide in arriva |              |               |             |            |                 | A00              |
| ETLE 0         | 11001        | rant          | uccommon    |            | LE STORE        | ATTAT            |
|                |              |               |             |            | 19400134 - H    | <u>#</u>         |
| CHANCE VIS     | 16.227.25.76 | 20336         | EXA//32/132 | 20         | a Dever Images  | SENDECODYEST     |

3. Under **Issuer Type**, select **Static** or **Dynamic**. If you select **Static**, in the **Issuer** dropdown list, select the issuer.

| Issuer Type * | O None   | Static | O Dynamic |
|---------------|----------|--------|-----------|
| Issuer *      | Salect 👻 |        |           |

4. Select **SAVE.** 

### Configure a receiver rule for use with alternate account numbers

For each relevant receiver rule:

- 1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **DICOM** > **RECEIVER RULES**.
- 2. Double-click a receiver rule in the list to open it.

| -  | pico | MEL<br>METITLE FILE | STORE DOUTE | IO MIA EB | AE CONFERN     | RECEIVER RULE | 5 MATCHING RUI |
|----|------|---------------------|-------------|-----------|----------------|---------------|----------------|
|    |      | ITY RULE NAME       | AETITLE     | FACILITY  | The second off | MODALITY      | INSTITUTION    |
|    |      |                     | All         | 216       |                | All           |                |
| ΰĒ | 4    | IMPORT              | OPALIMPORT  | A\$       |                | A8            |                |
| 0  | 2    | DERAULT BULL        | Ali         | Al        |                | Al            |                |

3. Under **Rule Information and Filter**, select the **Issuer of Alternate Account Number** checkbox.



4. Select **SAVE**.

### See also:

About the PID, MRN, and account numbers Use alternate account numbers

### Use alternate account numbers

To use alternate account numbers to link multiple patient records, complete the following steps.

**Prerequisite**: <u>Configure alternate account number functionality</u>.

### Procedure

- 1. Open the patient chart (see Find a patient chart by entering search criteria).
- 2. On the **PATIENT INFORMATION** tab, select **MANAGE ALTERNATE ACCOUNT NUM/IDENTIFIERS**.

| ■ Patient ©<br>Test, Pooj | jaa p         | OB: 05/15/2019 M    | RN: 456  |                |
|---------------------------|---------------|---------------------|--|----------------|
| <b>(</b> se               | ARCH          | TIENT INFORMATION   | PATIENT GUARANTOR  | PATIENT ALERTS |
| Patient Inform            | nation llocal | PORTAL ADCOUNT      | SCAN LICENSE   |                |
| Market                    | NONE          | SELECTED -          |  |                |
| Facilities *              | NIRMILL       | A TEST FACIL        |  |                |
| DICOM Patient ID          |               | 1                   |  |                |
| Account No /Alt -         | 456           | 0                   |  |                |
|                           | MANAG         | E ALTERNATE ACCOUNT | NUM / IDENTIFIERS  |                |
| Name -                    | One las       | 6.00                | in the second se |                |

- 3. In the Alternate Account Num/Identifiers dialog, select ADD.
- 4. In the **Issuer Name and Type** dropdown list, select an option, and then type the alternate account number or identifier.

| Alternate Account Num / Ide           | entifiers             |        |                      |      |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------------|--------|----------------------|------|
|                                       |                       | SAVE   | SAVE & CLOSE         | HACK |
| Issuer Name and Type *                |                       |        |                      |      |
| Registration Nur                      | wher - Registration ) | Number |                      | *    |
| Alternate Account Num / Identifiera * | 5678                  | ~      | Test matches pattern | 1    |
|                                       | Primary               |        |                      |      |
| Must b                                | e a cumber            |        |                      |      |

- 5. If using multiple alternate account numbers, select the **Primary** checkbox if you want the current number to be the primary one.
- 6. Select **SAVE**.

You can repeat this procedure to add multiple alternate account numbers.

### See also:

About the PID, MRN, and account numbers Configure alternate account number functionality

# Manage studies in the patient chart

From the STUDIES tab of the patient chart you can create, schedule, and view payment status of prior or future studies of the patient.

### Procedure

- 1. Go to <u>PATIENT</u> > **SEARCH**.
- 2. Find and open a patient chart (see Find a patient chart by entering search criteria).

**Note**: If the tab bar is hidden, select the arrow onext to Patient to display it.

| 4                         | -                   | allyn mirmisa        |         |              | -        | APRIL NUM              | a see        | Silling colores |               |
|---------------------------|---------------------|----------------------|---------|--------------|----------|------------------------|--------------|-----------------|---------------|
| atient Studies            |                     |                      |         |              |          | THE BLETS              | HON STURY    | MALNIN .        | OF CEST NAMED |
| mithe.                    | STREET, ALLOW &     | Terrer               | BARGET. | Accust along | ACCOUNTS | 1049200307228          | 44/0000      | 199             | -111.0.0      |
|                           |                     | - M                  | 44      |              |          |                        |              |                 |               |
| 0.P                       | REPORTED AN         | invertig Tarr Racity | 34      | ang.         | 1246     | IS THE REPORT AND A    | N 400 K 10   |                 | Opilia        |
| 80. D                     | 10/14/08/01/2010 AM | B brittent           |         | · Factorial  |          | AND THE ADDRESS OF THE | YV PSRJ      |                 | Approx        |
| 67 +                      | REPORTED FOR POR    | HUTTER THAT AND      | 84.1    | 844          | 448.2    | = son after many       | THE PARTY OF |                 | Sec.          |
|                           |                     |                      |         | Main scre    | en       |                        |              |                 |               |
|                           | (41111)             | ianni -              |         | 100414       | 4444     | 10.01                  | 1100         | ii i            | 944           |
| Preparation in the second |                     | asia                 | \$8.08  |              | imi      | 40 m                   | 34.96        | 34.0            | 17.           |
| Marg Report the           |                     | 0.00                 | 0508    | 80           | 50       | 00.00                  | 34.16        | 21.0            | +             |
| Seal.                     |                     | 80.00                | 29.04   |              | Ú.       | 10.101                 | 16.00        | 81.0            |               |

Payment status summary at bottom of screen

3. On the **STUDIES** tab, perform one or more of the following tasks.

| Task                           | Торіс   |
|--------------------------------|---|
| Find, view, and edit a study   | Search for a study in the list. Double-click a study to open it in the Edit Study screen.   |
| View approved reports          | Select the 🎒 approved report button of a study.   |
| View payment status            | An aggregate summary of study payments appears at the bottom of the screen.   |
| Fax/Email approved reports     | Right-click an approved study, point to <b>Send Report</b> and select <b>Fax/Email</b> . See also <u>Send reports from the patient chart</u> .        |
| View the claim inquiry screen  | Right-click a study that has claim history, and then select <b>Claim Inquiry</b> .  |
| Schedule an ordered study      | Select an unscheduled study, and then select <b>Schedule Appointment</b> to open the study in the Find Slots screen (see Use the Find Slots feature). |
| Create a study for the patient | Select one of the following:  |

| Task         | Торіс  |  |  |
|--------------|--|--|--|
|              | <b>NEW STUDY</b> : See Enter appointment information   |  |  |
|              | WALK-IN: See Schedule a walk-in appointment  |  |  |
| Order images | 1. Select a study whose images you want to order in the list, and then select <b>ORDER IMAGE</b> . |  |  |
|              | 2. Select the patient and/or physicians to whom to send the images.                                |  |  |
|              | 3. Type sending methods and notes, and then select <b>PLACE ALL ORDERS</b> .                       |  |  |

# Assign a guarantor for a patient

If the patient requires a guarantor for legal or insurance purposes, you can add one to the patient's chart.

### Procedure

- 1. Find an open the patient's chart.
- 2. On the **PATIENT GUARANTOR** tab, select **ADD**.
- 3. Enter the information for the guarantor, and then select SAVE.

### Send reports from the patient chart

You can send approved reports by email or fax directly from the patient chart.

#### Procedure

1. Open a patient chart, and then select the **STUDIES** tab.

| Test | t, Valerie |                     | 2000 MR4: 10641    | UU1  |        |               |            |                    |                           |               |               |
|------|------------|---------------------|--------------------|------|--------|---------------|------------|--------------------|---------------------------|---------------|---------------|
| 4    |            | -                   | BALLER PLOTE       |      |        |               | 100309/402 | STREES MILLION     | -                         | STITUT COMM   |               |
|      | Studies    |                     |                    |      |        |               |            | THE GATS           | HEN STUDY                 | <b>MALNIN</b> | CITERS INVICE |
|      | methat.    | enemant/ve          | Invest             |      | niety. | Annuary areas | 1.0000000  | 104920000228       | (100                      |               |               |
|      |            |                     | مدا                | + 44 |        |               |            |                    |                           |               |               |
| 02   |            | KDP DODDER HE AM    | service Tarriacity | 34   |        | ing.          | 1246       | CONFERENCE AND     | NGRATOR                   |               | فلفلتنون      |
| .84  | 2          | 12/14/08/01/2010 AM | B Dellbart         |      | 1.0    | · Factorial   |            | ANGERS ADDR. DOINE | 2YV-PSRJ                  |               | Apponi        |
| 62   |            | BURNLING THE PART   | Include Day Making | 3.4  | -      | X-IV          | 10.        | in som aver or on  | of a little little little |               | an weaked     |

2. In the list of studies, right-click a study containing an approved report, select **Send Report**, and then select **Fax/Email**.

| Send Fax   |            |    |           |                | Report Guese |
|------------|------------|----|-----------|----------------|--------------|
| Bend To *  | Paniders   | ¥. | Providera | Select Provide |              |
| Send Email |            |    |           |                |              |
| Send Tu 🔹  | Patrickers | v  | Purviders | Salact Provide | 2            |

- 3. In the Send Report dialog, in the Send Fax and/or Send Email sections:
  - a. In the Send To dropdown list, select a category of recipient.
  - b. In the dropdown list on the right, select an individual recipient.
- 4. Select **SEND FAX** and/or **SEND EMAIL**.

### Merge patient charts

If two patient charts are accidentally created for a single patient, you can merge the charts.

- 1. Go to <u>PATIENT</u> > **SEARCH.**
- 2. In the **MRN** box, enter the account number of the records to merge.

| Starte With 🐱 | All |        | • 🖬  | Show inactive D Br | eak the Glass |       |
|---------------|-----|--------|------|--------------------|---------------|-------|
| Lieft Nerrie  |     | Tim Ne | ATTR | test.              | SSN           | Phone |

3. In the list of results, select the row containing the *incorrect* patient chart, hover and select the settings button, and then select **Merge**.



- 4. Repeat the previous two steps for the row containing the *correct* patient chart.
- 5. In the Patient Merge screen, confirm the contents of the merge and then select MERGE.

### Merge a "FIX\_" study

If the DOB, gender, first name, and last name of a new patient chart are the same as an existing one, Symmetry PACS prepends "FIX\_" to the account number in the worklist. You can fix these by merging them with the existing chart. This can occur in such cases as a name change due to marriage or divorce, an updated account number, or an error in patient entry.

1. On the search bar of the worklist, in the **ACCOUNT NO**. box, type FIX and then select **Enter**.

|   | = W  | /orklist   |       |             |       |              |           |               |
|---|------|------------|-------|-------------|-------|--------------|-----------|---------------|
|   |      | PHE ORDERS | 99    | ALL STUDIES | 900   | Ref /        |           |               |
| × | Ó    |            |       | _           | IMDS. | ACCOUNT-NO.  | STATUS    | FACILITY      |
|   |      |            |       |             |       | Fix          |           | ALL           |
| + | 20   | 0 *        | €     | ★ © 1       | e.    | FIX_TECV1001 | Schooled  | Angela Facili |
| ÷ | = () | 0 *        | 19/12 | ★© i        | 0     | FIX_TesV1001 | Scheduled | Angela Facili |
| ŧ | 20   | 2 *        | Ξ,    | ★ © i       | 0     | FDI_TesV1001 | Cancelled | GobikaTestFi  |

- 2. In the list of results, copy the account number (without the "FIX\_" prefix) of a study.
- 3. Paste the account number in the **ACCOUNT NO.** box, and then select **Enter**.
- 4. In the list of results, compare the "FIX\_" record with the other to determine whether they are for the same patient.
- 5. If the same, merge the records by following the earlier procedure.

# Work with Mobile RAD

Mobile RAD is a mobile Android app that technologists use to manage their mobile exams.

### **Install Mobile RAD**

All technologists and other users of Mobile RAD must follow the steps in the following sub-topics to install the Mobile RAD app on their Android mobile device. If you do not have access to the SETUP area of Symmetry PACS, request assistance from an administrator.

### Configure Symmetry PACS

- 1. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Scheduling & Codes** > **STUDY STATUS**.
- 2. In the **Facility** dropdown list, select your facility.

| =          | OHEDULING            | F & CODES- | 1  |                | -            |       |
|------------|----------------------|------------|----|----------------|--------------|-------|
| - 70       | ( 188 00085)         | NOC COORS  |    | CHEDULEFICTION | STUDY STATUS | (TRAN |
| - 1        | OTUDY STATUS         | STUDY FLOY | N. |                |              |       |
| Facility * | My C                 | empany     | 4  | anth           | 2            | AD0   |
|            | ORD/Ordered          | (04e)      | 1  |                |              |       |
|            | <b>PR/Precheckin</b> | (446)      |    |                |              |       |
| - 1        | SCH/Scheduled        | Citer      |    |                |              |       |
|            | CON/Confirmed        | 3 mm       |    |                |              |       |
|            | CH4/Check-In         | Drew       |    |                |              |       |

- 3. For each status in the list related to mobile orders:
  - a. Double-click the status to open its settings.
  - b. Select the MobileRad Related checkbox.

| STUDY              | STATUS STUDY FL | ow                            |
|--------------------|-----------------|-------------------------------|
| General Informatic | m               |                               |
| Status Code *      | SCH             | Add to Study Shortcut Menu on |
| Statue             | Scheduled       | MobileRad Related             |
| Description *      |                 |                               |
| Color Code         | #740008         | Order Related                 |
| Max Wait Time      | min (25)        |                               |
|                    |                 | SAVE CANCEL                   |

c. Select **SAVE**.

### Install a PDF viewer

- 1. On your mobile device, go to the **Google Play Store**.
- 2. Install a PDF viewer, such as Adobe Acrobat, WPS Office-PDF, or Microsoft Office.

### Install the APK



### 1. Go to $\underline{\text{TOOLS}} > \text{MOBILE RAD}$ .

**Result**: The browser downloads the mobilerad.apk file.

- 2. Copy **mobilerad.apk** to your mobile device (such as through email, chat, or File Explorer).
- 1. On your mobile device, in the **Blocked by Play Protect** message, select **INSTALL ANYWAY**.

### Configure Mobile RAD

- 1. Tap and hold the **Mobile RAD** icon, and then select **App info > Permissions**.
- 2. On the **App permissions** screen, on the options <sup>‡</sup> menu, select **All Permissions**.
- 3. In the **Storage** folder of your mobile device, confirm that the **MobileRAD** sub-folder appears. If it does not, create the sub-folder.

### Sign-In to Mobile RAD

- 1. From your site administrator, obtain the host name for Mobile RAD.
- 2. Go to <u>SETUP</u> > <u>OFFICE</u> > **Office** > **COMPANY**.

|       | Heater: | Harrison          | Comment 11 | 10041111004 | COMPOSITION : | Kanadanin       | - MARK       | -DAMAGING B               | 104   |
|-------|---------|-------------------|------------|-------------|---------------|-----------------|--------------|---------------------------|-------|
| Calle | Nore *  | NyCompany<br>Turi | Time(and   | · Ustamer   | •0            | envirititer 🖸 e | ulile Miryra | ternine 🖸 Endlie Parameti | dinem |

- 3. Write down the value in the **Code** box.
- 4. Tap the Mobile RAD icon, and on the sign-in screen, select HOST NAME ?.
- 5. In the HostName field, enter the host name, and then select YES.
- 6. On the sign-in screen, enter the following:

| Setting      | Value                             |
|--------------|-----------------------------------|
| Username     | Your user name for Symmetry PACS. |
| Password     | Your password for Symmetry PACS.  |
| Company Code | The code you wrote down earlier.  |

7. Select LOGIN.

# Perform query and retrieve

You can query a server and retrieve studies.

Prerequisite: <u>Configure DICOM settings</u> for the server to query and for Symmetry PACS on the server.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the burger menu, select **QUERY/RETRIEVE**.
- 2. In the dropdown list on the left side of the QUERY button, select a server to query.
- 3. Type criteria in the search bar and select **QUERY**.

#### Notes:

- Use the **Study Exists** list to filter studies that are already in the Exa platform database.
- You can use the asterisk (\*) and question mark (?) **wildcard characters** in the account number, accession number, referring physician, and study description fields.
- 4. Optional. To retrieve all matching studies, select **RETRIEVE**. To retrieve some matching studies, select the studies, right-click, and then select **Retrieve**.

# Work with reports

## Create, view, and deliver reports

### Create a report

You can create various types of reports based on configurable criteria, and then export them in formats including PDF, XLS, CSV, and XML. Note that *reports* here does not include approved reports from radiologists.

### Procedure

- 1. On the burger Hannenu, select **REPORTS**.
- 2. On the top navigation bar, select **Report**, and then select a report type in the list.
- 3. Below the **Filter Fields** label, select criteria to define the content of the report.
- 4. Select VIEW, or select an output format (PDF, EXCEL, CSV, or XML).

### View your saved reports

You can view open and download reports that you previously saved.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the burger menu, select the arrow next to **REPORTS**, and then select **MY REPORTS**.
- 2. Select a report in the list, and then:
  - Select 📥 to download
  - Select (O) to open

### Send reports to providers

You can configure Symmetry PACS to automatically send reports and images through email to specified provider locations/contacts and their provider groups.

**Prerequisite**: Add a referring physician or ordering physician to any studies whose reports you want to send (see <u>Edit study information</u>).

#### Procedure

- 1. On the burger menu, select **SETUP** > [full caps menu] > Providers & Resources > RESOURCE.
- 2. In the list of resources, double-click a provider type resource.
- 3. On the **LOCATIONS/CONTACTS** sub-tab, double-click a location/contact in the list.

- 4. Double-click a location/contact in the list. In the **Contact Information** area, in the **Email** box, type the email address of the provider contact.
- 5. In the **Reports to Me** area, under **Contact Information**, enter the following settings. To send reports to other members of the provider location/contact's provider group, under **Reports to Group**, enter the same settings.

| Setting           | Description  |
|-------------------|--|
| Email Report Link | Select to send a link to the report in an email.   |
| Postal Mail       | Select to send a hard copy of the report to the mailing address entered<br>in the Contact Information area.  |
| Fax               | Select to send a fax of the report to the fax number entered in the Contact Information area.                |
| Email Attachment  | Select to send the report as an attachment to an email.  |
| Auto-Print        | Available when you select postal mail. Select a printer in the dropdown list to automatically print reports. |
| Office Fax        | Select to send a fax of the report to the office fax number entered in the Contact Information area.         |

6. Optional: Under **Report Password**, type a password to require to open reports.

### 7. Select **SAVE & CLOSE**.

**Note**: You can view your sent reports at: Burger menu > SETUP > General > REPORT QUEUE. Records are processed and sent to the specified user or group based on the email service configuration.

# Work with tools

Symmetry PACS includes a suite of tools that provide a variety of functionality. Some tools must be installed locally on the client computer (see <u>Install and configure tools</u>).

# Use import tools

## Import studies from CD

You can perform a "CD import."



Ensure that the data to be imported, and the data after import are correct.

Prerequisite: Install Opal tools.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the burger Honor, select the arrow next to **TOOLS**, and then select **CD IMPORT**.
- If the "Open Opal Import?" message appears, select the checkbox, and then select Open Opal Import.
- 3. In the **OpalImport** dialog, select **Select Files/Folders or DICOMDIR to Import**, and then browse for and select files to import.
- 4. Enter customization settings and then select **Import**.

### Import studies to a specific AE (API mode)

You can import studies to a specific AE.

#### Procedure

1. On the worklist, on the **PACS Actions** menu, select **Import Images**.

**Note**: If the "Open Opal Import?" message appears, select the checkbox, and then select **Open Opal Import**.

2. In the **OpalImport** dialog, turn on API mode by typing 1q2w3e4r5t.

Note: You only need to perform this step once. API mode will remain on permanently.

- 3. Select the Exa API transfer option.
- 4. Select **Select Files/Folders or DICOMDIR to Import**, and then browse for and select files to import.

5. Enter customization settings and then select **Import**.

# Work with Patient Portal

Patient Portal is a website that patients can use to view or modify information about their past and future exams, demographics, insurance, guarantors, and representatives, and to schedule appointments.

### About creating a patient account

Before the patient can use Patient Portal, clinical staff must work with the patient to create an account. You can choose one of two workflows to create an account: initiated by clinical staff, or initiated by the patient.

### Create a patient account

To create a new patient portal account:

### As clinical staff

- 1. Provide the patient portal URL to the patient. You can contact the patient directly, or add the URL to the appointment confirmation screen or automated appointment reminders.
- 2. In the patient's chart, select **PORTAL ACCOUNT**.
- 3. Enter information as needed, and then select **CREATE**.

**Result**: Symmetry PACS sends an email to the patient with a link they can use to set their password.

3. Click SAVE.

### As the patient

- 1. On the patient portal sign-in screen, select **NEW USER**.
- 2. In the New User Registration dialog, fill out the form, and then select Save.
- 3. Open the email from your healthcare facility, and then select the verification link to verify your email address.

### Link the portal account to a patient chart

When a patient initiates creating their own Patient Portal account, the demographics they enter are sent to Symmetry PACS. You must reconcile that information to the patient's existing chart, or use it to create a new chart.

#### Procedure

1. On the burger 🔜 menu, select **PORTAL REG USERS**.

- 2. On the **Portal Registered Users** screen, open a user of Verified status.
- 3. In the **Portal Registered Information** screen, in the **Patient Match** area, search for a matching patient. If no matching patients appear, select **CREATE NEW**, edit the patient's information as needed, and then select **CREATE PATIENT**.
- 4. Open the matching patient, and check the **Registration Information** pane on the right; if any information appears in yellow, decide whether you want to update the patient chart with the new information.
- 5. Do one of the following:
  - To update the patient chart and link the account, select **SAVE AND LINK**, and then select **UPDATE**.
  - To continue linking the account without updating the patient chart, select **SAVE AND LINK**, and then select **CONTINUE WITHOUT UPDATING**.
  - To reject the registration request altogether, select **REJECT**.

# Use the patient portal

Only patients and authorized representatives can use the patient portal, but you can refer to these instructions to assist patients. See also the Patient Portal user's manual.

# Sign in to the patient portal

### Procedure

1. Go to the URL given to you by your healthcare provider.

| 🕄 Login                                |
|--|
| example@email-address                  |
| <u> </u>                               |
| C Liburgs to the HIPAA Privacy histore |
| LOGIN                                  |
| NEW USER FORGOT PASSWORD               |

- 2. In the **Login** pane, in the first box, type your email address.
- 3. In the second box, type your password.
- 4. Select the **I Agree to the HIPAA Privacy Notice** link to open the notice, and then read it.
- 5. If you agree, select the I Agree to the HIPAA Privacy Notice checkbox.
- 6. Optional. To automatically fill in your email address whenever you go to the sign-in page, select the **Remember Me** checkbox.
- 7. Select LOGIN.

### I forgot my password

If you forget your password, you can reset it from the sign-in page.

- 1. On the sign-in page, on the right pane, select **FORGOT PASSWORD**.
- 2. In the Forgot Password box, type your email address and select SUBMIT.

3. Open the email sent to the address you entered, and use the link to reset your password.

## Go to the Home screen

• In the left pane, select **Home**.

### Find a location

You can search for a healthcare facility near you on a map.

- 1. In the left pane, select **Our Locations**.
- 2. In the list of locations, select a location to show it on the map.

### View appointments and appointment confirmations

You c an view information about your past and future appointments, and view and print the appointment confirmation card.

### Procedure

- 1. On the home screen, select the **Future Appointments** or **Past Appointments** tab. Each appointment appears in a row.
- 2. To open the appointment confirmation card, on the left side of an appointment row, select the appointment card I button.
- 3. To print the appointment confirmation card, open the confirmation card, and then select **Print**.

# Upload a document

You can send us documents such as scans of your insurance card, forms, and reports from prior exams by uploading them in the patient portal.

- 1. On the home screen, select the Future Appointments or Past Appointments tab.
- 2. Find the row containing the appointment that pertains to your document.
- 3. On the right side of the row, select the upload  $\square$  button.
- 4. In screen that appears, enter any of the following that may be helpful to manage the document:
  - Document Type Select the type of document to upload.
  - **Document Notes** Type a description, or other notes, if needed.
  - Created By Type the originator of the document (such as a doctor, or yourself).
  - Import/Upload Date Type the current date.
- 5. Select Upload.

# View your appointments in a calendar

You can open a calendar view of your appointments.

• On the home screen, select the Calendar 🙆 button.

## Request an appointment

You can request an appointment for specific study on a specific date at a selected location. If you do not know this information, leave the options blank (this does not affect how quickly your appointment will be scheduled).

### Procedure

- 1. On the home screen, select the menu  $\blacksquare$  button.
- 2. Select the Schedule  $\blacksquare$  button.
- 3. On the **Appointments** tab, select **Add**.
- 4. Under **Add Information**, enter the following settings.

| Setting  | Descr  | iption  |
|----------|--------|---|
| Location | Select | your first choice of healthcare facility for the appointment. |
| Modality | Select | the type of imaging to receive from one of the following.     |
|          | AT     |   |
|          | BD     | Bone density  |
|          | BR     |   |
|          | вто    | Breast tomography   |
|          | CR     | Computed radiography  |
|          | СТ     | CT (computed tomography)                                      |
|          | DG     | Diaphanography  |
|          | DX     | Digital radiography   |
|          | MG     | Mammogram   |
|          | MGK    |   |
|          | MR     | MRI (magnetic resonance imaging)                              |
|          | NM     | Nuclear medicine  |
|          | ОТ     | Other   |
| Setting                | Descr   | iption                             |
|------------------------|---|------------------------------------|
|                        | PT  | PET (positron emission tomography) |
|                        | RF  | Radio fluoroscopy                  |
|                        | RT  | Record of treatment                |
|                        | SC  | Secondary capture                  |
|                        | SP  | Stereophotogrammetry               |
|                        | ТМ  |                                    |
|                        | US  | Ultrasound                         |
|                        | ХА  | X-ray angiography                  |
| Referred By            | Select your first choice of date for the appointment.   |                                    |
| Requesting Date        | Select your first choice of date for the appointment.   |                                    |
| Schedule Notes         | Type any special instructions or notes to the healthcare provider.                                  |                                    |
| Appointment<br>Type    | The appointment type corresponding to the selected modality, if available. Filled in automatically. |                                    |
| As Soon as<br>Possible | If the appointment is urgent, select this checkbox.   |                                    |

5. Click Save.

**Result**: The appointment request is sent.

## Update insurance information

If your insurance policy changes, you can update it.

### Procedure

- 1. On the home screen, select the menu  $\blacksquare$  button.
- 2. Select the Insurance  $\mathfrak{Q}$  button.
- 3. On the **Insurance** tab, find the policy you want to update, and on the right, select its edit *button*.
- 4. Edit the information as needed, and then select **Save**.

## Add an insurance policy

If you obtain new a insurance policy, you can add it.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the home screen, select the menu 🗰 button.
- 2. Select the Insurance  $\mathfrak{Q}$  button.
- 3. On the **Insurance** tab, select **Add**.
- 4. Enter all relevant information.

**Note**: If this is your only policy, in the **Level** list, select **Primary**. Otherwise, select **Secondary** for your second policy, or **Tertiary** for your third policy.

5. Select **Save**.

## Add a guarantor

A guarantor is a person who accepts financial responsibility to pay the medical bill for the patient. To designate a guarantor:

### Procedure

- 1. On the home screen, select the menu 🔛 button.
- 2. Select the Guarantor 🚨 button.
- 3. On the **Guarantors** tab, select **Add**.
- 4. Enter information about the guarantor, and then select Save.

**Note**: Options with an asterisk (\*) are required.

# Update my profile

If your personal information changes, you can edit it.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the home screen, select the menu 🗰 button.
- 2. Select the Edit My Profile 🗳 button.
- 3. On the **Credentials** tab, edit information as needed, and then select **Save**.

## Reset my password

For security and protection of your personal health information, periodically reset your password.

#### Procedure

1. On the home screen, select the menu 🗰 button.

- 2. Select the Edit My Profile 🗳 button.
- 3. On the **My Account** tab, select **Reset Password**.
- 4. Type your current and new password (twice), and then select **Save**.

## Add an email address

To add a new email address to your account:

#### Procedure

- 1. On the home screen, select the menu  $\blacksquare$  button.
- 2. Select the Edit My Profile 🗳 button.
- 3. On the **My Account** tab, in the **Secondary Email** box, type an email address, and then select the plus  $\bigoplus$  sign.

**Result**: An verification email is sent to the address you entered.

4. Use the link in the verification email to verify your new address.

## View account activity

To see a history of activity on your account: **Procedure** 

- 1. On the home screen, select the menu  $\blacksquare$  button.
- 2. Select the Activity Log 🔤 button.
- 3. Optional. To search for a specific log entry, select **Search**, and then:
  - a. Select a search key (Logged Date, Screen Name, Email Address, or Log Description).
  - b. Type a value to search for (for example, 01/31/2021).
  - c. Select Search.

## View authorized representatives

An authorized representative is a person you authorize to use your patient portal account. To view a list of your authorized representatives:

#### Procedure

1. On the home screen, select the menu 🗰 button.

2. Select the Authorized Representative 🛓 button.

# Sign out of the patient portal

When finished using the patient portal, sign out immediately.

• In the upper-right corner of the screen, select the power 0 button.

# Appendix

# Reference

## User reference

## Search syntax

Various lists in Symmetry PACS have a search bar with column headers that accept search criteria. The following general rules apply when entering search criteria.

• In most numeric boxes, you can search for any part of the number. For example:

In the account number box, type: 20

Symmetry PACS finds: 203, 1203, and 01203.

• In a name box (such as patient name or payer name), you can type the full name in the format:

lastname, firstname

…but not…

firstname lastname.

• In a name box, you can type the first or last name only. For example:

Type: Anderson Symmetry PACS finds: Cooper, Anderson

…and…

Anderson, John.

• In a name box you can type all or part of the first or last name, but using as many letters as possible improves accuracy. For example:

Type: Oswa Symmetry PACS finds: Oswald, Trevor …and… Davis, Oswald However, if you type: Os

Symmetry PACS finds only: Oswald, Trevor.

# Keyboard shortcuts and commands for Exa Trans

When using Exa Trans, the following keyboard shortcuts are available.

| Command                        | Command Text      | Shortcut      |
|--------------------------------|-------------------|---------------|
| Remove last dictated piece     | undo that         | -             |
|                                | delete that       |               |
|                                | scratch that      |               |
| Next variable placeholder      | next variable     | Alt+]         |
| Previous variable placeholder  | previous variable | Alt+[         |
| Capitalize previous word       | capitalize that   | -             |
|                                | cap that          |               |
| Remove word left of the cursor | remove left       | Ctrl+Alt+Back |
| Start recording                |                   | Ctrl+F1       |
| Toggle recording               |                   | Ctrl+F3       |
| Stop recording                 | stop recording    | Ctrl+F2       |

# Description of reports

The following table lists all of the reports available on the Exa platform. Some reports may not be available to you depending on your product and configuration.

| Category                | Report                             | Description  |
|-------------------------|------------------------------------|--|
| Billing/Reports         | Aged AR Detail                     | AR aging by facility, responsible party, and payer by cutoff date and selected facilities, in detail |
|                         | Aged AR Summary                    | AR aging by facility, responsible party, and payer by cutoff date and selected facilities            |
|                         | Charges                            | Charges for reconciling and reviewing the charges populated for any date of service                  |
|                         | Claim Activity                     | Detailed claim activity history by claim date range  |
|                         | Claim Inquiry                      | All submitted claims, and order payments and balances  |
|                         | Claim Transaction                  | All claims, and claim payments and balances  |
|                         | Collections                        | Claims in the Collections Review status  |
|                         | Credit Balance Encounters          | Credit balance encounters  |
|                         | Diagnosis Count                    | Aggregate diagnosis count by ICD code and facility, by order date range                              |
|                         | Modality Summary                   | Modality summary   |
|                         | Monthly Recap                      | Monthly recap  |
|                         | Patient Statement                  | Patient statement  |
|                         | Patients by Insurance              | Patients seen within a date range by insurance   |
|                         | Payer Mix                          | Payer mix  |
|                         | Payments                           | Totals by payment and payer type, and how each charge line item is applied by accounting date range  |
|                         | Payments by Insurance Company      | Calculated payments to each insurance company, by patient  |
|                         | Payments Realization Rate Analysis | Accounts with a zero balance   |
|                         | Procedure Analysis by Insurance    | Procedures by insurance  |
|                         | Procedure Count                    | Number of procedures approved by radiologist fee schedule  |
|                         | Reading Provider Fees              | Reading provider fees  |
|                         | Referring Provider Count           | Referring provider count   |
|                         | Referring Provider Summary         | Referring doctor summary information   |
|                         | Transaction Summary                | Transaction summary  |
| Reports -<br>Schedule & | Daily Schedules                    | Information on studies performed by day  |

### Symmetry® PACS 1.4.32\_P9 User's Manual

| Category   | Report                             | Description  |
|------------|------------------------------------|--|
| Reports    | Export Completed Studies           | CSV export of patient, study, and insurance details for completed or approved studies  |
|            | Marketing Rep Activities           | Notes and activities that marketing representatives enter about referring physicians   |
|            | Unsigned Orders                    | not signed by referring physician. No longer used.   |
| Operations | Cancellation Reason                | Statistics on canceled studies with cancellation reason as a key filtering criterion.  |
|            | Scheduler Activity                 | Number of orders (based on the current order status) by<br>time of day that a user ordered, scheduled, rescheduled, or<br>canceled, by facility and date range |
|            | Unfinished Studies                 | not having selected study statuses, by facility and date range   |
|            | Referrals Variance                 | Number of studies referred by referring physicians in the past 13 months, by facility, modality, and month   |
|            | Studies Breakdown                  | Number of studies by facility, modality, study date, and study status  |
|            | Studies by Modality                | Aggregate study count by facility, modality, study date, and study status  |
|            | Studies by Modality Room           | Aggregate study count by facility and modality room  |
|            | Modality Breakdown                 | Number of studies performed based on CPT or appointment type, by modality  |
|            | Technologist Productivity          | Number of studies performed per technologist by facility, modality, appointment type, and procedure code   |
|            | Peer Review Operational            | Progress and results of peer reviews performed   |
|            | Fees by Radiologist and Modality   | Summary and breakdown of fees for a modality, by radiologist   |
|            | Turnaround Time (TAT) - Calculated | Shows turnaround time (TAT) calculated based on selected date, type, and study's approved date, by date range, facilities, and/or ordering facilities          |
|            | Relative Value Units               | CPT and RVU totals for reports signed off, by date range   |
|            | Referring Physician Study Count    | Number of studies referred by referring physicians by date range   |
|            | Completed Schedules                | Shows information about completed studies  |
|            | Monthly/Daily Study Goals          | Number of studies performed in the month compared to the goal set in Monthly Goals Setup   |
|            | STAT Tracking                      | Number of studies marked as STAT   |
|            | Transcription Study Count          | Aggregate study count of reports transcribed by transcriptionists, by facility, modality, and study date   |

| Category                  | Report             | Description   |
|---------------------------|--------------------|---|
|                           | Insurance vs LOP   | Aggregate study count by modality for insurance paid vs<br>letter of protection/personal injury studies |
|                           |                    | Study information, bill fees, and allowed amounts for referring physicians and marketing reps           |
|                           | Audit Trail        | Break the glass Audit Trail report  |
| Same Last Name User Audit |                    | Alberta only.   |
| Patients                  | Patients Worksheet | Patient and study face sheets in form   |
| My Reports                | My Reports         | Allows opening the My Reports tab to view operational reports   |

# Settings in insurance profile screens

The settings related to insurance profiles are slightly different depending on which of the following screens you use to view them.

- 1. Edit Study > Insurance Profile > Add
- 2. Edit Study > Insurance Profile > Edit
- 3. New Appointment > Insurance
- 4. Patient > Insurance Profiles > Add/Edit

#### The following table lists all settings that are available.

| Setting                 | Description   |
|-------------------------|---|
| Insurance Details       |   |
| Set As Default          | Available only from the patient chart and when scheduling.  |
|                         | Select to set the current policy as the default policy. Useful when the patient has multiple policies at the same level.                                    |
| Level                   | Select whether the insurance is the patient's primary, secondary, or tertiary policy.   |
| Inactive                | Select to inactivate the policy while retaining its information.  |
|                         | The Valid To Date is automatically set to the current date.   |
| Existing Insurance      | Not available on all insurance screens. If you entered insurance for the patient previously, you can select it here to automatically fill in other options. |
| Insurance Carrier       | Select the insurance carrier.   |
| Insurance Provider Type | Entered automatically.  |
| Policy Number           | Type the patient's insurance policy number.   |
| Group No.               | Type the insurance group number of the policy.  |

| Setting                              | Description   |  |  |  |
|--------------------------------------|---|--|--|--|
| Pre-Cert. Phone / Fax                | Type contact information getting pre-certification.             |  |  |  |
| Accept Assignment                    | Select if the insurance policy can accept assignments.          |  |  |  |
| Address / Phone No.                  | The contact information of the insurance carrier.               |  |  |  |
| Website                              | The website of the insurance carrier.                           |  |  |  |
| Group Name                           | Type the name of the insurance group.                           |  |  |  |
| Valid From/To Date                   | Select the period during which the current policy is effective. |  |  |  |
| Medicare Ins. Type                   | Select the Medicare insurance type of the policy.               |  |  |  |
| Eligibility & Estimation             |   |  |  |  |
| Available after you save the profile | Available after you save the profile.                           |  |  |  |
| Contact Information                  |   |  |  |  |
| Relationship                         | Select an emergency contact person for the patient.             |  |  |  |
| Subscriber Name                      | Type the name of the insurance policy subscriber.               |  |  |  |
| Sex                                  | Select the sex of the subscriber.                               |  |  |  |
| Country                              | Select the country of the subscriber.                           |  |  |  |
| Address                              | Type the address of the subscriber.                             |  |  |  |
| DOB                                  | Select the date of birth of the subscriber.                     |  |  |  |
| Employee Status                      | Select the employment status of the subscriber.                 |  |  |  |
| Work / Home Phone                    | Type the phone numbers of the subscriber.                       |  |  |  |

# Measurement accuracy limits

| Measurement | Tools      | Unit | Accuracy |
|-------------|------------|------|----------|
| Length      | Ruler      | mm   | ±2 mm    |
| Angle       | Protractor | 0    | ±2°      |
| Area        | Calculated | cm^2 | ±5%      |
| Ratio       | Calculated |      | ±2%      |

# Viewer toolbar tools

The following table lists all toolbar tools that are available in the viewer. See corresponding topics for the functions of the tools.

| Tool            | Name                      | Function   |
|-----------------|---------------------------|--|
| U               | 3D Ray                    | Draws a 3D ray on an image. Select to place a vertex on one plane, and the ray extends through the image on all planes.  |
| Ø               | 3D Cursor                 | Displays a cursor in other open planes that follows the motion of the cursor in the active plane.  |
| 3D.A            | 3D Angle                  | Click three points to create the angle. The angle appears at the same coordinates on all series with the same frame of reference.  |
| 2046            | 3D Measure                | Click two points (or drag and click). The measurement appears at the same coordinates on all series with the same frame of reference.                                    |
| 30P             | 3D Point                  | Click to add the point. The point appears at the same coordinates on all series with the same frame of reference.  |
| adr             | 3D ROI                    | Available in a future release.   |
| AR              | AR                        | Plots points to represent angular rotation.  |
|                 | Actual Image Size         | Displays images in their real-life anatomical dimensions.  |
| $\triangleleft$ | Angle Marker              | Measures and annotates an angle.   |
| AS              | Annotate Series           | Select this tool, then select an annotation tool and annotate the current image to add the same annotation to all images in the series. Does not support 3D annotations. |
| ATI             | Annotate Tagged<br>Images |  |
| $\swarrow$      | Arrow                     | Draws an arrow.  |
|                 | Auto W/L                  | Automatically optimizes the W/L.   |
| 1               | Bone Enhance              | Controls contrast between bone and other tissues.  |
| CAD             | CAD                       | Displays CAD findings, with a button menu for selecting specific findings.<br>Available when CAD findings are present in the opened study.                               |
| 1 • 1           | Center Point              | Click two points. The center point between them is indicated.  |
|                 | Change Slice<br>Thickness | Sets the slice thickness.  |
| ۲               | Overlays                  | Shows or hides overlays. See also "Toggle DICOM Overlays."   |
| 0               | Circle                    | Draws a circle.  |
| CL              | CLAHE                     | Contrast limited adaptive histogram equalization. Turns CLAHE mode on/off. Improves image contrast.  |

| Tool      | Name                            | Function   |
|-----------|---------------------------------|--|
|           | Close Series                    | Keyboard shortcut for the Close Series option in the image cell's upper-<br>right shortcut menu.                   |
|           | Close Study                     | Keyboard shortcut for Partial Close.   |
| Ĺ         | Cobb Angle                      | Measures a Cobb angle.   |
| ×         | Context Menu                    | Displays the view shortcut.  |
| <b>†+</b> | Context Tool                    | Displays a linked image at the same X, Y, Z angle as the current image.  |
| *         | CT Ratio                        | Displays the angle between two lines. Use to calculate the angle between vertebra.                                 |
| 6         | Curve                           | Click two points to estimate curvature from the center of the end vertebrae to the center of the apical vertebrae. |
|           | Cutlines                        | Shows/hides cutlines, if present.  |
| k         | Default                         | Selects the standard pointer tool.   |
| B         | Delete All Image<br>Annotations | Deletes all annotations.   |
|           | Delete Series<br>Annotations    | Deletes all annotations in the current series.<br>Available only in shortcut menu.                                 |
|           | Delete All Study<br>Annotations | Deletes all annotations in the current study.  |
|           | Annotations                     | Available only in shortcut menu.   |
|           | Delete Series                   | Available with Study Delete rights.  |
|           |                                 | Select to delete the current series.   |
|           |                                 | Available only in shortcut menu.   |
|           | Delete Image                    | Available with Study Delete rights.  |
|           |                                 | Select to delete a single image from a series.   |
|           |                                 | Available only in shortcut menu.   |
|           | Deselect Last<br>Annotation     | Deselects the last-selected annotation.  |
|           | Annotation                      | Available only in shortcut menu.   |
| OP        | DICOM Print                     | Sends the image to a DICOM printer.  |
|           | DICOM Values                    | Displays a list of DICOM values associated with the current image.   |
| DN        | DM Settings                     | Opens display management settings.   |
| ٠         | Dot                             | Draws a dot.   |

| Tool             | Name             | Function  |
|------------------|------------------|---|
| 2                | Edit             | Turns Edit mode on/off. Edit mode allows editing of previously set annotations.   |
| 0                | Ellipse          | Draws an ellipse.   |
|                  | External Tools   | Reserved for opening an external application.   |
| 25               | Fit to Window    | Restores original zoom level.   |
| .h               | Flip             | Flips the image across its horizontal or vertical axis (hover over the tool to select between axes).  |
|                  | Frames           | Selects the number and arrangement of frames to display in the viewing area.  |
| Φ                | FH Measure       | Takes freehand measurements.  |
| Piece<br>ROE     | Freehand ROI     | Freehand-draws an ROI.  |
| HG               | Histogram        | Displays a histogram.   |
| $\times$         | HO Angle         | Draws a horizontal orthogonal angle.  |
| —                | Horizontal Line  | Draws a horizontal line.  |
| Hu               | HU               | Displays the pixel value in Hounsfield Units.   |
|                  | Invert Color     | Inverts black/white values.   |
| 0                | L Marker         | Adds an L (left) marker.  |
| $\mathbb{Z}$     | Line             | Draws a straight line.  |
| Э,               | Link Auto        | Links two or more series that are open.   |
| ÷вч              | Link Manual      | Links user-specified frames between panels.   |
| $\vdash$         | M Compare        | Measurement comparison. Click a first and second point, then double-<br>click a third point. Displays the distances between the points.       |
| 0,               | Magnifying Glass | Displays a movable zoomed area.   |
| 1                | Measure          | Measures between two specified points.  |
| MFR <del>v</del> | MPR              | Multiplanar reformation. Select to generate and display coronal, sagittal, and MIP (maximum intensity projection) stacks from an axial image. |
|                  | Next Series      | Keyboard shortcut for moving to the next available series in the study.   |
| 1:t              | One to One       | Displays the image in its original DICOM size.  |
|                  | Open Next Study  | Keyboard shortcut for the Auto Open Next Study option.  |
| E)               | Pan              | Drags the image any direction.  |

| Tool                              | Name                   | Function  |
|-----------------------------------|------------------------|---|
| D                                 | Patient<br>Documents   | Opens an independent window for viewing, scanning in, and attaching patient documents. Turns blue when documents are available. |
| 1                                 | Pencil                 | Freehand-draws a line.  |
| 8                                 | Play Frames            | Starts cine looping.  |
|                                   | Previous Series        | Keyboard shortcut for moving to the previous series in the study.   |
| 8                                 | Print Images           | Sends images to a non-DICOM printer.  |
| R                                 | Prior Reports          | View reports. Turns blue when reports are available.  |
| 8                                 | R Marker               | Adds an R (right) marker.   |
| +                                 | Radial Angle           | Draws a radial angle, which is the angle of the distal radial surface with respect to a line perpendicular to the shaft.        |
| ŧ                                 | Radial Length          | Draws a radial length.  |
|                                   | Rectangle              | Draws a rectangle.  |
| с                                 | Reset Frame            | Undoes all unsaved changes to the image within the active viewing cell.   |
| 2                                 | Reset Linked<br>Series | Removes any linkages.   |
| ≆                                 | Reset Stack            | Restore images in a stack to their last-saved ordering.   |
| $\overline{\mathbf{n}}^{\dagger}$ | Reset Viewer           | Reverts non-permanent modifications to images in the viewer (zoom, rotation, Window/Level etc.) to their original state.        |
| NOE                               | ROI                    | Draws an ellipse to specify an ROI.   |
| C                                 | Rotate Right           | Rotates the image 90 degrees clockwise.   |
|                                   |                        | Hover over the rotate button to reveal the rotate left button.  |
| C                                 | Rotate Left            | Rotates the image 90 degrees counterclockwise. Hover over the rotate button to reveal the rotate left button.                   |
| ÷                                 | Save Annotations       | Saves the current state of annotations.   |
| r.                                | Scroll/Span<br>Images  | Switches between moving and spanning.   |
| ткі                               | Set Key Image          | Sets the current image as a key image.  |
| ٠                                 | Settings               | Displays the settings dialog.   |
| P                                 | Show Prior List        | Opens a dialog with a list of priors that you can select to display in the prior bar.   |
|                                   | Shutter Box            | Adds an rectangular shutter.  |

| Tool     | Name                          | Function  |
|----------|-------------------------------|---|
| SHE      | Shutter Ellipse               | Draws an elliptical shutter.  |
| энг      | Shutter Freehand              | Draws a freehand shutter.   |
| 1        | Spine Label                   | Adds vertebrae labels to spinal images.   |
| 1        | Spine Label Short             | Adds vertebrae labels from common starting points.  |
| 2        | Spine Label 3D                | Adds vertebrae labels on all series with the same frame of reference.   |
| 2        | Spine Label 3D<br>Short       | Adds vertebrae labels from common starting points on all series with the same frame of reference.                 |
| 2        | Spine Label Quick<br>3D       | Adds vertebrae labels to the same anatomy on all series with the same frame of reference.                         |
| 2        | Spine Label Quick<br>3D Short | Adds vertebrae labels from common starting points to the same anatomy on all series with same frame of reference. |
| N        | Study Notes                   | Displays a dialog for reading/writing notes.  |
| П        | Tag Images                    | Click to tag images in a series for batch annotation.   |
| Т        | Text                          | Draws text.   |
| TA       | Toggle<br>Annotations         | Shows/hides annotations.  |
| тво      | Toggle DICOM<br>Overlays      | Shows/hides DICOM overlays.   |
| т        | Transcription                 | Opens an independent dictation and transcription window.  |
|          | Triangulation                 | Displays the context tool at the same coordinates on all series with the same frame of reference.                 |
| UNG      | Unq                           | Creates a teaching study.   |
| 1        | Vertical Line                 | Draws a vertical line.  |
| <b>0</b> | Window/Level                  | Adjusts the window/level.   |
| Q        | Zoom                          | Zooms the image in/out.   |

# Details on Linked Reporting

### Statuses of linked reports

- Any activity related to retaining the STAT level of a main study also applies to any of its linked studies.
- Any activity related to TAT recording (approval time) on a linked main study also applies to any of its linked studies.
- When you unlink an approved study, the study reverts to Unread status.

- When a main study changes to Approved status, so do its linked studies. In addition:
  - The order status of the linked studies changes to Check-Out.
  - The approving physician and/or pre-approving physician and approved date are added to the main and linked studies.
- When a main study changes to the following RAD-related statuses, so do its linked studies.

Draft

Transcribed

Pre-Approved

Dictated

Approved-Coded (APCD status)

• When you add an addendum to a main study and the study status changes, its linked studies change to the same status, including the following.

Draft - Addendum

Transcribed - Addendum

Approved - Addendum

Dictated - Addendum

- When you right-click a main study and select Exam > Reset Transcription, the main study and linked studies are reset to Unread status.
- When you change a main study from Approved to an earlier status, you are prompted to unlink its linked studies. The main study changes to the selected status, and the linked studies change to Unread status. The report remains with the main study.
- When you change the status of a linked study, you are prompted to unlink it from the main studies. The linked study changes to the selected status, and no other studies are affected.
- When you reset the transcription of a main study, this resets the transcription for the main and linked studies, and sets their statuses to Unread. The studies remain linked.
- When you reset a main study with an approved report, you are prompted to unlink its linked studies. The main study changes to Scheduled status, and the previously linked studies change to Unread status.
- When you reset a linked study with an approved report, you are prompted to unlink it from the main study. The study changes to Scheduled status, and other studies are unaffected.

### Considerations when transcribing linked studies

• When transcribing a main or linked study, the transcription lock is applied to the main study and all linked studies (in both Exa Trans and WebTrans). The following actions release the transcription lock on all studies:

Close the transcription

Sign out of Exa PACS/RIS

Approve the study (E-sign and Approve, Approve and Next, or Pre-Approve)

Using Skip or Not Approve

- Immediately after you link studies, Exa Trans and WebTrans updated accordingly, even if a transcription is open. This includes updating of the report header with information from the linked studies.
- Exa Dictation audio files are available in the viewer and in WebTrans for all main and linked studies.

### Which reports can you link?

When you select to link reports, Exa PACS/RIS automatically displays a list of reports that are available to link. These studies:

- Have a study date 3 days before or after the main study
- Have a status other than Ordered, Cancelled, Rescheduled, No Show, Read, or Approved
- Are from the same facility as the main study

## Mammography views

In mammography there are two main view "families," **CC** and **MLO**. Each family contains multiple subviews.

| C    | C Family  | Μ   | ILO Family  |
|------|---|-----|---|
| cc   | <ul> <li>Craniocaudal</li> <li>Superior – Inferior</li> <li>C-Arm Angle: 0 degrees</li> </ul>                         | MLO | <ul> <li>Mediolateral Oblique</li> <li>Superomedial –<br/>Inferomedial</li> <li>C-Arm Angle: 30–60<br/>degrees</li> </ul>           |
| xcc  | <ul> <li>Exaggerated<br/>Craniocaudal</li> <li>Superior – Inferior</li> <li>C-Arm Angle: 0 degrees</li> </ul>         | ML  | <ul> <li>Mediolateral</li> <li>Medial-Lateral</li> <li>C-Arm Angle: 0 degrees</li> </ul>  |
| XCCL | <ul> <li>Exaggerated<br/>Craniocaudal Lateral</li> <li>Superior – Inferior</li> <li>C-Arm Angle: 0 degrees</li> </ul> | LMO | <ul> <li>Lateromedial Oblique</li> <li>Inferolateral – Superomedial<br/>Oblique</li> <li>C-Arm Angle: 90–180<br/>degrees</li> </ul> |

| XCCM | <ul> <li>Exaggerated<br/>Craniocaudal Medial</li> <li>Superior – Inferior</li> <li>C-Arm Angle: 0 degrees</li> </ul> |     | <ul> <li>Lateromedial</li> <li>Lateral-Medial</li> <li>C-Arm Angle: 90 degrees</li> </ul>   |
|------|--|-----|---|
| FB   | <ul> <li>From Below:<br/>Caudocranial</li> <li>Inferior – Superior</li> <li>C-Arm Angle: 0 degrees</li> </ul>        | SIO | <ul> <li>Superolateral to<br/>Inferomedial Oblique</li> <li>Superomedial –<br/>Inferomedial Oblique</li> <li>C-Arm Angle: 1–90 degrees</li> </ul> |

The following views are also available:

- $\ensuremath{\textbf{ID}}\xspace$  Implant displacement
- CV Cleavage view
- AT Axillary tail
- RL Rolled lateral
- RM Rolled medial
- RI Rolled inferior
- **RS** Rolled superior
- **MAG** Magnification **S** - Spot compression
- **TAN** Tangential

# Install and configure tools

### Add the Chrome extension

You can add an extension that configures your Chrome browser to work with multiple monitors. After adding the extension, you can configure display settings for the monitors you will use.

#### Procedure

- 1. On the burger 🔲 menu, on the **TOOLS** submenu, select **CHROME EXTENSION**.
- 2. On the Chrome\_MultiMonitor page, select Add to Chrome.

3

Note: If the 'Add Chrome\_Multimonitor? message appears, select Add extension.

3. On the worklist, on the upper toolbar, select the settings button, and then in the button shortcut menu, select **Viewer Settings**.

Monitors on System



- 4. On the GENERAL tab, under Display Settings:
  - a. Select the Monitors on System box
  - b. Select the refresh <sup>C</sup> button
  - c. Select the identify 🔍 button.
- 5. In the table of monitors:
  - a. In the **Monitor** column, select all monitors that you want to use.
  - b. In the **Current** column, select the monitor to hang current images and thumbnails.
  - c. In the **Prior** column, select the monitor to hang prior images and thumbnails.

**Note**: When using a hanging protocol, the Current and Prior settings in the table only control where the thumbnails hang.

- 6. Optional. In the **Orders** column, select an item to auto-open in the monitor.
- 7. Select **SAVE**.

## Install Exa Trans

Radiologists who use Dragon for transcription must install Exa Trans.

### Procedure

1. On the burger menu, on the **TOOLS** submenu, select **EXA TRANS**.

**Note**: Chrome downloads ExaTransSetup.msi in the lower left corner of the browser. Wait until the download is finished before continuing.

2. Select **ExaTransSetup.msi**. Windows installs Exa Trans.

**Note**: If the Windows protected your PC dialog appears, select **More info**, and then select **Run anyway**.

## **Install Exa Dictation**

Radiologists who use Dragon for dictation must install Exa Dictation.

#### Procedure

1. On the burger Henn, on the **TOOLS** submenu, select **EXA DICTATION**.

**Note**: Chrome downloads exa\_dictation\_setup.msi in the lower left corner of the browser. Wait until the download is finished before continuing.

- 2. Select exa\_dictation\_setup.msi.
- 3. Windows installs Exa Dictation.

**Note**: If the Windows protected your PC dialog appears, select **More info**, and then select **Run anyway**.

## Install OPAL tools

Many functions in Symmetry PACS require that you first install OPAL tools, such as CD import and CD burning.

#### Procedure

1. On the burger Hann, on the **TOOLS** submenu, select **OPAL TOOLS**.

**Note**: Chrome downloads OpalToolsSETUP.exe in the lower left corner of the browser. Wait until the download is finished before continuing.

2. Select **OpalToolsSETUP.exe**. Windows installs Opal tools.

Note: If the User Account Control dialog appears, select Yes.

### Install Exa Client Viewer

Symmetry PACS uses a server-side viewer, but you can also install the client-side Opal viewer.

### Procedure

1. On the burger 🔲 menu, on the **TOOLS** submenu, select **OPAL VIEWER**.

**Note**: Chrome downloads ExaClientViewerSETUP.exe in the lower left corner of the browser. Wait until the download is finished before continuing.

2. Select ExaClientViewerSETUP.exe. Windows installs the Opal viewer.

**Note**: If the Windows protected your PC dialog appears, select **More info**, and then select **Run anyway**.

### **Install Exa Scans**

With Exa Scans, you can scan paper and other media and attach the scans to studies as DICOM data.

**Prerequisites**: You must uninstall any existing version of Exa Scans before installing a new one.

#### Procedure

1. On the burger 🔲 menu, on the **TOOLS** submenu, select **EXA SCANS**.

Chrome downloads exa\_docscan\_setup.msi in the lower left corner of the browser. Wait until the download is complete before continuing.

2. Select exa\_docscan\_setup.msi.

**Note**: If the Windows protected your PC dialog appears, select **More info**, and then select **Run anyway**.

- 3. In the Welcome to the EXA Document Scan Setup Wizard, select Next.
- 4. On the **End User License Agreement** page, select **I accept the terms in the License Agreement** checkbox, and then select **Next**.
- 5. On the **Destination Folder** page, select **Next**.
- 6. On the Ready to Install EXA Document Scan page, select Install.
- 7. If the **User Account Control** dialog appears, select **Yes**.
- 8. On the **Completed the EXA Document Scan Setup Wizard** page, select **Finish**.

### Install local cache

Local cache is a service that manages the copying of studies from the server to your local workstation for local use.

#### Configure the server

- 1. On the burger 🔲 menu, select **SETUP**.
- 2. On the **OFFICE** menu, select **DICOM**.

3. On the **AE Title** tab, select **Add**, and then enter the following settings.

| АЕ Туре           | Local Cache                 |
|-------------------|-----------------------------|
| AE Title (Remote) | [Name with no spaces]       |
| Description       | [Friendly descriptive name] |

4. Select **SAVE**.

### Configure the client

1. On the burger Hennu, on the **TOOLS** submenu, select **CLIENT SERVICE**.

**Result**: Your browser downloads **exa\_localcache\_setup.msi** to its specified folder for downloads (usually the Windows Downloads folder).

- 2. Run exa\_localcache\_setup.msi and follow the prompts to install it.
- 3. In the Symmetry PACS worklist, select **Settings** and select **Local Service Settings**.
- 4. In the **Rendering Options** screen, under **Prefetch Configuration**, enter the following settings.

| Target         | Shortcut   |
|----------------|--|
| AE Title       | Type the AE Title (Remote) name that you created in "Configure the server."        |
| User Name      | Type a user name with user rights to access studies on the server.                 |
| API URL        | Type the address of the server hosting the studies that you want to locally cache. |
| Debug Mode     | Select to add additional troubleshooting information to logs.                      |
| Disable Oncall | Leave cleared.   |

5. In the Rendering Options screen, under General Configuration, enter the following settings.

| Target   | Shortcut  |
|--|---|
| API Timeout  | Type the number of seconds to keep the connection to the server open.                   |
| Study Timeout Type the number of hours to keep the imageservice/study thread open. |   |
| Prefetch Interval  | Type the number of minutes keep to studies in the send queue.                           |
| Cache Timeout  | Type the number of days to keep locally cached studies before purging.                  |
| Cache Directory  | Type the fully qualified path to the local cache  |
|  | (default = c:\viztek\exa\cache\localcache)  |
| Study Count  | Type the maximum number of studies to keep in local cache.                              |
| RAM Usage  | Type the maximum number of megabytes of RAM to use for prefetching and local rendering. |
| Max Threads  | Type the number of simultaneous threads available to download studies.                  |

| Target                       | Shortcut   |
|------------------------------|--|
| Parallel Prefetch            | Leave blank.   |
| Cache Disk Usage             | Move the slider to set the maximum percentage of hard disk to use for prefetching and local rendering. |
| Oncall Interval              | Type the number of minutes to elapse before checking for new studies to prefetch.                      |
| Prefetch Priors              | Select to include priors when prefetching.   |
| Enable Skinline<br>Detection | Select to make Skinline Detection available when viewing prefetched studies.                           |

6. Select **ACTIVATE**.

# Location and contents of screens Burger menu

The burger menu contains the following options.

Burger > Worklist



**Burger > PATIENT ARRIVAL WORKLIST** 



Burger > PATIENT



### Burger > DISPATCHING DASHBOARD



Burger > SCHEDULE



Burger > SETUP



### Burger > BILLING



Burger > TOOLS



# Worklist

Worklist > ALL STUDIES



### Worklist > Settings > User Settings



User Settings

Viewer Settings

Local Service Settings

### Worklist > Settings > Viewer Settings



### Worklist > Settings > Local Service Settings



### Worklist > PACS Actions



PACS ACTIONS.

New Study

Walk-In Appointment

CD Burn

Compare Study

Merge/Split

Import Images

Purge All Deleted

Export Worklist

500-000727A

# Office menu

The setup area (or "office") menu contains the following options.

### **OFFICE > Office**

|    | OFFICE-               |
|----|-----------------------|
|    | Office                |
| -  | Providers & Resources |
| Co | Scheduling & Codes    |
|    | DICOM                 |
|    | Billing               |
|    | Meaningful Use        |
|    | User Management       |
|    | General               |
|    | HL7                   |
| Co | Log                   |

# Billing

## Billing > Claims

| CL. | AIMS                     |            |           | alles Darms regelerite a | CR Next- Tele- Leg-  | ing or       |
|-----|--------------------------|------------|-----------|--------------------------|--|--------------|
|     | ALL CLAME FELLOW OF GLES |            | 0.8       | /00074                   | INVERTICAL STREAM OF ANY OF AN | <b>19</b> () |
| C   | anuer page               | KEAM WAY   | DAM NAMES | Exhinal serve            | 0.040434008  | - BLO        |
|     | 12/15/2222-00/14/2023    |            |           |                          | (41)   | (a)          |
| E.  | @ 10 11 01/01/2025       | 00/03/2900 | 317       | Tesk, Richard            | Walter Gerranisebier Beest   | Direct       |
| Ę.  | 2 III II manages.        | 10.0012428 | 10        | 1991.410                 |  | Rateria      |
| n   | 2 III II 201711/001      | 03/3203421 |           | Telfundy                 |  | rated        |

### Billing > Setup

| /300074 🔤 🐕      | LIDATE Refresh Settings                     |
|------------------|---|
| PATIENT NAME     | CLEARIT Adjustment Codes                    |
|                  | All Billing Codes                           |
| Test, Richard    | Billing Classes<br>Worker C<br>Claim Status |
| Test Jil         | Collections Process                         |
| Test Judy        | Delay Reasons                               |
| Test Judy        | Billing Providera                           |
| Test, Jury       | Provider Id Code Qualifiers                 |
|                  | Billing Messages                            |
| Test Stephane    | Payment Reasons                             |
| . Test, Stephane | CAS Group Codes                             |
| Test, Stephane   | CAS Reason Codes                            |
| Test, Helen      | Status Color Codes                          |
|                  | Billing Validations                         |
|                  | EDI/ERA Templates                           |
|                  | EDI Clearinghouses                          |
|                  | Insurance Mapping                           |
|                  | Printer Templates                           |

# Screens in the Edit Study screen

## Edit Study > PATIENT INFORMATION

|   | Petient Inform       | union s    | HEE'W, ASSOC | n som Les           | NSC .   | nquin |                  | 13 19401 GE |
|---|----------------------|------------|--------------|---------------------|---------|-------|------------------|-------------|
|   | Nate                 | NONCER     | 150750 y     |                     |         |       | Licente No. 2014 | •           |
| NAMES INCOME.                           | Paulities *          | HICO       | 100001 - 1   |                     |         |       | the fate         | 14,000,00   |
| seeman a<br>manage autority             | -SIOD VI Parisent (B | -          |              |                     |         |       | Stp. Setus       | 20000       |
|   | Account No. (J), +   | Againge -  | Ø            |                     |         |       | Svykserflana     |             |
| an an ann an | Rote F               | Tan-       | 14           |                     |         |       | DA(Sho/2F        |             |
| OC CRAME IN MALERIN                     |                      | material   | a and a      | *                   |         |       |                  | Dri Le      |
| and Alama a                             | Alam                 | The Harm   | 1.00         | Name                |         |       | Think Fax.       |             |
|   | 008.1                | dianviate. | 17           | 3m *                | 31      | 27    |                  |             |
| 010-C                                   | Nets/Black           | Select.    |              | And give ( April a) |         |       |                  | C Freedo    |
| enta<br>Transferintes                   | Studies Exten        | Telet      | - @          | Weight (the )       |         |       | Matery           |             |
| EN 113 - 11                             | Realition 1          | C trains   |              | Perettig            | Select  |       |                  |             |
| LLDA UP                                 |                      | itane.     | °            | Ling/war            | Select. |       |                  |             |

## **Viewer Settings**

Viewer > Settings



Viewer > Settings > General

| GENERAL           | Display Setting                    | <b>3</b> 5    |       |                |         |      |  |  |
|-------------------|------------------------------------|---------------|-------|----------------|---------|------|--|--|
| INTERACE          | Monitors on Bystem                 |               |       | 00             |         |      |  |  |
| MODALITY          | Monitor                            | Current       | Prior | Full Screen    | Orders  | Туре |  |  |
| WERNALD F.        | DISPLAY1                           | 0             | 0     |                | None T  |      |  |  |
| MAMMOBILAPHY      | DISPLAY2                           | ۲             | 0     | 8              | None •  |      |  |  |
| OVERLAYS          | DISPLACE                           | 0             | ۲     | 1 ( <b>B</b> ) | tione + |      |  |  |
| TOOLS             | Autosave Optio                     | ons           |       |                |         |      |  |  |
| EXTERNAL<br>FOOLS | Autopave Image P                   | Properties on | Close |                |         |      |  |  |
| Toron, a          | Autopave Image Annotations on Cose |               |       |                |         |      |  |  |
|                   | Acto Mark Read S                   | Rudy on Clos  | e     |                |         |      |  |  |
|                   | Auto Lipland Date                  |               |       |                |         |      |  |  |
|                   | Autopase Viewer                    | Settinge on G | losa  |                |         |      |  |  |
|                   |                                    |               |       |                |         |      |  |  |

Auto Send Annotated Images on Close

Viewer > Settings > Interface

| SETTINGS          |                       |               |   | 3 |
|-------------------|-----------------------|---------------|---|---|
| OPHESIAL,         | Toolbar               |               | Annotation  |   |
| INTERFACE         | Toolbar Button Scale  |               | Z Show Annotation   |   |
| MODAUTY           | Thumbool Bar Scale    |               | <ul> <li>Gina-Clési Americations</li> <li>Show One-Click Americations Button</li> </ul> |   |
| MAMMOGRAPHY       | Magnifying Olass Size | 200 Px Pactor | Annotation EER Mode   |   |
| OVERLAYS          | W/L Acceleration      |               | Edit. Annotations after Greating  |   |
| TOOLS             | Span Sensitivity      |               | Cenfirm Annotation Balete   |   |
| EXTERNAL<br>TORUS | Auto Ddt Love         | High          | Devoistant Annotation Tool<br>Show Measurements Is mm v                                 |   |
|                   | Thumbrail Column Roma |               | Colors  |   |

### Viewer > Settings > Tools

| SETTINGS          |                  |      | SWE                  |  |
|-------------------|------------------|------|----------------------|--|
| GENERAL           | Toolbar          | Tool | Tools                |  |
| WITHRIGA (28)     | Al ú             |      | Taols                |  |
| MOGALITY          | >>MAIN           |      | 3D Argla             |  |
|                   | >>TCP            |      | 30 Measure           |  |
| MANINGGRAPHIC     |                  |      | 30 Point             |  |
| OVERLAVS          | SOBOTTOM         |      | 30.801               |  |
|                   | SOLEFT           |      | 30 Rep               |  |
| TOOLS             | SECONTEXTMENU    |      | SC Cursor            |  |
| ENTERNAL<br>TOOLS | 30KY80.SHORTCUTS |      | Angular Rostation    |  |
|                   |                  |      | Actual Image Size    |  |
|                   |                  |      | Grade Teaching Study |  |
|                   |                  |      | Acide Matter         |  |